# IMMUNOTHERAPY FOR TUMOR IN THE BRAIN: INSIGHTS FROM – AND FOR – OTHER TUMOR SITES

EDITED BY: Lois A. Lampson PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Oncology







#### **Frontiers Copyright Statement**

© Copyright 2007-2018 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-535-5

ISBN 978-2-88945-535-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-535-5

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

June 2018 | Immunotherapy for Tumor in the Brain

## IMMUNOTHERAPY FOR TUMOR IN THE BRAIN: INSIGHTS FROM – AND FOR – OTHER TUMOR SITES

Topic Editor:

**Lois A. Lampson,** Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, United States



Growing tumor (bright blue) and leukocytes (dark brown) in a rat brain. Adapted from Lampson et al, (1992), fig. 3B, with permission.

Lampson LA, Wen P, Roman VA, Morris JH, Sarid JA. Disseminating tumor cells and their interactions with leukocytes visualized in the brain. *Cancer Res.* (1992) 52:1018–25.

Tumor immunotherapy has now shown its promise for many, its disappointments and failings for others. Going forward, brain tumor patients can both benefit and contribute.

Tumor immunotherapy is steadily progressing. As experience accumulates, it is important to consider its generality. The reviews herein emphasize the brain's place among other tumor sites. Two major topics are addressed.

THE SITE: WHAT CAN WE EXPECT FROM IMMUNOTHERAPY WHEN THE TARGET IS IN THE BRAIN?

Experience with immunotherapy for different targets in the brain, including tumor and also pathogens, is reviewed. Long-standing assumptions are confronted. The potential for beneficial responses is stressed. BRAIN TUMOR IMMUNOTHERAPY: WHAT HAVE WE LEARNED SO FAR? Clinical experience with brain tumor immunotherapy, from a variety of centers, is reviewed. Primary tumors, emphasizing glioblastoma, and brain metastases are each considered.

**Citation:** Lampson, L. A., ed. (2018). Immunotherapy for Tumor in the Brain: Insights From – and For – Other Tumor Sites. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/ 978-2-88945-535-5

# Table of Contents

## EDITORIAL

05 Editorial: Immunotherapy for Tumor in the Brain: Insights From—and For—Other Tumor Sites Lois A. Lampson

## COMMON GROUND

08 Immunotherapy of Malignant Tumors in the Brain: How Different from Other Sites?

Valérie Dutoit, Denis Migliorini, Pierre-Yves Dietrich and Paul R. Walker

26 Immunosuppressive Mechanisms of Malignant Gliomas: Parallels at Non-CNS Sites

Powell Perng and Michael Lim

## **RETHINKING LIMITS AND CONCERNS**

- 50 Systemic Immunotherapy for the Treatment of Brain Metastases Justine V. Cohen and Harriet M. Kluger
- 55 Is the Concept of Central Nervous System Immune Privilege Irrelevant in the Setting of Acute Infection?
  Amanda K. Huber and David N. Irani
- 58 Immune Responses to Non-Tumor Antigens in the Central Nervous System
  Amanda K. Huber, Patrick C. Duncker and David N. Irani

## WHERE WE ARE: THREE PERSPECTIVES

- 69 *Immunotherapeutic Advancements for Glioblastoma* Leonel Ampie, Eric C. Woolf and Christopher Dardis
- 77 Brain Tumor Immunotherapy: What have We Learned so Far? Stefaan Willy Van Gool
- 91 Experiences and Expectations for Glioma Immunotherapeutic Approaches

Ryuya Yamanaka and Azusa Hayano





## Editorial: Immunotherapy for Tumor in the Brain: Insights From—and For—Other Tumor Sites

Lois A. Lampson\*†

Brain Immunology Laboratory, Department of Neurosurgery, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

Keywords: brain tumor, brain immunology, brain tumor immunotherapy, glioblastoma, brain metastases, immune privilege, blood-brain barrier, tumor antigen

Editorial on the Research Topic

Immunotherapy for Tumor in the Brain: Insights From-and For-Other Tumor Sites

## **TUMOR IMMUNOTHERAPY: COMMON GROUND**

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited and Reviewed by:

Nader Sanai, Barrow Neurological Institute (BNI), United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Lois A. Lampson LoisLampson@hotmail.com

<sup>†</sup>Present address:

Lois A. Lampson, Private Consultant, Cambridge, MA, United States

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuro-Oncology and Neurosurgical Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 23 March 2018 Accepted: 10 April 2018 Published: 27 April 2018

#### Citation:

Lampson LA (2018) Editorial: Immunotherapy for Tumor in the Brain: Insights From—and For— Other Tumor Sites. Front. Oncol. 8:128. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00128 Accelerating progress in tumor immunotherapy reflects a balance between what is particular to a given tumor and what cuts across tumor types and sites, including primary and metastatic brain tumors. Although there are tumor-specific differences, the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is an important target for both glioblastoma and non-small cell lung cancer, among others, making insight into basic EGFR biology broadly relevant (1). Indirect manipulation of the immune response acts even more broadly, with checkpoint inhibitors giving durable responses against the individual antigens expressed by multiple tumor types (2). Understanding of the nature of tumor antigen is still evolving. General insights into the practical requirements for specificity (3) and the importance of neo-antigens (2) complement identification of tumor-specific targets (4).

Insights into tumor biology show a similar mix of the general and the specific. For any therapy, the eventual outgrowth of therapy-resistant tumor is common. Although resistance mechanisms vary, a general insight applies: it is now appreciated how often the potential for resistance, whether as clones with pre-existing mutations or as alternative regulatory states, is already present within the original tumor (5–8). Also appreciated is the importance of interactions between individual tumors and their local micro-environment (9–11), including those that favor immunosuppression. In this case, many details are also common, with many of the same components, such as regulatory T cells (Tregs) or cytokines (IL-10, etc.), implicated in the brain as other sites (Dutoit et al.; Perng and Lim).

## **BRAIN TUMOR: LIMITS AND CONCERNS**

Given these shared properties, it might be expected that tumor in the brain would show the same benefit from immunotherapy as tumor at other sites. In practice, it has been difficult to show definite benefit for brain tumor patients. This does not necessarily mean that brain tumors are more intractable. For primary brain tumors, there are practical limitations on clinical trials. The most common primary brain tumor in adults is glioblastoma (also referred to as glioblastoma multiforme or high-grade glioma). Although it's grim prognosis gives glioblastoma prominence in public awareness and as a research focus, among all tumors it is rare (12).

Brain metastases are far more common. They are characteristic of some of the most common primary tumors, including those of the lung and breast, and of the best-studied example of successful immunotherapy, metastatic melanoma. As these and other tumors come under better control at other sites, brain metastases are increasingly important as a site of recurrence. Survival after conventional therapies for brain metastases can be just a few months, and toxicity, especially after radiation therapy, is of great concern. Despite this background, patients with brain metastases have often been excluded from clinical trials (Cohen and Kluger). Reasons have ranged from pessimism, given the poor prognosis, to specific concerns about immunotherapy.

## RETHINKING "PRIVILEGE" AND THE BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER

A concern that has been relevant for all brain tumors, whether primary or metastatic, has been whether safe immunotherapy was even possible. A widespread, deeply entrenched assumption that the brain is, or should be, "immunologically privileged" was supported by awareness of detrimental responses, including autoimmune disease, such as multiple sclerosis, or a pathological response to neural virus. Fortunately, this concern is increasingly understood to be outdated (Huber and Irani).

From many contexts, especially work with neural viruses, it is clear that the immune response in the brain can be beneficial, is necessary, and, just as in other organs (3), is under regulatory control. Although, just as in other organs, a mis-regulated response can cause its own pathology, the immune response can safely control virus in the brain (13) (Huber and Irani; Huber et al.).

A related concern has been whether the blood-brain barrier (BBB) would prevent immune effectors from reaching brain tumor sites (14). In the normal brain parenchyma, passive entry of antibody protein is indeed blocked by the BBB. Nonetheless, antibody can affect the brain. The BBB is plastic; it changes as tumor grows. Indeed, leakage of immunoglobulin into the brain is a classic sign of pathology. The extent to which antibody can enter the brain, or accumulate, at sites of pathology, and the mechanisms by which even small amounts may be beneficial are of current interest for tumor, especially microscopic tumor (3, 14), and more broadly (15).

Although the same term is used, BBB has a different meaning for effector cells (cytotoxic T cells, etc.) than for antibodies.

## REFERENCES

- Sasada T, Azuma K, Ohtake J, Fujimoto Y. Immune responses to epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and their application for cancer treatment. *Front Pharmacol* (2016) 7:405. doi:10.3389/fphar.2016.00405
- Le DT, Durham JN, Smith KN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Aulakh LK, et al. Mismatch repair deficiency predicts response of solid tumors to PD-1 blockade. *Science* (2017) 357:409–13. doi:10.1126/science.aan6733
- Lampson LA. Brain tumor immunotherapy: seeing the brain in the body. Drug Discov Today (2013) 18:399–406. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2012.11.007
- Khodadoust MS, Olsson N, Wagar LE, Haabeth OA, Chen B, Swaminathan K, et al. Antigen presentation profiling reveals recognition of lymphoma immunoglobulin neoantigens. *Nature* (2017) 543(7647):723–7. doi:10.1038/ nature21433
- Hangauer MJ, Viswanathan VS, Ryan MJ, Bole D, Eaton JK, Matov A, et al. Drug-tolerant persister cancer cells are vulnerable to GPX4 inhibition. *Nature* (2017) 551:247–50. doi:10.1038/nature24297
- Mu P, Zhang Z, Benelli M, Karthaus WR, Hoover E, Chen CC, et al. SOX2 promotes lineage plasticity and antiandrogen resistance in TP53- and RB1deficient prostate cancer. *Science* (2017) 355:84–8. doi:10.1126/science.aah4307

Metabolically active, migratory cells are well able to enter the tissues, including the brain, if appropriate signals are present (Huber et al.) (13, 16). Indeed, precursors to antibody forming *cells* can enter the brain, and make antibody from within it. Precedent is seen in the life-long production, within the brain, of antibody to neural viruses (Huber et al.) (13); this potential has not yet been intentionally exploited against brain tumor (14).

## WHERE WE ARE

A more optimistic view of immunotherapy for the brain is consistent with accumulating experience with brain tumors, as described by the papers herein. The clearest benefit has been seen for brain metastases (Cohen and Kluger). Many approaches are also being taken for glioblastoma (Ampie et al.; Dutoit et al.; Van Gool; Yamanaka and Hayano), although the work is at an earlier stage. The immune response encompasses a multitude of effector cells, molecules, and mechanisms; although broadly shared, their balance and regulation vary (3) (Huber et al.; Perng and Lim; Dutoit et al.). As targets, the biology of glioblastoma is very different from that of most metastases (3, 14); the optimal immunotherapy strategy need not be the same.

Today, we have seen that the immune response is able to control human tumor, and that the response can be intentionally enhanced (2). The field is young. Not every patient benefits, many tumors recur, and often responses are not well-controlled. The papers herein illustrate growing appreciation that immunotherapy, its potential and its challenges, are just as relevant for the brain as for other sites. Achieving a balance between immunotherapy and autoimmunity is a general challenge, not only for tumors, and has been a special concern for the brain. As the brain's relevance becomes accepted, insights gained from the brain and other sites should reinforce each other.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and approved it for publication.

- Notta F, Chan-Seng-Yue M, Lemire M, Li Y, Wilson GW, Connor AA, et al. A renewed model of pancreatic cancer evolution based on genomic rearrangement patterns. *Nature* (2016) 538:378–82. doi:10.1038/ nature19823
- Wylie AA, Schoepfer J, Jahnke W, Cowan-Jacob SW, Loo A, Furet P, et al. The allosteric inhibitor ABL001 enables dual targeting of BCR-ABL1. *Nature* (2017) 543:733–7. doi:10.1038/nature21702
- Quail DF, Bowman RL, Akkari L, Quick ML, Schuhmacher AJ, Huse JT, et al. The tumor microenvironment underlies acquired resistance to CSF-1R inhibition in gliomas. *Science* (2016) 352:aad3018. doi:10.1126/science. aad3018
- Tammela T, Sanchez-Rivera FJ, Cetinbas NM, Wu K, Joshi NS, Helenius K, et al. A Wnt-producing niche drives proliferative potential and progression in lung adenocarcinoma. *Nature* (2017) 545:355–9. doi:10.1038/ nature22334
- Venkatesh HS, Tam LT, Woo PJ, Lennon J, Nagaraja S, Gillespie SM, et al. Targeting neuronal activity-regulated neuroligin-3 dependency in high-grade glioma. *Nature* (2017) 549:533–7. doi:10.1038/nature24014
- 12. Cihoric N, Tsikkinis A, Minniti G, Lagerwaard FJ, Herrlinger U, Mathier E, et al. Current status and perspectives of interventional clinical trials for

glioblastoma – analysis of ClinicalTrials.gov. Radiat Oncol (2017) 12:1. doi:10.1186/s13014-016-0740-5

- Nilaratanakul V, Chen J, Tran O, Baxter VK, Troisi EM, Yeh JX, et al. Germline IgM is sufficient, but not required, for antibody-mediated alphavirus clearance from the central nervous system. *J Virol* (2018) 92:e02081–17. doi:10.1128/ JVI.02081-17
- Lampson LA. Monoclonal antibodies in neuro-oncology: getting past the blood-brain barrier. *MAbs* (2011) 3:153-60. doi:10.4161/mabs.3. 2.14239
- Breydo L, Morgan D, Uversky VN. Pseudocatalytic antiaggregation activity of antibodies: immunoglobulins can influence α-synuclein aggregation at substoichiometric concentrations. *Mol Neurobiol* (2016) 53:1949–58. doi:10.1007/ s12035-015-9148-8
- Milner JJ, Toma C, Yu B, Zhang K, Omilusik K, Phan AT, et al. Runx3 programs CD8+ T cell residency in non-lymphoid tissues and tumours. *Nature* (2017) 552:253–7. doi:10.1038/nature24993

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares that the editorial was written in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Lampson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Immunotherapy of Malignant Tumors in the Brain: How Different from Other Sites?

#### Valérie Dutoit1\*, Denis Migliorini2, Pierre-Yves Dietrich2 and Paul R. Walker1\*

<sup>1</sup>Laboratory of Tumor Immunology, Center of Oncology, Geneva University Hospitals and University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland, <sup>2</sup>Oncology, Center of Oncology, Geneva University Hospitals and University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

Immunotherapy is now advancing at remarkable pace for tumors located in various tissues, including the brain. Strategies launched decades ago, such as tumor antigen-specific therapeutic vaccines and adoptive transfer of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes are being complemented by molecular engineering approaches allowing the development of tumor-specific TCR transgenic and chimeric antigen receptor T cells. In addition, the spectacular results obtained in the last years with immune checkpoint inhibitors are transfiguring immunotherapy, these agents being used both as single molecules, but also in combination with other immunotherapeutic modalities. Implementation of these various strategies is ongoing for more and more malignancies, including tumors located in the brain, raising the question of the immunological particularities of this site. This may necessitate cautious selection of tumor antigens, minimizing the immunosuppressive environment and promoting efficient T cell trafficking to the tumor. Once these aspects are taken into account, we might efficiently design immunotherapy for patients suffering from tumors located in the brain, with beneficial clinical outcome.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Lois A. Lampson, Harvard Medical School, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Edward Roy, University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign, USA Oliver Grauer, Westfälische-Wilhelms-University Münster, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Valérie Dutoit valerie.dutoit@unige.ch; Paul R. Walker paul.walker@unige.ch

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuro-Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 14 September 2016 Accepted: 24 November 2016 Published: 07 December 2016

#### Citation:

Dutoit V, Migliorini D, Dietrich P-Y and Walker PR (2016) Immunotherapy of Malignant Tumors in the Brain: How Different from Other Sites? Front. Oncol. 6:256. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00256 Keywords: brain tumors, glioma, tumor immunotherapy, tumor microenvironment, brain homing

The immune system, thanks to its power and specificity, has extraordinary potential to achieve long-lasting tumor remissions, with no side effects on normal tissues. Manipulating the immune system to achieve such a goal is the objective of cancer immunotherapy, which has been under intense investigation for more than 20 years, with some successes, but also room for improvement. In particular, T cell immunotherapy aims to generate, in vivo or in vitro, efficient tumor-specific T cells able to reach the tumor microenvironment and provide long-term antitumor function. This approach comes with many complexities, namely the choice of a tumor antigen, the source of tumor-specific T cells, the need to elicit strong immune responses, and to target the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. Immunotherapy has been developed for many malignancies, which now includes tumors in the brain. Decades of research have helped understanding the fundamentals of immune responses to tumors and showed that tumor-specific immune responses were able to occur, but were limited by the mechanism of tumor immunoediting (1). These studies also revealed that antitumor immune responses were able to occur in the brain, following similar rules to those applying to peripheral organs (2). However, the brain, as an immune specialized site, is endowed with additional hurdles to overcome before efficient immunotherapy can be achieved. Here, the means and requirements for successful immunotherapy will be identified and potential additional requisites for efficient immunotherapy of tumors located in the brain will be discussed. Ongoing immunotherapeutic clinical trials will finally be described to appreciate the current status of these approaches.

# TUMOR IMMUNOTHERAPY: CURRENT APPROACHES

The aim of T cell-based tumor immunotherapy is to provide patients with tumor-specific T lymphocytes that will patrol the body to detect and kill tumor cells. This can be accomplished by either active or passive approaches.

## **Therapeutic Vaccination**

Therapeutic vaccination relies on the patient's immune system to react to an injected tumor vaccine. Tumor vaccines aim to raise an immune response against tumor antigens using specific peptides, proteins, tumor cells (including lysates and eluates), mRNA, or DNA, in some cases pulsed onto dendritic cells (DCs) (3). One major advantage of peptide vaccines is that the antigen is well characterized, ensuring a precise targeting of the tumor with possibly little damage to normal tissue. In this regard, the best tumor antigen is a tumor-specific antigen (TSA), resulting from a tumor-specific mutation. Whereas such TSA are the ideal targets, they are not shared by the majority of patients and were until recently not frequently exploited for peptide vaccines. However, advances in personalized vaccine approaches will most probably revive their use, as patient-specific tumor mutations can now be relatively easily identified and used as vaccine antigens (4). In contrast to TSA, tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) are shared by a larger proportion of patients and have been widely used in cancer vaccines over the years. TAA derive from proteins overexpressed in cancer cells but retaining some expression in healthy tissues, which varies depending on the antigen. This is the major drawback to their use, as potential harm to normal cells cannot be excluded, which can be fatal depending on the cells or organ involved. Although TAA-based peptide vaccines have not shown major toxicity thus far (3), adoptive cell therapy has been faced with severe adverse events including deaths due to TAA expression by normal tissues (5), as will be discussed later. Another advantage of TAA is that they are shared among patients and can thus be exploited to design multipeptide vaccines with the aim to prevent tumor escape by antigen downregulation, a phenomenon observed occasionally with single-peptide vaccination (6, 7). It is hypothesized that the latter can be circumvented by the process of epitope spreading, whereby immune responses are directed toward additional tumor antigens liberated from lysis of the initially targeted cells (8, 9). Nonetheless, the use of well-defined antigens is limited by the need for identification and many groups have therefore chosen to vaccinate with whole tumor cells or tumor mRNA (10, 11). This approach has the advantage of providing patient-specific and multiple tumor antigens for vaccination but also presents the risk of inducing immune responses to non-tumor antigens present in the preparation. In addition, the requirement for sufficient tumor for vaccine preparation restricts their use to a subset of patients in malignances where small tumor samples are received, as is the case for tumors in the brain. To overcome this hurdle, some trials are using allogenic tumor cell lines for vaccine preparation (12). Finally, the use of undefined vaccine antigens makes immunomonitoring challenging, possibly hindering correlation between vaccine-induced immune responses and clinical outcome. Regardless of the

antigen source, peptide and tumor vaccines have been injected with or without DC, the latter being used to bridge innate and adaptive immunity and more efficiently initiate vaccine-specific immune responses (13).

## The Need for Adjuvants

Most antigens used in tumor vaccine are derived from selfproteins and therefore are not recognized by pattern recognition receptors of innate immunity (14). Therefore, in most ongoing clinical trials, tumor vaccines are injected with an adjuvant, which aims at stimulating innate immunity and augmenting vaccine immunogenicity. Many different adjuvants have been used since the beginning of cancer vaccine administration, but the current development of more and more ligands for innate pathogen recognition receptors such as TLR, RLR, or STING ligands, among others, is likely to improve vaccine efficacy (15). TLR and RLR are sensors that detect viral/bacterial DNA or RNA, or bacterial, fungal, or protozoan lipoproteins/peptidoglycans and induce type I interferons. Synthetic TLR3, TLR4, TLR7, and TLR9 ligands are being tested in cancer patients as single agent or in combination with cancer vaccines (15) and ligands for other TLRs are in development. STING ligands induce type I interferon after detection of intracellular DNA and have shown impressive antitumor effect in preclinical models (16-18), which should stimulate rapid translation into the clinic. In addition to the use of adjuvants, it was shown that inducing inflammation at the vaccine site by vaccination with recall antigens (tetanus and diphtheria toxoids, Td) prior to tumor antigen DC vaccine improved patient survival by increasing DC migration to the vaccine draining LN, a process which was dependent on CCL3 (19).

## **T Cell Therapy**

T cell therapy does not rely on patient vaccination but on the adoptive transfer of high numbers of autologous tumor-specific T cells. The latter can be generated from tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) or from antigen-specific T cells enriched from peripheral blood. Alternatively, peripheral T cells can be engineered to express a high-avidity tumor-specific TCR (TCRtransgenic T cells) or an antibody fragment [chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells] (20). Adoptive transfer with TIL is based on the demonstration that T cells found at the tumor site are tumor-specific and endowed with tumor killing activity, reflected by the fact that, in many malignancies, infiltration by activated CD8 T cells correlates with patient outcome (21). However, few tumors are highly immunogenic and thus infiltrated by lymphocytes. In addition, the fact that tumor-derived T cells might be exhausted and might not persist long enough after injection for efficient tumor eradication has prompted the development of adoptive transfer with modified peripheral blood T cells (22). One option is TCR-engineered T cells that are made to express the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  chains of a high affinity well-characterized HLArestricted tumor-specific TCR; these can be relatively rapidly generated and infused to any patient sharing the cognate HLA and expressing the specific tumor antigen (23). An alternative approach is CAR T cells that are engineered to express a tumorspecific antibody as a single chain fragment to redirect T cell recognition to the tumor (24). They are not HLA-restricted as

their moiety for antigen recognition is an antibody and can therefore be given to any patient expressing the cognate antigen; an additional benefit is that this overcomes the mechanism of tumor evasion by MHC downregulation. One advantage of TCRtransgenic and CAR T cell transfer is that the large majority of the infused cells are tumor-specific, which provides the patient with considerable numbers of tumor-reactive cells. In addition, the antigen recognition domain of TCR-transgenic and CAR T cells can be mutated to increase affinity to the antigen, making infused cells of high avidity to the target antigen. Another key advantage of cell therapy with genetically modified T cells is the possibility to optimize the T cell product in terms of in vivo cell persistence, resistance to T regulatory T (Treg) cells, and effector functions (25). At the same time, increasing avidity and efficiency of infused cells renders the choice of antigen even more critical. As mentioned above, the level of adverse events observed in clinical trials using TCR-transgenic or CAR T cells is high and these can be fatal (5). On-target, off-tumor toxicities due to recognition by TAA-specific TCR-transgenic T cells of antigen expressed on healthy tissues are observed in the majority of patients treated (26). Severe adverse events due to cross-recognition of non-targeted antigens by high affinity mutated TCRs were also observed (27). To safeguard against this, many construct used to generate CARs now incorporate a suicide gene, with the aim to quickly deplete the transfused cells if life-threatening toxicity is seen. Cytokine storm, which is an early and potentially fatal adverse event resulting from the rapid activation of transferred T cells can usually be managed via treatment with anti-IL-6 antibodies (28). Another appealing solution was recently offered by the publication of a proof-ofconcept study in mice illustrating eradication of established solid tumors by transfer of high-avidity TCR-transgenic T cells specific for one single neoepitope (29). Hence, the development of mutation-specific TCR-modified cells, even if targeting a single epitope, could allow the design of safe and powerful clinical trials by inducing epitope spreading, as seen with other tumor-specific cell therapies (30, 31).

## The Challenge of the Tumor Microenvironment

One of the greatest hurdles for efficient tumor immunotherapy is the fact that tumor-specific T cells have to exert their effector function in a hypoxic environment, in which chronic inflammation and tumor cells stimulate immunosuppression (32). Among the many mechanisms evolved by the tumor to escape immune response are the secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines (TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10, among others), the recruitment or induction of immunosuppressive cells [Tregs, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs)], the depletion of essential nutrients [by indoleamine dioxygenase (IDO) and arginase] and the expression of inhibitory molecules (FasL, PD-L1). Treg constitute an important fraction of tumor-infiltrating CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and inhibit tumor-reactive T cells either by direct cell contact or through TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10 production (33). TAMs contribute to IL-10 and TGF-β production, to Treg recruitment by the secretion of CCL22, and promote tumor growth and invasion through production of endothelial growth factor, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), among others (34). MDSCs mostly act by inhibiting T and NK cell function through arginine depletion and production of nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species (35). Tumors also evade immune recognition by downregulating molecules required for T cell recognition, such as MHC, the antigen itself, or molecules implicated in antigen processing (32). Targeting these mechanisms is required to fully benefit from the efficacy of vaccine-induced or modified tumorspecific T cells.

## **Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors**

The immune checkpoint molecules expressed during normal immune responses to prevent immune overactivation are also playing a substantial role in antitumor immunity. Many of these molecules are expressed in tumor-specific T cells, probably due to chronic antigen stimulation occurring at the tumor site, and their expression correlates with an exhausted phenotype and loss of effector function (36). On the other hand, ligands for many immune checkpoint molecules are upregulated in the tumor environment by tumor cells, stromal cells, DCs, or MDCS and participate in antitumor response inhibition (37, 38). The physiological relevance of immune checkpoint molecules is supported by the outstanding clinical efficacy of immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) antibodies (39). Anti-CTLA4 and PD1 antibodies are now approved for several malignances and are being tested for virtually all tumor types together with anti-PD-L1 antibodies, and antibodies targeting Tim3 and LAG3 are in clinical trials, mostly in combination with anti-PD1 antibodies.

Immune checkpoint inhibitors work by allowing pre-existing immune responses to TAA or TSA to occur. However, efficacy of anti-CTLA4 and anti-PD1 as single agents has been greatest in malignancies that harbor a high rate of mutation, such as melanoma and some lung carcinoma (40, 41), suggesting that TSA-directed immune responses are prevalent. Accordingly, studies in melanoma have shown that the majority of tumorreactive T cells found in TILs were recognizing TSA and not TAA (42) and response to ICB has been shown to be associated with detection of neoepitope-specific T cell responses (40). A critical question for the use of ICB for malignancies harboring low rates of mutations is thus to be able to determine the minimal mutation load required to achieve efficient tumor destruction with these agents. In that regard, one study in melanoma showed that patients harboring tumors with >100 mutations were more prone to benefit from anti-CTLA4 treatment (40), suggesting a threshold for ICB molecule efficacy. Nonetheless, this is not absolute, as some patients still benefit from treatment with IBC despite low-mutation rate (43). In addition to allowing neoantigen-specific immune responses to occur, immune checkpoint inhibitors are also able to amplify vaccine-induced immune responses and trials of peptide vaccination against melanoma antigens in combination with a soluble LAG3 have been reported, which showed the safety of the approach (44, 45). Combination with other immunotherapies is ongoing and is likely to be an important contribution of ICB antibodies to cancer treatment in the future.

## IMMUNE RESPONSES TO TUMORS ARISING IN THE BRAIN

With the exception of primary central nervous system (CNS) lymphoma (PCNSL) arising from B cell transformation, most primary brain tumors (astrocytoma, oligodendroglioma, oligoastrocytoma, and ependymoma) derive from glial cells. They account for approximately 2% of all cancers, but the associated mortality is very high, the 5-year survival rates for grade III astrocytoma and glioblastoma (GBM, grade IV), the most common, being 30 and 3%, respectively (46). The major characteristics of GBM are its highly invasive nature and extraordinarily low rate of metastasis outside the brain. Regarding PCNSL, it is a rare disease, representing about 2% of all primary brain tumors in immunocompetant hosts (47), but, similar to gliomas, is very aggressive and associated with poor prognosis. Likewise, it also exceptionally metastasizes outside the brain, for reasons that are not yet clear.

Although it was long thought that the brain was an immune sanctuary, it is now established that immune responses toward tumors located in the CNS are able to occur. This is substantiated by both animal models of intracranial tumors, which show that strong antitumor immune responses are able to control tumor cells (48, 49), and by observations in humans revealing that T cells are detected at the tumor site and positively influence survival (50–52). Antigen-specific spontaneous B and T cell immune responses have been detected in patients with glioma (53–56), although less frequently than in other malignancies such as melanoma. PCNSL are associated with a robust inflammatory response, including infiltrating activated macrophages and reactive T cells, the latter being associated with a favorable outcome (57, 58).

The mechanisms of immune system activation by tumors located in the brain have been explored in the last decades. Features of the brain, which are different from other sites, namely lack of conventional lymphatic draining, absence of resident DCs in the brain parenchyma, and existence of the blood-brain barrier, are no longer regarded as obstacles to initiation of immune responses but might present a high threshold to be reached before efficient spontaneous antitumor immunity is induced. In spite of these, it has been shown that antitumor immune responses were able to occur. Antigens are able to drain from the brain parenchyma to reach the cervical lymph nodes (59, 60) where they are presented by DCs to T cells (61), leading to the proliferation of tumor-specific cells that will be able to home to the brain via expression of, among other molecules still to be discovered, VLA4/ $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 1 and CXCR3 (62, 63). These T cells are retained at the tumor site *via* expression of  $\alpha E\beta 7$  (62) and could potentially represent tissue-resident memory cells poised to be reactivated upon re-encounter of tumor-expressed antigens (64).

However, brain tumors, similar to tumors arising in other sites, are able to resist immune attack through various means including MHC downregulation (65), release of immunosuppressive cytokines such as TGF- $\beta$  (66), VEGF (67), prostaglandin E2 (68), IL-10 (69), and of enzymes such as IDO (70) and arginase (71), attraction of Tregs (72), and MDSCs (71, 73). In particular, Tregs have been shown in mice models of spontaneous glioma to be

present at the tumor site very early, even before symptoms are visible (35). IDO, which can inhibit conventional T cells and induce Tregs, is expressed virtually in all GBM and level of expression is associated with poor prognosis (70). In addition, GBM can induce apoptosis of activated T cells through expression of FasL (74) and PD-L1, the latter being expressed by GBM cells but also by TAMs (75, 76) and able to inhibit glioma-infiltrating lymphocytes, which commonly express PD-1 (77). Finally, hypoxia is associated with poor clinical outcome in GBM patients (78). All these parameters converge to attenuate spontaneous immune responses occurring in patients with brain tumors, leading to inefficient tumor control.

In addition to that, intrinsic differences between the brain and peripheral organs exist, which might lead to suboptimal immune activation against tumors located in the brain as compared to tumors located in peripheral organs (79). These differences certainly need to be considered when designing immunotherapeutic strategies for tumors in the brain.

# Priming of Immune Responses to Brain Tumor Antigens

As described above, initiation of immune response to antigens located in the brain occurs, antigen presentation to naïve T cells occurring either *via* drainage of soluble antigen to LN or by transport *via* emigration of antigen-bearing DCs (62, 80). Immune response elicited by antigens that drain predominantly to the cervical LN were shown to be less effective than responses elicited to the same antigen reaching other lymph nodes (81), potentially due to induction of immunosuppressive myeloid cells. This might lead to suboptimal induction of immune response to tumors located in the brain as compared to other sites. Nonetheless, it cannot be entirely excluded that immune responses to brain tumors are elicited in the periphery in response to circulating tumor cells reaching secondary lymphoid organs; these having been reported in a significant number of patients with GBM (82, 83).

These issues need to be taken into consideration for therapeutic vaccination. A very important concern for tumor vaccines is the site of antigen injection to prime antitumor immune responses. In the many clinical trials of peptide and tumor vaccination performed in the last decades, several injection sites have been used, precluding evaluation of the efficacy of vaccination from different sites. However, a preclinical study comparing injection of a model antigen at different sites in glioma-bearing mice was able to demonstrate that vaccinating far away from the tumor was best to induce optimal CD8 effector function and brain infiltration (84). This was due to tumor-derived immunosuppressive factors reaching the LN and influencing the T cell response. These results are compatible with spontaneous antitumor immunity discussed previously (81).

## Homing to the Brain

Tumor-specific T cells generated by vaccination or adoptive cell transfer need to reach the brain in order to exert their effector function. During a spontaneous antitumor immune response, homing of T cells to the tumor site is determined at the site of antigen capture by the APC, which will imprint T cells during

priming in the lymph nodes (62). Regarding the CNS, it was shown that T cell expression of  $\alpha 4\beta 1$  and CXCR3 facilitated infiltration of the brain (62, 63). It is therefore important to replicate this brain homing phenotype during therapeutic vaccination and adoptive cell transfer in order for sufficient cells to reach the brain. Indeed, it has been shown in animal models that adoptively transferred T cells are less efficient at infiltrating the brain than peripheral sites (85). Similarly, although adoptive transfer of TIL was shown to mediate regression of melanoma brain metastases (86), the latter have been shown to be less infiltrated by CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells than extracerebral metastatic sites, suggesting lower brain T cell homing (87). Therefore, for vaccine-induced or adoptively transferred cells to reach the brain, additional interventions need to be made. Brain homing has been shown to be enhanced by CXCL10, one of the CXCR3 ligands, secreted at the tumor environment (88), which can be promoted by injection of poly-ICLC (polyriboinosinic-polyribocytidylic acid stabilized with poly-L-lysine and carboxymethylcellulose), a TLR3 agonist. TLR3 is the most abundant TLR expressed by astrocytes and microglial cells and its activation has been shown to induce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF-α, IL-6 and IFN-β and chemokines such as CCL2, CCL5, and CXCL10 (89). As a consequence, poly-ICLC has been extensively tested in patients with glioma, with the reported induction of robust vaccine-specific CD8 T cell responses associated with detection of CXCL10 in the circulation (90, 91). Regarding adoptive cell transfer, choosing culture conditions to generate cells with a tumor homing phenotype may be possible, although the exact conditions for this are not yet defined. In addition, transgenic expression of selected chemokine receptors could be envisaged in the case of TCR-transgenic and CAR T cells (92), although these strategies remain in the preclinical phase at present. Alternatively, it has been shown that increased brain migration of adoptively transferred CD8 T cells can be obtained by co-infusion of CD4 T cells specific for the same tumor antigen and bearing the Th1 phenotype (93).

## Effector Function in the Brain Immunosuppressive Environment

Even if we know that immune response are able to occur in the brain, this organ nonetheless tightly regulates inflammation, mostly through TGF- $\beta$  secretion. TGF- $\beta$ 2 is the most abundant TGF-β isoform detected in the adult brain and modulates response to brain lesions, including blocking of several pro-inflammatory cytokines and of MHC class II upregulation (94). In addition, the brain is one of the most densely vascularized organs in the body with VEGF being the main inducer of angiogenesis. As stated before, VEGF is also a strong inducer of immunosuppression by mediating accumulation of MDSC and Tregs and inhibiting the function and migration of T lymphocytes to the tumor (95). In consequence, tumor-specific T cells elicited by immunotherapy have to overcome, once they reach the brain, a series of obstacles before they can exert their effector function. As indicated before, CNS cells express FasL, which will induce apoptosis of incoming Fas<sup>+</sup> T cells (96). Surviving cells will have to cope with the immunosuppressive factors and cells described above and will further be inhibited by PD-L1 expression by tumor and myeloid cells. All these factors need to be considered to design efficient immunotherapies.

## Efficacy of Immunotherapies

Recently, the distinction of T cell inflamed versus non-T cell inflamed tumors has allowed stratifying patients according to prognosis and response to immune checkpoint inhibitors (97). The current understanding is that, in T cell inflamed tumors, recruitment of tumor-specific CD8 T cells leads to secretion of pro-inflammatory (mostly IFN- $\gamma$ ) cytokines, which stimulates upregulation of PD-L1 and IDO and recruitment of Tregs (98, 99). In non-T cell inflamed tumors, T cell markers and chemokines involved in T cell recruitment are not detected, possibly due to lack of priming of the antitumor response or/and lack of migration at the tumor site. Importantly, T cell inflamed tumors have been shown to be associated with response to both therapeutic vaccines (100) and checkpoint blockade (98, 101, 102). In this regard, GBM can be considered as a poorly T cell inflamed tumor, as compared to tumors located in peripheral organs such as melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, breast, or ovarian cancers (103). Similarly, PCNSL are poorly infiltrated by immune cells as compared to their peripheral counterpart (104), suggesting that tumors located in the brain might be less prone to respond to immunotherapies, including ICB. Immunotherapeutic interventions should therefore include strategies to promote inflammation at the tumor site in the brain, possibly by inducing innate signaling to trigger antitumor adaptive immunity. One strategy to achieve this is tumor delivery of stimulator of interferon genes (STING) agonists, which have been shown in mouse models of glioma to promote infiltration by CD4 and CD8 T cells and prolong survival (18). Alternatively, type I IFN production can be induced by radiotherapy (105), and radiation of the tumor site has been shown to induce double strand DNA breaks and subsequent type I IFN activation via STING in mouse models of glioma (106). Finally, one study in mouse models, not yet explored for GBM, showed that treatment of non T cell inflamed tumors with LIGHT, a member of the tumor necrosis factor superfamily, led to secretion of pro-inflammatory chemokines and recruitment of T cells at the tumor site, which was associated with greater response to ICB (107).

## **Choice of Antigens**

The choice of antigen for designing immunotherapeutic strategies is arguably even more important for tumors located in the brain as compared to those occurring in other sites. Indeed, whereas attack of healthy cells expressing the tumor antigen to some level, such as skin depigmentation observed due to the targeting of melanoma antigens shared by melanoma cells and melanocytes, can be tolerated in some organs, this is more critical for the brain. TAA recognized by T cells have been identified in glioma, although their number is fewer than for other malignances such as melanoma. They include, among others,  $IL13R\alpha 2$ , EphA2, WT1, and survivin (108) and the antigens composing the IMA950 peptide cocktail (56), which were eluted from the surface of GBM cells and were shown to be expressed by the majority of patients with GBM (56). Equally, few TSA have been detected to date for GBM, but more will probably be identified in the future thanks to increased use of tumor sequencing and patient-specific

epitope identification (109). Until now, the most used TSA for GBM immunotherapy are EGFRvIII, a mutant antigen derived from the EGFR protein, which is expressed by 20–50% of GBM patients (110) and IDH1R132H, derived from the IDH1 protein and mainly expressed in grade II and III astrocytoma and patients with secondary GBM (111).

Altogether, tumors located in the brain have particular immunological features that will need to be taken into account for the design of immunotherapies. Among this, (i) the careful choice of antigen, (ii) the need to stimulate inflammation of the tumor site, (iii) to target the brain immunosuppressive milieu, (iv) to vaccinate far from the tumor site, and (v) to help cells home to the brain might be mandatory to address for brain tumor immunotherapy to be efficient.

## ONGOING CLINICAL TRIALS FOR TUMORS IN THE BRAIN

Most immunotherapeutic approaches developed to date for tumors located in the brain have mostly targeted patients with glioma. PCNSL has not yet attracted much attention for vaccines and cell therapy and only one trial is investigating ICB in this malignancy. Most of the trials described below will therefore relate to glioma.

### **Peptide and Tumor Vaccines**

Peptide vaccines (with or without DCs) for GBM have mostly used multipeptidic TAA vaccine formulations in adjuvant, incorporating the EphA2, IL-13Ra2, WT1, and survivin (90, 91, 112), or the IMA950 cocktail (113), although some peptides have been used alone (114-116). These trials have shown that vaccine-specific immune responses were elicited, which were not associated with autoimmunity, and clinical benefit was possibly observed for some individual patients. Following these results, additional studies are being conducted (Table 1), with single peptides (NCT02455557, NCT02049489), cocktails of minimal T cell epitopes (NCT01130077, NCT02358187, NCT02078648, NCT01920191, NCT02149225, NCT02709616), mixtures of overlapping peptides (NCT02332889), or DC-pulsed mRNA (NCT02649582, NCT02529072, NCT02465268, NCT02366728). One study is addressing efficacy of vaccination in pediatric patients with ependymoma (NCT01795313).

mmunogen	Adjuvant	Additional drugs	Patient population	Diagnostic	Phase	Estimated enrollment	Country	NCT number
Peptide vaccines								
Peptide alone								
Tumor-associated antig	gens (TAAs)							
Single peptide								
Long peptide from survivin-KLH	GM-CSF + montanide			Newly diagnosed glioblastoma (GBM)	II	50	USA	NCT02455557
Multiple peptides								
HLA-A2-restricted peptides from EphA2, IL-13Rα2, and survivin	Poly-ICLC		Pediatric	HGG, DIPG, and recurrent LGG	Pilot	60	USA	NCT01130077
HLA-A2-restricted peptides from EphA2, IL-13Rα2, and survivin	Poly-ICLC		Pediatric	LGG	II	25	USA	NCT02358187
HLA-A2-restricted peptides from EphA2, IL-13Rα2, and survivin	Imiquimod		Pediatric	Recurrent ependymoma	na	24	USA	NCT01795313
SL-701 (HLA-A2- restricted peptides from EphA2, IL-13Rα2, and survivin)	Poly-ICLC	Bevacizumab	Adult	Recurrent GBM	1/11	76	USA	NCT02078648
IMA950 (10 HLA-A2- restricted peptides from BCAN, CSPG4, FABP7, IGF2BP3, MET, NLGN4X, NRCAM, PTPRZ1, TNC plus 2 MHC class II peptides from survivin and MET)	Poly-ICLC		Adult		I/II	16	Switzerland	NCT01920191

Frontiers in Oncology | www.frontiersin.org

December 2016 | Volume 6 | Article 256

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Immunogen	Adjuvant	Additional drugs	Patient population	Diagnostic	Phase	Estimated enrollment	Country	NCT number
Personalized overexpressed HLA-A2 or -A24-restricted peptides plus mutated peptides	GM-CSF + poly-ICLC		Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM	I	20	6 centers in Europe (GAPVAC)	NCT02149225
HSPPC-96	None	Bevacizumab	Adult	Recurrent GBM	II	165	USA	NCT01814813
Tumor-specific antigen	s (TSAs)							
Single peptide								
EGFRvIII peptide	GM-CSF	Bevacizumab	Adult	EGFRvIII+ recurrent GBM	II	168	USA (ReACT)	NCT01498328
EGFRvIII peptide <sup>a</sup>	GM-CSF		Adult	EGFRvIII+ recurrent GBM	III	700	Worldwide (ACT IV)	NCT01480479
IDH1R132H peptide	Montanide + imiquimod		Adult	IDH1R132H- mutated newly diagnosed HGG	I	39	Germany (NOA-16)	NCT02454634
IDH1R132H peptide	Montanide + GM-CSF + Td vaccine		Adult	IDH1R132H- mutated recurrent LGG	I	24	USA (RESIST)	NCT02193347
Mutated peptides	Poly-ICLC		Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM (UnMe MGMT)	I	20	USA	NCT02287428
Mutated long peptide	Poly-ICLC		Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM	Pilot	10	USA	NCT02510950
Personalized overexpressed HLA-A2 or -A24-restricted peptides plus mutated peptides	GM-CSF + poly-ICLC		Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM	I	20	6 centers in Europe (GAPVAC)	NCT02149225
DC + peptides/mRNA								
TAAs								
Single peptide								
ICT-121 (CD133 peptides)	None		Adult	Recurrent GBM	I	20	USA	NCT02049489
Multiple peptides								
Overlapping peptides from MAGE-A1, MAGE-A3, and NY-ESO-1	Poly-ICLC	Decitabine	Pediatric	HGG, PNET, and medulloblastoma	1/11	10	USA	NCT02332889
Personalized among preselected antigens	Imiquimod or Td vaccine		Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM	1/11	20	China (PERCELLVAC)	NCT02709616
mRNA								
WT1 mRNA	None		Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM	1/11	20	Belgium (ADDIT-GLIO)	NCT02649582
pp65 mRNA	None	Nivolumab	Adult	Recurrent HGG	I	66	USA (AVERT)	NCT02529072
pp65 mRNA	GM-CSF + Td vaccine		Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM	II	150	USA (ATTAC-II)	NCT02465268
pp65 mRNA	Td vaccine	Basiliximab	Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM	II	116	USA (ELEVATE)	NCT02366728

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Immunogen	Adjuvant	Additional drugs	Patient population	Diagnostic	Phase	Estimated enrollment	Country	NCT number
Tumor vaccines								
Tumor alone								
Tumor lysate from GBM6 cell line	Imiquimod		Adult	LGG	Pilot	27	USA	NCT01678352
Tumor lysate from GBM6 cell line	Poly-ICLC		Adult	Recurrent LGG	Pilot	30	USA	NCT02549833
Tumor lysate from GBM6 cell line	Imiquimod		Pediatric	DIPG	Pilot	8	USA	NCT01400672
DC + tumor								
Tumor lysate	Imiquimod		Adult + pediatric	Recurrent LGG or HGG	I	20	USA	NCT01808820
Tumor lysate	Imiquimod		Pediatric	Recurrent HGG	I	20	USA	NCT01902771
Tumor lysate	Resiquimod + poly-ICLC		Adult	Newly diagnosed or recurrent HGG	II	60	USA	NCT01204684
Tumor lysate	None		Adult	Newly diagnosed or recurrent LGG	II	18	USA	NCT01635283
Tumor lysate from allogenic stem-like cell line	None	Bevacizumab	Adult	Newly diagnosed or recurrent GBM	I	40	USA	NCT02010606
Tumor lysate from autologous stem-like cells	None		Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM	II	100	China	NCT01567202

DIPG, diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma; HGG, high-grade (III or IV) glioma; LGG, low-grade (grade II) glioma; poly-ICLC, polyinosinic–polycytidylic acid stabilized with polylysine and carboxymethylcellulose; Td, tetanus diphtheria; UnMe MGMT, unmethylated MGMT promoter.

<sup>a</sup>This study was recently discontinued after interim analysis due to absence of benefit as compared to control arm.

Interestingly, some trials of personalized vaccination are ongoing (NCT01814813, NCT02709616, NCT02149225), one of which selects the peptides according to peptide elution from the patient's tumor, thus ensuring presence of the target at the tumor surface (NCT02149225).

Trials with TSA in glioma have mostly focused on the EGFRvIII mutation as a single peptide vaccine and two clinical trials in newly diagnosed (NCT01480479) or recurrent (NCT01498328) GBM are ongoing. However, whereas phase II studies had shown benefit for patients with recurrent or newly diagnosed GBM (7, 117, 118), the unique phase III trial assessing the benefit of EGFRvIII peptide vaccine in addition to standard treatment in newly diagnosed GBM patients (NCT01480479) was recently discontinued due to absence of improved overall survival in patients receiving the vaccine versus standard treatment.<sup>1</sup> Maybe this vaccine would profit from combination with immune checkpoint inhibitors to enhance vaccine efficacy or with other peptides to prevent immune escape (7). In addition to EGFRvIII, clinical trials targeting a long peptide spanning the IDH1R132H mutation occurring in grade II/III and secondary GBM are ongoing (NCT02454634, NCT02193347). Identification of the latter epitope, which is recognized by CD4 T cells, provides the opportunity to target both CD4 and CD8 T cells by generating a composite vaccine including the IMA950 antigens and the peptide spanning the IDH1R132H mutation. Finally, three trials are assessing efficacy of vaccination with neoantigens in GBM (NCT02287428, NCT02510950, NCT02149225), one trial importantly addressing the presence of the mutated peptide at the tumor cell surface (NCT02149225).

Although some studies inject peptide or DC/peptide vaccines alone, the majority of studies inject the peptides with an adjuvant, mostly the TLR3 ligand poly-ICLC, the TLR7 ligands imiquimod and resiquimod, GM-CSF, or Montanide. Given the critical importance of adjuvant choice for therapeutic cancer vaccination revealed in preclinical studies (119–121), this issue will eventually have to be addressed in a clinical context. Interestingly, subsequent to clinical and mice studies showing that preconditioning the tumor vaccine injection site by a recall response to tetanus/diphtheria improved lymph node homing of tumor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://www.celldex.com/pipeline/rindopepimut.php.

antigen-bearing DCs and magnitude of immune responses (19), four studies (NCT02193347, NCT02709616, NCT02465268, NCT02366728) use a Td recall vaccine as adjuvant, some testing as part of their clinical trial efficiency of DC migration to lymph nodes (19). Finally, one study is adding the anti-PD1 antibody nivolumab to a pp65CMV vaccine in recurrent grade III or IV glioma patients.

Vaccines using autologous tumor or allogenic GBM cell lines as source of tumor antigens are mostly employing pulsed DCs, although three pilot studies are injecting lysate from the allogenic GBM6 stem-like cell line (122) without DCs, in low-grade glioma (LGG, grade II, NCT01678352, NCT02549833) or diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma (DIPG, NCT01400672; **Table 1**). Trials using tumor lysate-pulsed DCs are using either autologous tumor (NCT01808820, NCT01204684, NCT01902771, NCT01635283), or stem-like cells (NCT01567202), or an allogenic stem-like cell line (NCT02010606). As for peptide vaccines, tumor cell vaccines are usually injected with one of the three above-mentioned TLR ligands, with one study combining poly-ICLC and resiquimod. As stated before, there is no trial of peptide or tumor vaccine ongoing for PCNSL.

## **Cell Therapy**

At least one study of TIL infusion has been performed to date in brain tumor patients (123). With regard to peripheral bloodderived antigen-specific T cell transfer, only one study is being conducted, assessing the safety and efficacy of autologous CMV pp65-specific T cells to target GBM cells potentially expressing CMV (NCT02661282) (124). This might be due to the difficulty in detecting high levels of non-viral glioma-specific T cells in the peripheral blood of glioma patients and to the difficulty of amplifying them to great numbers for reinfusion. The latter phenomenon is probably related to the systemic defects in T cell function and proliferation observed in glioma patients, which are more pronounced than in other malignancies (125). Studies using TCR-transgenic T cells incorporating TCRs from glioma-specific T cells are similarly not yet being tested in the clinical setting, most probably due to the paucity of antigen-specific T cell clones characterized thus far for glioma. One study reporting generation of antigen-specific T cell clones from patients with GBM specific for different TAA (56) might be the first step toward development of this approach as it provides T cells with exploitable TCR sequences.

Studies with CARs have, in contrast, been quite extensively tested in preclinical glioma models and are in clinical trials (126). In the last 20 years of CAR development, initial experiments using first generation CARs bearing only the CD3<sup>\zet</sup> chain as signaling domain showed that such constructs were limited in efficacy. This led to the design of constructs incorporating CD28 or 4-1BB as costimulatory molecules (second generation CARs), which resulted in impressive success for the treatment of hematological malignances (127). Third generation CARs incorporating two costimulation molecules are being tested in B cell malignancies and neuroblastoma and a few clinical trials are even testing 4th generation CARS with additional CD27 costimulation. In brain tumors, CAR studies targeting six different antigens (EGFR, EGFRvIII, EphA2, Her2, IL13Ra, and MUC1) are ongoing (NCT02331693, NCT01454596, NCT02575261, NCT02442297, NCT02208362, NCT02617134), using second (CD28 or 41BB costimulation) or third (CD28 and 41BB costimulation) generation constructs (Table 2). Of note, the IL13Rα CAR, unlike the majority of CARs that use a single chain fragment variable part

Specificity	Adjuvant	Additional drugs	Patient population	Diagnostic	Phase	Estimated enrollment	Country	NCT number
Naturally occurring T cells								
CMV-specific T cells			Adult	Newly diagnosed or recurrent HGG	1/11	54	USA	NCT02661282
CARs								
EGFR (CD28 costimulatory domain)		Cyclophosphamide fludarabine	Adult	Recurrent glioblastoma (GBM) with EGFR amplification	Ι	10	China	NCT02331693
EGFRvIII (CD28 and 41BB costimulatory domains)	IL-2	Cyclophosphamide fludarabine	Adult	EGFRvIII+ recurrent GBM	1/11	107	USA	NCT01454596
EphA2 (CD28 costimulatory domain)			Adult	Newly diagnosed or recurrent HGG	na	60	China	NCT02575261
Her2 (CD28 costimulatory domain)			Adult	Her2+ recurrent GBM	Ι	14	USA (iCAR)	NCT02442297
IL13Rα2 (41BB costimulatory domain)			Adult	Recurrent HGG	Ι	36	USA	NCT02208362
MUC1 (CD28 and 41BB costimulatory domains)	IL-12 in CAR construct	Cyclophosphamide fludarabine	Adult	MUC1+ recurrent GBM	1/11	20	China	NCT02617134

HGG, high-grade (III or IV) glioma; na, not available.

(scFv) as the antigen-binding moiety, is composed of a modified IL-13 molecule (128). The safety profile of targeting some of the above-mentioned antigens is under scrutiny because of reported toxicity due to Her2 expression in heart and lung (129) and by expression of non-mutated EGFR in epithelial cells (130). Interestingly, two studies are injecting the CART cells in the brain, either intratumorally, in the resection cavity, or intraventricularly (NCT02442297, NCT02208362). Two other trials are using immunostimulatory cytokines, namely IL-2 with the 3rd generation EGFRvIII-specific CAR (NCT01454596) and IL-12 with the 3rd generation MUC1-specific CAR (NCT02617134, in the CAR construct itself), with the aim to enhance CAR T cell efficacy, although caution is warranted for IL-12 use (131). Finally, in an attempt to transfer CAR T cells that can best repopulate the T cell niche and generate long-term effector cells, a study targeting the IL13Rα protein is injecting central memory-enriched CAR T cells (132). Again, no cell therapy protocols are ongoing for PCNSL.

## TARGETING THE TUMOR ENVIRONMENT

As discussed above, TGF- $\beta$  is one of the main immunosuppressive molecules requiring targeting for tumors located in the brain.

Accordingly, many trials using mRNA antisense oligonucleotides, soluble receptors, or antibodies to TGF-ß and molecules inhibiting the kinase activity have been tested (133). Although reports from preclinical models were promising (66), clinical studies thus far have failed to demonstrate survival benefit associated with the use of TGF-β-targeting agents. The TGF-β mRNA antisense oligonucleotides trabedersen (AP12009) has not shown benefit in patients with grade III or IV glioma and is not being further tested (134). Galunisertib (LY2157299), a TGF-β receptor I kinase inhibitor, failed to demonstrate improved overall survival as compared to lomustine in patients with recurrent GBM (135) but is now being tested in combination with nivolumab in patients with GBM and recurrent pancreatic cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma (NCT02423343; Table 3). Similarly, fresolimumab, a pan-TGF-ß antibody failed to show survival benefit in patients with glioma (136). Although these results are quite discouraging, it is important to pursue investigation of TGF-β targeting. One reason for the inefficiency of TGF- $\beta$  blockade might be the activation of alternative pathways. We might therefore need to simultaneously target TGF- $\beta$  and alternative pathways such as EGFR, PI3K/Akt, NF-κB, or JAK/signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT), a strategy which has shown efficacy in preclinical studies of pancreatic tumors (137).

Target	Molecule	Additional intervention	Patient population	Diagnostic	Phase	Estimated enrollment	Country	NCT number
TGF-β								
	Galunisertib (TGF-β receptor l kinase Inhibitor)	Nivolumab		Glioblastoma (GBM), recurrent NSCLC, and HCC	1/11	100	USA and Spain	NCT02423343
IDO								
	Indoximod (D-1MT)	Bevacizumab	Adult	Recurrent HGG	1/11	144	USA	NCT02052648
	Indoximod (D-1MT)		Pediatric	Newly diagnosed HGG, ependymoma, and medulloblastoma	I	66	USA	NCT02502708
	Epacadostat	Nivolumab	Adult	Advanced solid tumors including recurrent GBM	1/11	291	USA	NCT02327078
STAT3								
	WP1066		Adult	Recurrent HGG, melanoma brain metastases	1/11	33	USA	NCT01904123
MDSC								
	Capecitabine (prodrug of 5-flourouracil)	Bevacizumab	Adult	Recurrent GBM	I	12	USA	NCT02669173
	CSF1-R inhibitor (PLX3397)			Newly diagnosed GBM	1/11	65	USA	NCT01790503
	Anti-CSF1-R antibody (FPA008)	Nivolumab	Adult	Solid tumors including GBM	I	280	USA	NCT02526017
Tregs								
	Basiliximab (anti-CD25)	pp65 mRNA Td vaccine	Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM	II	116	USA (ELEVATE)	NCT02366728

p-1MT, 1-methyl-p-tryptophan; HGG, high-grade (III and IV) astrocytoma; nivolumab, fully human IgG4 anti-PD1; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer.

Vascular endothelial growth factor, due to its critical role in brain tumor angiogenesis, is being targeted using different approaches. The monoclonal antibody bevacizumab is approved as a single agent for the treatment of recurrent glioma (138, 139), but did not demonstrate survival benefit for patients with newly diagnosed glioma (140, 141). It is being used in trials of therapeutic vaccination in the setting of recurrent glioma (NCT02078648, NCT01814813, NCT01498328), but is not tested per se in combination with other interventions. Aflibercept (VEGF Trap), a recombinant fusion protein, which acts as scavenger molecule for VEGF, improved survival in preclinical models, possibly due to its high affinity for VEGF, but failed to demonstrate antitumor activity in patients (142). A number of small molecule inhibitors of the kinase activity of VEGF receptor are being tested in glioma (including cediranib, sunitinib, pazopanib, vandetanib, and sorafenib), but not in combination with immunotherapy for the time being.

A third pathway of investigation in brain tumors is the IDO pathway, IDO being detected in virtually all glioma samples, although not normally expressed in the brain (70, 143). Studies in mouse models of glioma using the IDO inhibitor 1 methyltryptophan (1MT) suggested that combination with other molecules might be required for antitumor activity to be seen (144); however, indoximod (D-1MT) is being tested as single agent in patients with newly diagnosed (NCT02502708, pediatric population) and recurrent glioma (NCT02052648). A more recent IDO inhibitor, epacadostat (INCB24360), selectively inhibits the enzymatic activity of IDO1 and is being tested in patients with advanced solid malignancies including recurrent GBM, in combination with the anti-PD1 antibody nivolumab (NCT02327078).

Another currently targeted protein in brain tumors is STAT3, a molecule that is downstream of several oncogenic signaling cascades in glioma, including EGFR and PDGF receptor. Constitutive STAT3 activation is detected in 50–60% of highgrade glioma (145) and mediates immune suppression at the tumor site (146). It is also been shown to be activated in PCNSL (147). A trial with WP1006, an inhibitor of the JAK2/STAT3 pathway, is currently ongoing in patients with recurrent GBM (NCT01904123).

Inhibiting MDSCs is under investigation, using several approaches that include induction of MDSC differentiation into DC, decreasing MDSC levels, and inhibiting MDSC function (148). One study in patients with recurrent GBM (NCT02669173) aims at targeting MDSC using low-dose capecitabine, a prodrug of 5-fluorouracil, which was shown to kill MDSC and restore antitumor T cell responses (149). Another way of MDSC depletion is the use of colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor (CSF1-R) inhibitors. CSF1-R is overexpressed by MDSC and TAMs in human glioma and its expression was shown to correlate with glioma grade (150, 151). It is involved in the recruitment of TAM and MDSC at the tumor site via interaction with CSF1 and is necessary for their survival. CSF1-R inhibition showed improved survival in a preclinical model of glioma, with reprograming of the TAM into pro-inflammatory cells (152). Use of the CSF1-R inhibitor PLX3397 as single agent in patients with recurrent GBM

showed no improvement in survival (153), however, combination studies in preclinical models of melanoma demonstrated improvement of adoptive cell therapy, accompanied by reduction of tumor-infiltrating TAM and MDSC and augmentation of IFN- $\gamma$ -secreting TILs (154), advocating for its use in combination therapies in humans. The same molecule is currently being tested in patients with newly diagnosed GBM (NCT01790503) and another trial using a CSF1-R antibody is ongoing in combination with the anti-PD1 antibody nivolumab in patients with advanced cancers including glioma (NCT02526017).

Finally, inhibition of Tregs is currently being investigated for tumors in the brain in one trial only, although initial studies using an anti-CD25 antibody to deplete Tregs in combination with an EGFRVIII peptide vaccine showed enhanced humoral response to the vaccine in patients receiving the antibody (155). In the ongoing trial, pp65 CMV mRNA-pulsed DCs are injected into a Td vaccine-pretreated site, with or without the anti-CD25 antibody basiliximab (NCT02366728).

At the moment, there are no trials targeting the tumor microenvironment in patients with PCNSL, although there is a rationale for their implementation (156).

## IMMUNE CHECKPOINT BLOCKADE TRIALS

There are now numerous clinical trials testing the efficacy of ICB antibodies for tumors arising in the brain including glioma and PCNSL. An important issue related to the use of ICB antibodies is the mutation load of the targeted malignancies. GBM do not possess a high rate of mutations (around 2.5 mutations per megabase<sup>2</sup>) (157), except for a particular hypermutated rare subtype (158), lowering the probability of neoepitope-specific immune responses that can be amplified by ICB antibodies. Thus, the efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors might be less impressive as compared to other malignancies, as immune checkpoint inhibitors have been shown to work best in highly mutated tumors, with a threshold of 100 mutations per exome (3.3 mutations per megabase) (40, 41). As a consequence, trials in GBM might need to use these molecules not as single agents, but rather in combination with other immunotherapeutic strategies. Regarding PCNSL, recent studies revealed a median mutation load around 6.6 mutations per megabase (159), suggesting that this malignancy could be targeted with ICB antibodies as single agents. A further issue for the use of ICB antibodies from tumors located in the brain is whether efficacy is linked to penetration of antibodies to the tumor site in the CNS. Since, even in the condition where a tumor is present, blood-brain barrier breakdown is only partial, access of antibodies to tumors in the CNS will definitely be less efficient than for tumors located in peripheral organs. Anti-CTLA4, and to some extend anti-PD1, might exert their effect while seeing T cells in the periphery. Indeed, it has been shown that anti-PD1 treatment affected the phenotype of PD1-expressing Tregs in the peripheral blood

<sup>2</sup>http://icgc.org/.

of nivolumab-treated GBM patients (NCT02017717) (160). Considering anti-PD-L1 antibodies (such as durvalumab currently being tested in patients with GBM, see below), they will certainly need to access the tumor to reach PD-L1-expressing tumor cells, but an effect of anti-PD-L1 on circulating myeloid cells cannot be excluded. Studies in glioma mouse models have demonstrated the efficacy of anti-CTLA4 and anti-PD1 antibodies (161, 162) and studies demonstrating efficacy of anti-PD-L1 antibodies confirmed interest of these targets but do not provide the formal proof than these antibodies are able to enter the brain

TABLE 4   Curre	ntly ongoing immune checkpo	oint trials.					
Molecule	Additional intervention	Patient population	Diagnostic	Phase	Estimated enrollment	Country	NCT number
Anti-CTLA4							
Ipilimumab	±Nivolumab	Adult	Newly diagnosed glioblastoma (GBM)	I	42	USA	NCT02311920
Ipilimumab	Nivolumab	Adult	Recurrent GBM	III	440	Worldwide (checkmate 143)	NCT02017717
Anti-PD1							
Nivolumab	Gamma knife + valproate	Adult	Recurrent GBM	Pilot	17	USA	NCT02648633
Nivolumab	None and/or ipilimumab	Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM	I	42	USA	NCT02311920
Nivolumab	CSF1-R inhibitor	Adult	Solid tumors, GBM	I	270	USA	NCT02526017
Nivolumab	Galunisertib (TGFβ receptor I kinase inhibitor)	Adult	GBM, other solid tumors	1/11	100	USA and Spain	NCT02423343
Nivolumab		Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM (Me MGMT)	II randomized	320	Worldwide (checkmate 548)	NCT02667587
Nivolumab		Adult	Newly diagnosed GBM (UnMe MGMT)	III	550	Worldwide (checkmate 498)	NCT02617589
Nivolumab		Pediatric + adult	Newly diagnosed and recurrent GBM	II	29	Spain	NCT02550249
Nivolumab	CMV pp65-mRNA-pulsed dendritic cells	Adult	Recurrent HGG	II	66	USA	NCT02529072
Pembrolizumab		Adult	Recurrent HGG with hypermutant phenotype	Pilot	12	USA	NCT02658279
Pembrolizumab		Adult	Recurrent HGG	I	32	USA	NCT02313272
Pembrolizumab		Pediatric	Recurrent HGG/DPIG	I	70	USA	NCT02359565
Pembrolizumab		Adult	Newly diagnosed HGG	1/11	50	USA	NCT02530502
Pembrolizumab	MRI-guided laser ablation	Adult	Newly diagnosed HGG	1/11	52	USA	NCT02311582
Pembrolizumab		Adult	Recurrent GBM	II	20	USA	NCT02337686
Pembrolizumab		Adult	Recurrent GBM	II	81	USA	NCT02337491
Pembrolizumab		Adult	Recurrent PCNSL	II	21	Austria	NCT02779101
Pembrolizumab	Versus three PI3K/Akt pathways inhibitors	Adult	Recurrent GBM	llb	58	Worldwide	NCT02430363
Pidilizumab		Pediatric	DPIG	1/11	50	Israel	NCT01952769
Anti-PD-L1							
Durvalumab	Bevacizumab	Adult	Newly diagnosed and recurrent GBM	ll	108	USA and Australia	NCT02336165
Anti-LAG3							
Anti-LAG3	Pembrolizumab, urelumab	Adult	Recurrent GBM	I	68	USA	NCT02658981

Durvalumab, human IgG1 anti-PD-L1; HGG, high-grade (III and IV) astrocytoma; ipilimumab, humanized IgG1 anti-CTLA4; Me MGMT, methylated MGMT promoter; nivolumab, fully human IgG4 anti-PD1; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; PCNSL, primary CNS lymphoma; pembrolizumab, humanized IgG4 anti-PD1; pidilizumab, humanized IgG1 anti-PD1; urelumab, fully human IgG4 anti-CD137; UnMe MGMT, unmethylated MGMT promoter.

(144, 163). Brain metastases from melanoma patients can be controlled by ICB antibodies, but with lower efficacy than metastases in extracerebral sites (164).

The number of clinical trials for GBM using anti-CTLA4, but mostly anti-PD1, has increased remarkably in the last 2 years. Indeed, the anti-CTLA4 antibody ipilimumab is being tested in combination with anti-PD1 in newly diagnosed (NCT02311920) and recurrent GBM patients (NCT02017717, in comparison with bevacizumab, **Table 4**). Rationale for investigating efficacy of multiple ICB antibodies originate from clinical studies in melanoma demonstrating higher efficacy of combination of anti-CTLA4 and anti-PD1 versus anti-CTLA-4 (165, 166) or either agent alone in PD-L1-negative patients (166), the limiting factor being however increased toxicity as treatments are combined. Preclinical studies also showed that only combination of ICB antibodies were able to induce regression of intracranial glioma (144, 161). Nevertheless, several trials using the anti-PD1 antibodies nivolumab (fully human IgG<sub>4</sub>), pembrolizumab (humanized IgG<sub>4</sub>), or pidilizumab (humanized IgG<sub>1</sub>) are ongoing in the adult and pediatric populations in pilot, phase I, II, and III trials. Some trials are investigating anti-PD1 antibodies as single agents in newly diagnosed (NCT02667587, NCT02617589, NCT02550249, NCT02530502) or recurrent (NCT02550249, NCT02313272, NCT02359565, NCT02337686, NCT02337491) GBM patients, including children (NCT02550249, NCT02359565, NCT01952769). One trial is comparing the use of pembrolizumab in comparison to three suppressors of the PI3K/Akt pathways given together (NCT02430363). Rare hypermutated GBM tumors occurring in patients suffering from biallelic mismatch repair deficiency, which have been shown to respond to nivolumab treatment (158), are being targeted as well (NCT02658279). Two trials are addressing the efficacy of other ICB, the anti-PD-L1 antibody durvalumab (human IgG1) in patients with newly diagnosed or recurrent GBM (NCT02336165) and an anti-LAG3 antibody compared to an anti-CD137 (urelumab, a fully human IgG4 antibody) combined or not with pembrolizumab (NCT02658981).

Currently, none of these trials are selecting patients according to the PD-L1 status. It has been shown in non-CNS malignancies that response to PD1 targeting was associated with PD-L1 expression (167-169) and one study demonstrated objective responses in patients whose tumors expressed PD-L1 only (169). However, in contrast to this, some studies observed treatment responses in PD-L1-negative patients, questioning the use of PD-L1 expression as a marker for patient selection. In that matter, one issue is the various protocols (including different antibodies, tumor sample size, cut-offs...) used for the assessment of PD-L1 expression that prevents direct comparison of studies (170). Regarding GBM, the same issue applies, but, regardless of the methodology used, the rate of PD-L1-positive tumors seems to be relatively high as compared to non-CNS malignancies (171). Expression in PCNSL samples, although less intensively assessed thus far, seems to be lower (172, 173). A careful assessment of PD-L1 expression in ongoing clinical trials of anti-PD1 and PD-L1 will be invaluable in helping define the role of PD-L1 expression as a marker of treatment efficacy in CNS malignancies.

As mentioned before, the relatively low mutation load of GBM might require using ICB antibodies in combination with antitumor vaccines or other therapeutic interventions. In that regard, other studies are combining anti-PD1 antibodies with (i) approaches to enhance tumor immunogenicity, (ii) therapeutic vaccines, or (iii) molecules targeting the tumor microenvironment. Enhancement of tumor immunogenicity is achieved through the concomitant use of gamma knife surgery to provide additional tumor antigens to the immune system and valproic acid, a histone deacetylase inhibitor shown to induce global DNA demethylation (NCT02648633). Others are using peritumoral MRI-guided laser ablation in order to breach the BBB and increase access of tumor antigens to the immune system (NCT02311582). At the moment, only one trial combining ICB antibodies with another immunotherapy is ongoing, using autologous DCs pulsed with pp65 CMV mRNA (NCT02529072). As mentioned above, elicitation of antitumor immune responses that reach the tumor is associated with adaptive immune resistance as tumor infiltration by IFN-y-secreting cells lead to upregulation to PD-L1 in the tumor environment (37), a phenomenon that could be counteracted in a glioma mouse model of tumor-loaded DC vaccination by the concomitant use of anti-PD1 antibodies (162). Therefore, combining DC and other vaccines with ICB antibodies certainly merits further exploration. As already mentioned above, two trials are using ICB in the context of strategies aiming at targeting the tumor microenvironment, namely using a CSF1-R inhibitor (NCT02526017) or a TGF<sup>β</sup> receptor I kinase inhibitor (NCT02423343). Regarding PCNSL, one trial is currently addressing the effect of anti-PD1 antibodies in recurrent PCNSL (NCT02779101).

## CONCLUSION

Currently, ongoing trials for tumors located in the brain are principally designed on the same basis as for tumors located at other sites. Similarities between CNS and non-CNS tumors are the need for specificity, the need for T cell infiltration in the case of non-T cell inflamed organs, and the need to overcome local immunosuppression. The only feature that is unique to tumors located in the brain is the absence of metastases outside the CNS. This is an opportunity, as, if we can design immunotherapies that are efficient in getting functional antitumor T cell in the CNS, no other site needs to be targeted. Once we achieve this, the difference for tumors located in the brain will be determining the tolerated level for an inflammatory response to occur without damage to the brain. Integration of these parameters into future clinical trials will ultimately result in clinical benefit for the patient. In the interim, maximizing the biological information from existing trials may be highly informative. Finally, a notion that is also true for tumors located outside the brain, we should aim at investigating combination of vaccines, cell therapy, ICB antibodies, and molecules targeting the tumor environment, trying as well to exploit the beneficial effects of radio- and

chemotherapy. In this regard, selecting patients according to markers such as mutational load, tumor PD-L1 expression, and extent of T cell infiltration might help define combinations most beneficial for each patient. Understanding whether a non-inflamed tumor is the result of tumor escape or immune ignorance will help choose between helping existing T cells to efficiently exert their antitumor effect, providing exogenous T cells, and inducing tumor cell death to provide antigens to the immune system. With this, the dream of immunotherapy might come true, with long-lasting tumor remissions without significant toxicity to be seen for improvement of patient survival.

### REFERENCES

- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. *Science* (2011) 331:1565–70. doi:10.1126/science.1203486
- Walker PR, Calzascia T, de Tribolet N, Dietrich PY. T-cell immune responses in the brain and their relevance for cerebral malignancies. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* (2003) 42:97–122. doi:10.1016/S0165-0173(03)00141-3
- Guo C, Manjili MH, Subjeck JR, Sarkar D, Fisher PB, Wang XY. Therapeutic cancer vaccines: past, present, and future. *Adv Cancer Res* (2013) 119:421–75. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-407190-2.00007-1
- Gubin MM, Artyomov MN, Mardis ER, Schreiber RD. Tumor neoantigens: building a framework for personalized cancer immunotherapy. *J Clin Invest* (2015) 125:3413–21. doi:10.1172/JCI80008
- Hinrichs CS, Restifo NP. Reassessing target antigens for adoptive T-cell therapy. Nat Biotechnol (2013) 31:999–1008. doi:10.1038/nbt.2725
- Ohnmacht GA, Wang E, Mocellin S, Abati A, Filie A, Fetsch P, et al. Shortterm kinetics of tumor antigen expression in response to vaccination. *J Immunol* (2001) 167:1809–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.167.3.1809
- Sampson JH, Heimberger AB, Archer GE, Aldape KD, Friedman AH, Friedman HS, et al. Immunologic escape after prolonged progression-free survival with epidermal growth factor receptor variant III peptide vaccination in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2010) 28:4722–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.28.6963
- Ribas A, Timmerman JM, Butterfield LH, Economou JS. Determinant spreading and tumor responses after peptide-based cancer immunotherapy. *Trends Immunol* (2003) 24:58–61. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(02)00029-7
- Azad TD, Razavi SM, Jin B, Lee K, Li G. Glioblastoma antigen discovery foundations for immunotherapy. *J Neurooncol* (2015) 123:347–58. doi:10.1007/s11060-015-1836-8
- Cicchelero L, de RH, Sanders NN. Various ways to improve whole cancer cell vaccines. *Expert Rev Vaccines* (2014) 13:721–35. doi:10.1586/14760584 .2014.911093
- Tagliamonte M, Petrizzo A, Tornesello ML, Buonaguro FM, Buonaguro L. Antigen-specific vaccines for cancer treatment. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* (2014) 10:3332–46. doi:10.4161/21645515.2014.973317
- Hofman FM, Stathopoulos A, Kruse CA, Chen TC, Schijns VE. Immunotherapy of malignant gliomas using autologous and allogeneic tissue cells. *Anticancer Agents Med Chem* (2010) 10:462–70. doi:10.2174/1871520 611009060462
- Pizzurro GA, Barrio MM. Dendritic cell-based vaccine efficacy: aiming for hot spots. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:91. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00091
- 14. Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Restifo NP. Cancer immunotherapy: moving beyond current vaccines. *Nat Med* (2004) 10:909–15. doi:10.1038/nm1100
- 15. Temizoz B, Kuroda E, Ishii KJ. Vaccine adjuvants as potential cancer immunotherapeutics. *Int Immunol* (2016) 28:329–38. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxw015
- Hanson MC, Crespo MP, Abraham W, Moynihan KD, Szeto GL, Chen SH, et al. Nanoparticulate STING agonists are potent lymph node-targeted vaccine adjuvants. J Clin Invest (2015) 125:2532–46. doi:10.1172/JCI79915
- Chandra D, Quispe-Tintaya W, Jahangir A, Asafu-Adjei D, Ramos I, Sintim HO, et al. STING ligand c-di-GMP improves cancer vaccination against metastatic breast cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2:901–10. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0123

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed, have made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from Fondaction, the Fondation Lionel Perrier, the Fondation privée des HUG, Pierre Mercier, the Ligue Genevoise contre le Cancer and Oncosuisse (KFS-3270-08-2013).

- Ohkuri T, Ghosh A, Kosaka A, Zhu J, Ikeura M, David M, et al. STING contributes to antiglioma immunity via triggering type I IFN signals in the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2:1199–208. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0099
- Mitchell DA, Batich KA, Gunn MD, Huang MN, Sanchez-Perez L, Nair SK, et al. Tetanus toxoid and CCL3 improve dendritic cell vaccines in mice and glioblastoma patients. *Nature* (2015) 519:366–9. doi:10.1038/ nature14320
- Harris DT, Kranz DM. Adoptive T cell therapies: a comparison of T cell receptors and chimeric antigen receptors. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2016) 37:220–30. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2015.11.004
- Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:298–306. doi:10.1038/nrc3245
- 22. Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP. Adoptive cell transfer as personalized immunotherapy for human cancer. *Science* (2015) 348:62–8. doi:10.1126/science. aaa4967
- Debets R, Donnadieu E, Chouaib S, Coukos G. TCR-engineered T cells to treat tumors: seeing but not touching? *Semin Immunol* (2016) 28:10–21. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2016.03.002
- Gill S, Maus MV, Porter DL. Chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy: 25years in the making. *Blood Rev* (2015) 30:157–67. doi:10.1016/j.blre.2015.10.003
- Restifo NP, Dudley ME, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: harnessing the T cell response. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12:269–81. doi:10.1038/nri3191
- Casucci M, Hawkins RE, Dotti G, Bondanza A. Overcoming the toxicity hurdles of genetically targeted T cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2015) 64:123–30. doi:10.1007/s00262-014-1641-9
- Cameron BJ, Gerry AB, Dukes J, Harper J, Kannan V, Bianchi FC, et al. Identification of a Titin-derived HLA-A1-presented peptide as a cross-reactive target for engineered MAGE A3-directed T cells. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5:197ra103. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3006034
- Barrett DM, Teachey DT, Grupp SA. Toxicity management for patients receiving novel T-cell engaging therapies. *Curr Opin Pediatr* (2014) 26:43–9. doi:10.1097/MOP.00000000000043
- Leisegang M, Engels B, Schreiber K, Yew PY, Kiyotani K, Idel C, et al. Eradication of large solid tumors by gene therapy with a T-cell receptor targeting a single cancer-specific point mutation. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22:2734–43. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2361
- Vignard V, Lemercier B, Lim A, Pandolfino MC, Guilloux Y, Khammari A, et al. Adoptive transfer of tumor-reactive Melan-A-specific CTL clones in melanoma patients is followed by increased frequencies of additional Melan-A-specific T cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:4797–805. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.175.7.4797
- 31. Chapuis AG, Roberts IM, Thompson JA, Margolin KA, Bhatia S, Lee SM, et al. T-Cell therapy using interleukin-21-primed cytotoxic T-cell lymphocytes combined with cytotoxic T-cell lymphocyte antigen-4 blockade results in long-term cell persistence and durable tumor regression. *J Clin Oncol* (2016) 34:3787–95. doi:10.1200/JCO.2015.65.5142
- Pitt JM, Marabelle A, Eggermont A, Soria JC, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Targeting the tumor microenvironment: removing obstruction to anticancer immune responses and immunotherapy. *Ann Oncol* (2016) 27:1482–92. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdw168

- Takeuchi Y, Nishikawa H. Roles of regulatory T cells in cancer immunity. Int Immunol (2016) 28:401–9. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxw025
- Kim J, Bae JS. Tumor-associated macrophages and neutrophils in tumor microenvironment. *Mediators Inflamm* (2016) 2016:6058147. doi:10.1155/ 2016/6058147
- Malek E, de LM, Letterio JJ, Kim BG, Finke JH, Driscoll JJ, et al. Myeloidderived suppressor cells: the green light for myeloma immune escape. *Blood Rev* (2016) 30:341–8. doi:10.1016/j.blre.2016.04.002
- Borch TH, Donia M, Andersen MH, Svane IM. Reorienting the immune system in the treatment of cancer by using anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies. *Drug Discov Today* (2015) 20:1127–34. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2015.07.003
- Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy. *Cancer Cell* (2015) 27:450–61. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2015.03.001
- Dubinski D, Wolfer J, Hasselblatt M, Schneider-Hohendorf T, Bogdahn U, Stummer W, et al. CD4+ T effector memory cell dysfunction is associated with the accumulation of granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in glioblastoma patients. *Neuro Oncol* (2016) 18:807–18. doi:10.1093/neuonc/ nov280
- Ito A, Kondo S, Tada K, Kitano S. Clinical development of immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Biomed Res Int* (2015) 2015:605478. doi:10.1155/2015/ 605478
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2014) 371:2189–99. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1406498
- Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Kemberling H, Eyring AD, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372:2509–20. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1500596
- Robbins PF, Lu YC, El-Gamil M, Li YF, Gross C, Gartner J, et al. Mining exomic sequencing data to identify mutated antigens recognized by adoptively transferred tumor-reactive T cells. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:747–52. doi:10.1038/nm.3161
- Ansell SM, Lesokhin AM, Borrello I, Halwani A, Scott EC, Gutierrez M, et al. PD-1 blockade with nivolumab in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2015) 372:311–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1411087
- 44. Romano E, Michielin O, Voelter V, Laurent J, Bichat H, Stravodimou A, et al. MART-1 peptide vaccination plus IMP321 (LAG-3Ig fusion protein) in patients receiving autologous PBMCs after lymphodepletion: results of a Phase I trial. J Transl Med (2014) 12:97. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-12-97
- 45. Legat A, Maby-El HH, Baumgaertner P, Cagnon L, Abed Maillard S, Geldhof C, et al. Vaccination with LAG-3Ig (IMP321) and peptides induces specific CD4 and CD8 T-cell responses in metastatic melanoma patients-report of a phase I/IIa clinical trial. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22:1330–40. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1212
- Butowski NA. Epidemiology and diagnosis of brain tumors. *Continuum (Minneap Minn)* (2015) 21:301–13. doi:10.1212/01. CON.0000464171.50638.fa
- Ostrom QT, Gittleman H, Fulop J, Fulop J, Liu M, Blanda R, et al. CBTRUS statistical report: primary brain and central nervous system tumors diagnosed in the United States in 2008–2012. *Neuro Oncol* (2015) 17(Suppl 4):iv1–62. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nou327
- Derouazi M, Di Berardino-Besson W, Belnoue E, Hoepner S, Walther R, Benkhoucha M, et al. Novel cell-penetrating peptide-based vaccine induces robust CD4+ and CD8+ T cell-mediated antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75:3020–31. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3017
- Masson F, Calzascia T, Di Berardino-Besson W, de Tribolet N, Dietrich PY, Walker PR. Brain microenvironment promotes the final functional maturation of tumor-specific effector CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:845–53. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.2.845
- Kim YH, Jung TY, Jung S, Jang WY, Moon KS, Kim IY, et al. Tumourinfiltrating T-cell subpopulations in glioblastomas. Br J Neurosurg (2012) 26:21–7. doi:10.3109/02688697.2011.584986
- 51. Kmiecik J, Poli A, Brons NH, Waha A, Eide GE, Enger PØ, et al. Elevated CD3+ and CD8+ tumor-infiltrating immune cells correlate with prolonged survival in glioblastoma patients despite integrated immunosuppressive mechanisms in the tumor microenvironment and at the systemic level. *J Neuroimmunol* (2013) 264:71–83. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013.08.013
- 52. Lohr J, Ratliff T, Huppertz A, Ge Y, Dictus C, Ahmadi R, et al. Effector T-cell infiltration positively impacts survival of glioblastoma patients and is

impaired by tumor-derived TGF-beta. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:4296–308. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2557

- Herold-Mende C, Mossemann J, Jungk C, Ahmadi R, Unterberg A, Capper D, et al. Peripheral T cell responses in glioblastoma patients are associated with an imprrved survival [abstract]. *Neuro Oncol* (2014) 16(Suppl2):ii13. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nou209.1
- Pallasch CP, Struss AK, Munnia A, König J, Steudel WI, Fischer U, et al. Autoantibodies against GLEA2 and PHF3 in glioblastoma: tumor-associated autoantibodies correlated with prolonged survival. *Int J Cancer* (2005) 117:456–9. doi:10.1002/ijc.20929
- Ueda R, Low KL, Zhu X, Fujita M, Sasaki K, Whiteside TL, et al. Spontaneous immune responses against glioma-associated antigens in a long term survivor with malignant glioma. *J Transl Med* (2007) 5:68. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-5-68
- Dutoit V, Herold-Mende C, Hilf N, Schoor O, Beckhove P, Bucher J, et al. Exploiting the glioblastoma peptidome to discover novel tumour-associated antigens for immunotherapy. *Brain* (2012) 135:1042–54. doi:10.1093/brain/ aws042
- Ponzoni M, Berger F, Chassagne-Clement C, Tinguely M, Jouvet A, Ferreri AJ, et al. Reactive perivascular T-cell infiltrate predicts survival in primary central nervous system B-cell lymphomas. *Br J Haematol* (2007) 138:316–23. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.06661.x
- He M, Zuo C, Wang J, Liu J, Jiao B, Zheng J, et al. Prognostic significance of the aggregative perivascular growth pattern of tumor cells in primary central nervous system diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Neuro Oncol* (2013) 15:727–34. doi:10.1093/neuonc/not012
- Cserr HF, Knopf PM. Cervical lymphatics, the blood-brain barrier and the immunoreactivity of the brain: a new view. *Immunol Today* (1992) 13:507–12. doi:10.1016/0167-5699(92)90027-5
- Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, et al. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature* (2015) 523:337–41. doi:10.1038/nature14432
- Ransohoff RM, Engelhardt B. The anatomical and cellular basis of immune surveillance in the central nervous system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12:623–35. doi:10.1038/nri3265
- Calzascia T, Masson F, Di Berardino-Besson W, Contassot E, Wilmotte R, Aurrand-Lions M, et al. Homing phenotypes of tumor-specific CD8 T cells are predetermined at the tumor site by crosspresenting APCs. *Immunity* (2005) 22:175–84. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.12.008
- Okada H. Brain tumor immunotherapy with type-1 polarizing strategies. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2009) 1174:18–23. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04932.x
- Carbone FR. Tissue-resident memory T cells and fixed immune surveillance in nonlymphoid organs. *J Immunol* (2015) 195:17–22. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1500515
- Facoetti A, Nano R, Zelini P, Morbini P, Benericetti E, Ceroni M, et al. Human leukocyte antigen and antigen processing machinery component defects in astrocytic tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11:8304–11. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2588
- Han J, Alvarez-Breckenridge CA, Wang QE, Yu J. TGF-beta signaling and its targeting for glioma treatment. *Am J Cancer Res* (2015) 5:945–55.
- 67. Reardon DA, Turner S, Peters KB, Desjardins A, Gururangan S, Sampson JH, et al. A review of VEGF/VEGFR-targeted therapeutics for recurrent glioblastoma. *J Natl Compr Canc Netw* (2011) 9:414–27.
- Sawamura Y, Diserens AC, de TN. In vitro prostaglandin E2 production by glioblastoma cells and its effect on interleukin-2 activation of oncolytic lymphocytes. J Neurooncol (1990) 9:125–30. doi:10.1007/BF02427832
- Rolle CE, Sengupta S, Lesniak MS. Mechanisms of immune evasion by gliomas. Adv Exp Med Biol (2012) 746:53–76. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-3146-6\_5
- Wainwright DA, Balyasnikova IV, Chang AL, Ahmed AU, Moon KS, Auffinger B, et al. IDO expression in brain tumors increases the recruitment of regulatory T cells and negatively impacts survival. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18:6110–21. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2130
- Kohanbash G, Okada H. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) in gliomas and glioma-development. *Immunol Invest* (2012) 41:658–79. doi:10.3109/08820139.2012.689591
- Ooi YC, Tran P, Ung N, Thill K, Trang A, Fong BM, et al. The role of regulatory T-cells in glioma immunology. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* (2014) 119:125–32. doi:10.1016/j.clineuro.2013.12.004

- Gabrusiewicz K, Rodriguez B, Wei J, Hashimoto Y, Healy LM, Maiti SN, et al. Glioblastoma-infiltrated innate immune cells resemble M0 macrophage phenotype. JCI Insight (2016) 1:e85841. doi:10.1172/jci.insight.85841
- 74. Saas P, Walker PR, Hahne M, Quiquerez AL, Schnuriger V, Perrin G, et al. Fas ligand expression by astrocytoma in vivo: maintaining immune privilege in the brain? *J Clin Invest* (1997) 99:1173–8. doi:10.1172/JCI119273
- Bloch O, Crane CA, Kaur R, Safaee M, Rutkowski MJ, Parsa AT. Gliomas promote immunosuppression through induction of B7-H1 expression in tumor-associated macrophages. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:3165–75. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3314
- Wintterle S, Schreiner B, Mitsdoerffer M, Schneider D, Chen L, Meyermann R, et al. Expression of the B7-related molecule B7-H1 by glioma cells: a potential mechanism of immune paralysis. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63:7462–7.
- Berghoff AS, Kiesel B, Widhalm G, Rajky O, Ricken G, Wöhrer A, et al. Programmed death ligand 1 expression and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol* (2015) 17:1064–75. doi:10.1093/neuonc/ nou307
- Evans SM, Judy KD, Dunphy I, Jenkins WT, Hwang WT, Nelson PT, et al. Hypoxia is important in the biology and aggression of human glial brain tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10:8177–84. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-1081
- Perng P, Lim M. Immunosuppressive mechanisms of malignant gliomas: parallels at non-CNS sites. *Front Oncol* (2015) 5:153. doi:10.3389/ fonc.2015.00153
- Galea I, Bechmann I, Perry VH. What is immune privilege (not)? Trends Immunol (2007) 28:12–8. doi:10.1016/j.it.2006.11.004
- Thomas DL, Kranz DM, Roy EJ. Experimental manipulations of afferent immune responses influence efferent immune responses to brain tumors. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2008) 57:1323–33. doi:10.1007/ s00262-008-0467-8
- Macarthur KM, Kao GD, Chandrasekaran S, Alonso-Basanta M, Chapman C, Lustig RA, et al. Detection of brain tumor cells in the peripheral blood by a telomerase promoter-based assay. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74:2152–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0813
- Muller C, Holtschmidt J, Auer M, Heitzer E, Lamszus K, Schulte A, et al. Hematogenous dissemination of glioblastoma multiforme. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:247ra101. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3009095
- 84. Ohlfest JR, Andersen BM, Litterman AJ, Xia J, Pennell CA, Swier LE, et al. Vaccine injection site matters: qualitative and quantitative defects in CD8 T cells primed as a function of proximity to the tumor in a murine glioma model. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:613–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201557
- Hickey WF. Leukocyte traffic in the central nervous system: the participants and their roles. Semin Immunol (1999) 11:125–37. doi:10.1006/ smim.1999.0168
- Hong JJ, Rosenberg SA, Dudley ME, Yang JC, White DE, Butman JA, et al. Successful treatment of melanoma brain metastases with adoptive cell therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16:4892–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1507
- Kluger HM, Zito CR, Barr ML, Baine MK, Chiang VL, Sznol M, et al. Characterization of PD-L1 expression and associated T-cell infiltrates in metastatic melanoma samples from variable anatomic sites. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21:3052–60. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-3073
- Nishimura F, Dusak JE, Eguchi J, Zhu X, Gambotto A, Storkus WJ, et al. Adoptive transfer of type 1 CTL mediates effective anti-central nervous system tumor response: critical roles of IFN-inducible protein-10. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:4478–87. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3825
- Jack CS, Arbour N, Manusow J, Montgrain V, Blain M, McCrea E, et al. TLR signaling tailors innate immune responses in human microglia and astrocytes. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:4320–30. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.7.4320
- 90. Okada H, Kalinski P, Ueda R, Hoji A, Kohanbash G, Donegan TE, et al. Induction of CD8+ T-cell responses against novel glioma-associated antigen peptides and clinical activity by vaccinations with {alpha}-type 1 polarized dendritic cells and polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid stabilized by lysine and carboxymethylcellulose in patients with recurrent malignant glioma. *J Clin Oncol* (2011) 29:330–6. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.30.7744
- Okada H, Butterfield LH, Hamilton RL, Hoji A, Sakaki M, Ahn BJ, et al. Induction of robust type-I CD8+ T-cell responses in WHO grade 2 lowgrade glioma patients receiving peptide-based vaccines in combination

with poly-ICLC. Clin Cancer Res (2015) 21:286–94. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-14-1790

- Craddock JA, Lu A, Bear A, Pule M, Brenner MK, Rooney CM, et al. Enhanced tumor trafficking of GD2 chimeric antigen receptor T cells by expression of the chemokine receptor CCR2b. J Immunother (2010) 33:780–8. doi:10.1097/ CJI.0b013e3181ee6675
- 93. Hoepner S, Walker PR. Getting by with a little help from the right CD4 T cells. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e25772. doi:10.4161/onci.25772
- Bottner M, Krieglstein K, Unsicker K. The transforming growth factor-betas: structure, signaling, and roles in nervous system development and functions. *J Neurochem* (2000) 75:2227–40. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.2000.0752227.x
- Voron T, Marcheteau E, Pernot S, Colussi O, Tartour E, Taieb J, et al. Control of the immune response by pro-angiogenic factors. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:70. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00070
- Bechmann I, Mor G, Nilsen J, Eliza M, Nitsch R, Naftolin F. FasL (CD95L, Apo1L) is expressed in the normal rat and human brain: evidence for the existence of an immunological brain barrier. *Glia* (1999) 27:62–74. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1098-1136(199907)27:1<62::AID-GLIA7>3.0.CO;2-S
- Woo SR, Corrales L, Gajewski TF. The STING pathway and the T cellinflamed tumor microenvironment. *Trends Immunol* (2015) 36:250–6. doi:10.1016/j.it.2015.02.003
- Taube JM, Anders RA, Young GD, Xu H, Sharma R, McMiller TL, et al. Colocalization of inflammatory response with B7-h1 expression in human melanocytic lesions supports an adaptive resistance mechanism of immune escape. *Sci Transl Med* (2012) 4:127ra37. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3003689
- Spranger S, Spaapen RM, Zha Y, Williams J, Meng Y, Ha TT, et al. Up-regulation of PD-L1, IDO, and T(regs) in the melanoma tumor microenvironment is driven by CD8(+) T cells. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5:200ra116. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3006504
- Ulloa-Montoya F, Louahed J, Dizier B, Gruselle O, Spiessens B, Lehmann FF, et al. Predictive gene signature in MAGE-A3 antigen-specific cancer immunotherapy. J Clin Oncol (2013) 31:2388–95. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.44.3762
- 101. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366:2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- 102. Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. *Nature* (2014) 515:568–71. doi:10.1038/nature13954
- Gajewski TF, Schreiber H, Fu YX. Innate and adaptive immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:1014–22. doi:10.1038/ ni.2703
- Chang C, Lin CH, Cheng AL, Medeiros LJ, Chang KC. Primary central nervous system diffuse large B-cell lymphoma has poorer immune cell infiltration and prognosis than its peripheral counterpart. *Histopathology* (2015) 67:625–35. doi:10.1111/his.12706
- 105. Burnette BC, Liang H, Lee Y, Chlewicki L, Khodarev NN, Weichselbaum RR, et al. The efficacy of radiotherapy relies upon induction of type I interferon-dependent innate and adaptive immunity. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:2488–96. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2820
- 106. Deng L, Liang H, Xu M, Yang X, Burnette B, Arina A, et al. STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing promotes radiation-induced type I interferon-dependent antitumor immunity in immunogenic tumors. *Immunity* (2014) 41:843–52. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.019
- 107. Tang H, Wang Y, Chlewicki LK, Zhang Y, Guo J, Liang W, et al. Facilitating T cell infiltration in tumor microenvironment overcomes resistance to PD-L1 blockade. *Cancer Cell* (2016) 29:285–96. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2016. 02.004
- Okada H, Kohanbash G, Zhu X, Kastenhuber ER, Hoji A, Ueda R, et al. Immunotherapeutic approaches for glioma. *Crit Rev Immunol* (2009) 29:1–42. doi:10.1615/CritRevImmunol.v29.i1.10
- 109. Overwijk WW, Wang E, Marincola FM, Rammensee HG, Restifo NP. Mining the mutanome: developing highly personalized Immunotherapies based on mutational analysis of tumors. *J Immunother Cancer* (2013) 1:11. doi:10.1186/2051-1426-1-11
- Padfield E, Ellis HP, Kurian KM. Current therapeutic advances targeting EGFR and EGFRvIII in glioblastoma. *Front Oncol* (2015) 5:5. doi:10.3389/ fonc.2015.00005

- Ichimura K, Narita Y, Hawkins CE. Diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas: pathology, molecular mechanisms and markers. *Acta Neuropathol* (2015) 129:789–808. doi:10.1007/s00401-015-1439-7
- 112. Pollack IF, Jakacki RI, Butterfield LH, Hamilton RL, Panigrahy A, Normolle OP, et al. Immune responses and outcome after vaccination with glioma-associated antigen peptides and poly-ICLC in a pilot study for pediatric recurrent low-grade gliomasdagger. *Neuro Oncol* (2016) 18:1157–68. doi:10.1007/s11060-016-2245-3
- 113. Rampling R, Peoples S, Mulholland PJ, James A, Al-Salihi O, Twelves CJ, et al. A cancer research UK first time in human phase I trial of IMA950 (novel multi peptide therapeutic vaccine) in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22:4776–85. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0506
- 114. Iwami K, Shimato S, Ohno M, Okada H, Nakahara N, Sato Y, et al. Peptidepulsed dendritic cell vaccination targeting interleukin-13 receptor alpha2 chain in recurrent malignant glioma patients with HLA-A\*24/A\*02 allele. *Cytotherapy* (2012) 14:733–42. doi:10.3109/14653249.2012.6666633
- 115. Hashimoto N, Tsuboi A, Kagawa N, Chiba Y, Izumoto S, Kinoshita M, et al. Wilms tumor 1 peptide vaccination combined with temozolomide against newly diagnosed glioblastoma: safety and impact on immunological response. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2015) 64:707–16. doi:10.1007/ s00262-015-1674-8
- 116. Sakai K, Shimodaira S, Maejima S, Udagawa N, Sano K, Higuchi Y, et al. Dendritic cell-based immunotherapy targeting Wilms' tumor 1 in patients with recurrent malignant glioma. *J Neurosurg* (2015) 123:989–97. doi:10.3171/2015.1.JNS141554
- 117. Sampson JH, Aldape KD, Archer GE, Coan A, Desjardins A, Friedman AH, et al. Greater chemotherapy-induced lymphopenia enhances tumor-specific immune responses that eliminate EGFRvIII-expressing tumor cells in patients with glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol* (2011) 13:324–33. doi:10.1093/ neuonc/noq157
- 118. Schuster J, Lai RK, Recht LD, Reardon DA, Paleologos NA, Groves MD, et al. A phase II, multicenter trial of rindopepimut (CDX-110) in newly diagnosed glioblastoma: the ACT III study. *Neuro Oncol* (2015) 17:854–61. doi:10.1093/ neuonc/nou348
- 119. Belnoue E, Berardino-Besson WD, Gaertner H, Carboni S, Dunand-Sauthier I, Cerini F, et al. Enhancing anti-tumor immune responses by optimized combinations of cell-penetrating peptide based-vaccines and adjuvants. *Mol Ther* (2016) 24:1675–85. doi:10.1038/mt.2016.134
- 120. Hailemichael Y, Dai Z, Jaffarzad N, Ye Y, Medina MA, Huang XF, et al. Persistent antigen at vaccination sites induces tumor-specific CD8(+) T cell sequestration, dysfunction and deletion. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:465–72. doi:10.1038/nm.3105
- 121. Grauer OM, Molling JW, Bennink E, Toonen LW, Sutmuller RP, Nierkens S, et al. TLR ligands in the local treatment of established intracerebral murine gliomas. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:6720–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181. 10.6720
- 122. Tchoghandjian A, Baeza-Kallee N, Beclin C, Metellus P, Colin C, Ducray F, et al. Cortical and subventricular zone glioblastoma-derived stem-like cells display different molecular profiles and differential in vitro and in vivo properties. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2012) 19(Suppl 3):S608–19. doi:10.1245/s10434-011-2093-5
- 123. Quattrocchi KB, Miller CH, Cush S, Bernard SA, Dull ST, Smith M, et al. Pilot study of local autologous tumor infiltrating lymphocytes for the treatment of recurrent malignant gliomas. *J Neurooncol* (1999) 45:141–57. doi:10.102 3/A:1006293606710
- 124. Lawler SE. Cytomegalovirus and glioblastoma; controversies and opportunities. J Neurooncol (2015) 123:465–71. doi:10.1007/s11060-015-1734-0
- Dix AR, Brooks WH, Roszman TL, Morford LA. Immune defects observed in patients with primary malignant brain tumors. *J Neuroimmunol* (1999) 100:216–32. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(99)00203-9
- Jackson HJ, Rafiq S, Brentjens RJ. Driving CAR T-cells forward. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2016) 13:370–83. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.36
- Gill S, June CH. Going viral: chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for hematological malignancies. *Immunol Rev* (2015) 263:68–89. doi:10.1111/ imr.12243
- 128. Kahlon KS, Brown C, Cooper LJ, Raubitschek A, Forman SJ, Jensen MC. Specific recognition and killing of glioblastoma multiforme by interleukin 13-zetakine redirected cytolytic T cells. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:9160–6. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0454

- 129. Morgan RA, Yang JC, Kitano M, Dudley ME, Laurencot CM, Rosenberg SA. Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:843–51. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.24
- 130. Caruso HG, Hurton LV, Najjar A, Rushworth D, Ang S, Olivares S, et al. Tuning sensitivity of CAR to EGFR density limits recognition of normal tissue while maintaining potent antitumor activity. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75:3505–18. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0139
- Tugues S, Burkhard SH, Ohs I, Vrohlings M, Nussbaum K, Vom Berg J, et al. New insights into IL-12-mediated tumor suppression. *Cell Death Differ* (2015) 22:237–46. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.134
- 132. Berger C, Jensen MC, Lansdorp PM, Gough M, Elliott C, Riddell SR. Adoptive transfer of effector CD8+ T cells derived from central memory cells establishes persistent T cell memory in primates. *J Clin Invest* (2008) 118:294–305. doi:10.1172/JCI32103
- Roy LO, Poirier MB, Fortin D. Transforming growth factor-beta and its implication in the malignancy of gliomas. *Target Oncol* (2015) 10:1–14. doi:10.1007/s11523-014-0308-y
- 134. Bogdahn U, Hau P, Stockhammer G, Venkataramana NK, Mahapatra AK, Suri A, et al. Targeted therapy for high-grade glioma with the TGF-beta2 inhibitor trabedersen: results of a randomized and controlled phase IIb study. *Neuro Oncol* (2011) 13:132–42. doi:10.1093/neuonc/noq142
- 135. Brandes AA, Carpentier AF, Kesari S, Sepulveda-Sanchez JM, Wheeler HR, Chinot O, et al. A phase II randomized study of galunisertib monotherapy or galunisertib plus lomustine compared with lomustine monotherapy in patients with recurrent glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol* (2016) 18:1146–56. doi:10.1093/neuonc/now009
- 136. den Hollander MW, Bensch F, Glaudemans AW, Oude Munnink TH, Enting RH, den Dunnen WF, et al. TGF-beta antibody uptake in recurrent high-grade glioma imaged with 89Zr-fresolimumab PET. J Nucl Med (2015) 56:1310–4. doi:10.2967/jnumed.115.154401
- Deharvengt S, Marmarelis M, Korc M. Concomitant targeting of EGF receptor, TGF-beta and SRC points to a novel therapeutic approach in pancreatic cancer. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e39684. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0039684
- Friedman HS, Prados MD, Wen PY, Mikkelsen T, Schiff D, Abrey LE, et al. Bevacizumab alone and in combination with irinotecan in recurrent glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol (2009) 27:4733–40. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.19.8721
- 139. Kreisl TN, Kim L, Moore K, Duic P, Royce C, Stroud I, et al. Phase II trial of single-agent bevacizumab followed by bevacizumab plus irinotecan at tumor progression in recurrent glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol (2009) 27:740–5. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.16.3055
- 140. Chinot OL, Wick W, Mason W, Henriksson R, Saran F, Nishikawa R, et al. Bevacizumab plus radiotherapy-temozolomide for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. N Engl J Med (2014) 370:709–22. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1308345
- 141. Gilbert MR, Dignam JJ, Armstrong TS, Wefel JS, Blumenthal DT, Vogelbaum MA, et al. A randomized trial of bevacizumab for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. N Engl J Med (2014) 370:699–708. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1308573
- 142. de Groot JF, Lamborn KR, Chang SM, Gilbert MR, Cloughesy TF, Aldape K, et al. Phase II study of aflibercept in recurrent malignant glioma: a North American Brain Tumor Consortium study. J Clin Oncol (2011) 29:2689–95. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.34.1636
- Roy EJ, Takikawa O, Kranz DM, Brown AR, Thomas DL. Neuronal localization of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in mice. *Neurosci Lett* (2005) 387:95–9. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2005.07.010
- 144. Wainwright DA, Chang AL, Dey M, Balyasnikova IV, Kim CK, Tobias A, et al. Durable therapeutic efficacy utilizing combinatorial blockade against IDO, CTLA-4, and PD-L1 in mice with brain tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20:5290–301. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0514
- 145. Abou-Ghazal M, Yang DS, Qiao W, Reina-Ortiz C, Wei J, Kong LY, et al. The incidence, correlation with tumor-infiltrating inflammation, and prognosis of phosphorylated STAT3 expression in human gliomas. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:8228–35. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1329
- 146. See AP, Han JE, Phallen J, Binder Z, Gallia G, Pan F, et al. The role of STAT3 activation in modulating the immune microenvironment of GBM. *J Neurooncol* (2012) 110:359–68. doi:10.1007/s11060-012-0981-6
- 147. Komohara Y, Horlad H, Ohnishi K, Ohta K, Makino K, Hondo H, et al. M2 macrophage/microglial cells induce activation of Stat3 in primary central nervous system lymphoma. J Clin Exp Hematop (2011) 51:93–9. doi:10.3960/ jslrt.51.93

- Najjar YG, Finke JH. Clinical perspectives on targeting of myeloid derived suppressor cells in the treatment of cancer. *Front Oncol* (2013) 3:49. doi:10.3389/fonc.2013.00049
- Vincent J, Mignot G, Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Bruchard M, Chevriaux A, et al. 5-Fluorouracil selectively kills tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70:3052–61. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3690
- 150. Komohara Y, Horlad H, Ohnishi K, Fujiwara Y, Bai B, Nakagawa T, et al. Importance of direct macrophage-tumor cell interaction on progression of human glioma. *Cancer Sci* (2012) 103:2165–72. doi:10.1111/cas.12015
- 151. Bender AM, Collier LS, Rodriguez FJ, Tieu C, Larson JD, Halder C, et al. Sleeping beauty-mediated somatic mutagenesis implicates CSF1 in the formation of high-grade astrocytomas. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70:3557–65. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4674
- Pyonteck SM, Akkari L, Schuhmacher AJ, Bowman RL, Sevenich L, Quail DF, et al. CSF-1R inhibition alters macrophage polarization and blocks glioma progression. *Nat Med* (2013) 19:1264–72. doi:10.1038/nm.3337
- 153. Butowski N, Colman H, De Groot JF, Omuro AM, Nayak L, Wen PY, et al. Orally administered colony stimulating factor 1 receptor inhibitor PLX3397 in recurrent glioblastoma: an Ivy Foundation Early Phase Clinical Trials Consortium phase II study. *Neuro Oncol* (2016) 18:557–64. doi:10.1093/ neuonc/nov245
- 154. Mok S, Koya RC, Tsui C, Xu J, Robert L, Wu L, et al. Inhibition of CSF-1 receptor improves the antitumor efficacy of adoptive cell transfer immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74:153–61. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1816
- 155. Sampson JH, Schmittling RJ, Archer GE, Congdon KL, Nair SK, Reap EA, et al. A pilot study of IL-2Ralpha blockade during lymphopenia depletes regulatory T-cells and correlates with enhanced immunity in patients with glioblastoma. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e31046. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0031046
- 156. Ponzoni M, Issa S, Batchelor TT, Rubenstein JL. Beyond high-dose methotrexate and brain radiotherapy: novel targets and agents for primary CNS lymphoma. Ann Oncol (2014) 25:316–22. doi:10.1093/annonc/ mdt385
- 157. Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. *Nature* (2013) 500:415–21. doi:10.1038/nature12477
- 158. Bouffet E, Larouche V, Campbell BB, Merico D, de Borja R, Aronson M, et al. Immune checkpoint inhibition for hypermutant glioblastoma multiforme resulting from germline biallelic mismatch repair deficiency. J Clin Oncol (2016) 34:2206–11. doi:10.1200/JCO.2016.66.6552
- 159. Vater I, Montesinos-Rongen M, Schlesner M, Haake A, Purschke F, Sprute R, et al. The mutational pattern of primary lymphoma of the central nervous system determined by whole-exome sequencing. *Leukemia* (2015) 29:677–85. doi:10.1038/leu.2014.264
- Lowther DE, Goods BA, Lucca LE, Lerner BA, Raddassi K, van Dijk D, et al. PD-1 marks dysfunctional regulatory T cells in malignant gliomas. *JCI Insight* (2016) 1:e85935. doi:10.1172/jci.insight.85935
- 161. Kim JE, Patel MA, Mangraviti A, Kim ES, Theodros D, Velarde E, et al. Combination therapy with anti-PD-1, anti-TIM-3, and focal radiation results in regression of murine gliomas. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016). doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1535

- 162. Antonios JP, Soto H, Everson RG, Orpilla J, Moughon D, Shin N, et al. PD-1 blockade enhances the vaccination-induced immune response in glioma. JCI Insight (2016) 1:e87059. doi:10.1172/jci.insight.87059
- 163. Reardon DA, Gokhale PC, Klein SR, Ligon KL, Rodig SJ, Ramkissoon SH, et al. Glioblastoma eradication following immune checkpoint blockade in an orthotopic, immunocompetent model. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2016) 4:124–35. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0151
- 164. Ajithkumar T, Parkinson C, Fife K, Corrie P, Jefferies S. Evolving treatment options for melanoma brain metastases. *Lancet Oncol* (2015) 16:e486–97. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00141-2
- 165. Postow MA, Chesney J, Pavlick AC, Robert C, Grossmann K, McDermott D, et al. Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med (2015) 372:2006–17. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa 1414428
- 166. Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD, et al. Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med (2015) 373:23–34. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1504030
- 167. Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, Leighl N, Balmanoukian AS, Eder JP, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med (2015) 372:2018–28. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1501824
- 168. Carbognin L, Pilotto S, Milella M, Vaccaro V, Brunelli M, Calio A, et al. Differential activity of nivolumab, pembrolizumab and MPDL3280A according to the tumor expression of programmed death-ligand-1 (PD-L1): sensitivity analysis of trials in melanoma, lung and genitourinary cancers. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0130142. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0130142
- 169. Topalian SL, Sznol M, McDermott DF, Kluger HM, Carvajal RD, Sharfman WH, et al. Survival, durable tumor remission, and long-term safety in patients with advanced melanoma receiving nivolumab. *J Clin Oncol* (2014) 32:1020–30. doi:10.1200/JCO.2013.53.0105
- Patel SP, Kurzrock R. PD-L1 expression as a predictive biomarker in cancer immunotherapy. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2015) 14:847–56. doi:10.1158/1535-7163. MCT-14-0983
- 171. Preusser M, Berghoff AS, Wick W, Weller M. Clinical neuropathology mini-review 6-2015: PD-L1: emerging biomarker in glioblastoma? *Clin Neuropathol* (2015) 34:313–21. doi:10.5414/NP300922
- 172. Chapuy B, Roemer MG, Stewart C, Tan Y, Abo RP, Zhang L, et al. Targetable genetic features of primary testicular and primary central nervous system lymphomas. *Blood* (2016) 127:869–81. doi:10.1182/blood-2015-10-673236
- 173. Berghoff AS, Ricken G, Widhalm G, Rajky O, Hainfellner JA, Birner P, et al. PD1 (CD279) and PD-L1 (CD274, B7H1) expression in primary central nervous system lymphomas (PCNSL). *Clin Neuropathol* (2014) 33:42–9. doi:10.5414/NP300698

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** P-YD reports receiving a research funding from immatics Biotechnologies GmbH. The other authors declare no conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Dutoit, Migliorini, Dietrich and Walker. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Immunosuppressive mechanisms of malignant gliomas: parallels at non-CNS sites

#### Powell Perng\* and Michael Lim

Department of Neurosurgery, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Lois A. Lampson, Harvard Medical School, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Bozena Kaminska, Nencki Institute of Experimental Biology, Poland Justin Lathia, Cleveland Clinic, USA Federica Barbieri, University of Genova, Italy Alex Yee-Chen Huang, Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, USA Derek Alan Wainwright, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Powell Perng, Department of Neurosurgery, School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, 600 N. Wolfe Street, Baltimore, MD 21287, USA pperng1@jhmi.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuro-Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 19 March 2015 Accepted: 22 June 2015 Published: 06 July 2015

#### Citation:

Perng P and Lim M (2015) Immunosuppressive mechanisms of malignant gliomas: parallels at non-CNS sites. Front. Oncol. 5:153. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00153 The central nervous system (CNS) possesses powerful local and global immunosuppressive capabilities that modulate unwanted inflammatory reactions in nervous tissue. These same immune-modulatory mechanisms are also co-opted by malignant brain tumors and pose a formidable challenge to brain tumor immunotherapy. Routes by which malignant gliomas coordinate immunosuppression include the mechanical and functional barriers of the CNS; immunosuppressive cytokines and catabolites; immune checkpoint molecules; tumor-infiltrating immune cells; and suppressor immune cells. The challenges to overcoming tumor-induced immunosuppression, however, are not unique to the brain, and several analogous immunosuppressive mechanisms also exist for primary tumors outside of the CNS. Ultimately, the immune responses in the CNS are linked and complementary to immune processes in the periphery, and advances in tumor immunotherapy in peripheral sites may therefore illuminate novel approaches to brain tumor immunotherapy, and vice versa.

Keywords: glioblastoma, tumor immunotherapy, cancer immunotherapy, cancer immunosuppression, glioma, immune privilege

## **Part I: Introduction**

Contrary to common perceptions of central nervous system (CNS) "immune privilege," the brain can in fact elicit vigorous immune-stimulatory as well as immunosuppressive responses, the determinants of which are highly contextual. Understanding the determinants and mechanisms of both the stimulatory and suppressive responses may help elucidate novel immune-based strategies for brain tumor immunotherapy. In this review, we will discuss routes of glioma-mediated immunosuppression, including mechanical and functional barriers of the CNS, immunosuppressive cytokines, immune checkpoint molecules, tumor-infiltrating immune cells, and suppressor immune cells (**Table 1**). In addition, we will look to analogous immune-modulatory mechanisms observed in other sites of the body, as discoveries made at CNS and non-CNS sites are ultimately complementary and equally relevant to therapeutic development for tumors at all sites (1).

## Part II: The CNS Immune Environment

The notion of "immune privilege" has long been ascribed to tissues wherein the immunological responsiveness is ostensibly blunted or modified (122). Early experimental observations that the brain lacked traditional lymphatic systems, contained few, if any, professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs), and mounted anemic immune responses against foreign antigens bolstered the theory that the brain was an "immunologically privileged" tissue. It is now apparent that the CNS is in fact capable of coordinating robust immune responses with the innate and adaptive immune systems,

	Malignant gliomas	Non-CNS tumor
TUMOR ANTIGEN PRESENTAT	ION	
Antigen-presenting cells	Glioma-associated microglia and/or macrophages (2–4); DCs (5); B lymphocytes (6); possibly pericytes (7)	DCs (8–11); tumor-associated macrophages (12–14); B lymphocytes (6); possibly pericytes (7)
Location of antigen presentation	Brain parenchyma and/or tumor mass (2–4); tumor-draining lymph nodes (15–17)	Tumor-draining lymph nodes (18–20); tumor mass (21)
Routes of antigen egress from tumor	Fluid drainage (22, 23); migrating DCs less likely (24–27)	Migrating DCs (28-30) and/or fluid drainage (31)
IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE CYTO	KINES	
IL-10		
Sources Actions	Glioma-associated macrophages and microglia (32) Immunosuppression (various) (36, 37); context-dependent pro-inflammatory and anti-tumor actions (38, 39)	Tumor cells (33, 34) and/or tumor-associated macrophages (35) Immunosuppression (various) (40); anti-angiogenesis (41), anti- metastatic (41), anti-tumor (42–44); anti-inflammatory (45)
TGF-β		
Sources Actions	Glioma cells (46–48) and glioma-associated immune cells (49) Immunosuppression (various) (52); angiogenesis (53); maintains glioma stem cell populations (54); glioma cell autocrine proliferation (55); pro-invasion (56)	Tumor cells and tumor-associated immune cells (49–51) Immunosuppression (various) (50, 57, 58); tumor suppression (50, 57–59)
INDOLAMINE 2,3-DIOXYGENA		
Sources	Glioma cells and tumor-associated immune cells (60-62)	Tumor cells, tumor-associated immune cells, and endothelial cells (62–65)
Actions	Immunosuppression (various) (66); expansion of Treg population (67, 68)	Immunosuppression (various) (66); expansion of Treg population (67, 68)
REGULATORY T LYMPHOCYTE	ES	
Predominant Treg type Relevant Treg recruitment factors	nTreg (69) more than iTreg CCL22 (71–73), CCL2 (71, 74, 75)	nTreg more than iTreg (70) CCL2, CCL22 (76–81), CCL17 (81); CCL3, CCL4 (82); CCL5 (83)
TUMOR-ASSOCIATED MYELO	ID CELLS	
Types Actions	Microglia (84, 85), macrophages (86), MDSCs (87) Immunosuppression (various) (91–95); tumor invasion (96); tumor proliferation (97, 98)	Macrophages (88), MDSCs (89, 90) Immunosuppression (various) (99); tumor invasion (100); tumor proliferation (100)
PD-1/PD-L1 IMMUNE CHECKP		
Sources	Glioma cells (101); microglia (102); glioma-associated macrophages (103); neurons in tumor-adjacent brain tissue (104)	Tumor cells (105–109), tumor-associated macrophages (100, 110, 111); healthy tissue (112–114)
Relevant signaling pathways	PI3K/mTOR (101)	РІЗК/mTOR (106, 108, 115, 116), MyD88/TRAF6 (117), MEK/ ERK (117)
Actions	Immunosuppression, esp. via T cell suppression (118, 119); induction of glioma cell death (104)	Immunosuppression, esp. via T cell suppression (120, 121)

#### TABLE 1 | Key examples of immune-modulatory mechanisms shared between malignant gliomas and non-CNS tumors.

and that the immunological reactivity of the CNS is a mutable rather than an absolute state. Moreover, several of the structural and functional immunoregulatory features of the CNS that aid in dampening local immune responses are also reflected within other organs of the body. Therefore, the traditional notion of CNS "immune privilege" has become an imprecise characterization of the CNS immune environment, which is a more rightfully a highly contextual rather than an absolutely impregnable system.

#### **Reframing the CNS Immune Environment**

In recent decades, the consensus view of the CNS immune environment has shifted from one in which the blood–brain barrier (BBB) serves as a static barrier against the exchange of cells and soluble molecules into one in which egress and entry are dynamically regulated, often by mechanisms observed in other organ systems. During inflammation, immune cells migrate into the CNS parenchyma following dynamic gradients of chemotactic cues, including IFN- $\gamma$  inducible cytokines (123, 124),  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ integrins (125), and matrix metalloproteinases (126), which also play key roles in leukocyte trafficking in peripheral tissues (127). Similarly, it has been postulated that soluble immune effectors, such as immunoglobulins (128), might also cross the BBB. One possibility is by way of carrier-mediated transporters (129, 130). For example, FcRn, a ubiquitous immunoglobulin receptor expressed by a wide variety of tissues, can mediate Ig transport across tissue barriers (131, 132). Although the routes by which Igs enter the CNS parenchyma is yet unknown, it has been postulated that FcRn, which is highly expressed on cerebral vessels (131), may play a key role in facilitating Ig entry into the CNS, as in other tissues (133).

Whereas the absence of traditional lymphatic systems was once heralded as evidence that the CNS was immunologically inert (134), it is now abundantly clear that soluble antigens routinely egress the CNS and reach the peripheral lymph nodes. *In vivo* tracer studies have demonstrated that CNS antigens drain via cerebrospinal fluid across the cribiform plate and into the nasal sub-mucosa (135). A separate pathway by which antigens travel to the cervical lymph nodes (CLNs) via the Virchow–Robin perivascular spaces within walls of the cerebral arteries has also been described (22, 23). Indeed, during homeostatic conditions, antigens from the CNS are continuously sampled by DCs in the peripheral lymph nodes in the same fashion as antigens that arise from other sites (15). A more thorough discussion regarding antigen presentation in the CNS and peripheral tissues is provided in the next section of this review.

Lastly, although the entirety of CNS is often presumed to share the same immunological features, the relative absence of immune cells under homeostatic conditions is more accurately an attribute of the CNS parenchyma proper (127). At resting state, CSFdrained spaces, including the choroid plexus, leptomeninges, ventricles, and perivascular spaces, contain professional APCs and respond to foreign antigens in the same manner as organs do outside of the CNS (127, 136). By comparison, the parenchyma proper is generally devoid of peripheral immune cells and is maintained in a quiescent state by mechanical obstacles of the endothelial BBB (127). Obstacles against leukocyte entry include the CSF-drained Virchow-Robin perivascular space situated behind the endothelium, as well as the glia limitans, a wall of palisading astrocyte foot processes located between the perivascular space and CNS parenchyma (137). Aside from forming a second mechanical barrier against immune cells, the foot processes also express death ligand FasL/CD95L (138), which induces apoptosis in Fas-expressing T cells and arrests the inflammatory process. Accordingly, the vast majority of inflammatory cells that cross into the Virchow-Robin spaces during homeostatic states are retained in the perivascular space and never proceed past the glia limitans (127, 139). Inflammation and disease, however, can compromise the integrity of the BBB, thereby permitting circulating immune cells to infiltrate the parenchyma in significant numbers (136).

Hence, although the precise mechanisms underlying how and when the CNS coordinates immune responses remain to be clarified, there is accumulating evidence that several of the immunoregulatory features observed in the brain are shared by other tissues in the body as well. Baseline FasL expression, for example, is not unique to cerebral astrocytes but is also a feature in multiple peripheral tissues where immune homeostasis is favored, including lymphoid tissue, hepatocytes, testis, striated muscle, as well as certain glandular tissues (140–142). Blood-tissue barriers formed by intercellular tight junctions exist in the testis as they do in the CNS, and multiple organs, including the brain, liver, and gastrointestinal tract, secrete immune-modulatory cytokines that increase regulatory T cell expression and induce local immune tolerance (122). Therapeutic developments designed to overcome the immune-regulatory mechanisms of the BBB may therefore arise from discoveries made in the brain as well as findings made at other sites.

## Part III: Tumor Antigen Presentation

Classically, extracellular antigens are captured at the cell surface, endocytosed, and presented on MHC class II molecules to CD4+ T-lymphocytes by specialized APCs (143). By comparison, endogenous antigens are processed in the rough endoplasmic reticulum of nearly all cell types and subsequently presented on MHC class I molecules to CD8+ T lymphocytes (144). Presentation of tumor antigens, however, is thought to involve a third process, termed "cross-presentation," whereby exogenous tumor antigens, scavenged from dying tumor cells, are presented on MHC Class I molecules to CD8+ T-lymphocytes, thereby directing the adaptive immune response toward malignant cells (145).

In peripheral sites, activation of tumor antigen-specific T cells is believed to take place within secondary lymphoid tissue, mediated by bone marrow-derived DCs via cross-presentation (145). Far less is known, however, regarding the process of priming T-cells against CNS tumor antigens (146). In particular, it remains unclear whether the anti-tumor immune response is initiated locally within the brain or peripherally in the body. The provenances of these processes have clear implications for brain tumor immunotherapies, such as dendritic cell-based vaccines (147, 148), that aim to exploit tumor antigen presentation to augment tumor immunity.

#### **Tumor Antigen Presentation: CNS**

Whether CNS tumor antigen presentation occurs within the brain or outside of it remains unclear, though the presence of APCs within the brain supports the hypothesis that presentation begins locally. Because of their strategic position behind the BBB and their essential role in CNS innate immunity, microglia are often charged with being the primary APCs for intracranial antigen presentation. The data show that microglia have the capacity to cross-present tumor antigens to CD8+ T cells via MHC class I *in vitro* (2–4) and *in vivo* (2, 4). Employing a murine model in which whole-body radiation was used to eliminate peripheral and CNS-associated APCs (e.g., DCs and macrophages in the perivascular spaces), Jarry et al. recently demonstrated that microglia could successfully cross-present intra-cerebrally injected OVA antigen to naïve CD8+ T cells *in vivo* (4), strengthening prior data (2).

Tumor-infiltrating DCs may also play a key role in glioma antigen presentation (146). The data indicate that DCs crosspresent OVA antigen more efficiently than adult microglia, eliciting greater quantities of IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  production from CD8+ T cells than microglia (2). Similarly, Jarry et al. reported that CD8+ T cell activation was more efficient in non-irradiated mice, which contained CNS-associated DCs along with microglia (4). Especially given that flow-cytometry (FACS) markers used to identify DCs lack the specificity necessary for distinguishing between DCs and activated microglia (5), APC activity may be falsely attributed to microglia in many cases.

Whether microglia and tumor-infiltrating DCs can successfully activate CD8+ T cells in the setting of malignant brain tumors, however, is uncertain. Current data suggest that microglia lose their capacity to express MHC molecules in the context of high-grade gliomas (3, 149, 150), likely due to the high levels of immunosuppressive cytokines, such as TGF- $\beta$ , IL-10, and PGE2, within the glioma microenvironment (151, 152). Even after removing microglia from the glioma environment, the ability for the microglia to upregulate MHC expression following stimulation was substantially depressed compared to normal brain microglia (153). Moreover, in the presence of glioma cells, microglial production of pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- $\alpha$  is suppressed by as much as 50% compared to normal microglia, and activation of STAT3 transcription factor and secretion of immunosuppressive IL-10, both of which modulate immunosuppression, are greatly upregulated (154). Similarly, IL-10 has also been shown to inhibit DC maturation and maintain DCs in a tolerogenic state (155). These data suggest that malignant gliomas may skew APCs toward immunosuppressive phenotypes and hinder effective tumor antigen presentation within the brain. *In vivo* tumor models are needed to assess whether the APC capacities of microglia and DCs are in fact compromised in the glioma parenchyma and microenvironment.

Aside from microglia and DCs, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), B lymphocytes, and vascular pericytes may provide other cellular sources for CNS tumor antigen presentation. TAMs, which infiltrate gliomas in large numbers and possess cross-presentation capabilities (156), are thought to actually outnumber microglia (86) within the tumor mass. With regard to antigen-presentation capacity, data from a murine model of multiple sclerosis suggest that, compared to microglia, CNS-infiltrating macrophages are more highly activated and stimulate greater T cell proliferation in vitro (157). To our knowledge, however, no study to date has explicitly compared tumor antigen cross-presentation capacity of microglia to TAMs, likely due to limitations in reliably distinguishing microglia from TAMs within gliomas (158). Given that microglia and TAMs can both be polarized toward immunosuppressive M2-like phenotypes by the same sets of glioma-derived cytokines (159), it is possible that antigen-presenting capacity of microglia and TAMs are similarly impaired by the immunosuppressive glioma microenvironment.

B cells, which can function as efficient APCs outside of the CNS (6), are also believed to play a vital role in tumor antigen presentation in gliomas. Using a murine glioma model along with separate adenoviral vectors (Ad) encoding herpes simplex virus type I thymidine kinase (Ad-TK) and fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (Ad-Flt3L), which were used to kill tumor cells and recruit APCs to the microenvironment, Candolfi et al. showed that treatment with Ad-TK + Ad-Flt3L produced long-term survivors in 60% of WT mice but 0% in B-cell depleted mice (160). Moreover, when Ad-TK + Ad-Flt3L was administered to mice lacking transcriptional repressor Blimp-1, the absence of which causes arrest of terminal differentiation of B cells into antibody-producing plasma cells, Blimp-1-negative mice produced identical numbers of long-term survivors as WT mice, suggesting that tumor regression occurred irrespective of whether anti-tumor antibodies were generated (160). Lastly, in Ad-TK + Ad-flt3L-treated mice, the accumulation of antigen-bearing activated B cells within tumor-draining lymph nodes (TDLNs) along with evidence that the activated B cells were capable of stimulating CD8+ T cell proliferation in vitro were strong clues that B cells can cross-prime CD8+ T cells against glioma antigens and thereby orchestrate glioma regression (160).

Pericytes, which are perivascular cells that classically modulate blood flow, vessel permeability, and vessel remodeling at arterioles, venules, and capillaries, have also been shown to possess phagocyte and antigen-presentation capacity (7). Indeed, Peiper et al. recently reported that brain capillary pericytes, which are exquisitely sensitive to inflammatory cytokines, increase phagocytic activity and MHC class II expression when stimulated by TNF- $\alpha$  or IFN- $\gamma$  (161). Key questions surrounding whether pericytes posses cross-presentation capacity and how the glioma microenvironment influences pericyte antigen-presentation ability remain to be answered. There are data from non-CNS tumor models, however, that suggest tumor-derived vascular pericytes may play an overall immunosuppressive role, and APC activity may therefore be impaired (162).

Interestingly, recent work by Thompson et al. illuminated that priming and differentiation of naïve CD8+ T cells can occur within tumor masses, irrespective of intratumoral APCs or TDLNs (21). It has been shown that prolonged TCR stimulation in the absence of CD28 co-stimulation might alone be sufficient for activating T cells (163), and high densities of tumor antigens within tumor masses may thereby provide a prolonged and powerful enough of a stimulus to activate T cells irrespective of APCs (21). Although these specific experiments involved melanoma tumors in non-CNS sites, there is also evidence that brain tumors themselves support terminal differentiation of CD8+ T cells (164). Therefore, the findings by Thompson et al. may yet find parallels in malignant brain tumors.

It is also possible, however, that presentation of brain tumor antigens occurs within peripheral lymphoid tissues outside of the CNS (16). Routes by which CNS antigens drain to the nasal mucosa and CLNs via CSF and/or perivascular spaces have been well described (22, 23), and recent evidence indicates that CNS antigens are continuously sampled in peripheral lymphoid tissue by DCs (15). Using intra-cerebral (IC) injections of fluorescent microspheres and OVA antigen in a mouse model, Walter et al. showed (1) that IC antigens preferentially accumulated in CLNs, and (2) that expansion of OVA-specific CD8+ T cells occurred within CLNs 2 days prior to their appearance in the brain, suggesting that cross-presentation occurs in the CLNs and not within the brain parenchyma (16). In a separate study, Okamoto et al. showed that 2 weeks following cerebral implantation of glioma tumors in rats, activated CD4+ and CD8+ T cells appeared exclusively within the CLNs, and their accumulation coincided temporally with T-cell infiltration into the tumor (17). Collectively, these data suggest that presentation of CNS tumor antigens may initiate in lymphoid tissue outside of the CNS.

Finally, it is also conceivable that priming the anti-tumor immune response involves processes both within and outside of the CNS. Transferring pre-activated tumor-specific CD8+ T cells into glioma-bearing mice, Masson et al. demonstrated that further phenotypic differentiation of tumor-specific CD8+ T cells occurs within the tumor mass (164). Compared to the pre-activated tumorspecific CD8+ T cells, tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells showed enhanced expression of IFN- $\gamma$ , granzyme B, and  $\alpha_E(CD103)\beta_7$ integrin, the latter of which was found to be important for T-cell retention within the brain (164). Further analysis of human glioma tissue revealed similar differentiation patterns, with 20-57% of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells expressing  $\alpha_E(CD103)\beta_7$  integrin compared to fewer than 5% of CD8+ T cells in peripheral blood (164). Consistent with that of murine tissue, approximately 60% of  $\alpha_E(CD103)\beta_7$ -expressing CD8+ T cells in human glioma tissue also co-expressed granzyme B (164). It has been hypothesized that

locally secreted TGF- $\beta$ , which induces  $\alpha_E(CD103)\beta_7$  expression in non-CNS sites (165), may also moderate  $\alpha_E(CD103)\beta_7$  expression on T cells within gliomas (164). Further work is needed to evaluate how the glioma microenvironment initiates and/or shapes the effector immune response.

### **Tumor Antigen Presentation: Non-CNS Sites**

In comparison to CNS tissues, there is a greater degree of clarity regarding the process of tumor antigen presentation in non-CNS tissues, though several aspects remain under contention. A preponderance of data indicate that presentation of tumor antigens occurs within the TDLNs, where resident DCs have been shown to play the key roles in priming naïve T cells (18–20). Additionally, several experiments have demonstrated that resident DCs within TDLNs can indeed cross-present tumor antigens to CD8+ T cells *in vivo* (8–10). Though macrophages are also endowed with cross-presentation capacities, they are substantially less efficient than DCs at priming CD8+ T cells (12–14). In the absence of convincing data supporting the primacy of alternative mechanisms, DCs have been presumed as the main APCs for cross-priming tumor-directed CTLs at non-CNS sites.

Further investigation, however, is needed to clarify the precise roles as well as cross-presentation capacities of DC subsets in tumor antigen presentation, as experimental models show that DC phenotypes can vary greatly depending on tissue and/or antigen type. DCs in murine lung tissue, for example, display CD103+ CD11b- and CD103- CD11b<sup>hi</sup> phenotypes while colonic DCs exhibit a predominately CD103-CD11b+ phenotype. Human liver harbors myeloid-derived CD1c+ DCs (166) while human renal tissue contains a greater portion of lymphoid-derived or plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) than conventional myeloid-derived DCs (167). During CNS inflammation, the brain parenchyma is heavily infiltrated with DCs displaying CD11c+ phenotypes (18). Of note, a recent analysis of three resident DC subsets from human tonsil lymphoid tissue demonstrated that all subsets were capable of cross-priming CD8+ T cells with high efficiency (11).

Several animal studies have also illustrated that distinct DC subsets may mediate antigen presentation depending on type and location of antigen exposure (168–173). For example, whereas CD8 $\alpha$ + CD11b– DCs mediated cross-presentation of OVA antigen in the spleen, CD8 $\alpha$ – CD11b+ DCs were responsible for OVA cross-presentation in the mesenteric lymph nodes (173). Analysis of circulating DCs in patients with NSCLC and breast cancer further revealed disparities in the proportion of pDCs to conventional myeloid-lineage DCs between the two malignancies, suggesting that tumor type may influence DC phenotypes (174). Further work is needed to evaluate the roles of phenotypic DC subsets in tumor antigen presentation, as these are all important considerations for developing tailored immunotherapeutic interventions for various tumor sites (11).

As with the CNS, B lymphocytes and vascular pericytes may also participate in tumor antigen presentation at non-CNS sites. In fact, it has been shown that in mice that have been immunized against specific protein antigens, CD40 ligand-activated B lymphocytes traffic to secondary lymphoid organs and present peptide antigens to naïve T cells with comparable efficacy to DCs (175). Recently, B lymphocytes pre-loaded with specific tumor antigens were used successfully as a source of APCs for tumor eradication in an experimental model (176). As with the CNS, pericytes are potential sources for perivascular phagocyte activity at non-CNS sites (7). Further work is needed to determine whether pericytes associated with non-CNS tumors contribute to tumor antigen presentation and/or immune evasion.

The manner in which tumor antigens reach TDLNs at non-CNS sites also requires further clarification. Traditionally, it has been assumed that migrating DCs carry tumor antigens from the tumor site to TDLNs, where antigens are then transferred to resident DCs for subsequent T-cell priming (28–30). Evidence from viral models, wherein DCs carried antigens from the site of injection to draining lymph nodes for CTL activation, lent credence to the theory (29, 30, 177–179). The need for migrating DCs for antigen presentation in peripheral tissues was also a point of distinction between non-CNS and CNS tissues, where a preponderance of data suggested that intra-parenchymal DCs do not migrate to the CLNs in substantial numbers (24–27).

Recent evidence, however, has challenged the role of migrating DCs in tumor antigen presentation. Findings from several studies suggest that the immunosuppressive milieu of the tumor microenvironment may in fact hinder DC function and migration from peripheral tissues (180-184). IL-10, for example, which is produced by a number of tumors, prevents DC maturation and suppresses DC antigen-presenting capabilities (185). A recent study by McDonnell et al. reported that cross-presentation of tumor antigens within TDLNs was dependent on the continuous drainage of tumor antigens from the tumor site rather than DC migration (31), as is the case with CNS tissue. As previously discussed, Thompson et al., who described that priming of CTLs could occur within tumor masses themselves, raises the possibility that DCs altogether may be unnecessary for activating T cells (21). The high density of tumor antigens within the tumor parenchyma may provide sufficient stimulus for T-cell receptor (TCR) activation (21). Therefore, the cross-presentation of tumor antigens in peripheral tissues may in fact share commonalities with that of the CNS.

#### Antigen Presentation and Therapeutic Implications

In aggregate, these data show that much is still unknown regarding whether antigen-specific T cells, directed against CNS tumors, are primed locally in the CNS or peripherally in non-CNS sites. However, the data do speak strongly to the notion that priming tumor-specific T cells may, at least in part, occur within the body, emphasizing the need to evaluate anti-tumor immune responses directed at CNS tumors within a global context. Whether initial tumor antigen presentation occurs in the brain or in the body, for example, could have significant design implications for whether vaccine-based glioma therapies are designed for intracranial or peripheral administration.

Recent progress in evaluating tumor antigen presentation in the body has also identified shared features with the CNS. Similar to brain, peripheral tissues may also depend upon fluid drainage of tumor antigens to TDLNs rather than migrating DCs for the purpose of priming tumor-specific T-cells (31). Tumor-associated immunosuppressive cytokines, which will be discussed in further detail in subsequent sections of this review, also present barriers to APC activity in CNS and non-CNS sites alike. Novel strategies aimed at augmenting anti-tumor immune responses at the level of tumor antigen presentation may therefore arise from discoveries made at both CNS and non-CNS sites. Notably, DC phenotypes can also vary greatly depending on tissue type, raising the possibility that DC-based therapies may ultimately also require tailored approaches that account for site-specific tumor biology.

## Part IV: Immunosuppressive Cytokines – IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$

Cytokines with powerful immunosuppressive properties, including TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10, are known mediators of tumor proliferation, invasion, and immune evasion. As such, targeted blockades of immunosuppressive cytokines are an attractive approach to tumor immunotherapy both in the brain and the body. A major challenge of cytokine-directed immunotherapy, however, lies in the pleiotropic and often paradoxical immune-regulatory functions of these cytokines. Neither TGF- $\beta$  nor IL-10 is purely immunosuppressive and pro-tumorigenic in its effects. Therefore, developing successful immunotherapies that target immunosuppressive cytokines requires site-specific considerations that pay heed to micro-environmental context and tissue-specific biology.

#### Interleukin-10

Interleukin-10, arguably the most potent anti-inflammatory cytokine (185), is secreted by numerous cell types of the innate and adaptive immune system, including APCs and CD4+ T-helper cells, as well as malignant tumors of the brain and the body (186, 187). T-helper cells, monocytes, macrophages, and DCs are particularly important both as targets and actors of IL-10-mediated immunosuppression (155). Binding of IL-10 to its receptor (IL-10R) on DCs activates STAT3 transcription factor, which suppresses STAT-dependent signaling of inflammatory cytokines, IL-6, TNF-α, and IL-1B (188, 189); upregulates IL-10 secretion (190); and maintains DCs in an immature, tolerogenic state (155, 191). In macrophages, monocytes, and DCs, IL-10 also suppresses antigen-presenting capabilities by activating MARCH1, an E3 ligase that ubiquintinates cell-surface MHC Class II molecules for endocytosis and destruction (192, 193). IL-10 also hinders cytotoxic T-lymphocyte effector functions by inducing and sustaining FoxP3 transcription factor expression in immunosuppressive Treg cells (194, 195).

Paradoxically, IL-10 can also exert pro-inflammatory and anti-tumor effects (42). In fact, IL-10 gene was first isolated from T-cells that also secreted IFN- $\gamma$  (196), illustrating the complex relationship between anti-inflammatory and pro-inflammatory response of IL-10. IL-10 is a potent stimulator of NK cells (197), mast cells, and B cells, and, often in combination with other cytokines, can potentiate cytotoxic activity of CD8+ T cells (198–202). IL-10 also exerts important anti-angiogenic effects by suppressing cytokine promoters of angiogenesis, which in certain pre-clinical tumor models has been shown to inhibit tumor growth (41, 203). To date, investigations into the role of IL-10 in tumor growth has largely focused on its immunosuppressive actions. However, both immunosuppressive and anti-tumor effects appear to be active in tumors at all sites to varying degrees (185), which naturally presents challenges for IL-10-directed immunotherapy.

#### IL-10: Malignant Gliomas

Human gliomas have long been known to produce IL-10 *in vivo* (204). Among subclasses of human astrocyte tumors, the most aggressive tumors contained the highest levels of IL-10 mRNA, with glioblastoma tissue containing the most of any astrocyte tumor (204). Rather than secreting IL-10 directly, however, glioma cells produce soluble factors that induce tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) and microglia to secrete the majority of the cytokine (32).

Consistent with its immunosuppressive actions elsewhere in the body, glioma-associated IL-10 down-regulates MHC class II expression on monocytes and inhibits IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  production by immune cells (36, 37). IL-10 also upregulates checkpoint molecule B7-H1 (PD-L1) on both glioma-associated macrophages and circulating monocytes in peripheral blood (103). B7-H1 can bind and stimulate PD-1 receptor on activated T cells, producing T-cell anergy and apoptosis (118, 205). Furthermore, IL-10 has been shown to confer growth advantages to glioma tissues. *Ex vivo*, IL-10 both increases glioma proliferation (206) and confers invasive potential to glioma cells in a dose-dependent manner (207).

In conjunction with other cytokines, IL-10 can also facilitate anti-glioma immune responses. Mice implanted with gliomas expressing both IL-10 and IL-2 had significantly smaller (99% smaller) tumor sizes and increased T-cell infiltration at 14 days post-implantation compared to mice with IL-10<sup>-</sup>/IL-2<sup>-</sup> tumors (38). Additionally, this reduction in tumor size could not be reproduced with either IL-10 or IL-2 expressing tumors alone (38).

More recently, Vleeschouwer et al. reported that persistent and elevated IL-10 production by T-cells was in fact required for T-cell suppression of glioma growth following stimulation with tumor lysate-loaded dendritic cells (39). Ectopic IL-10 delivery during the T-cell stimulation phase further increased the levels of IFN- $\gamma$ production and hindered tumor growth (39). It has been postulated that the complex interplay between IL-10 and IFN- $\gamma$  might regulate the immunosuppressive effect of indolamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) tryptophan metabolism by glioma-associated APCs, resulting in a stronger anti-tumor immune response (208). The role of IDO in glioma-induced immunosuppression is discussed in subsequent sections of this review.

#### IL-10: Non-CNS Tumors

While IL-10 also plays a duplicitous role in tumor suppression and progression at tissues outside of the CNS, its biological actions in peripheral sites also differ in several important ways. IL-10 mRNA and protein have been isolated from a variety of human tumors, including ovarian (209), breast (203, 210), renal cell (211), lung (212), squamous and basal carcinomas (213), and metastatic melanoma (33, 214). Unlike gliomas, however, where the vast majority of IL-10 is produced by tumor-associated macrophages and microglia, several peripheral tumors produce IL-10 directly.

For example, metastatic melanoma (33) and bronchogenic carcinomas (34) produce IL-10 almost exclusively, with little or no secretion by TAMs.

At the same time, other peripheral tumors, similar to gliomas, may also rely upon TAMs to produce the majority of IL-10. HPV-16 associated carcinomas, for example, have been shown to recruit TAMs, which produce the majority of IL-10 (35). Whether or not similar soluble factors are utilized by gliomas and systemic tumors to induce TAMs to produce IL-10 is still unknown, but such knowledge would be therapeutically relevant for targeting IL-10 in these tumors.

In certain peripheral tumors, IL-10 also appears to have a particularly strong stimulatory effect on NK cells (197). In a murine B16 melanoma model, ectopic injection of IL-10 into the tumor mass reduced the numbers of infiltrating CD8+ and CD4+ T cells and macrophages (215), which is consistent with observations from gliomas; however, IL-10 also increased infiltration of NK cells in melanoma (215), which has not been reported in gliomas. Exogenous IL-10 was also shown to inhibit melanoma metastasis in mice that were deficient in B cells and T cells but with competent NK cells (41), suggesting that infiltrating NK cells may play a key role in suppressing metastatic spread.

The anti-angiogenic effects of IL-10 may also play an important part in inhibiting tumor growth and metastasis. IL-10 is known to suppress the macrophage production of pro-angiogenic cytokines, including IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, TNF- $\alpha$ , and MMP-9 (41, 216). Indeed, whereas the blood vessels were all but absent in the surrounding tissue of IL-10 secreting melanoma tumors, the tissue surrounding non-IL-10 producing tumors was highly vascularized (41). Whether IL-10 exerts similar anti-angiogenic and anti-metastatic effects in CNS tumors is yet unknown, although *in vitro* data suggest that the pro-proliferative effects of IL-10 in malignant gliomas may outweigh the inhibitory effects (206, 207).

Lastly, IL-10 serves a protective role in certain tissues of the body where chronic inflammation plays an etiological role in cancerogenesis. In these tissues, IL-10 is a key cytokine for maintaining anti-inflammatory T-regulatory cells and suppressing pro-inflammatory IL-17-expressing Th17 cells (217). Mice that were deficient in IL-10 spontaneously developed inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), which later progressed to colorectal carcinoma (43). Likewise, a small human study reported that IL-10 and IL-10R deficiencies, which has been linked to early onset IBD (45, 218), may also be associated with the development of malignant lymphomas (44). These pro-tumorogeneic associations become particularly important in the context of therapeutic approaches that may systemically deplete, or block the effects of, IL-10.

#### IL-10 in the Brain and Body: Therapeutic Implications

Taken together, these data illustrate the enigmatic role of IL-10mediating tumor growth as well as suppression, the balance of which is greatly influenced by tumor biology and micro-environmental cues. It is particularly interesting that in the setting of malignant gliomas, IL-10 derived from TAMs exerts an overall tumorogenic and immunosuppressive effect, whereas IL-10 secreted in persistent and high levels by T-cells can produce pro-inflammatory and anti-tumor effects. These data indicate that cell of origin of IL-10 may determine, at least in part, its phenotypic actions in the tumor environment. Specific cell populations may therefore be selectively depleted to achieve the desired pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory effect.

From a therapeutic standpoint, it is also important to elucidate how IL-10 might interact with other cytokines in the microenvironment to generate an anti-tumor or pro-tumor response. IL-2, for example, appears to potentiate the anti-tumor response in malignant gliomas. In non-CNS tumors, IL-10 has been shown to augment CD8+ T-cell cytotoxicity in a manner that is dependent on its expression of IFN- $\gamma$  and granzymes (219). Pegylated IL-10 (PEG-IL-10), which in pre-clinical tumor models was shown to expand tumor-resident CD8+ T cells and mediate tumor rejection (217), has entered human trials as monotherapy or in combination with chemotherapy for patients with advanced solid tumors, which include melanoma, NSCLC, renal cell, colorectal, ovarian, prostate, and pancreatic cancers (Clinical Trial NCT02009449) (Bauer 2014 ASCO). Whether PEG-IL-10 alone or in combination with IL-2 holds promise for treating malignant gliomas remains to be seen.

#### TGF-β

TGF- $\beta$  is a 25-kDa cytokine that is produced by several cell types, including both immune cells and malignant tumors (220). TGF- $\beta$ is formed as a pre–pro-polypeptide and is activated through a series of protealytic cleavage steps. The active isoforms of TGF- $\beta$ , TGF-B1, TGF-B2, and TGF-B3, signal by bringing together two pairs of serine/threonine kinases known as type I and type II TGF- $\beta$  receptors (57). Canonically, cross-phosphorylation of type I and II receptors leads to downstream phosphorylation of Smad family of transcription factors, which migrate to the nucleus and regulate transcription of various target genes (57).

TGF- $\beta$  is highly pleiotropic, regulating a wide array of biological functions that include cell proliferation, migration, survival, angiogenesis, embryonic stem cell differentiation, and immune surveillance (220). Its role in cancer genesis is also manifold, serving as a suppressor of early-stage tumor proliferation but an abettor of late-stage tumor progression (58). Elevated expression of TGF- $\beta$  and its receptors by several human cancers, both in the brain and the body, has been associated with higher tumor grade and/or poorer prognosis (221). These malignancies include prostate cancer, small cell lung carcinoma, pancreatic cancer, gastric cancer, transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder, as well as malignant gliomas (221).

#### **TGF-***β*: Malignant Gliomas

TGF- $\beta$  was, in fact, initially isolated from the serum of patients with malignant gliomas. Fittingly described as a soluble "humoral immunosuppressive" factor, glioma-derived TGF- $\beta$  significantly depressed lymphocyte functions and induced systemic lymphopenia, particularly in CD4+ T helper cell populations (222). Subsequent decades of research have further elucidated that TGF- $\beta$ actually depresses cytotoxic functions of all cells of the immune system, facilitating immune evasion and glioma growth (52). MHC class II expression on glioma cells, macrophages, and microglia, for example, are significantly depressed by TGF- $\beta$  (223). Expression of NKG2D activating receptor on the surface of NK cells are likewise reduced, as is production of CD8+ CTL cytolytic gene products perforin, granzyme A, granzyme B, FasL, and IFN- $\gamma$  (224, 225). TGF- $\beta$  also polarizes T-cells and monocyte-lineage cells toward immunosuppressive phenotypes, which further perpetuates a tolerogenic state that favors tumor growth (57). Moreover, TGF- $\beta$ is believed to facilitate glioma growth and invasion by promoting angiogenesis (53), sustaining glioma stem cell populations (54), inducing the production of platelet-derived growth factor (PGDF), which serves as an autocrine proliferative signal for glioma cells (55), as well as increasing the synthesis of pro-invasive matrix metalloproteinases (56).

Strategies that block TGF- $\beta$  signaling have been shown to restore anti-tumor immunity in pre-clinical glioma models. For example, in vitro silencing of TGF-B1 and TGF-B2 synthesis in human glioma cells using small interfering RNA (siRNA) techniques was shown to prevent NKG2D down-regulation on NK cells and enhance MICA expression on glioma cells (224). Furthermore, siRNA-silenced glioma cells displayed increased susceptibility to immune cell lysis (224). In a murine glioma model, inhibiting TGF-β1 receptor using SX-007, an oral serine/threonine kinase inhibitor, produced greater numbers of long-term survivors (33%) in the experimental group compared to control group (6%) (226). The treatment group receiving SX-007 also had higher levels of CD8+ T-cells in the CLNs than control groups, indicating TGF-β blockade can reverse its immunosuppressive effects (226). Taken together, these data illustrate that TGF-β confers predominately immunosuppressive and pro-invasive advantages to malignant gliomas, and blocking TGF-β signaling can reverse its malignant effects.

#### TGF-β: Therapies for Malignant Gliomas

In the brain, modulating TGF- $\beta$  is particularly attractive. Radiation, a therapeutic cornerstone for malignant CNS tumors, has been shown to increase TGF- $\beta$  expression both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Neutralizing TGF- $\beta$  might not only counteract the immunosuppressive and pro-invasive effects of TGF- $\beta$  on the tumor but also attenuate the radiation-induced activation of TGF- $\beta$ . Indeed, a small-molecule TGF- $\beta$ R1 kinase inhibitor LY2109761 increased radio-sensitivity of GBM cell lines and stem cells *in vitro*. In combination with radiotherapy, LY2109761 reduced the tumor growth and prolonged the survival in ortho-topic intracranial murine glioma models compared to radiotherapy alone (227). Conceivably, this benefit might also extend to tumors at other sites that are frequently treated with radiotherapy, such as prostate adenocarcinoma or head-and-neck squamous cell carcinomas.

Several compounds targeting TGF- $\beta$  signaling in malignant gliomas have entered clinical trials (220); their efficacy, however, remains inconclusive. One of the most promising compounds was Trabedersen, an anti-sense oligonucleotide against TGF- $\beta$ 2 mRNA that was shown to inhibit tumor proliferation and enhance antitumor immunity *in vitro* (228). In phase I/II trials, Trabedersen was associated with improved survival in patients with refractory high-grade gliomas compared to literature data (229). Although a subsequent randomized phase IIb clinical trial of Trabedersen reported improved tumor control and trended toward improved 2-year survival among patients with refractory anaplastic astrocytoma compared to chemotherapy (230), the results of the trial have been called into question based on several methodological weaknesses (231). The Phase III trial of Trabedersen, which was halted in 2012 due to patient recruitment issues, was recently terminated in light of advances in neurosurgical and first-line standard of care for glioblastoma (220). However, phase I and II trials of LY2157299, an oral TGF- $\beta$  receptor kinase inhibitor, for newly diagnosed and recurrent glioblastomas have recently completed accrual, and efficacy data are expected in 2015 (232–235).

#### TGF-β: Non-CNS Tumors

Whereas TGF- $\beta$  exerts predominately immunosuppressive and tumorigenic effects in the context of gliomas, its role in influencing tumor growth in other sites of the body is arguably more pleiotropic and context-dependent, which makes modulating TGF- $\beta$ in systemic tumors exceedingly complex. Neutralizing TGF- $\beta$  may indeed cause tumor regression at sites that depend on TGF- $\beta$  for proliferation but, at the same time, may also inadvertently cause tumor growth in tissues where TGF- $\beta$  serves as a tumor suppressor (50). TGF- $\beta$ , for example, is a potent inhibitor of epithelial cell proliferation (236–238), and inactivating mutations of TGF- $\beta$ receptors are implicated in the development of several human carcinomas (50). Neutralizing the protective effects of TGF- $\beta$  could conceivably promote malignant transformation of epithelial tissue.

Even among tumors of the same tissue type, inactivating mutations of TGF-B and/or its receptor can lead to disparate effects. Mutations in TGF- $\beta$  receptor are frequently found in colon cancer (239-242), and mouse models have shown that inactivating mutations in the TGF-ß gene increases spontaneous formation of colorectal carcinoma (243). Yet, paradoxically, patients with a form of hereditary colorectal carcinoma, termed HNPCC, and who frequently have TGF- $\beta$  receptor mutations actually have better prognoses than patients with sporadic colon cancer without TGF-BR mutations (239, 244). Lastly, similar to the potential off-target effects of IL-10, whether or not a tumor arises in a pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory environment also becomes a key consideration in modulating TGF-β. Gastric adenocarcinomas, for example, which can develop as a result of protracted tissue inflammation following H. pylori colonization, may flourish in the absence of TGF- $\beta$  and other immunosuppressive cytokines.

Nevertheless, several strategies for targeting TGF- $\beta$  in non-CNS tumors, including anti-sense oligonucleotides, monoclonal antibodies, vaccines, and small-molecule inhibitors, have shown moderate success in pre-clinical models of breast, colorectal, pancreatic, hepatocellular, and renal cell carcinomas, with some proceeding toward human trials (220). The efficacy as well as offtarget effects of modulating this multi-faceted cytokine remain to be seen.

## Part V: Indolamine 2,3-Dioxygenase 1 – Tryptophan Metabolism

Indolamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 is a cytosolic enzyme produced by macrophages and dendritic cells, primarily in response to proinflammatory factors (such as IFN- $\gamma$ , IFN- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\beta$ , and LPS) (245, 246). IDO catalyzes the rate-limiting step of tryptophan degradation, producing, among other Trp metabolites, kynurenine, which exerts several immunosuppressive effects that may help to regulate inflammation (66). Most notably, kynurenine facilitates expansion of T-reg populations and inhibition of T cell effector functions (67, 68). IDO, however, is also expressed by several human tumors in the brain and the body, including lung, prostate, colorectal, pancreatic, and endometrial cancers, as well as glioblastoma multiforme (60, 247). Moreover, level of IDO expression by malignant tumors has been correlated with poorer prognoses (248), indicating that IDO and the expansion of Treg populations may play a critical role in abetting tumors in evading host immunity.

#### **IDO: Malignant Gliomas**

Indolamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 is not expressed in the brain under normal physiological conditions. IDO mRNA, however, is substantially elevated in human glioma tissues and correlates negatively with overall survival (60, 61). Similar to other tumor sites outside of the CNS, the malignant effect of IDO on glioma progression appears largely to result from IDO-mediated accumulation of thymus-derived nTreg cells, which subsequently exert immunosuppressive effects on effector cells in the tumor microenvironment (60). Specifically, production chemokine CCL22 by glioma cells is believed to play a key role in recruiting and trafficking peripheral nTregs into the glioma milieu, a subject that is discussed in more depth in subsequent sections of this review in Ref. (71, 72).

Recent data also indicate that glioma cells, rather than TAMs, microglia, and DCs, directly produce the majority of the IDO (60), which is distinct from tumors outside of the CNS where DCs account for the majority of tumor-derived IDO (62-65). In a murine glioma model where GL261 cells were injected intracranially into the brain of WT or IDO-deficient mice, peripheral expression of IDO had no impact on intratumoral T-cell accumulation or overall survival (60) between the two groups of mice. By comparison, implantation of IDO-producing GL261 tumor cells into the same set of mice resulted in significantly increased intratumoral Treg accumulation and reduced overall survival (60). Interestingly, when IDO-expressing and IDO-non-expressing glioma cells were implanted concurrently in separate cerebral hemispheres within the same mouse, any survival benefit normally attributed to IDO-deficient tumors was eliminated by the presence of IDOexpressing gliomas in the contralateral cerebral hemisphere (249). Taken together, these data illustrate that IDO, produced directly by glioma cells, globally suppresses the anti-glioma immune response by recruiting thymus-derived nTregs.

#### IDO: Site-Specific Considerations for Immunotherapy

Although tumors both in the brain and the body can exploit IDO-mediated immunosuppression to overcome host anti-tumor immune responses, molecular inhibition of IDO activity has produced different responses in different organs, which may reflect unique tissue-specific factors.

In a murine breast tumor model, 1-methyl-tryptophan (1-MT), a widely studied inhibitor of IDO, failed to inhibit tumor growth (250); however, in combination with cytotoxic chemotherapies,

including paclitaxel, cisplatin, cyclophosphamide, and doxorubicin, 1-MT produced significant tumor regression (250). The synergic effects between cytotoxic chemotherapy and 1-MT have also been reported in melanoma models (251). In glioma models, however, it appears that, in sufficient doses, 1-MT alone can produce significant anti-tumor effects (249). Moreover, when co-administered with cytotoxic chemotherapy, 1-MT failed to improve survival over chemotherapy alone (249), suggesting that the synergism between IDO inhibition and chemotherapy may depend on differences in tissue biology between CNS and non-CNS tumors. It has been postulated, for example, that separate tryptophan-metabolizing enzymes, such as IDO2 or TDO, that are also known to mediate immunosuppression in gliomas, may provide compensatory kynurenine production under states of cellular stress (249).

Interestingly, administering 1-MT with anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies produced a 100% long-term survival rate in glioma-bearing mice (249), an improvement over the 90% long-term survival rate in anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-L1 therapies alone. By comparison, the same triple therapy regimen was dramatically less effective at extending survival in mice with intracranially implanted B16 melanoma tumors, illustrating that the utility of IDO modulation may differ substantially based on tumor type and environmental context (249).

Lastly, differential patterns of IDO expression among tumor types may also impact therapeutic efficacy of IDO modulation. Recent tissue analysis of 15 human tumor types showed that IDO expression was largely restricted to tumor cells, myeloidlineage cells, and endothelial cells (62). The distribution of IDO expression among the three categories of cells, however, varied greatly from tumor to tumor. IDO expression within renal cell carcinomas tissue, for example, appeared to be largely restricted to the vasculature, whereas IDO expression within colorectal cancer tissue appeared to be limited to DCs (62). Whereas cervical tumor tended to express IDO on the outer edges of the parenchyma, IDO expression in endometrial tumors was more diffusely distributed throughout the parenchyma (62). The frequency of IDO expression also varied depending on tumor type. For example, cervical and endometrial carcinomas were found to be most frequently IDO+ (83 and 94% of all cervical and endometrial carcinoma tissue samples, respectively) while glioblastoma tissues were most frequently IDO- (only 8% of glioblastoma tissues were found to express IDO) (62). Further work is needed to characterize how variable expression patterns of IDO among different tissue types may affect IDO-targeted immune-modulation therapy.

## Part VI: T-Regulatory Lymphocytes

Regulatory T lymphocytes (Tregs) are a highly diverse and plastic subset of CD4+ immunosuppressive helper T cells that play an essential role in promoting immunological tolerance (252, 253). As guardians against autoimmunity, Tregs can also hamper anti-tumor immune responses and facilitate tumor growth, an undesired consequence of that has long been recognized (254, 255). Malignancies both in the brain and body actively recruit and sustain Tregs into the tumor microenvironment and parenchyma, and numerous studies have correlated higher intratumoral Treg density with higher tumor grades and poorer prognoses (256). Hence, Tregs are believed to play a pivotal role in tumor-mediated immunosuppression and subsequent immune escape, leading to the failure of immune therapies.

#### **Natural and Adaptive Tregs**

CD4+ Tregs comprise approximately 5–10% of circulating CD4+ T cell population, and, based on developmental origin, Tregs are classified as either thymus-derived natural Tregs (nTregs) or peripherally induced "adaptive" Tregs (iTregs) (257). Subsets of the CD8+ suppressive regulatory T-cells, for which less is known about their immunomodulatory roles in disease than CD4+ counterparts, also exist and are reviewed elsewhere (253).

nTregs develop in the thymus from CD4+ single-positive thymocytes via antigen presentation by thymic epithelial cells (257). nTregs characterized by stable and high-level expression of Forkhead Box P3 (FoxP3), key transcription factor and regulator for Treg development and immunosuppressive function (252). Mice and humans with rare FoxP3 gene dysfunctions suffer florid autoimmune attack on multiple organs and tissues, culminating in a fatal disorder known as immunodysregulation polyendocrinopathy enteropathy X-linked syndrome (IPEX) (258). More recently, the transcription factor Helios as well as neuropilin-1, a semaphorin III receptor, has also been identified as potential markers for nTregs (259-262). Although incompletely characterized, nTregs exert their immunosuppressive function in a contact-dependent, cytokine-independent mechanisms, which include the expression of surface molecules CTLA-4 and PD-L1, membrane-bound TGF-β, pericellular generation of adenosine, as well as through Granzyme B/Perforin and Fas/FasL pathways (49, 263-268).

By comparison, iTregs, which encompass several distinct CD4+ T cell types (257), differentiate in the periphery when antigens are presented to and recognized by naïve conventional CD4+ T cells (Tconv) under tolerogenic conditions. In contrast to nTregs, which display constitutive expression of FoxP3, iTreg FoxP3 expression is transient or even absent, and its induction appears dependent on IL-10 and/or TGF- $\beta$  signaling (49, 252). iTregs also appear to exert their immunosuppressive effects by releasing soluble factors, such as IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  (49), instead of the cell-surface ligand molecules used by nTregs.

Ultimately, whether Tregs are thymically or peripherally derived, Tregs are capable of wholesale suppression of innate and adaptive effector immune cell function (253). From a therapeutic standpoint, however, it is valuable to understand the process by which tumor-infiltrating Tregs accumulate within various tumors, such that the targeted strategies might be developed to modulate specific Treg populations.

#### **Treg Accumulation in Brain**

Greater numbers of glioma-associated Tregs has been associated with higher tumor grade (269), and levels of tumor-infiltrating Tregs may prove to be an important prognostic indictor for survival (270), though the data are conflicting (271–273). Based on current methods for evaluating Treg phenotype, the data suggest that tumor-infiltrating Tregs in malignant gliomas are predominately nTregs, rather than iTregs (69). In a murine glioma model, levels

of tumor-infiltrating Tregs were significantly diminished for mice that were thymectomized prior to tumor implantation compared to that of non-thymectomized mice (69). In addition, over 90% of Tregs within the tumor expressed Helios transcription factor (69), which is known to be highly expressed on thymus-derived nTregs but not iTegs in mice and humans (262), strengthening the claim that glioma-associated Tregs may be nTregs.

The precise mechanism by which gliomas recruit nTregs is still under investigation; however, it is becoming evident that gliomas produce several soluble factors (72) that aid in recruiting nTregs into the microenvironment and parenchyma. In particular, gliomas are known to produce CC chemokine ligand 22 (CCL22), which serves as a potent chemotactic factor for leukocytes expressing CCL22 receptor CC chemokine receptor 4 (CCR4). Glioma-infiltrating Tregs express particularly high levels of CCR4 compared to other tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (73), and several *in vitro* migration studies have demonstrated the ability of glioma-derived CCL22 to induce Treg chemotaxis (71–73).

CC chemokine ligand 2, another chemokine produced by human gliomas (74) and a weaker ligand for CCR4, has also been implicated in glioma-mediated Treg chemotaxis (71, 75). *In vitro* administration of blocking antibodies to CCR4 as well as CCL2 receptor, CCR2, arrested Treg migration toward glioma supernatant (71). Whether CCL22 and/or CCL2 are significant Treg chemotactic factors *in vivo* is still a matter of contention (71, 72, 75); however, it is evident that other soluble factors within the glioma microenvironment also contribute to Treg chemotaxis, and these factors remain to be identified (72).

Interestingly, outside of the tumor parenchyma and microenvironment, circulating CCL22 appears to be depressed in the sera of patients with malignant gliomas (274). Additionally, in a serum analysis of 1,208 patients with glioma, one group recently reported that lower serum levels of CCL22 were a negative prognostic indictor for overall survival (274). Because gliomas are known to exert global immunosuppressive effects, the lower levels of CCL22 in sera seen in patients with higher grade gliomas compared to lower grade gliomas was thought to reflect glioma-mediated suppression of peripheral APCs, which are the predominant producers of CCL22 in vitro and in vivo (275). The precise mechanisms underlying this relationship, however, remain to be elucidated. Further clarification is needed regarding whether glioma-related production of CCL22 is related to levels of CCL22 in peripheral blood, as well as whether glioma-derived CCL22 is also associated with disease prognosis.

Though iTregs may likely play a lesser role in glioma immunoresistance (69), there is reason to believe that gliomas are also capable of converting Tconv into iTregs *in vivo*. TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10, both of which are produced by gliomas *in vivo*, have been shown to induce Treg conversion *in vitro* (252, 276). Prostaglandin E2, which is also produced by gliomas via cyclo-oxygenase 2 (COX-2), can induce *de novo* Tconv to Treg conversion (277, 278).

#### **Treg Accumulation at Non-CNS Sites**

Whether tumor-infiltrating Tregs in peripheral sites are thymus-derived or peripherally induced Tregs is also controversial, especially in the absence of definitive markers for
distinguishing nTregs from iTregs (257). There is compelling evidence, however, that intratumoral Tregs from non-CNS sites also comprised predominately nTregs rather than iTregs, similar to the distribution in malignant gliomas. Using a mouse fibrosarcoma tumor model, Waight et al. recently demonstrated that intratumoral Tregs bore CpG hypomethylation at FoxP3 Treg-specific demethylated region (TSDR) (70), which is thought to be an epigenetic hallmark for nTregs (279). Moreover, epigenetic analysis of intratumoral Tregs from human NSCLC and ovarian tumors revealed demethylation at the FoxP3 TSDR similar to that observed in murine tumor models, suggesting that tumor-infiltrating Tregs in human tumors may also be nTregs (70). Whether similar distributions of Treg subtypes based on epigenetic markers are found in other peripheral tumors remains to be determined.

Similar to gliomas, several non-CNS tumors, including ovarian (76), breast (77), prostate (78), gastric (79), esophageal (80), as well as Hodgkin lymphoma (81) tumor cells can also elaborate CCL22 to help recruit Tregs into the tumor microenvironment. Notably, in one recent study of 417 cases of invasive breast cancer, high tumor expression of CCL22 was associated with higher histological grade and greater density of tumor-infiltrating Tregs (280). Furthermore, higher CCL22 expression was reported to be an adverse predictor of progression-free and overall survival (280). Higher ratio of stromal CCR4+ Tregs to CD8+ Tregs was also negatively associated with overall survival in human oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) (281), indicating a potential relationship between CCL22 and overall survival in OSCC.

At the same time, Treg chemoattractant profiles can also vary greatly from tumor to tumor in peripheral sites. For instance, CCL17, another ligand to CCR4, does not appear to play a role in Treg chemotaxis in glioma or ovarian carcinoma but is a key mediator in Hodgkin's lymphoma and gastric adenocarcinoma (81). In colorectal carcinoma, TAMs secreting CCL20 attracted tumor-infiltrating Tregs that highly expressed CC chemokine receptor 6 (282). Likewise, in an experimental melanoma model, tumor-infiltrating Tregs expressed CCR5 and preferentially migrated toward its ligands CCL3, CCL4, and CCL5, which were elaborated by tumor-infiltrating myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (82). Similarly, CCR5–CCL5 signaling also appears to play a prominent role in Treg migration in both human and murine pancreatic adenocarcinoma (83).

Though, as with the brain, the most recent data suggest that the majority of tumor-infiltrating Tregs in peripheral sites are also nTregs, non-CNS tumors can also elaborate TGF- $\beta$ , IL-10, and PGE2, which can induce peripheral iTreg conversion. Administration of anti-TGF- $\beta$  antibody *in vitro* blocked conversion of Tconv to the Treg phenotype, and *in vivo* administration of anti-TGF- $\beta$  antibody in mice implanted with renal cell carcinoma reduced tumor burden, decreased numbers of circulating FOXP3+ CD25+ CD4+ cells in peripheral blood, and removed the immunosuppressive capabilities of FOXP3+ CD25+ CD4+ T cells (283). This leaves open the possibility that iTregs play an important but poorly understood role in tumor immunoresistance. In fact, one murine sarcoma model illustrated that intratumoral nTregs and iTregs may collaborate to suppress different arms of the adaptive immune response, with nTregs

preferentially suppressing CD8+ T cells and iTregs suppressing CD4+ T cells, respectively (284).

## **Therapeutic Implications**

From a therapeutic standpoint, these findings are particularly important. Traditional approaches to depleting Tregs, such as anti-CD25 antibodies (285) and cyclophosphamide (286), are largely non-specific, and whether these strategies preferentially target nTreg or iTreg populations is currently unknown (257). However, with the current knowledge that nTregs may comprise the majority of tumor-infiltrating Tregs in the brain and the body, it may be possible to devise targeted depletion strategies for nTregs, thereby minimizing side effects associated with indiscriminate systemic Treg depletion (258). For example, nTregs are believed to exert their immunosuppressive effects predominately via contactdependent, cytokine-independent mechanisms (49). These include co-stimulatory and co-inhibitory molecules CTLA-4 and PD-L1, membrane-bound TGF-<sup>β</sup>, pericellular generation of adenosine, and granzyme B/perforin and Fas/FasL pathways (49, 263-268). Therefore, it may be possible to modulate nTreg activity by blocking the interactions between these immunosuppressive cell-surface ligands and their receptors (287-289).

Blocking Treg recruitment may offer another route for reducing intratumor Treg burden in a specific manner. CCL22–CCR4, a shared chemokine pathway for Treg migration in several tumors of the brain and the body, may prove useful for reducing Treg burden in a targeted manner (290). Recently, Adeegbe et al. reported that using anti-CCR4 antibodies in human melanoma patients selectively depleted CCR4+ Tregs while sparing naïve Tregs (257). Other strategies that interfere with the CCL22–CCR4 axis have demonstrated moderate success in *in vitro* and pre-clinical *in vivo* experiments (290–292).

Finally, within tissues of the body where inflammation promotes carcinogenesis, such as with gastric cancers or colorectal carcinoma, greater numbers of Tregs suppress inflammation and may therefore have anti-tumor effects. Greater degree of Treg tumor infiltration has in fact been associated with better prognosis in colorectal cancers (293, 294). Therefore, immunotherapeutic strategies that target Treg depletion need to consider the environmental context within which tumorigenesis occurs.

# Part VII: Tumor-Associated Myeloid Cells

The role of myeloid-lineage cells in promoting tumor growth and invasion has come into focus in recent years. At least five distinct subpopulations of tumor-associated myeloid cells (TAMCs) have been identified, including monocyte-derived tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs); angiogenic monocytes; immature, immunosuppressive myelomonocytic cells known as MDSCs; tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs); as well as microglia within the CNS (87). Their expansive roles in facilitating immunosuppression, angiogenesis, cellular proliferation, and tumor invasion in CNS and non-CNS sites have prompted investigations into new immunotherapeutic strategies aimed at neutralizing TAMCs. Representative classes of TAMCs as they relate to gliomas will be discussed below; an in-depth review of TAMCs can be referenced here (87).

## **TAMCs in Malignant Gliomas**

Microglia and monocyte-derived macrophages (i.e., TAMs) together account for the majority of glioma-associated myeloid cells (87, 159). Microglia, the resident macrophages of the CNS, compose 5–20% of the total glial cell population (84, 85) and play an essential role in the innate defense system of the brain (91). Monocyte-derived macrophages, by comparison, are normally restricted to the perivascular, choroid, and meningeal locations of the CNS (see Part II: The CNS Immune Environment), gaining entry to the parenchyma only after disease and/or inflammation have disrupted the integrity of BBB. In the setting of glioma, TAMs and microglia can comprise upward of 30% of the total tumor mass, with reports indicating that high-grade gliomas tend to exhibit greater levels of TAMs and microglia accumulation than low-grade gliomas (87, 295, 296).

Similar to monocyte-derived macrophages, both microglia and TAMs can embody pro-inflammatory (M1) as well as immunosuppressive (M2) phenotypes depending on environmental cues (99, 297). In the presence of inflammatory signals, classically activated microglia and macrophages skew toward an M1-like phenotype, characterized by increased capacity to migrate, phagocytose, secrete cytotoxic factors, as well as express MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecules for T cell activation (91). In the setting of gliomas, however, the data suggest that microglia and TAMs polarize toward an M2-like phenotype (91-93), particularly in late stages of disease progression (298), and exhibit immunosuppressive, pro-invasive properties that facilitate tumor growth. It is important to note that the M1/M2 classification is useful for illustrating the dichotomous role of microglia and TAMs in tumorogenesis but is ultimately an oversimplification, as TAMs and microglia exhibit a continuum of phenotypes at any one time, and the functional outcome may ultimately hinge upon the balance of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory TAMs and microglia in the tumor microenvironment (159).

Recent work has produced convincing evidence that microglia and TAMs represent distinct classes of mononuclear phagocytic cells based on developmental origin (299, 300); however, distinguishing between TAMs and microglia in glioma tissue has proved difficult. Historically, cell-surface markers, CD11b integrin and common leukocyte antigen CD45, have been used to parse the two cell populations, with microglia expressing CD11bhigh/CD45low and TAMs expressing CD11b<sup>high</sup>/CD45<sup>high</sup>, but the reliability of these markers in practice remains controversial (87). Newer genetic techniques employing inducible gene reporters to identify unique developmental markers in non-diseased murine models have had success in distinguishing monocyte-derived macrophages from microglia in vivo (301-303); however, whether such techniques can accurately identify macrophages and microglia in the setting of glioma remains to be determined. Therefore, the subsequent discussion will refer collectively to both macrophage populations as glioma-associated microglia and macrophages (GAMs) (304).

#### **Glioma-Associated Microglia and Macrophages**

Gliomas recruit GAMs in significant numbers, with GAMs comprising as much as one-third of all tumor-associated inflammatory cells (305). GAMs are recruited via glioma-derived chemo-attractants, including CCL2 (306), CCL7 (307), CX3CL1 (308), and stromalderived factor-1 (SDF-1) (309); GAMs are subsequently sustained within tissue via glioma-derived growth factors, such as CSF-1, G-CSF, and hepatocyte growth factor (310-312). In exchange for pro-growth factors, GAMs provide the tumor with matrix metalloproteinases, which facilitate tumor growth and invasion (96), as well as tumor proliferation promoting factors, such as epidermal growth factor (EGF) (97) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (98). Under the influence of glioma-associated cytokines, GAMs further upregulate immunosuppressive programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1) (94, 95), which promotes T-lymphocyte anergy, as well as FASL, which promotes T-lymphocyte apoptosis (313, 314). Moreover, gliomas induce GAMs to substantially decrease the expression of MHC molecules and pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ ) while increasing the secretion of transcription factor, STAT3, likely through S100B-receptor for advanced glycation end produces (RAGE) axis (315). GAM STAT3 activation promotes the secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines, IL-6 and IL-10, which are known to inhibit cytotoxic T lymphocyte function, among other immunosuppressive actions (316, 317).

Discoveries surrounding the role of GAMs in promoting tumor growth have been followed closely by strategies to modulate their immunosuppressive actions. Transcription factor STAT3, which is upregulated in glioma-associated microglia, is a promising target for molecular intervention. In vitro blockade of STAT3 using siRNA reduced the microglial expression of immunosuppressive cytokines, IL-6 and IL-10 (316). In vivo silencing of STAT3 in a murine glioma model promoted a pro-inflammatory microglia response that inhibited tumor growth (316). Corosolic and oleanolic acids, known inhibitors of STAT3, have also been shown to reduce the macrophage expression of CD163, a marker of the immunosuppressive M2 phenotype, as well as IL-10, suggesting that these molecules may hold potential for reversing M2-like polarization of microglia (318, 319). Other novel approaches include the use of antibodies to block microglia chemotaxis toward gliomas, analogous to efforts aimed at attenuating Treg cell recruitment. Anti-CCL2 therapy, for example, has shown success in prolonging survival in murine glioma models (320). Other novel strategies have been well reviewed here (321).

## Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in Malignant Gliomas

Compared to TAMs and/or microglia, relatively less is known about the role of MDSCs in gliomagenesis and progression. MDSCs represent a diverse population of immature and highly immunosuppressive myeloid cells that accumulate in the tumor, blood, lymph nodes, and bone marrow of tumor-bearing hosts in response to tumor-derived factors, such as IL-6, IL-10, PGE2, TGF- $\beta$ 2, and VEGF (89, 322, 323). Though controversial, MDSCs are most commonly classified as either monocytic or granulocytic MDSCs (also known as polymorphonuclear MDSCs), with granulocytic MDSCs on a per cell basis (89). A population of promyelocytic MDSCs, representing an even more immature lineage of myeloid suppressor cells that are negative for both monocytic and granulocytic markers, has also more recently been described (324).

It is thought that granulocytic MDSCs suppress antigenspecific CD8+ T cell activity via production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which, for example, could trigger apoptosis in activated T cells by decreasing Bcl-2 expression (325), while monocytic MDSCs increase L-arginine metabolism via NO and ARG-1 pathways, causing micro-environmental arginine depletion, ultimately leading to downregulation of T cell receptor components as well as T cell cell cycle arrest (326-328). Additionally, MDSCs are also thought to interfere with T-cell trafficking, induce NK- and T-cell anergy, and enhance Treg activation and expansion (329). In a study by Raychuadhuri et al., T cells isolated from patients with GBM had significantly depressed IFN-y production following stimulation. Subsequent depletion of MDSCs from peripheral blood using anti-CD33/ CD15-coated beads significantly restored T cell IFN-y production in vitro (330).

In gliomas, the majority of circulating MDSCs appear to be predominately granulocytic (329). Interestingly, Gielen et al. recently reported that while patients with GBM contain elevated levels of both granulocytic and monocytic MDSCs in peripheral blood when compared to healthy controls, glioma tissues contain almost exclusively granulocytic MDSCs (331), a finding that may have important implications for MDSC-targeted therapy. In addition, the authors reported that patients who had had longer courses of dexamethasone for cerebral edema displayed greater levels of both classes of MDSCs in peripheral blood, a finding that could merely reflect patient-level differences in tumor mass but also possibly dexamethasone-mediated alterations to myeloid cell phenotypes, warranting further investigation (331). There is also compelling data suggesting that circulating MDSCs may arise from glioma-associated monocytes. Chae et al. recently showed that mice that received transgenic green fluorescent protein (GFP)+ CD11b+ splenic monocytes along with GL261-Luc cells not only had shorter survival, faster tumor growth, and higher levels of intratumoral and circulating MDSCs compared to mice that received GL261-Luc cells alone but also their work showed that 30-50% of circulating MDSCs were GFP+, suggesting that MDSCs arose directly from GFP+ monocytes (332).

Myeloid-derived suppressor cell-targeted immunotherapy is an area of active research. For example, various murine glioma models have shown that depletion of MDSCs, either via COX-2 inhibition (278), antibody-mediated MDSC depletion (278), or CCL2 neutralization (320), can prolong the survival. Other strategies for modulating MDSCs have been highlighted here (329).

## Tumor-Associated Myeloid Cells in Non-CNS Sites

Immunosuppressive myeloid cells are not unique to CNS tumors and are equally important facilitators of tumor growth and invasion in peripheral sites as well. Higher density of tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) has been associated with poorer prognosis in several human cancers, including breast, prostate, bladder, colorectal, and gastric cancers (333). Increased levels of M2-polarized TAMs have been correlated with accelerated metastasis and reduced survival in pancreatic (334) and renal cell carcinoma (88) as well as certain lymphomas (335). Indeed, several glioma-derived chemokine mediators that are important in re-purposing microglia with immunosuppressive functions are also implicated in polarizing peripheral tumor-associated macrophages toward an M2 immunosuppressive phenotype (99).

Although the relative distribution of microglia and TAMs in gliomas has yet to be fully characterized (see above discussion), an intriguing observation that the majority of tumor-infiltrating mononuclear phagocytes in murine gliomas may represent monocyte-derived macrophages rather than native microglia suggests that monocyte-derived macrophages may play a significant role in coordinating glioma growth (86). Immunotherapy aimed at modulating macrophage populations in the CNS may therefore be highly pertinent to managing immunosuppressive macrophages within non-CNS tumors, and vice versa.

Myeloid-derived suppressor cells have also been implicated in facilitating local and systemic immunosuppression in the setting of non-CNS tumors, including breast, colon, lung, kidney cancer, and head-and-neck cancers (89, 90), making MDSC-targeted therapy relevant to tumor immunotherapy at all sites. The mechanisms by which MDSCs arise and confound anti-tumor immunity, however, may differ depending on tumor site. For example, tumorconditioned media from certain non-CNS tumors has been shown to induce immunosuppressive phenotypes in myeloid cells (322, 336); however, in vitro data from Rodrigues et al. revealed that direct contact between monocytes and glioma cells was needed to induce an MDSC-like phenotype in monocytes (90). Moreover, Rodrigues et al. failed to find a correlation between serum levels of tumor-derived cytokines known to stimulate MDSC proliferation in patients with gliomas compared to healthy counterparts (90), suggesting that the elevated levels of circulating MDSCs in patients with gliomas may arise from direct contact between tumor-infiltrating macrophages and/or monocytes and glioma cells rather than via systemic cytokine-induced conversion. Recent work from Chae et al., who showed GFP+ monocytes co-injected with GL261 cells into murine brains, led to increased levels of GFP+ MDSCs lends credence to the theory (332).

The relative proportions of circulating granulocytic, monocytic, and lineage-negative MDSCs may also vary depending on tumor type. Compared to patients with melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, and bladder carcinoma, patients with GBM had the greatest levels of granulocytic MDSCs (330). While the relative distribution of granulocytic, monocytic, and lineage-negative MDSCs in the peripheral blood of patients with renal cell carcinoma and bladder cancer appear consistent with that of GBM (i.e., granulocytic > lineage-negative > monocytic MDSCs), patients with melanoma have nearly equal percentages of granulocytic and lineage-negative MDSCs (330). The exact clinical relevance of differing proportions of MDSCs in different tumor types has yet to be elucidated; however, given that different subclasses of MDSCs may utilize different mechanisms of immunosuppression, MDSC-targeted immunotherapy may ultimately need to account for the predominant subsets of MDSCs associated with various tumor types.

Lastly, in keeping with the theme of other immunotherapeutic targets discussed in this review, targeting MDSCs may ultimately be highly contextual and tumor-dependent. Although depletion of MDSCs in certain glioma models has led to survival benefits (278, 320, 337), eliminating MDSCs may produce opposite effect in other tumor models. For example, Kerkar et al. reported that IL-12 immunotherapy in a B16 murine melanoma model "reprogramed" MDSCs, which in turn actually potentiated the anti-tumor effects of CD8+ T cells (338). By comparison, IL-12 immunotherapy prolonged the survival in a GL261 murine glioma model regardless of whether MDSCs were depleted (339), indicating that MDSCs may play a different supporting role in IL-12 immunotherapy in melanomas versus gliomas. Further work is needed to ascertain the functional outcome of depleting MDSCs in different tumor models. Simultaneously, it will also be prudent to assess the viability of "reprograming" MDSCs into mature myeloid cells that promote tumor elimination, similar to what has been accomplished with using all-trans retinoic acid in the treatment of acute pro-myelocytic anemia.

# Part VIII: Immune Checkpoints Molecules

Therapeutic modulation of co-stimulatory and co-inhibitory receptors of the immune system, often referred to as "immune checkpoint molecules," has erupted in recent years following the seminal work in blockading cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4), a co-inhibitory molecule expressed on activated T-cells and Treg cells. Ipililumab, an mAb directed against CTLA-4, was the first therapy to procure survival benefits for patients with metastatic melanoma (340), providing proof-of-concept that disrupting checkpoint molecules could alone reverse tumor immunoresistance and lead to immune-mediated tumor eradication.

Numerous immune checkpoint molecules have subsequently been identified (341) and hold substantial promise as targets for tumor immunotherapy in the brain and the body. In this regard, characterizing immune checkpoint molecule, programmed cell death protein-1 ligand (PD-L1), its role in immune regulation, and opportunities for therapeutic intervention in the CNS and other sites is particularly instructive.

# Programmed Cell Death Protein-1 Ligand

Programmed cell death protein-1 ligand (B7-H1, CD274) is a trans-membrane glycoprotein of the B7 family of co-stimulatory molecules with potent immune-regulatory properties (120, 342). Under normal physiological states, PD-L1 is largely restricted to myeloid-lineage cells, including DCs and macrophages (343), and binds its receptor, programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1, CD279), which is predominately expressed on activated T-cells (342, 344). Activation of PD-1 suppresses proliferation and lytic functions of effector T cells while expanding immunosuppressive Treg cells (341). Under inflammatory states, PD-L1/PD-1 signaling protects against rampant T cell activation and autoimmunity. Numerous tumors in the brain and the body, however, also express PD-L1, which can suppress tumor-directed cytotoxic T-cells that would otherwise destroy it (341). PD-L1 expression in several tumors, including renal cell carcinoma (105, 106), lung carcinoma (107, 108), breast carcinoma (109), and glioblastoma (119), has been correlated with higher tumor grade and poorer prognosis (120).

# **PD-L1: Malignant Gliomas**

Aside from endothelial cells of the BBB, PD-L1 is usually not expressed in the CNS (345-347), and PD-L1 expression on glial cells and/or neurons is typically signs of pathological states. In gliomas, PD-L1 expression is positively correlated with malignancy grade (205) and is likely driven by genetic alterations that also potentiate oncogenesis. Loss of PTEN tumor suppressor gene enhances the expression of PD-L1 on glioma cells, suggesting that activation of PI(3)K-Akt-mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway may modulate PD-L1 translation (101). Concurrently, greater degrees of PD-1 expression on peripheral CD4+ and CD8+ T cells are also observed in gliomas of higher malignant grade (119), and co-culturing alloreactive CD4+ and CD8+ T cells with PD-L1-expressing glioma cells significantly depresses the production of inflammatory cytokines, such as IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-2 (118). Accordingly, the PD-1/PD-L1 axis has become an attractive target for glioma immunotherapy. Blocking PD-L1 on glioma cells with mAbs in combination with radiotherapy has yielded particularly potent survival benefits in pre-clinical models (348).

In addition to glioma cells, TAMCs provide another source of PD-L1. Microglia are known to upregulate PD-L1 expression under inflammatory states (94), and microglial expression of PD-L1 has indeed been reported in human glioblastoma tissue (102). Recently, Parsa et al. reported that gliomas also induce PD-L1 expression on tumor-infiltrating macrophages, which may further contribute to PD-1-mediated T-cell suppression (103). This finding is particularly compelling, as it provides a cellular basis by which gliomas may induce global immunosuppression via monocyte-derived macrophages. Whether the benefits observed from anti-PD-L1 mAbs are due primarily to blocking PD-L1 expressed by gliomas, TAMs, microglia, or combinations thereof, remains to be determined.

Notably, in the first study that extensively characterized the role of neurons in the GBM microenvironment in inhibiting tumor growth, Liu et al. reported that high levels of neuronal PD-L1 expression in tumor-adjacent brain tissue (TABT) corresponded favorably with overall patient survival, and low TABT PD-L1 expression and high GBM PD-L1 expression portended poorer patient survival (104). Mechanistic analysis revealed neurons expressing PD-L1-induced caspase-mediated apoptosis of GBM cells (104). Neuronal expression of IFN- $\beta$ , which enhances neuronal expression of PD-L1, was also postulated to suppress glioma growth via its tumor-suppressor functions (104). These findings illuminate the potential drawbacks of indiscriminate administration of PD-L1 neutralizing antibodies, which might limit native host neuron defenses against gliomagenesis.

# PD-L1: Non-CNS Tumors and Implications for Therapy

The biological pathways implicated in enhancing PD-L1 expression in gliomas are equally important to the development of immunoresistance in tumors outside of the CNS. Expression of PD-L1 on colorectal carcinomas, for example, has also been linked to loss of PTEN tumor suppressor (349). Similarly, PI3K/mTOR pathway activation is also associated with PD-L1 expression in breast (115), lung (108), renal cell (106), and prostate carcinomas (116). Molecular therapies targeting these pathways are therefore relevant to all of these tumors.

At the same time, other malignancies also utilize distinct signaling pathways to enhance PD-L1 expression, requiring that targeted molecular suppression of PD-L1 be tailored toward each site based on tumor-specific biology. For example, MyD88/TRAF6 and MEK/ ERK pathways enhance PD-L1 expression in multiple myeloma (117), while constitutive activation of anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) drives PD-L1 expression in certain lymphomas and lung carcinomas (341, 350).

Targeting the PD-L1/PD-1 axis by indirectly modulating PD-L1bearing TAMs may also prove to be relevant strategy for CNS and non-CNS tumors alike (100, 110). Hepatocellular carcinomas, like gliomas, also recruit high numbers of PD-L1-expressing TAMs into the tumor microenvironment, corresponding with poor prognosis (111).

Lastly, the astonishing discovery that neuronal expression of PD-L1 in the tumor microenvironment protects against gliomagenesis (104) may also find parallels in the body. Pancreatic, heart, endothelial, small intestine (112), and placental tissues (113) also express PD-L1 (114). Whether tissue expression of PD-L1 at sites outside of the CNS similarly protects against local tumorogenesis remains an open question.

#### Beyond PD-L1

Beyond PD-L1, effector immune cells express myriad checkpoint molecules that also contribute tumor immunoresistance both in brain and body. Targeting cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4), which modulates early stages of T-lymphocyte activation, has proved useful in reversing immunoresistance in gliomas, as it has in non-CNS tumors (351–355). In an experimental

## References

- Lampson LA. Brain tumor immunotherapy: seeing the brain in the body. Drug Discov Today (2013) 18(7–8):399–406. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2012.11.007
- Beauvillain C, Donnou S, Jarry U, Scotet M, Gascan H, Delneste Y, et al. Neonatal and adult microglia cross-present exogenous antigens. *Glia* (2008) 56(1):69–77. doi:10.1002/glia.20565
- Flugel A, Labeur MS, Grasbon-Frodl EM, Kreutzberg GW, Graeber MB. Microglia only weakly present glioma antigen to cytotoxic T cells. *Int J Dev Neurosci* (1999) 17(5–6):547–56. doi:10.1016/S0736-5748(99)00020-9
- Jarry U, Jeannin P, Pineau L, Donnou S, Delneste Y, Couez D. Efficiently stimulated adult microglia cross-prime naive CD8 +T cells injected in the brain. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43(5):1173–84. doi:10.1002/eji.201243040
- D'Agostino PM, Gottfried-Blackmore A, Anandasabapathy N, Bulloch K. Brain dendritic cells: biology and pathology. *Acta Neuropathol* (2012) **124**(5):599–614. doi:10.1007/s00401-012-1018-0
- Rodriguez-Pinto D. B cells as antigen presenting cells. *Cell Immunol* (2005) 238(2):67–75. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2006.02.005
- Ribeiro AL, Okamoto OK. Combined effects of pericytes in the tumor microenvironment. Stem Cells Int (2015) 2015:868475. doi:10.1155/2015/868475
- Zinkernagel RM. On cross-priming of MHC class I-specific CTL: rule or exception? *Eur J Immunol* (2002) 32(9):2385–92. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200209)32: 9<2385::AID-IMMU2385>3.0.CO;2-V
- McDonnell AM, Prosser AC, van Bruggen I, Robinson BW, Currie AJ. CD8alpha+ DC are not the sole subset cross-presenting cell-associated tumor antigens from a solid tumor. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(6):1617–27. doi:10.1002/ eji.200940153

glioma model, anti-CTLA-4 mAb procured an 80% long-term survival rate, concurrent with enhanced proliferation of CD4+ CD25– T cells and resistance to suppression by Treg cells (351). Glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor-related gene (GITR) has emerged as an important checkpoint molecule in Treg cells (356). Additionally, Tim-3 (357) and 4-1BB (CD137) (358) are other key immune checkpoint molecules that will also require site-specific considerations, especially as immunotherapeutic strategies develop to target these ligands individually and in combination (68).

# Part IX: Concluding Remarks

A major challenge for the field of brain tumor immunology lies in elucidating key determinants and constituents of the proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory responses in the CNS such that they might be augmented for therapeutic gain. Contrary to the historical view of the CNS as immunologically sequestered from the rest of the body, the immune responses in the CNS are linked and complementary to immune processes in the periphery. The phenotype of the immune response often hinges upon cytokines and cellular mediators that exert highly pleiotropic and sometimes paradoxical actions depending on the specific tumor and environmental context. In evaluating these processes, however, it will be helpful to recognize that routes by which the CNS coordinates immune modulation are not without precedent: analogous immunological mechanisms exist at sites outside of the CNS, and advances in tumor immunotherapy in peripheral sites may therefore illuminate novel approaches to brain tumor immunotherapy, and vice versa (1). Therefore, this suggests that the intricacies of the brain immune environment need to be examined within the context of the entire body.

- van Mierlo GJ, Boonman ZF, Dumortier HM, den Boer AT, Fransen MF, Nouta J, et al. Activation of dendritic cells that cross-present tumor-derived antigen licenses CD8+ CTL to cause tumor eradication. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(11):6753–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.11.6753
- Segura E, Durand M, Amigorena S. Similar antigen cross-presentation capacity and phagocytic functions in all freshly isolated human lymphoid organ-resident dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2013) 210(5):1035–47. doi:10.1084/jem.20121103
- Brayer J, Cheng F, Wang H, Horna P, Vicente-Suarez I, Pinilla-Ibarz J, et al. Enhanced CD8 T cell cross-presentation by macrophages with targeted disruption of STAT3. *Immunol Lett* (2010) 131(2):126–30. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2010.03.004
- Lin ML, Zhan Y, Villadangos JA, Lew AM. The cell biology of cross-presentation and the role of dendritic cell subsets. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2008) 86(4):353–62. doi:10.1038/icb.2008.3
- Pozzi LA, Maciaszek JW, Rock KL. Both dendritic cells and macrophages can stimulate naive CD8 T cells in vivo to proliferate, develop effector function, and differentiate into memory cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(4):2071–81. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.175.4.2071
- Harris MG, Hulseberg P, Ling C, Karman J, Clarkson BD, Harding JS, et al. Immune privilege of the CNS is not the consequence of limited antigen sampling. *Sci Rep* (2014) 4:4422. doi:10.1038/srep04422
- Walter L, Albert ML. Cutting edge: cross-presented intracranial antigen primes CD8+ T cells. J Immunol (2007) 178(10):6038–42. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.178.10.6038
- Okamoto Y, Yamashita J, Hasegawa M, Fujisawa H, Yamashima T, Hashimoto T, et al. Cervical lymph nodes play the role of regional lymph nodes in brain tumour immunity in rats. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (1999) 25(2):113–22. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2990.1999.00165.x

- Fischer HG, Reichmann G. Brain dendritic cells and macrophages/microglia in central nervous system inflammation. *J Immunol* (2001) 166(4):2717–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.4.2717
- Melief CJ. Cancer immunotherapy by dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2008) 29(3):372–83. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.08.004
- Hildner K, Edelson BT, Purtha WE, Diamond M, Matsushita H, Kohyama M, et al. Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. *Science* (2008) **322**(5904):1097–100. doi:10.1126/ science.1164206
- Thompson ED, Enriquez HL, Fu YX, Engelhard VH. Tumor masses support naive T cell infiltration, activation, and differentiation into effectors. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(8):1791–804. doi:10.1084/jem.20092454
- Cserr HF, Harling-Berg CJ, Knopf PM. Drainage of brain extracellular fluid into blood and deep cervical lymph and its immunological significance. *Brain Pathol* (1992) 2(4):269–76. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.1992.tb00703.x
- Laman JD, Weller RO. Drainage of cells and soluble antigen from the CNS to regional lymph nodes. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol (2013) 8(4):840–56. doi:10.1007/s11481-013-9470-8
- 24. Galea I, Bechmann I, Perry VH. What is immune privilege (not)? *Trends Immunol* (2007) **28**(1):12–8. doi:10.1016/j.it.2006.11.004
- Karman J, Ling C, Sandor M, Fabry Z. Initiation of immune responses in brain is promoted by local dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(4):2353–61. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.173.4.2353
- Hatterer E, Davoust N, Didier-Bazes M, Vuaillat C, Malcus C, Belin MF, et al. How to drain without lymphatics? Dendritic cells migrate from the cerebrospinal fluid to the B-cell follicles of cervical lymph nodes. *Blood* (2006) 107(2):806–12. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-01-0154
- Weller RO, Djuanda E, Yow HY, Carare RO. Lymphatic drainage of the brain and the pathophysiology of neurological disease. *Acta Neuropathol* (2009) 117(1):1–14. doi:10.1007/s00401-008-0457-0
- Alvarez D, Vollmann EH, von Andrian UH. Mechanisms and consequences of dendritic cell migration. *Immunity* (2008) 29(3):325–42. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2008.08.006
- Allan RS, Waithman J, Bedoui S, Jones CM, Villadangos JA, Zhan Y, et al. Migratory dendritic cells transfer antigen to a lymph node-resident dendritic cell population for efficient CTL priming. *Immunity* (2006) 25(1):153–62. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.04.017
- GeurtsvanKessel CH, Willart MA, van Rijt LS, Muskens F, Kool M, Baas C, et al. Clearance of influenza virus from the lung depends on migratory langerin+CD11b- but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2008) 205(7):1621-34. doi:10.1084/jem.20071365
- McDonnell AM, Currie AJ, Brown M, Kania K, Wylie B, Cleaver A, et al. Tumor cells, rather than dendritic cells, deliver antigen to the lymph node for cross-presentation. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 1(6):840–6. doi:10.4161/onci.20493
- Wagner S, Czub S, Greif M, Vince GH, Suss N, Kerkau S, et al. Microglial/macrophage expression of interleukin 10 in human glioblastomas. *Int J Cancer* (1999) 82(1): 12–6. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19990702)82:1<12::AID-IJC3>3.0.CO;2-O
- Sato T, McCue P, Masuoka K, Salwen S, Lattime EC, Mastrangelo MJ, et al. Interleukin 10 production by human melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (1996) 2(8):1383–90.
- Smith DR, Kunkel SL, Burdick MD, Wilke CA, Orringer MB, Whyte RI, et al. Production of interleukin-10 by human bronchogenic carcinoma. *Am J Pathol* (1994) 145(1):18–25.
- Bolpetti A, Silva JS, Villa LL, Lepique AP. Interleukin-10 production by tumor infiltrating macrophages plays a role in human papillomavirus 16 tumor growth. BMC Immunol (2010) 11:27. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-11-27
- Hishii M, Nitta T, Ishida H, Ebato M, Kurosu A, Yagita H, et al. Human glioma-derived interleukin-10 inhibits antitumor immune responses in vitro. *Neurosurgery* (1995) 37(6):1160–6. doi:10.1097/00006123-199512000-00016
- Van Meir EG. Cytokines and tumors of the central nervous system. *Glia* (1995) 15(3):264–88. doi:10.1002/glia.440150308
- Book AA, Fielding KE, Kundu N, Wilson MA, Fulton AM, Laterra J. IL-10 gene transfer to intracranial 9L glioma: tumor inhibition and cooperation with IL-2. *J Neuroimmunol* (1998) 92(1–2):50–9. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(98)00172-6
- De Vleeschouwer S, Spencer Lopes I, Ceuppens JL, Van Gool SW. Persistent IL-10 production is required for glioma growth suppressive activity by Th1directed effector cells after stimulation with tumor lysate-loaded dendritic cells. *J Neurooncol* (2007) 84(2):131–40. doi:10.1007/s11060-007-9362-y

- Sato T, Terai M, Tamura Y, Alexeev V, Mastrangelo MJ, Selvan SR. Interleukin 10 in the tumor microenvironment: a target for anticancer immunotherapy. *Immunol Res* (2011) 51(2–3):170–82. doi:10.1007/s12026-011-8262-6
- Huang S, Ullrich SE, Bar-Eli M. Regulation of tumor growth and metastasis by interleukin-10: the melanoma experience. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (1999) 19(7):697–703. doi:10.1089/107999099313532
- Mocellin S, Marincola FM, Young HA. Interleukin-10 and the immune response against cancer: a counterpoint. *J Leukoc Biol* (2005) 78(5):1043–51. doi:10.1189/ jlb.0705358
- Berg DJ, Davidson N, Kuhn R, Muller W, Menon S, Holland G, et al. Enterocolitis and colon cancer in interleukin-10-deficient mice are associated with aberrant cytokine production and CD4(+) TH1-like responses. J Clin Invest (1996) 98(4):1010–20. doi:10.1172/JCI118861
- Neven B, Mamessier E, Bruneau J, Kaltenbach S, Kotlarz D, Suarez F, et al. A Mendelian predisposition to B-cell lymphoma caused by IL-10R deficiency. *Blood* (2013) 122(23):3713–22. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-06-508267
- Begue B, Verdier J, Rieux-Laucat F, Goulet O, Morali A, Canioni D, et al. Defective IL10 signaling defining a subgroup of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2011) **106**(8):1544–55. doi:10.1038/ajg.2011.112
- Horst HA, Scheithauer BW, Kelly PJ, Kovach JS. Distribution of transforming growth factor-beta 1 in human astrocytomas. *Hum Pathol* (1992) 23(11):1284–8. doi:10.1016/0046-8177(92)90297-G
- Yamada N, Kato M, Yamashita H, Nister M, Miyazono K, Heldin CH, et al. Enhanced expression of transforming growth factor-beta and its type-I and type-II receptors in human glioblastoma. *Int J Cancer* (1995) 62(4):386–92. doi:10.1002/ijc.2910620405
- Samuels V, Barrett JM, Bockman S, Pantazis CG, Allen MB Jr. Immunocytochemical study of transforming growth factor expression in benign and malignant gliomas. *Am J Pathol* (1989) 134(4):894–902.
- Colombo MP, Piconese S. Regulatory-T-cell inhibition versus depletion: the right choice in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2007) 7(11):880–7. doi:10.1038/nrc2250
- Derynck R, Akhurst RJ, Balmain A. TGF-beta signaling in tumor suppression and cancer progression. *Nat Genet* (2001) 29(2):117–29. doi:10.1038/ng1001-117
- 51. Lee C. Mysteries of TGF-  $\beta$  paradox in benign and malignant cells. Front Oncol (2014) 4:94. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00094
- Kaminska B. TGF beta signaling and its role in glioma pathogenesis. In: J Baranska, editor. Glioma Signaling. Springer (2012). p. 1–233.
- Pen A, Moreno MJ, Durocher Y, Deb-Rinker P, Stanimirovic DB. Glioblastomasecreted factors induce IGFBP7 and angiogenesis by modulating Smad-2dependent TGF-beta signaling. *Oncogene* (2008) 27(54):6834–44. doi:10.1038/ onc.2008.287
- Anido J, Saez-Borderias A, Gonzalez-Junca A, Rodon L, Folch G, Carmona MA, et al. TGF-beta receptor inhibitors target the CD44(high)/Id1(high) glioma-initiating cell population in human glioblastoma. *Cancer Cell* (2010) 18(6):655–68. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2010.10.023
- Jennings MT, Pietenpol JA. The role of transforming growth factor beta in glioma progression. J Neurooncol (1998) 36(2):123–40. doi:10.1023/A:1005863419880
- Wick W, Platten M, Weller M. Glioma cell invasion: regulation of metalloproteinase activity by TGF-beta. J Neurooncol (2001) 53(2):177–85. doi:10.102 3/A:1012209518843
- Massagué J. TGFβ in cancer. Cell (2008) 134(2):215–30. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2008.07.001
- Bierie B, Moses HL. Tumour microenvironment: TGFβ: the molecular Jekyll and Hyde of cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2006) 6(7):506–20. doi:10.1038/nrc1926
- Connolly EC, Freimuth J, Akhurst RJ. Complexities of TGF-beta targeted cancer therapy. Int J Biol Sci (2012) 8(7):964–78. doi:10.7150/ijbs.4564
- Wainwright DA, Balyasnikova IV, Chang AL, Ahmed AU, Moon KS, Auffinger B, et al. IDO expression in brain tumors increases the recruitment of regulatory T cells and negatively impacts survival. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(22):6110–21. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2130
- Mitsuka K, Kawataki T, Satoh E, Asahara T, Horikoshi T, Kinouchi H. Expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and correlation with pathological malignancy in gliomas. *Neurosurgery* (2013) 72(6):1031–8. doi:10.1227/NEU.0b013e31828cf945
- Theate I, van Baren N, Pilotte L, Moulin P, Larrieu P, Renauld JC, et al. Extensive profiling of the expression of the indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 protein in normal and tumoral human tissues. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2015) 3(2):161–72. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0137

- Baban B, Chandler PR, Sharma MD, Pihkala J, Koni PA, Munn DH, et al. IDO activates regulatory T cells and blocks their conversion into Th17-like T cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(4):2475–83. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900986
- Sharma MD, Baban B, Chandler P, Hou DY, Singh N, Yagita H, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells from mouse tumor-draining lymph nodes directly activate mature Tregs via indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. J Clin Invest (2007) 117(9):2570–82. doi:10.1172/JCI31911
- Munn DH, Sharma MD, Hou D, Baban B, Lee JR, Antonia SJ, et al. Expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase by plasmacytoid dendritic cells in tumor-draining lymph nodes. J Clin Invest (2004) 114(2):280–90. doi:10.1172/JCI200421583
- Belladonna ML, Puccetti P, Orabona C, Fallarino F, Vacca C, Volpi C, et al. Immunosuppression via tryptophan catabolism: the role of kynurenine pathway enzymes. *Transplantation* (2007) 84(1 Suppl):S17–20. doi:10.1097/01. tp.0000269199.16209.22
- Hwu P, Du MX, Lapointe R, Do M, Taylor MW, Young HA. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase production by human dendritic cells results in the inhibition of T cell proliferation. *J Immunol* (2000) 164(7):3596–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.7.3596
- Castro MG, Baker GJ, Lowenstein PR. Blocking immunosuppressive checkpoints for glioma therapy: the more the merrier! *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20(20):5147–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0820
- Wainwright DA, Sengupta S, Han Y, Lesniak MS. Thymus-derived rather than tumor-induced regulatory T cells predominate in brain tumors. *Neuro Oncol* (2011) 13(12):1308–23. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nor134
- Waight JD, Takai S, Marelli B, Qin G, Hance KW, Zhang D, et al. Cutting edge: epigenetic regulation of Foxp3 defines a stable population of CD4+ regulatory T cells in tumors from mice and humans. *J Immunol* (2015) **194**(3):878–82. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1500367
- Jordan JT, Sun W, Hussain SF, DeAngulo G, Prabhu SS, Heimberger AB. Preferential migration of regulatory T cells mediated by glioma-secreted chemokines can be blocked with chemotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2007) 57(1):123–31. doi:10.1007/s00262-007-0336-x
- Crane CA, Ahn BJ, Han SJ, Parsa AT. Soluble factors secreted by glioblastoma cell lines facilitate recruitment, survival, and expansion of regulatory T cells: implications for immunotherapy. *Neuro Oncol* (2012) 14(5):584–95. doi:10.1093/ neuonc/nos014
- Jacobs JFM, Idema AJ, Bol KF, Grotenhuis JA, de Vries IJM, Wesseling P, et al. Prognostic significance and mechanism of Treg infiltration in human brain tumors. *J Neuroimmunol* (2010) 225(1–2):195–9. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.05.020
- Desbaillets I, Tada M, de Tribolet N, Diserens AC, Hamou MF, Van Meir EG. Human astrocytomas and glioblastomas express monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) in vivo and in vitro. *Int J Cancer* (1994) 58(2):240–7. doi:10.1002/ijc.2910580216
- Vasco C, Canazza A, Rizzo A, Mossa A, Corsini E, Silvani A, et al. Circulating T regulatory cells migration and phenotype in glioblastoma patients: an in vitro study. J Neurooncol (2013) 115(3):353–63. doi:10.1007/s11060-013-1236-x
- Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. *Nat Med* (2004) 10(9):942–9. doi:10.1038/nm1093
- 77. Gobert M, Treilleux I, Bendriss-Vermare N, Bachelot T, Goddard-Leon S, Arfi V, et al. Regulatory T cells recruited through CCL22/CCR4 are selectively activated in lymphoid infiltrates surrounding primary breast tumors and lead to an adverse clinical outcome. *Cancer Res* (2009) **69**(5):2000–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-08-2360
- Miller AM, Lundberg K, Ozenci V, Banham AH, Hellstrom M, Egevad L, et al. CD4+CD25high T cells are enriched in the tumor and peripheral blood of prostate cancer patients. *J Immunol* (2006) 177(10):7398–405. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.177.10.7398
- Mizukami Y, Kono K, Kawaguchi Y, Akaike H, Kamimura K, Sugai H, et al. CCL17 and CCL22 chemokines within tumor microenvironment are related to accumulation of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in gastric cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2008) 122(10):2286–93. doi:10.1002/ijc.23392
- Maruyama T, Kono K, Izawa S, Mizukami Y, Kawaguchi Y, Mimura K, et al. CCL17 and CCL22 chemokines within tumor microenvironment are related to infiltration of regulatory T cells in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Dis Esophagus* (2010) 23(5):422–9. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2050.2009.01029.x
- Ishida T. Specific recruitment of CC chemokine receptor 4-positive regulatory T cells in Hodgkin lymphoma fosters immune privilege. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(11):5716–22. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-0261

- Schlecker E, Stojanovic A, Eisen C, Quack C, Falk CS, Umansky V, et al. Tumor-infiltrating monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells mediate CCR5dependent recruitment of regulatory T cells favoring tumor growth. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(12):5602–11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201018
- Tan MC, Goedegebuure PS, Belt BA, Flaherty B, Sankpal N, Gillanders WE, et al. Disruption of CCR5-dependent homing of regulatory T cells inhibits tumor growth in a murine model of pancreatic cancer. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(3):1746–55. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.182.3.1746
- Lawson LJ, Perry VH, Dri P, Gordon S. Heterogeneity in the distribution and morphology of microglia in the normal adult mouse brain. *Neuroscience* (1990) 39(1):151–70. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(90)90229-W
- Perry VH, Gordon S. Macrophages and the nervous system. Int Rev Cytol (1991) 125:203–44.
- Parney IF, Waldron JS, Parsa AT. Flow cytometry and in vitro analysis of human glioma-associated macrophages. J Neurosurg (2009) 110(3):572–82. doi:10.3171/2008.7.JNS08475
- Glass R, Synowitz M. CNS macrophages and peripheral myeloid cells in brain tumours. *Acta Neuropathol* (2014) 128(3):347-62. doi:10.1007/ s00401-014-1274-2
- Dannenmann SR, Thielicke J, Stockli M, Matter C, von Boehmer L, Cecconi V, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages subvert T-cell function and correlate with reduced survival in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2(3):e23562. doi:10.4161/onci.23562
- Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12(4):253–68. doi:10.1038/nri3175
- Rodrigues JC, Gonzalez GC, Zhang L, Ibrahim G, Kelly JJ, Gustafson MP, et al. Normal human monocytes exposed to glioma cells acquire myeloid-derived suppressor cell-like properties. *Neuro Oncol* (2010) 12(4):351–65. doi:10.1093/ neuonc/nop023
- Saijo K, Glass CK. Microglial cell origin and phenotypes in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) 11(11):775–87. doi:10.1038/nri3086
- Galdiero MR, Bonavita E, Barajon I, Garlanda C, Mantovani A, Jaillon S. Tumor associated macrophages and neutrophils in cancer. *Immunobiology* (2013) 218(11):1402–10. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2013.06.003
- Biswas SK. A distinct and unique transcriptional program expressed by tumorassociated macrophages (defective NF-B and enhanced IRF-3/STAT1 activation). *Blood* (2006) 107(5):2112–22. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-01-0428
- Magnus T, Schreiner B, Korn T, Jack C, Guo H, Antel J, et al. Microglial expression of the B7 family member B7 homolog 1 confers strong immune inhibition: implications for immune responses and autoimmunity in the CNS. J Neurosci (2005) 25(10):2537–46. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4794-04.2005
- Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumorassociated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. Nat Med (2002) 8(8):793–800. doi:10.1038/nm0902-1039c
- Rao JS. Molecular mechanisms of glioma invasiveness: the role of proteases. Nat Rev Cancer (2003) 3(7):489–501. doi:10.1038/nrc1121
- Coniglio SJ, Eugenin E, Dobrenis K, Stanley ER, West BL, Symons MH, et al. Microglial stimulation of glioblastoma invasion involves epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and colony stimulating factor 1 receptor (CSF-1R) signaling. *Mol Med* (2012) 18:519–27. doi:10.2119/molmed.2011.00217
- Tsai JC, Goldman CK, Gillespie GY. Vascular endothelial growth factor in human glioma cell lines: induced secretion by EGF, PDGF-BB, and bFGF. J Neurosurg (1995) 82(5):864–73. doi:10.3171/jns.1995.82.5.0864
- Mantovani A, Sozzani S, Locati M, Allavena P, Sica A. Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. *Trends Immunol* (2002) 23(11):549–55. doi:10.1016/ S1471-4906(02)02302-5
- Solito S, Marigo I, Pinton L, Damuzzo V, Mandruzzato S, Bronte V. Myeloidderived suppressor cell heterogeneity in human cancers. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2014) 1319(1):47–65. doi:10.1111/nyas.12469
- Parsa AT, Waldron JS, Panner A, Crane CA, Parney IF, Barry JJ, et al. Loss of tumor suppressor PTEN function increases B7-H1 expression and immunoresistance in glioma. *Nat Med* (2006) 13(1):84–8. doi:10.1038/nm1517
- Berghoff AS, Kiesel B, Widhalm G, Wohrer A, Dieckmann K, Filipits M, et al. Analysis of PD1 and PD-L1 expression in glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol* (2014) 16(Suppl 2):ii12. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nou174.43
- 103. Bloch O, Crane CA, Kaur R, Safaee M, Rutkowski MJ, Parsa AT. Gliomas promote immunosuppression through induction of B7-H1 expression in tumor-associated

macrophages. Clin Cancer Res (2013) **19**(12):3165–75. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-12-3314

- 104. Liu Y, Carlsson R, Ambjorn M, Hasan M, Badn W, Darabi A, et al. PD-L1 expression by neurons nearby tumors indicates better prognosis in glioblastoma patients. *J Neurosci* (2013) 33(35):14231–45. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.5812-12.2013
- 105. Thompson RH, Gillett MD, Cheville JC, Lohse CM, Dong H, Webster WS, et al. Costimulatory B7-H1 in renal cell carcinoma patients: indicator of tumor aggressiveness and potential therapeutic target. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(49):17174–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0406351101
- 106. Thompson RH, Gillett MD, Cheville JC, Lohse CM, Dong H, Webster WS, et al. Costimulatory molecule B7-H1 in primary and metastatic clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer* (2005) **104**(10):2084–91. doi:10.1002/cncr.21470
- 107. Mu CY, Huang JA, Chen Y, Chen C, Zhang XG. High expression of PD-L1 in lung cancer may contribute to poor prognosis and tumor cells immune escape through suppressing tumor infiltrating dendritic cells maturation. *Med Oncol* (2011) 28(3):682–8. doi:10.1007/s12032-010-9515-2
- 108. Konishi J, Yamazaki K, Azuma M, Kinoshita I, Dosaka-Akita H, Nishimura M. B7-H1 expression on non-small cell lung cancer cells and its relationship with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and their PD-1 expression. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10(15):5094–100. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0428
- 109. Muenst S, Schaerli AR, Gao F, Daster S, Trella E, Droeser RA, et al. Expression of programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1) is associated with poor prognosis in human breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2014) 146(1):15–24. doi:10.1007/ s10549-014-2988-5
- 110. Lyford-Pike S, Peng S, Young GD, Taube JM, Westra WH, Akpeng B, et al. Evidence for a role of the PD-1:PD-L1 pathway in immune resistance of HPV-associated head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(6):1733–41. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2384
- 111. Kuang DM, Zhao Q, Peng C, Xu J, Zhang JP, Wu C, et al. Activated monocytes in peritumoral stroma of hepatocellular carcinoma foster immune privilege and disease progression through PD-L1. *J Exp Med* (2009) **206**(6):1327–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20082173
- 112. Reynoso ED, Elpek KG, Francisco L, Bronson R, Bellemare-Pelletier A, Sharpe AH, et al. Intestinal tolerance is converted to autoimmune enteritis upon PD-1 ligand blockade. J Immunol (2009) 182(4):2102–12. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0802769
- 113. Wang G, Zhang S, Wang F, Li G, Zhang L, Luan X. Expression and biological function of programmed death ligands in human placenta mesenchymal stem cells. *Cell Biol Int* (2013) 37(2):137–48. doi:10.1002/cbin.10024
- Ascierto PA, Simeone E, Sznol M, Fu YX, Melero I. Clinical experiences with anti-CD137 and anti-PD1 therapeutic antibodies. *Semin Oncol* (2010) 37(5):508–16. doi:10.1053/j.seminoncol.2010.09.008
- 115. Ghebeh H, Mohammed S, Al-Omair A, Qattan A, Lehe C, Al-Qudaihi G, et al. The B7-H1 (PD-L1) T lymphocyte-inhibitory molecule is expressed in breast cancer patients with infiltrating ductal carcinoma: correlation with important high-risk prognostic factors. *Neoplasia* (2006) 8(3):190–8. doi:10.1593/neo.05733
- 116. Crane CA, Panner A, Murray JC, Wilson SP, Xu H, Chen L, et al. PI(3) kinase is associated with a mechanism of immunoresistance in breast and prostate cancer. *Oncogene* (2009) 28(2):306–12. doi:10.1038/onc.2008.384
- 117. Liu J, Hamrouni A, Wolowiec D, Coiteux V, Kuliczkowski K, Hetuin D, et al. Plasma cells from multiple myeloma patients express B7-H1 (PD-L1) and increase expression after stimulation with IFN-{gamma} and TLR ligands via a MyD88-, TRAF6-, and MEK-dependent pathway. *Blood* (2007) **110**(1):296–304. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-10-051482
- 118. Wintterle S, Schreiner B, Mitsdoerffer M, Schneider D, Chen L, Meyermann R, et al. Expression of the B7-related molecule B7-H1 by glioma cells: a potential mechanism of immune paralysis. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(21):7462–7.
- 119. Wei B, Wang L, Zhao X, Du C, Guo Y, Sun Z. The upregulation of programmed death 1 on peripheral blood T cells of glioma is correlated with disease progression. *Tumour Biol* (2014) 35(4):2923–9. doi:10.1007/s13277-013-1376-9
- 120. Ohaegbulam KC, Assal A, Lazar-Molnar E, Yao Y, Zang X. Human cancer immunotherapy with antibodies to the PD-1 and PD-L1 pathway. *Trends Mol Med* (2015) 21(1):24–33. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2014.10.009
- Zitvogel I, Kroemer G. Targeting PD-1/PD-L1 interactions for cancer immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology (2012) 1(8):1223–5. doi:10.4161/onci.21335
- Forrester JV, Xu H, Lambe T, Cornall R. Immune privilege or privileged immunity? *Mucosal Immunol* (2008) 1(5):372–81. doi:10.1038/mi.2008.27

- 123. Gorbachev AV, Kobayashi H, Kudo D, Tannenbaum CS, Finke JH, Shu S, et al. CXC chemokine ligand 9/monokine induced by IFN-gamma production by tumor cells is critical for T cell-mediated suppression of cutaneous tumors. J Immunol (2007) 178(4):2278–86. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.4.2278
- Klein RS, Izikson L, Means T, Gibson HD, Lin E, Sobel RA, et al. IFN-inducible protein 10/CXC chemokine ligand 10-independent induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2004) **172**(1):550–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.172.1.550
- 125. Calzascia T, Masson F, Di Berardino-Besson W, Contassot E, Wilmotte R, Aurrand-Lions M, et al. Homing phenotypes of tumor-specific CD8 T cells are predetermined at the tumor site by crosspresenting APCs. *Immunity* (2005) 22(2):175–84. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.12.008
- Konnecke H, Bechmann I. The role of microglia and matrix metalloproteinases involvement in neuroinflammation and gliomas. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2013) 2013:914104. doi:10.1155/2013/914104
- Bechmann I, Galea I, Perry VH. What is the blood-brain barrier (not)? *Trends Immunol* (2007) 28(1):5–11. doi:10.1016/j.it.2006.11.007
- Reid DM, Perry VH, Andersson PB, Gordon S. Mitosis and apoptosis of microglia in vivo induced by an anti-CR3 antibody which crosses the blood-brain barrier. *Neuroscience* (1993) 56(3):529–33. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(93)90353-H
- Ohtsuki S, Terasaki T. Contribution of carrier-mediated transport systems to the blood-brain barrier as a supporting and protecting interface for the brain; importance for CNS drug discovery and development. *Pharm Res* (2007) 24(9):1745–58. doi:10.1007/s11095-007-9374-5
- Tamai I, Tsuji A. Transporter-mediated permeation of drugs across the bloodbrain barrier. J Pharm Sci (2000) 89(11):1371–88. doi:10.1002/1520-6017 (200011)89:11<1371::AID-JPS1>3.0.CO;2-D
- Roopenian DC, Akilesh S. FcRn: the neonatal Fc receptor comes of age. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7(9):715–25. doi:10.1038/nri2155
- Ward ES, Ober RJ. Chapter 4: multitasking by exploitation of intracellular transport functions the many faces of FcRn. *Adv Immunol* (2009) 103:77–115. doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(09)03004-1
- 133. Lampson LA. Monoclonal antibodies in neuro-oncology: getting past the bloodbrain barrier. *MAbs* (2011) **3**(2):153–60. doi:10.4161/mabs.3.2.14239
- 134. Cserr HF, Knopf PM. Cervical lymphatics, the blood-brain barrier and the immunoreactivity of the brain: a new view. *Immunol Today* (1992) **13**(12):507–12. doi:10.1016/0167-5699(92)90027-5
- Weller RO, Kida S, Zhang ET. Pathways of fluid drainage from the brain morphological aspects and immunological significance in rat and man. *Brain Pathol* (1992) 2(4):277–84. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.1992.tb00704.x
- Engelhardt B, Ransohoff RM. Capture, crawl, cross: the T cell code to breach the blood-brain barriers. *Trends Immunol* (2012) 33(12):579–89. doi:10.1016/j. it.2012.07.004
- Owens T, Bechmann I, Engelhardt B. Perivascular spaces and the two steps to neuroinflammation. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol (2008) 67(12):1113–21. doi:10.1097/NEN.0b013e31818f9ca8
- 138. Bechmann I, Mor G, Nilsen J, Eliza M, Nitsch R, Naftolin F. FasL (CD95L, Apo1L) is expressed in the normal rat and human brain: evidence for the existence of an immunological brain barrier. *Glia* (1999) 27(1):62–74. doi:10.1002/(SICI) 1098-1136(199907)27:1<62::AID-GLIA7>3.0.CO;2-S
- Pender MP, Nguyen KB, McCombe PA, Kerr JF. Apoptosis in the nervous system in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J Neurol Sci* (1991) **104**(1):81–7. doi:10.1016/0022-510X(91)90219-W
- 140. Lee SH, Shin MS, Park WS, Kim SY, Dong SM, Lee HK, et al. Immunohistochemical analysis of Fas ligand expression in normal human tissues. *APMIS* (1999) 107(11):1013–9. doi:10.1111/j.1699-0463.1999.tb01504.x
- 141. Xerri L, Devilard E, Hassoun J, Mawas C, Birg F. Fas ligand is not only expressed in immune privileged human organs but is also coexpressed with Fas in various epithelial tissues. *Mol Pathol* (1997) 50(2):87–91. doi:10.1136/mp.50.2.87
- French LE, Tschopp J. Constitutive Fas ligand expression in several non-lymphoid mouse tissues: implications for immune-protection and cell turnover. *Behring Inst Mitt* (1996) (97):156–60.
- Rossi M, Young JW. Human dendritic cells: potent antigen-presenting cells at the crossroads of innate and adaptive immunity. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(3):1373–81. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.3.1373
- Neefjes J, Jongsma ML, Paul P, Bakke O. Towards a systems understanding of MHC class I and MHC class II antigen presentation. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) 11(12):823–36. doi:10.1038/nri3084

- Joffre OP, Segura E, Savina A, Amigorena S. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2012) 12(8):557–69. doi:10.1038/nri3254
- McDonnell AM, Robinson BWS, Currie AJ. Tumor antigen cross-presentation and the dendritic cell: where it all begins? *Clin Dev Immunol* (2010) **2010**(3):1–9. doi:10.1155/2010/539519
- 147. Xu LW, Chow KK, Lim M, Li G. Current vaccine trials in glioblastoma: a review. J Immunol Res (2014) 2014:796856. doi:10.1155/2014/796856
- 148. Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med (2010) 363(5):411–22. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1001294
- Badie B, Bartley B, Schartner J. Differential expression of MHC class II and B7 costimulatory molecules by microglia in rodent gliomas. *J Neuroimmunol* (2002) 133(1–2):39–45. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(02)00350-8
- 150. Tran CT, Wolz P, Egensperger R, Kosel S, Imai Y, Bise K, et al. Differential expression of MHC class II molecules by microglia and neoplastic astroglia: relevance for the escape of astrocytoma cells from immune surveillance. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (1998) 24(4):293–301. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2990.1998.00120.x
- 151. Kjellman C, Olofsson SP, Hansson O, Von Schantz T, Lindvall M, Nilsson I, et al. Expression of TGF-beta isoforms, TGF-beta receptors, and SMAD molecules at different stages of human glioma. *Int J Cancer* (2000) **89**(3):251–8. doi:10.1002/1097-0215(20000520)89:3<251::AID-IJC7>3.0.CO;2-5
- Prados MD, Levin V. Biology and treatment of malignant glioma. Semin Oncol (2000) 27(3 Suppl 6):1–10.
- Schartner JM, Hagar AR, Van Handel M, Zhang L, Nadkarni N, Badie B. Impaired capacity for upregulation of MHC class II in tumor-associated microglia. *Glia* (2005) 51(4):279–85. doi:10.1002/glia.20201
- Kostianovsky AM, Maier LM, Anderson RC, Bruce JN, Anderson DE. Astrocytic regulation of human monocytic/microglial activation. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(8):5425–32. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.8.5425
- Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O'Garra A. Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. Annu Rev Immunol (2001) 19:683–765. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.19.1.683
- Randolph GJ, Jakubzick C, Qu C. Antigen presentation by monocytes and monocyte-derived cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2008) 20(1):52–60. doi:10.1016/j. coi.2007.10.010
- 157. Mack CL, Vanderlugt-Castaneda CL, Neville KL, Miller SD. Microglia are activated to become competent antigen presenting and effector cells in the inflammatory environment of the *Theiler's virus* model of multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2003) 144(1–2):68–79. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2003.08.032
- Hussain SF, Yang D, Suki D, Aldape K, Grimm E, Heimberger AB. The role of human glioma-infiltrating microglia/macrophages in mediating antitumor immune responses. *Neuro Oncol* (2006) 8(3):261–79. doi:10.1215/15228517-2006-008
- Wei J, Gabrusiewicz K, Heimberger A. The controversial role of microglia in malignant gliomas. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2013) 2013(4):1–12. doi:10.1155/2013/285246
- 160. Candolfi M, Curtin JF, Yagiz K, Assi H, Wibowo MK, Alzadeh GE, et al. B cells are critical to T-cell-mediated antitumor immunity induced by a combined immune-stimulatory/conditionally cytotoxic therapy for glioblastoma. *Neoplasia* (2011) 13(10):947–60. doi:10.1593/neo.11024
- 161. Pieper C, Marek JJ, Unterberg M, Schwerdtle T, Galla HJ. Brain capillary pericytes contribute to the immune defense in response to cytokines or LPS in vitro. *Brain Res* (2014) 1550:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2014.01.004
- Bose A, Barik S, Banerjee S, Ghosh T, Mallick A, Bhattacharyya Majumdar S, et al. Tumor-derived vascular pericytes anergize Th cells. *J Immunol* (2013) 191(2):971–81. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300280
- 163. Kundig TM, Shahinian A, Kawai K, Mittrucker HW, Sebzda E, Bachmann MF, et al. Duration of TCR stimulation determines costimulatory requirement of T cells. *Immunity* (1996) 5(1):41–52. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80308-8
- Masson F, Calzascia T, Di Berardino-Besson W, de Tribolet N, Dietrich PY, Walker PR. Brain microenvironment promotes the final functional maturation of tumor-specific effector CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(2):845–53. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.2.845
- 165. El-Asady R, Yuan R, Liu K, Wang D, Gress RE, Lucas PJ, et al. TGF-{beta}dependent CD103 expression by CD8(+) T cells promotes selective destruction of the host intestinal epithelium during graft-versus-host disease. *J Exp Med* (2005) 201(10):1647–57. doi:10.1084/jem.20041044
- 166. Bosma BM, Metselaar HJ, Mancham S, Boor PP, Kusters JG, Kazemier G, et al. Characterization of human liver dendritic cells in liver grafts and perfusates. *Liver Transpl* (2006) 12(3):384–93. doi:10.1002/lt.20659

- John R, Nelson PJ. Dendritic cells in the kidney. J Am Soc Nephrol (2007) 18(10):2628–35. doi:10.1681/ASN.2007030273
- Ballesteros-Tato A, Leon B, Lund FE, Randall TD. Temporal changes in dendritic cell subsets, cross-priming and costimulation via CD70 control CD8(+) T cell responses to influenza. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(3):216–24. doi:10.1038/ni.1838
- 169. Bedoui S, Whitney PG, Waithman J, Eidsmo L, Wakim L, Caminschi I, et al. Cross-presentation of viral and self antigens by skin-derived CD103+ dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) **10**(5):488–95. doi:10.1038/ni.1724
- 170. del Rio ML, Rodriguez-Barbosa JI, Kremmer E, Forster R. CD103– and CD103+ bronchial lymph node dendritic cells are specialized in presenting and cross-presenting innocuous antigen to CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**(11):6861–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.11.6861
- Akbari O, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT. Pulmonary dendritic cells producing IL-10 mediate tolerance induced by respiratory exposure to antigen. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2(8):725–31. doi:10.1038/90667
- 172. Belz GT, Smith CM, Kleinert L, Reading P, Brooks A, Shortman K, et al. Distinct migrating and nonmigrating dendritic cell populations are involved in MHC class I-restricted antigen presentation after lung infection with virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) **101**(23):8670–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0402644101
- 173. Chung Y, Chang JH, Kim BS, Lee JM, Kim HY, Kang CY. Anatomic location defines antigen presentation by dendritic cells to T cells in response to intravenous soluble antigens. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37(6):1453–62. doi:10.1002/eji.200636544
- Wojas K, Tabarkiewicz J, Jankiewicz M, Rolinski J. Dendritic cells in peripheral blood of patients with breast and lung cancer – a pilot study. *Folia Histochem Cytobiol* (2004) 42(1):45–8.
- 175. Ahmadi T, Flies A, Efebera Y, Sherr DH. CD40 Ligand-activated, antigen-specific B cells are comparable to mature dendritic cells in presenting protein antigens and major histocompatibility complex class I- and class II-binding peptides. *Immunology* (2008) **124**(1):129–40. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02749.x
- 176. Ren H, Zhao S, Li W, Dong H, Zhou M, Cao M, et al. Therapeutic antitumor efficacy of B cells loaded with tumor-derived autophagasomes vaccine (DRibbles). *J Immunother* (2014) **37**(8):383–93. doi:10.1097/CJI.00000000000051
- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC. Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2003) 21:685–711. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141040
- Villadangos JA, Schnorrer P. Intrinsic and cooperative antigen-presenting functions of dendritic-cell subsets in vivo. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2007) 7(7):543–55. doi:10.1038/nri2103
- Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, et al. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2000) 18:767–811. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.18.1.767
- Gerner MY, Casey KA, Mescher MF. Defective MHC class II presentation by dendritic cells limits CD4 T cell help for antitumor CD8 T cell responses. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(1):155–64. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.1.155
- Gerner MY, Mescher MF. Antigen processing and MHC-II presentation by dermal and tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(5):2726–37. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803479
- Ishida T, Oyama T, Carbone DP, Gabrilovich DI. Defective function of Langerhans cells in tumor-bearing animals is the result of defective maturation from hemopoietic progenitors. *J Immunol* (1998) 161(9):4842–51.
- Preynat-Seauve O, Contassot E, Schuler P, French LE, Huard B. Melanomainfiltrating dendritic cells induce protective antitumor responses mediated by T cells. *Melanoma Res* (2007) 17(3):169–76. doi:10.1097/CMR.0b013e3281844531
- 184. Villablanca EJ, Raccosta L, Zhou D, Fontana R, Maggioni D, Negro A, et al. Tumor-mediated liver X receptor-alpha activation inhibits CC chemokine receptor-7 expression on dendritic cells and dampens antitumor responses. *Nat Med* (2010) 16(1):98–105. doi:10.1038/nm.2074
- Dennis KL, Blatner NR, Gounari F, Khazaie K. Current status of interleukin-10 and regulatory T-cells in cancer. *Curr Opin Oncol* (2013) 25(6):637–45. doi:10.1097/CCO.0000000000006
- Mapara MY, Sykes M. Tolerance and cancer: mechanisms of tumor evasion and strategies for breaking tolerance. *J Clin Oncol* (2004) 22(6):1136–51. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2004.10.041
- Marincola FM, Jaffee EM, Hicklin DJ, Ferrone S. Escape of human solid tumors from T-cell recognition: molecular mechanisms and functional significance. Adv Immunol (2000) 74:181–273. doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(08)60911-6
- Fiorentino DF, Zlotnik A, Mosmann TR, Howard M, O'Garra A. IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages. J Immunol (1991) 147(11):3815–22.

- Croker BA, Krebs DL, Zhang JG, Wormald S, Willson TA, Stanley EG, et al. SOCS3 negatively regulates IL-6 signaling in vivo. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(6):540–5. doi:10.1038/ni931
- Murray PJ. The primary mechanism of the IL-10-regulated antiinflammatory response is to selectively inhibit transcription. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) 102(24):8686–91. doi:10.1073/pnas.0500419102
- Lang R, Patel D, Morris JJ, Rutschman RL, Murray PJ. Shaping gene expression in activated and resting primary macrophages by IL-10. *J Immunol* (2002) 169(5):2253–63. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.5.2253
- Ishido S, Goto E, Matsuki Y, Ohmura-Hoshino M. E3 ubiquitin ligases for MHC molecules. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2009) 21(1):78–83. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2009.01.002
- 193. Thibodeau J, Bourgeois-Daigneault MC, Huppe G, Tremblay J, Aumont A, Houde M, et al. Interleukin-10-induced MARCH1 mediates intracellular sequestration of MHC class II in monocytes. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38(5):1225–30. doi:10.1002/eji.200737902
- 194. Murai M, Turovskaya O, Kim G, Madan R, Karp CL, Cheroutre H, et al. Interleukin 10 acts on regulatory T cells to maintain expression of the transcription factor Foxp3 and suppressive function in mice with colitis. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(11):1178–84. doi:10.1038/ni.1791
- 195. Maynard CL, Harrington LE, Janowski KM, Oliver JR, Zindl CL, Rudensky AY, et al. Regulatory T cells expressing interleukin 10 develop from Foxp3+ and Foxp3- precursor cells in the absence of interleukin 10. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(9):931–41. doi:10.1038/ni1504
- 196. Vieira P, de Waal-Malefyt R, Dang MN, Johnson KE, Kastelein R, Fiorentino DF, et al. Isolation and expression of human cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor cDNA clones: homology to Epstein-Barr virus open reading frame BCRFI. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (1991) 88(4):1172–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.88.4.1172
- 197. Cai G, Kastelein RA, Hunter CA. IL-10 enhances NK cell proliferation, cytotoxicity and production of IFN-gamma when combined with IL-18. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) **29**(9):2658–65. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199909) 29:09<2658::AID-IMMU2658>3.3.CO;2-7
- MacNeil IA, Suda T, Moore KW, Mosmann TR, Zlotnik A. IL-10, a novel growth cofactor for mature and immature T cells. J Immunol (1990) 145(12):4167–73.
- 199. Suda T, O'Garra A, MacNeil I, Fischer M, Bond MW, Zlotnik A. Identification of a novel thymocyte growth-promoting factor derived from B cell lymphomas. *Cell Immunol* (1990) **129**(1):228–40. doi:10.1016/0008-8749(90)90200-B
- 200. O'Garra A, Stapleton G, Dhar V, Pearce M, Schumacher J, Rugo H, et al. Production of cytokines by mouse B cells: B lymphomas and normal B cells produce interleukin 10. *Int Immunol* (1990) 2(9):821–32. doi:10.1093/ intimm/2.9.821
- 201. Go NF, Castle BE, Barrett R, Kastelein R, Dang W, Mosmann TR, et al. Interleukin 10, a novel B cell stimulatory factor: unresponsiveness of X chromosome-linked immunodeficiency B cells. J Exp Med (1990) 172(6):1625–31. doi:10.1084/ jem.172.6.1625
- Chen WF, Zlotnik A. IL-10: a novel cytotoxic T cell differentiation factor. J Immunol (1991) 147(2):528–34.
- Kundu N, Beaty TL, Jackson MJ, Fulton AM. Antimetastatic and antitumor activities of interleukin 10 in a murine model of breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst (1996) 88(8):536–41. doi:10.1093/jnci/88.8.536
- Huettner C, Paulus W, Roggendorf W. Messenger RNA expression of the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10 in human gliomas. *Am J Pathol* (1995) 146(2):317–22.
- Wilmotte R, Burkhardt K, Kindler V, Belkouch MC, Dussex G, Tribolet N, et al. B7-homolog 1 expression byhuman glioma: a new mechanism of immune evasion. *Neuroreport* (2005) 16(10):1081–5. doi:10.1097/00001756-200507130-00010
- Huettner C, Czub S, Kerkau S, Roggendorf W, Tonn JC. Interleukin 10 is expressed in human gliomas in vivo and increases glioma cell proliferation and motility in vitro. *Anticancer Res* (1997) 17(5A):3217–24.
- 207. Wagner S, Stegen C, Bouterfa H, Huettner C, Kerkau S, Roggendorf W, et al. Expression of matrix metalloproteinases in human glioma cell lines in the presence of IL-10. *J Neurooncol* (1998) 40(2):113–22. doi:10.1023/A:1006146405880
- MacKenzie CR, Gonzalez RG, Kniep E, Roch S, Daubener W. Cytokine mediated regulation of interferon-gamma-induced IDO activation. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (1999) 467:533–9.
- 209. Pisa P, Halapi E, Pisa EK, Gerdin E, Hising C, Bucht A, et al. Selective expression of interleukin 10, interferon gamma, and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor in ovarian cancer biopsies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1992) 89(16):7708–12. doi:10.1073/pnas.89.16.7708

- 210. Venetsanakos E, Beckman I, Bradley J, Skinner JM. High incidence of interleukin 10 mRNA but not interleukin 2 mRNA detected in human breast tumours. *Br J Cancer* (1997) 75(12):1826–30. doi:10.1038/bjc.1997.311
- 211. Knoefel B, Nuske K, Steiner T, Junker K, Kosmehl H, Rebstock K, et al. Renal cell carcinomas produce IL-6, IL-10, IL-11, and TGF-beta 1 in primary cultures and modulate T lymphocyte blast transformation. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (1997) 17(2):95–102. doi:10.1089/jir.1997.17.95
- 212. Huang M, Wang J, Lee P, Sharma S, Mao JT, Meissner H, et al. Human nonsmall cell lung cancer cells express a type 2 cytokine pattern. *Cancer Res* (1995) 55(17):3847–53.
- 213. Kim J, Modlin RL, Moy RL, Dubinett SM, McHugh T, Nickoloff BJ, et al. IL-10 production in cutaneous basal and squamous cell carcinomas. A mechanism for evading the local T cell immune response. *J Immunol* (1995) 155(4):2240–7.
- 214. Yue FY, Dummer R, Geertsen R, Hofbauer G, Laine E, Manolio S, et al. Interleukin-10 is a growth factor for human melanoma cells and downregulates HLA class-I, HLA class-II and ICAM-1 molecules. *Int J Cancer* (1997) 71(4):630–7. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19970516)71:4<630::AID-IJC20> 3.0.CO;2-E
- 215. Zheng LM, Ojcius DM, Garaud F, Roth C, Maxwell E, Li Z, et al. Interleukin-10 inhibits tumor metastasis through an NK cell-dependent mechanism. *J Exp Med* (1996) 184(2):579–84. doi:10.1084/jem.184.2.579
- Sunderkotter C, Steinbrink K, Goebeler M, Bhardwaj R, Sorg C. Macrophages and angiogenesis. J Leukoc Biol (1994) 55(3):410–22.
- Oft M. IL-10: master switch from tumor-promoting inflammation to antitumor immunity. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2(3):194–9. doi:10.1158/2326-6066. CIR-13-0214
- Glocker EO, Kotlarz D, Boztug K, Gertz EM, Schaffer AA, Noyan F, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease and mutations affecting the interleukin-10 receptor. *N Engl J Med* (2009) 361(21):2033–45. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0907206
- Mumm JB, Emmerich J, Zhang X, Chan I, Wu L, Mauze S, et al. IL-10 elicits IFNgamma-dependent tumor immune surveillance. *Cancer Cell* (2011) 20(6):781–96. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.11.003
- Akhurst RJ, Hata A. Targeting the TGFbeta signalling pathway in disease. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2012) 11(10):790–811. doi:10.1038/nrd3810
- 221. Levy L, Hill C. Alterations in components of the TGF-β superfamily signaling pathways in human cancer. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2006) 17(1–2):41–58. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2005.09.009
- 222. Brooks WH, Netsky MG, Normansell DE, Horwitz DA. Depressed cell-mediated immunity in patients with primary intracranial tumors. Characterization of a humoral immunosuppressive factor. J Exp Med (1972) 136(6):1631–47. doi:10.1084/jem.136.6.1631
- 223. Zagzag D, Salnikow K, Chiriboga L, Yee H, Lan L, Ali MA, et al. Downregulation of major histocompatibility complex antigens in invading glioma cells: stealth invasion of the brain. *Lab Invest* (2005) 85(3):328–41. doi:10.1038/ labinvest.3700233
- 224. Friese MA, Wischhusen J, Wick W, Weiler M, Eisele G, Steinle A, et al. RNA interference targeting transforming growth factor-beta enhances NKG2D-mediated antiglioma immune response, inhibits glioma cell migration and invasiveness, and abrogates tumorigenicity in vivo. *Cancer Res* (2004) **64**(20):7596–603. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1627
- 225. Thomas DA, Massagué J. TGF- $\beta$  directly targets cytotoxic T cell functions during tumor evasion of immune surveillance. *Cancer Cell* (2005) **8**(5):369–80. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2005.10.012
- 226. Tran TT, Uhl M, Ma JY, Janssen L, Sriram V, Aulwurm S, et al. Inhibiting TGF-beta signaling restores immune surveillance in the SMA-560 glioma model. *Neuro Oncol* (2007) 9(3):259–70. doi:10.1215/15228517-2007-010
- 227. Zhang M, Kleber S, Rohrich M, Timke C, Han N, Tuettenberg J, et al. Blockade of TGF-signaling by the TGF R-I kinase inhibitor LY2109761 enhances radiation response and prolongs survival in glioblastoma. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(23):7155–67. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1212
- 228. Schlingensiepen KH, Schlingensiepen R, Steinbrecher A, Hau P, Bogdahn U, Fischer-Blass B, et al. Targeted tumor therapy with the TGF-beta 2 antisense compound AP 12009. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2006) 17(1–2):129–39. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2005.09.002
- 229. Hau P, Jachimczak P, Schlingensiepen R, Schulmeyer F, Jauch T, Steinbrecher A, et al. Inhibition of TGF-beta2 with AP 12009 in recurrent malignant gliomas: from preclinical to phase I/II studies. *Oligonucleotides* (2007) **17**(2):201–12. doi:10.1089/oli.2006.0053

- 230. Bogdahn U, Hau P, Stockhammer G, Venkataramana NK, Mahapatra AK, Suri A, et al. Targeted therapy for high-grade glioma with the TGF-beta2 inhibitor trabedersen: results of a randomized and controlled phase IIb study. *Neuro Oncol* (2011) 13(1):132–42. doi:10.1093/neuonc/noq142
- 231. Wick W, Weller M. Trabedersen to target transforming growth factor-beta: when the journey is not the reward, in reference to Bogdahn (Neuro-Oncology 2011;13:132-142). *Neuro Oncol* (2011) **13**(5):559–60. doi:10.1093/neuonc/ nor046
- 232. Rodon J, Carducci MA, Sepulveda-Sanchez JM, Azaro A, Calvo E, Seoane J, et al. First-in-human dose study of the novel transforming growth factor-beta receptor I kinase inhibitor LY2157299 monohydrate in patients with advanced cancer and glioma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21(3):553–60. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-14-1380
- 233. Maier A, Peille AL, Vuaroqueaux V, Lahn M. Anti-tumor activity of the TGF-beta receptor kinase inhibitor galunisertib (LY2157299 monohydrate) in patientderived tumor xenografts. *Cell Oncol (Dordr)* (2015) 38(2):131–44. doi:10.1007/ s13402-014-0210-8
- 234. Kovacs RJ, Maldonado G, Azaro A, Fernandez MS, Romero FL, Sepulveda-Sanchez JM, et al. Cardiac Safety of TGF-beta receptor I kinase inhibitor LY2157299 monohydrate in cancer patients in a first-in-human dose study. *Cardiovasc Toxicol* (2014). doi:10.1007/s12012-014-9297-4
- 235. Gueorguieva I, Cleverly AL, Stauber A, Sada Pillay N, Rodon JA, Miles CP, et al. Defining a therapeutic window for the novel TGF-beta inhibitor LY2157299 monohydrate based on a pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic model. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* (2014) 77(5):796–807. doi:10.1111/bcp.12256
- 236. Coffey RJ Jr, Bascom CC, Sipes NJ, Graves-Deal R, Weissman BE, Moses HL. Selective inhibition of growth-related gene expression in murine keratinocytes by transforming growth factor beta. *Mol Cell Biol* (1988) 8(8):3088–93.
- Laiho M, DeCaprio JA, Ludlow JW, Livingston DM, Massague J. Growth inhibition by TGF-beta linked to suppression of retinoblastoma protein phosphorylation. *Cell* (1990) 62(1):175–85. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(90)90251-9
- Moses HL, Yang EY, Pietenpol JA. TGF-beta stimulation and inhibition of cell proliferation: new mechanistic insights. *Cell* (1990) 63(2):245–7. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(90)90155-8
- Markowitz S, Wang J, Myeroff L, Parsons R, Sun L, Lutterbaugh J, et al. Inactivation of the type II TGF-beta receptor in colon cancer cells with microsatellite instability. *Science* (1995) 268(5215):1336–8. doi:10.1126/science.7761852
- Myeroff LL, Parsons R, Kim SJ, Hedrick L, Cho KR, Orth K, et al. A transforming growth factor beta receptor type II gene mutation common in colon and gastric but rare in endometrial cancers with microsatellite instability. *Cancer Res* (1995) 55(23):5545–7.
- 241. Lu SL, Zhang WC, Akiyama Y, Nomizu T, Yuasa Y. Genomic structure of the transforming growth factor beta type II receptor gene and its mutations in hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancers. *Cancer Res* (1996) 56(20):4595–8.
- 242. Lu SL, Akiyama Y, Nagasaki H, Nomizu T, Ikeda E, Baba S, et al. Loss or somatic mutations of hMSH2 occur in hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancers with hMSH2 germline mutations. *Jpn J Cancer Res* (1996) 87(3):279–87. doi:10.111 1/j.1349-7006.1996.tb00218.x
- 243. Engle SJ, Hoying JB, Boivin GP, Ormsby I, Gartside PS, Doetschman T. Transforming growth factor beta1 suppresses nonmetastatic colon cancer at an early stage of tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res* (1999) **59**(14):3379–86.
- Bubb VJ, Curtis LJ, Cunningham C, Dunlop MG, Carothers AD, Morris RG, et al. Microsatellite instability and the role of hMSH2 in sporadic colorectal cancer. *Oncogene* (1996) 12(12):2641–9.
- Carlin JM, Borden EC, Sondel PM, Byrne GI. Biologic-response-modifierinduced indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity in human peripheral blood mononuclear cell cultures. *J Immunol* (1987) 139(7):2414–8.
- Carlin JM, Borden EC, Sondel PM, Byrne GI. Interferon-induced indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity in human mononuclear phagocytes. *J Leukoc Biol* (1989) 45(1):29–34.
- 247. Uyttenhove C, Pilotte L, Theate I, Stroobant V, Colau D, Parmentier N, et al. Evidence for a tumoral immune resistance mechanism based on tryptophan degradation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *Nat Med* (2003) 9(10):1269–74. doi:10.1038/nm934
- Lesniak MS. Targeting Tregs in malignant brain cancer: overcoming IDO. Front Immunol (2013) 4:116. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00116
- 249. Wainwright DA, Chang AL, Dey M, Balyasnikova IV, Kim CK, Tobias A, et al. Durable therapeutic efficacy utilizing combinatorial blockade against

IDO, CTLA-4, and PD-L1 in mice with brain tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) **20**(20):5290–301. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0514

- 250. Muller AJ, DuHadaway JB, Donover PS, Sutanto-Ward E, Prendergast GC. Inhibition of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, an immunoregulatory target of the cancer suppression gene Bin1, potentiates cancer chemotherapy. *Nat Med* (2005) 11(3):312–9. doi:10.1038/nm1196
- 251. Hou DY, Muller AJ, Sharma MD, DuHadaway J, Banerjee T, Johnson M, et al. Inhibition of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in dendritic cells by stereoisomers of 1-methyl-tryptophan correlates with antitumor responses. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(2):792–801. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2925
- Huehn J, Polansky JK, Hamann A. Epigenetic control of FOXP3 expression: the key to a stable regulatory T-cell lineage? *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9(2):83–9. doi:10.1038/nri2474
- Zou W. Regulatory T cells, tumour immunity and immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6(4):295–307. doi:10.1038/nri1806
- Fujimoto S, Greene M, Sehon AH. Immunosuppressor T cells in tumor bearing host. *Immunol Commun* (1975) 4(3):201–17.
- 255. Bursuker I, North RJ. Generation and decay of the immune response to a progressive fibrosarcoma. II. Failure to demonstrate post excision immunity after the onset of T cell-mediated suppression of immunity. *J Exp Med* (1984) 159(5):1312–21. doi:10.1084/jem.159.5.1312
- deLeeuw RJ, Kost SE, Kakal JA, Nelson BH. The prognostic value of FoxP3+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in cancer: a critical review of the literature. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(11):3022–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-3216
- Adeegbe DO, Nishikawa H. Natural and induced T regulatory cells in cancer. Front Immunol (2013) 4:190. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00190
- Zheng Y, Josefowicz SZ, Kas A, Chu TT, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Genome-wide analysis of Foxp3 target genes in developing and mature regulatory T cells. *Nature* (2007) 445(7130):936–40. doi:10.1038/nature05563
- 259. Weiss JM, Bilate AM, Gobert M, Ding Y, Curotto de Lafaille MA, Parkhurst CN, et al. Neuropilin 1 is expressed on thymus-derived natural regulatory T cells, but not mucosa-generated induced Foxp3+ T reg cells. *J Exp Med* (2012) 209(10):1723–42. doi:10.1084/jem.20120914
- 260. Yadav M, Louvet C, Davini D, Gardner JM, Martinez-Llordella M, Bailey-Bucktrout S, et al. Neuropilin-1 distinguishes natural and inducible regulatory T cells among regulatory T cell subsets in vivo. *J Exp Med* (2012) **209**(10):S1–19. doi:10.1084/jem.20120822
- Gottschalk RA, Corse E, Allison JP. Expression of Helios in peripherally induced Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol (2012) 188(3):976–80. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1102964
- 262. Thornton AM, Korty PE, Tran DQ, Wohlfert EA, Murray PE, Belkaid Y, et al. Expression of Helios, an Ikaros transcription factor family member, differentiates thymic-derived from peripherally induced Foxp3+ T regulatory cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(7):3433–41. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0904028
- 263. Takahashi T, Kuniyasu Y, Toda M, Sakaguchi N, Itoh M, Iwata M, et al. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25+CD4+ naturally anergic and suppressive T cells: induction of autoimmune disease by breaking their anergic/suppressive state. *Int Immunol* (1998) 10(12):1969–80. doi:10.1093/ intimm/10.12.1969
- 264. Takahashi T, Tagami T, Yamazaki S, Uede T, Shimizu J, Sakaguchi N, et al. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells constitutively expressing cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4. *J Exp Med* (2000) **192**(2):303–10. doi:10.1084/jem.192.2.303
- 265. Shimizu J, Yamazaki S, Takahashi T, Ishida Y, Sakaguchi S. Stimulation of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells through GITR breaks immunological self-tolerance. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3(2):135–42. doi:10.1038/ni759
- Piconese S, Valzasina B, Colombo MP. OX40 triggering blocks suppression by regulatory T cells and facilitates tumor rejection. *JExp Med* (2008) 205(4):825–39. doi:10.1084/jem.20071341
- 267. Valzasina B, Guiducci C, Dislich H, Killeen N, Weinberg AD, Colombo MP. Triggering of OX40 (CD134) on CD4(+)CD25+ T cells blocks their inhibitory activity: a novel regulatory role for OX40 and its comparison with GITR. *Blood* (2005) 105(7):2845–51. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-07-2959
- Whiteside TL. What are regulatory T cells (Treg) regulating in cancer and why? Semin Cancer Biol (2012) 22(4):327–34. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2012.03.004
- 269. Wang L, Zhang B, Xu X, Zhang S, Yan X, Kong F, et al. Clinical significance of FOXP3 expression in human gliomas. *Clin Transl Oncol* (2014) 16(1):36–43. doi:10.1007/s12094-013-1037-x

- 270. Yue Q, Zhang X, Ye HX, Wang Y, Du ZG, Yao Y, et al. The prognostic value of Foxp3+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in patients with glioblastoma. *J Neurooncol* (2014) 116(2):251–9. doi:10.1007/s11060-013-1314-0
- 271. Lohr J, Ratliff T, Huppertz A, Ge Y, Dictus C, Ahmadi R, et al. Effector T-cell infiltration positively impacts survival of glioblastoma patients and is impaired by tumor-derived TGF-beta. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) **17**(13):4296–308. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2557
- 272. Heimberger AB, Abou-Ghazal M, Reina-Ortiz C, Yang DS, Sun W, Qiao W, et al. Incidence and prognostic impact of FoxP3+ regulatory T cells in human gliomas. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(16):5166–72. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0320
- 273. Thomas AA, Fisher JL, Rahme GJ, Hampton TH, Baron U, Olek S, et al. Regulatory T cells are not a strong predictor of survival for patients with glioblastoma. *Neuro* Oncol (2015) 17(6):801–9. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nou363
- 274. Zhou M, Bracci PM, McCoy LS, Hsuang G, Wiemels JL, Rice T, et al. Serum macrophage-derived chemokine/CCL22 levels are associated with glioma risk, CD4 T cell lymphopenia and survival time. *Int J Cancer* (2015) **137**(4):826–36. doi:10.1002/ijc.29441
- 275. Vulcano M, Albanesi C, Stoppacciaro A, Bagnati R, D'Amico G, Struyf S, et al. Dendritic cells as a major source of macrophage-derived chemo-kine/CCL22 in vitro and in vivo. *Eur J Immunol* (2001) **31**(3):812–22. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200103)31:3<812::AID-IMMU812>3.0.CO;2-L
- Kaminska B, Kocyk M, Kijewska M. TGF beta signaling and its role in glioma pathogenesis. Adv Exp Med Biol (2013) 986:171–87. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-4719-7\_9
- 277. Baratelli F, Lin Y, Zhu L, Yang SC, Heuzé-Vourc'h N, Zeng G, et al. Prostaglandin E2 induces FOXP3 gene expression and T regulatory cell function in human CD4+ T cells. J Immunol (2005) 175(3):1483–90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.3.1483
- Fujita M, Kohanbash G, Fellows-Mayle W, Hamilton RL, Komohara Y, Decker SA, et al. COX-2 blockade suppresses gliomagenesis by inhibiting myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Cancer Res* (2011) **71**(7):2664–74. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-10-3055
- Miyao T, Floess S, Setoguchi R, Luche H, Fehling HJ, Waldmann H, et al. Plasticity of Foxp3(+) T cells reflects promiscuous Foxp3 expression in conventional T cells but not reprogramming of regulatory T cells. *Immunity* (2012) 36(2):262–75. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.12.012
- Li Y-Q, Liu F-F, Zhang X-M, Guo X-J, Ren M-J, Fu L. Tumor secretion of CCL22 activates intratumoral Treg infiltration and is independent prognostic predictor of breast cancer. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(10):e76379. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076379
- 281. Watanabe S, Watanabe R, Oton-Leite AF, Alencar Rde C, Oliveira JC, Leles CR, et al. Analysis of cell proliferation and pattern of invasion in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *J Oral Sci* (2010) **52**(3):417–24. doi:10.2334/josnusd.52.417
- 282. Liu J, Zhang N, Li Q, Zhang W, Ke F, Leng Q, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages recruit CCR6+ regulatory T cells and promote the development of colorectal cancer via enhancing CCL20 production in mice. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(4):e19495. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019495
- Liu VC, Wong LY, Jang T, Shah AH, Park I, Yang X, et al. Tumor evasion of the immune system by converting CD4+CD25– T cells into CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells: role of tumor-derived TGF-beta. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(5):2883–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.5.2883
- Schreiber TH, Wolf D, Bodero M, Podack E. Tumor antigen specific iTreg accumulate in the tumor microenvironment and suppress therapeutic vaccination. Oncoimmunology (2012) 1(5):642–8. doi:10.4161/onci.20298
- Setiady YY, Coccia JA, Park PU. In vivo depletion of CD4+FOXP3+ Treg cells by the PC61 anti-CD25 monoclonal antibody is mediated by FcgammaRIII+ phagocytes. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(3):780–6. doi:10.1002/eji.200939613
- 286. Zhao J, Cao Y, Lei Z, Yang Z, Zhang B, Huang B. Selective depletion of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells by low-dose cyclophosphamide is explained by reduced intracellular ATP levels. *Cancer Res* (2010) **70**(12):4850–8. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0283
- Curran MA, Montalvo W, Yagita H, Allison JP. PD-1 and CTLA-4 combination blockade expands infiltrating T cells and reduces regulatory T and myeloid cells within B16 melanoma tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**(9):4275–80. doi:10.1073/pnas.0915174107
- McHugh RS, Whitters MJ, Piccirillo CA, Young DA, Shevach EM, Collins M, et al. CD4(+)CD25(+) immunoregulatory T cells: gene expression analysis reveals a functional role for the glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor. *Immunity* (2002) 16(2):311–23. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00280-7
- Cohen AD, Schaer DA, Liu C, Li Y, Hirschhorn-Cymmerman D, Kim SC, et al. Agonist anti-GITR monoclonal antibody induces melanoma tumor immunity

in mice by altering regulatory T cell stability and intra-tumor accumulation. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(5):e10436. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010436

- 290. Pere H, Montier Y, Bayry J, Quintin-Colonna F, Merillon N, Dransart E, et al. A CCR4 antagonist combined with vaccines induces antigen-specific CD8+ T cells and tumor immunity against self antigens. *Blood* (2011) 118(18):4853–62. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-329656
- 291. Bayry J, Tchilian EZ, Davies MN, Forbes EK, Draper SJ, Kaveri SV, et al. In silico identified CCR4 antagonists target regulatory T cells and exert adjuvant activity in vaccination. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) **105**(29):10221–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0803453105
- 292. Davies MN, Bayry J, Tchilian EZ, Vani J, Shaila MS, Forbes EK, et al. Toward the discovery of vaccine adjuvants: coupling in silico screening and in vitro analysis of antagonist binding to human and mouse CCR4 receptors. *PLoS One* (2009) 4(11):e8084. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008084
- 293. Salama P, Phillips M, Grieu F, Morris M, Zeps N, Joseph D, et al. Tumor-infiltrating FOXP3+ T regulatory cells show strong prognostic significance in colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol (2009) 27(2):186–92. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.18.7229
- 294. Tosolini M, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Fredriksen T, Mauger S, Bindea G, et al. Clinical impact of different classes of infiltrating T cytotoxic and helper cells (Th1, th2, treg, th17) in patients with colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(4):1263–71. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2907
- 295. Morimura T, Neuchrist C, Kitz K, Budka H, Scheiner O, Kraft D, et al. Monocyte subpopulations in human gliomas: expression of Fc and complement receptors and correlation with tumor proliferation. *Acta Neuropathol* (1990) 80(3):287–94. doi:10.1007/BF00294647
- Roggendorf W, Strupp S, Paulus W. Distribution and characterization of microglia/macrophages in human brain tumors. *Acta Neuropathol* (1996) 92(3):288–93. doi:10.1007/s004010050520
- Gordon S, Taylor PR. Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity. Nat Rev Immunol (2005) 5(12):953–64. doi:10.1038/nri1733
- Kennedy BC, Maier LM, D'Amico R, Mandigo CE, Fontana EJ, Waziri A, et al. Dynamics of central and peripheral immunomodulation in a murine glioma model. *BMC Immunol* (2009) 10:11. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-10-11
- Ginhoux F, Greter M, Leboeuf M, Nandi S, See P, Gokhan S, et al. Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages. *Science* (2010) 330(6005):841–5. doi:10.1126/science.1194637
- Butovsky O, Jedrychowski MP, Moore CS, Cialic R, Lanser AJ, Gabriely G, et al. Identification of a unique TGF-beta-dependent molecular and functional signature in microglia. *Nat Neurosci* (2014) 17(1):131–43. doi:10.1038/ nn.3599
- Gomez Perdiguero E, Schulz C, Geissmann F. Development and homeostasis of "resident" myeloid cells: the case of the microglia. *Glia* (2013) 61(1):112–20. doi:10.1002/glia.22393
- Schulz C, Gomez Perdiguero E, Chorro L, Szabo-Rogers H, Cagnard N, Kierdorf K, et al. A lineage of myeloid cells independent of Myb and hematopoietic stem cells. *Science* (2012) 336(6077):86–90. doi:10.1126/science.1219179
- 303. Goldmann T, Wieghofer P, Muller PF, Wolf Y, Varol D, Yona S, et al. A new type of microglia gene targeting shows TAK1 to be pivotal in CNS autoimmune inflammation. *Nat Neurosci* (2013) 16(11):1618–26. doi:10.1038/nn.3531
- Carvalho da Fonseca AC, Badie B. Microglia and macrophages in malignant gliomas: recent discoveries and implications for promising therapies. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2013) 2013(4):1–5. doi:10.1155/2013/264124
- 305. Badie B, Schartner JM, Paul J, Bartley BA, Vorpahl J, Preston JK. Dexamethasoneinduced abolition of the inflammatory response in an experimental glioma model: a flow cytometry study. *J Neurosurg* (2000) 93(4):634–9. doi:10.3171/ jns.2000.93.4.0634
- 306. Zhang J, Sarkar S, Cua R, Zhou Y, Hader W, Yong VW. A dialog between glioma and microglia that promotes tumor invasiveness through the CCL2/CCR2/ interleukin-6 axis. *Carcinogenesis* (2012) 33(2):312–9. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgr289
- 307. Okada M, Saio M, Kito Y, Ohe N, Yano H, Yoshimura S, et al. Tumor-associated macrophage/microglia infiltration in human gliomas is correlated with MCP-3, but not MCP-1. *Int J Oncol* (2009) 34(6):1621–7. doi:10.3892/ijo\_0000292
- Held-Feindt J, Hattermann K, Muerkoster SS, Wedderkopp H, Knerlich-Lukoschus F, Ungefroren H, et al. CX3CR1 promotes recruitment of human glioma-infiltrating microglia/macrophages (GIMs). *Exp Cell Res* (2010) 316(9):1553–66. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.02.018
- 309. Kioi M, Vogel H, Schultz G, Hoffman RM, Harsh GR, Brown JM. Inhibition of vasculogenesis, but not angiogenesis, prevents the recurrence of glioblastoma

after irradiation in mice. J Clin Invest (2010) 120(3):694–705. doi:10.1172/ JCI40283

- Badie B, Schartner J, Klaver J, Vorpahl J. In vitro modulation of microglia motility by glioma cells is mediated by hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. *Neurosurgery* (1999) 44(5):1077–82. doi:10.1097/00006123-199905000-00075
- Alterman RL, Stanley ER. Colony stimulating factor-1 expression in human glioma. Mol Chem Neuropathol (1994) 21(2–3):177–88. doi:10.1007/BF02815350
- 312. Suzuki Y, Funakoshi H, Machide M, Matsumoto K, Nakamura T. Regulation of cell migration and cytokine production by HGF-like protein (HLP)/macrophage stimulating protein (MSP) in primary microglia. *Biomed Res* (2008) 29(2):77–84. doi:10.2220/biomedres.29.77
- Badie B, Schartner J, Prabakaran S, Paul J, Vorpahl J. Expression of Fas ligand by microglia: possible role in glioma immune evasion. *J Neuroimmunol* (2001) 120(1–2):19–24. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(01)00361-7
- Walker DG, Chuah T, Rist MJ, Pender MP. T-cell apoptosis in human glioblastoma multiforme: implications for immunotherapy. J Neuroimmunol (2006) 175(1–2):59–68. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.03.006
- Zhang L, Liu W, Alizadeh D, Zhao D, Farrukh O, Lin J, et al. S100B attenuates microglia activation in gliomas: possible role of STAT3 pathway. *Glia* (2011) 59(3):486–98. doi:10.1002/glia.21118
- 316. Zhang L, Alizadeh D, Van Handel M, Kortylewski M, Yu H, Badie B. Stat3 inhibition activates tumor macrophages and abrogates glioma growth in mice. *Glia* (2009) 57(13):1458–67. doi:10.1002/glia.20863
- 317. Yu H, Pardoll D, Jove R. STATs in cancer inflammation and immunity: a leading role for STAT3. Nat Rev Cancer (2009) 9(11):798–809. doi:10.1038/nrc2734
- 318. Fujiwara Y, Komohara Y, Ikeda T, Takeya M. Corosolic acid inhibits glioblastoma cell proliferation by suppressing the activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 and nuclear factor-kappa B in tumor cells and tumor-associated macrophages. *Cancer Sci* (2011) **102**(1):206–11. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.2010.01772.x
- 319. Fujiwara Y, Komohara Y, Kudo R, Tsurushima K, Ohnishi K, Ikeda T, et al. Oleanolic acid inhibits macrophage differentiation into the M2 phenotype and glioblastoma cell proliferation by suppressing the activation of STAT3. Oncol Rep (2011) 26(6):1533–7. doi:10.3892/or.2011.1454
- Zhu X, Fujita M, Snyder LA, Okada H. Systemic delivery of neutralizing antibody targeting CCL2 for glioma therapy. J Neurooncol (2011) 104(1):83–92. doi:10.1007/s11060-010-0473-5
- 321. da Fonseca AC, Badie B. Microglia and macrophages in malignant gliomas: recent discoveries and implications for promising therapies. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2013) 2013:264124. doi:10.1155/2013/264124
- 322. Serafini P, Borrello I, Bronte V. Myeloid suppressor cells in cancer: recruitment, phenotype, properties, and mechanisms of immune suppression. Semin Cancer Biol (2006) 16(1):53–65. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2005.07.005
- Gabrilovich D. Mechanisms and functional significance of tumour-induced dendritic-cell defects. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4(12):941–52. doi:10.1038/nri1498
- Gantt S, Gervassi A, Jaspan H, Horton H. The role of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in immune ontogeny. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:387. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00387
- 325. Hildeman DA, Mitchell T, Aronow B, Wojciechowski S, Kappler J, Marrack P. Control of Bcl-2 expression by reactive oxygen species. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) **100**(25):15035–40. doi:10.1073/pnas.1936213100
- 326. Rodriguez PC, Ernstoff MS, Hernandez C, Atkins M, Zabaleta J, Sierra R, et al. Arginase I-producing myeloid-derived suppressor cells in renal cell carcinoma are a subpopulation of activated granulocytes. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(4):1553–60. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1921
- Rodriguez PC, Zea AH, Culotta KS, Zabaleta J, Ochoa JB, Ochoa AC. Regulation of T cell receptor CD3zeta chain expression by L-arginine. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(24):21123–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110675200
- Schmielau J, Finn OJ. Activated granulocytes and granulocyte-derived hydrogen peroxide are the underlying mechanism of suppression of t-cell function in advanced cancer patients. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61(12):4756–60.
- Mirghorbani M, Van Gool S, Rezaei N. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in glioma. *Expert Rev Neurother* (2013) 13(12):1395–406. doi:10.1586/14737175. 2013.857603
- Raychaudhuri B, Rayman P, Ireland J, Ko J, Rini B, Borden EC, et al. Myeloidderived suppressor cell accumulation and function in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol* (2011) 13(6):591–9. doi:10.1093/neuonc/ nor042

- 331. Gielen PR, Schulte BM, Kers-Rebel ED, Verrijp K, Petersen-Baltussen HM, Ter Laan M, et al. Increase in both CD14-positive and CD15-positive myeloid-derived suppressor cell subpopulations in the blood of patients with glioma but predominance of CD15-positive myeloid-derived suppressor cells in glioma tissue. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol (2015) 74(5):390–400. doi:10.1097/ NEN.000000000000183
- 332. Chae M, Peterson TE, Balgeman A, Chen S, Zhang L, Renner DN, et al. Increasing glioma-associated monocytes leads to increased intratumoral and systemic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in a murine model. *Neuro Oncol* (2014). 17(7):978–91. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nou343
- 333. Zhang QW, Liu L, Gong CY, Shi HS, Zeng YH, Wang XZ, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor-associated macrophages in solid tumor: a meta-analysis of the literature. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(12):e50946. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0050946
- Kurahara H, Shinchi H, Mataki Y, Maemura K, Noma H, Kubo F, et al. Significance of M2-polarized tumor-associated macrophage in pancreatic cancer. J Surg Res (2011) 167(2):e211–9. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2009.05.026
- 335. Steidl C, Lee T, Shah SP, Farinha P, Han G, Nayar T, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages and survival in classic Hodgkin's lymphoma. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 362(10):875–85. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0905680
- Marigo I, Bosio E, Solito S, Mesa C, Fernandez A, Dolcetti L, et al. Tumor-induced tolerance and immune suppression depend on the C/EBPbeta transcription factor. *Immunity* (2010) 32(6):790–802. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.05.010
- 337. Medina-Echeverz J, Fioravanti J, Zabala M, Ardaiz N, Prieto J, Berraondo P. Successful colon cancer eradication after chemoimmunotherapy is associated with profound phenotypic change of intratumoral myeloid cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(2):807–15. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001483
- 338. Kerkar SP, Goldszmid RS, Muranski P, Chinnasamy D, Yu Z, Reger RN, et al. IL-12 triggers a programmatic change in dysfunctional myeloid-derived cells within mouse tumors. J Clin Invest (2011) 121(12):4746–57. doi:10.1172/JCI58814
- 339. Thaci B, Ahmed AU, Ulasov IV, Wainwright DA, Nigam P, Auffinger B, et al. Depletion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells during interleukin-12 immunogene therapy does not confer a survival advantage in experimental malignant glioma. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2014) 21(1):38–44. doi:10.1038/cgt.2013.81
- 340. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 363(8):711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):252–64. doi:10.1038/nrc3239
- 342. Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2008) 26:677–704. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.26.021607.090331
- Carreno BM, Collins M. The B7 family of ligands and its receptors: new pathways for costimulation and inhibition of immune responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2002) 20:29–53. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.091101.091806
- Chen L. Co-inhibitory molecules of the B7-CD28 family in the control of T-cell immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2004) 4(5):336–47. doi:10.1038/nri1349
- Liang SC, Latchman YE, Buhlmann JE, Tomczak MF, Horwitz BH, Freeman GJ, et al. Regulation of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 expression during normal and autoimmune responses. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 33(10):2706–16. doi:10.1002/ eji.200324228
- 346. Rodig N, Ryan T, Allen JA, Pang H, Grabie N, Chernova T, et al. Endothelial expression of PD-L1 and PD-L2 down-regulates CD8+ T cell activation and cytolysis. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 33(11):3117–26. doi:10.1002/eji.200324270
- 347. Salama AD, Chitnis T, Imitola J, Ansari MJ, Akiba H, Tushima F, et al. Critical role of the programmed death-1 (PD-1) pathway in regulation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med (2003) 198(1):71–8. doi:10.1084/ jem.20022119
- 348. Zeng J, See AP, Phallen J, Jackson CM, Belcaid Z, Ruzevick J, et al. Anti-PD-1 blockade and stereotactic radiation produce long-term survival in mice with intracranial gliomas. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2013) 86(2):343–9. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2012.12.025
- 349. Song M, Chen D, Lu B, Wang C, Zhang J, Huang L, et al. PTEN loss increases PD-L1 protein expression and affects the correlation between PD-L1 expression and clinical parameters in colorectal cancer. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(6):e65821. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0065821
- 350. Marzec M, Zhang Q, Goradia A, Raghunath PN, Liu X, Paessler M, et al. Oncogenic kinase NPM/ALK induces through STAT3 expression of

immunosuppressive protein CD274 (PD-L1, B7-H1). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2008) 105(52):20852-7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0810958105

- 351. Fecci PE, Ochiai H, Mitchell DA, Grossi PM, Sweeney AE, Archer GE, et al. Systemic CTLA-4 blockade ameliorates glioma-induced changes to the CD4+ T cell compartment without affecting regulatory T-cell function. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(7):2158–67. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2070
- 352. Kwon ED, Foster BA, Hurwitz AA, Madias C, Allison JP, Greenberg NM, et al. Elimination of residual metastatic prostate cancer after surgery and adjunctive cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) blockade immunotherapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) **96**(26):15074–9. doi:10.1073/ pnas.96.26.15074
- Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. *Science* (1996) 271(5256):1734–6. doi:10.1126/ science.271.5256.1734
- 354. Phan GQ, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Hwu P, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity induced by cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) **100**(14):8372–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1533209100
- 355. Sutmuller RP, van Duivenvoorde LM, van Elsas A, Schumacher TN, Wildenberg ME, Allison JP, et al. Synergism of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade and depletion of CD25(+) regulatory T cells in antitumor therapy reveals alternative pathways for suppression of autoreactive cytotoxic

T lymphocyte responses. J Exp Med (2001) **194**(6):823–32. doi:10.1084/ jem.194.6.823

- Schaer DA, Murphy JT, Wolchok JD. Modulation of GITR for cancer immunotherapy. Curr Opin Immunol (2012) 24(2):217–24. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2011.12.011
- 357. Han S, Feng S, Xu L, Shi W, Wang X, Wang H, et al. Tim-3 on peripheral CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells is involved in the development of glioma. DNA Cell Biol (2014) 33(4):245–50. doi:10.1089/dna.2013.2306
- 358. Belcaid Z, Phallen JA, Zeng J, See AP, Mathios D, Gottschalk C, et al. Focal radiation therapy combined with 4-1BB activation and CTLA-4 blockade yields long-term survival and a protective antigen-specific memory response in a murine glioma model. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(7):e101764. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0101764

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Perng and Lim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Systemic Immunotherapy for the Treatment of Brain Metastases

Justine V. Cohen\* and Harriet M. Kluger

Section of Medical Oncology, Department of Medicine, Yale Cancer Center, New Haven, CT, USA

Keywords: immunotherapy, brain metastases, melanoma

# BACKGROUND

Significant progress has been made in the treatment of selected malignancies with immunemodulating antibodies. Phase III trials of anti-CTLA-4 in melanoma and anti-PD-1 in melanoma, renal cell carcinoma (RCC), and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) showed improved overall survival (OS) compared to standard therapies (1–5). As a result, immune checkpoint inhibitors are now approved for the treatment of these diseases. Blockade of CTLA-4 (ipilumimab and tremelimumab), PD-1 (nivolumab, pembrolizumab, pidilizumab and others), and PD-L1 [BMS 936559 (6), durvalimumab (7), and atezolizumabes (8–11)] can produce durable responses in patients with metastatic cancer. Clinical trials with these agents, alone and in combination, are ongoing. Moreover, additional immune checkpoint modulators are in pre-clinical and clinical development. Other approved immunotherapies include high-dose bolus interleukin-2 (IL-2), interferon alpha-2b, and Sipuleucel-T. There are limited data, however, on the impact of immunotherapy in patients with measurable metastatic disease to the brain. Registration trials of immune therapies excluded patients with active brain metastases based on a historical poor prognosis in this patient population coupled with uncertainty about the ability of the drugs to cross the blood brain barrier (BBB). These active therapies might however have benefited patients with microscopic brain deposits.

Brain metastases were historically managed with whole brain radiation therapy (WBRT) or surgical resection, depending on the size, number, histology, symptoms, and location. The availability of high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) to small, emerging lesions has improved local lesional control. These modalities allow higher doses of radiation. In many institutions, WBRT is reserved for patients with multiple or larger lesions not amenable to SRS (12, 13). These treatments are not without limitations and consequences. For example, WBRT has been associated with cognitive decline, while SRS can result in radiation necrosis, cerebral edema, and delayed tumor hemorrhage (14, 15). More often, however, focal therapies are limited in efficacy due to distant cerebral relapse and lack of treatment of microscopic tumor foci not evident on imaging. As new systemic treatments, particularly immune-modulating agents, show prolonged survival of patients with aggressive extra-cerebral disease, these drugs need to be assessed for efficacy in active brain metastases. There are a number of ongoing investigations to determine if these antibodies cross the leaky BBB found in tumors despite their size (16, 17). Alternatively, although brain metastases might contain pre-existing tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), immune modulation induced by these agents may allow cytotoxic T cells into the tumor microenvironment in the brain, resulting in antitumor immunity. Several lines of evidence suggest that T cells within the tumor microenvironment are responsible for the responses seen with these therapies (18, 19). To date, there have been no published pharmacokinetic or pharmacodynamic studies in on-treatment brain tissue to allow determination of drug penetration into the tumor, primarily due to the difficulty accruing patients to trials requiring brain biopsies, particularly from patients who are responding to therapy. Although animal studies have been done, drug distribution and T cell activation might not reflect that of humans.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Lois A. Lampson, Harvard Medical School, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Stergios Moschos, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, USA

> \*Correspondence: Justine V. Cohen justine.cohen@yale.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuro-Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 13 January 2016 Accepted: 19 February 2016 Published: 09 March 2016

#### Citation:

Cohen JV and Kluger HM (2016) Systemic Immunotherapy for the Treatment of Brain Metastases. Front. Oncol. 6:49. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00049 Metastatic melanoma is the solid tumor with the highest propensity for dissemination to the brain (20). The only chemotherapy widely used for melanoma known to definitively cross BBB is temozolamide, which induced responses in 7% of melanoma brain metastasis patients (21). Other anti-neoplastic drugs that cross the BBB include fotemustine, etoposide, cisplatin, vinblastine, and motoxantrone and can be used depending on tumor cell sensitivity (22–26). Targeted therapies such as erlotinib, afatinib, and lapatinib have also shown evidence of ability to cross the BBB (27–29).

# PRECLINICAL DATA

The ability of immune-modulating antibodies to cross the BBB and control brain metastases is the subject of ongoing investigations. In primary CNS tumors, preclinical data with immunemodulating antibodies have shown promise. In mice with SMA-650 intracranial tumors, anti-CTLA-4 was tolerated well (30). An increase in CD4+ cells and decrease in T regs prolonged survival in these animals. Similarly, PD-1 blockade combined with radiation was tested in mice with GL261 intracranial tumors and showed improved survival (31). The combination of PD-1 and CTLA-4 inhibitors similarly showed improved survival in animal models (32). These examples suggest that BBB drug penetration in tumors might be obtainable, for primary CNS tumors and for metastatic tumors, although this remains to be verified in humans with each drug and tumor type.

# **CLINICAL DATA**

High-dose IL-2 was one of the first immune-modulating agents to demonstrate activity in melanoma and RCC. There have not been any formal trials of IL-2 specifically for patients with brain metastases. A retrospective series reported a response rate in active brain metastases lower than expected for extra-cerebral disease, however without excessive toxicities (33). One of the first studies to investigate the effect of immunotherapy on brain metastases in patients with metastatic melanoma was a retrospective analysis of the phase II trial with ipilimumab, which reported 5 of 12 patients were responders (34, 35). Following this observation, a phase II trial of ipilimumab specifically for patients with brain metastases from melanoma opened (36). Results of 72 patients accrued showed prolonged OS, particularly notable in asymptomatic patients. These findings were confirmed in an expanded access protocol of ipilimumab with a 20% 1-year OS in patients with stable, asymptomatic brain metastases (37). Based on these promising results, the Italian Network for Tumor Biotherapy (NIBIT) designed a phase II trial of ipilimumab in combination with fotemustine (NIBIT-M1) with twenty asymptomatic patients with brain metastases. Stable disease or partial response was seen in 25% and another 25% had complete response in the brain (38, 39).

A follow-up randomized trial (NIBIT-M2) was subsequently initiated for patients with untreated melanoma brain metastases comparing fotemustine monotherapy, fotemustine plus ipilimumab 10 mg/kg and ipilimumab 3 mg/kg + nivolumab 10 mg/ kg (NCT02460068). Objectives include OS, safety, disease control rate (intra and extra-cerebral) objective response rate, duration of response, and progression-free survival. This study will also examine quality of life. Various groups are studying the effect of immune-modulating agents alone and in combination with other therapies for the treatment of brain metastases from melanoma. For example, ipilimumab and nivolumab or nivolumab monotherapy is being studied in a large multi-arm phase II trial (NCT02320058 and NCT02374242) and combinations of ipilimumab with various forms and schedules of radiation are being investigated (NCT01703507, NCT01950195 and NCT02097732). Results of these trials are pending.

A phase II trial of pembrolizumab for patients with metastatic melanoma or NSCLC and untreated brain metastases is ongoing. Preliminary results from this trial were presented at ASCO 2015 (NCT02085070) (40, 41). In this two-arm study, patients are eligible if they have at least 1 untreated or progressive brain metastasis (5-20 mm), not requiring steroids and are without neurological symptoms. Patients in the melanoma arm require brain metastasis biopsy or resection of metastatic brain lesion prior to starting therapy or availability of previously resected brain lesions for correlative studies. Patients in the NSCLC arm are required to have PD-L1 positive tumors. In the NSCLC arm, 11 patients were evaluable for response as of June 2015. Brain metastasis response rate was 45%, and systemic response rate was 45%. Only one patient with a systemic response had disease progression in the brain, and two patients with disease progression as their best systemic response were unevaluable in the brain due to rapid systemic progression. The duration of response in the brain was at least 12 weeks for four of five responders, and all responses were ongoing at the time of data analysis (40). In the melanoma arm, 18 patients were accrued at the time of analysis. Four patients were unevaluable due to rapid extra-cerebral progression or hemorrhage, and one was too early for response evaluation. Four patients achieved partial response, three had stable disease, and seven had disease progression (two with mixed response and one with histologically demonstrated pseudoprogression). Response in the body was largely concordant with brain response, although in some cases brain response occurred after extracerebral response. Response in the brain was ongoing at 4+, 6+, 6+, and 11+ months (41).

Studies completed to date suggest that immune checkpoint inhibitors have activity in the brain that might be similar to that of extra-cerebral sites (42). In the phase II study of ipilimumab brain metastases activity in asymptomatic patients was similar to that of patients without brain metastases with a disease control rate of 24 and 27%, respectively. The 1- and 2-year progression-free survival were 31 and 26%, respectively (36, 43). The NIBIT-M1 study described above confirmed these findings with an immunerelated disease control rate for patients with brain metastases of 50% compared with 46.5% of the entire treated population. Interim data from our phase II trial of pembrolizumab in patients with metastatic melanoma and NSCLC with untreated brain metastases showed that all responses in the melanoma arm were concordant, while three or four in the NSCLC arm were concordant (40, 41). Results suggest that immune-modulating agents may have similar durable responses in the brain as seen systemically, and support use of systemic therapy alone or in combination with focal therapy (SRS or surgery) in the treatment of brain metastases from immune therapy responsive diseases such as melanoma and lung cancer.

There are data to suggest that responses might be further improved by combining immune checkpoint inhibitors with radiation. Several studies have evaluated the combination in other disease sites (44-47). A number of mechanisms have been described explaining the combined effect; radiation upregulates inflammatory cytokines (i.e., TNFa, IFN-y, and CXCL16), promoting tumor detection and facilitating T cell infiltration (48, 49). Radiation can upregulate PD-L1 (50). The abscopal effect, in which local radiation is thought to cause a systemic response resulting in shrinkage at distant sites, further supports the use of radiation combined with immune-modulating agents (51). Knisely et al. published a series of patients with metastatic melanoma with brain metastases who achieved a median survival of 21.3 months if they received ipilimumab and SRS versus 4.9 months if they underwent SRS but did not receive ipilimumab (44). Mathew et al. looked at a similar population with 25 patients receiving both ipilimumab and SRS versus 33 patients receiving SRS alone (46). The analysis did not show a significant benefit in 6-month OS between the two groups, although this was not a randomized trial and the groups were not balanced. Lastly, Silk et al. reported improved OS in patients receiving ipilimumab and SRS (47). Exploratory analysis within the same study showed no increase in OS with the addition of ipilimumab to WBRT. The timing of administration of concurrent immune checkpoint inhibitors and radiation has not yet been determined. Kiess et al. found increased rates of progression if patients were treated with SRS before or during ipilimumab compared with those who received SRS after systemic therapy (52). Future studies will provide insight into the optimal timing for combining radiation and immune-modulating therapies, such as NCT02097732, which is investigating SRS to brain metastases before or in the middle of ipilimumab induction.

Toxicities unique to central nervous system metastases, such as vasogenic edema and tumor necrosis represent an additional challenge. Early recognition of potential symptoms is essential. One of the challenges in treating brain metastasis patients with immune therapy is management of neurological symptoms, which might be from perilesional edema, intralesional hemorrhage, necrosis most commonly seen in previously irradiated lesions, or tumor growth due to treatment failure. Examples of perilesional edema seen on FLAIR images before and on therapy in two patients receiving pembrolizumab are shown in Figure 1. Both patients responded well to transient steroids and remain on pembrolizumab with good disease control for over a year. Depending on the size and location of the brain metastasis, patients might require surgical intervention due to neurologic symptoms. Moreover, it is sometimes impossible to determine whether lesions enlarge on study due to inflammation, necrosis, or tumor growth, and current imaging modalities can be inadequate (53). Our institutional experience suggests that despite the indisputable benefit of systemic immune therapy in some tumor types, radiation necrosis occurs with greater frequency in patients treated with immunotherapy than other types of systemic therapy. We, and others, have used bevacizumab to control perilesional



FIGURE 1 | MRI FLAIR images of two patients with perilesional while receiving pembrolizumab. The top and bottom frames represent the two separate patients. Images prior to therapy are on the left and after therapy on the right.

edema and worsening radiation necrosis, with variable success, and surgical intervention or laser interstitial thermacoagulation therapy is sometimes needed although caution must be taken with histologies more prone to hemorrhage (54–59). Furthermore, the incidence of seizures from perilesional edema might be decreased with use of prophylactic anti-epileptic medications.

# FUTURE DIRECTIONS AND CONCLUSION

Use of immune therapy for non-irradiated brain metastases has shown promise in a small number of clinical trials, and requires validation in larger studies and in different tumor types. Experience to date suggests that activity of immune checkpoint inhibitors in brain metastases is similar to that of extracerebral metastases, and exclusion of patients with brain metastases from clinical investigations is no longer justified, although separate studies or separate cohorts for patients with untreated brain metastases might be required. Challenges with treating this patient population include drug-related toxicities such as perilesional edema and tumor-related confounding factors such as necrosis in previously irradiated lesions and intralesional hemorrhage, both of which might require intervention with local or systemic modalities such as surgery, radiation, anticonvulsants, steroids, or VEGF inhibitors. Efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitors might be further enhanced by combining more than one inhibitor

or with combinations with chemotherapy, targeted therapy, or radiation therapy. As the breadth of immunotherapies available for investigation and use expands, predictive biomarkers will also need to be studied and validated. This can be particularly challenging in patients with brain metastases due to the morbidity associated with biopsy; however, if concordance of response is persistently observed as newer drugs are studied in this patient population, extra-cerebral biopsies might suffice. Clinical trials

# REFERENCES

- Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, Leighl N, Balmanoukian AS, Eder JP, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med (2015) 372(21):2018–28. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1501824
- Paz-Ares L, Horn L, Borghaei H, Spigel DR, Steins M, Ready N, et al. Phase III, randomized trial (CheckMate 057) of nivolumab (NIVO) versus docetaxel (DOC) in advanced non-squamous cell (non-SQ) non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). ASCO Meeting Abstracts (2015) 33(15\_suppl):LBA109.
- Weber JS, D'Angelo SP, Minor D, Hodi FS, Gutzmer R, Neyns B, et al. Nivolumab versus chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma who progressed after anti-CTLA-4 treatment (CheckMate 037): a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2015) 16(4):375–84. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(15)70076-8
- Motzer RJ, Escudier B, McDermott DF, George S, Hammers HJ, Srinivas S, et al. Nivolumab versus everolimus in advanced renal-cell carcinoma. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 373(19):1803–13. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1510665
- McDermott D, Haanen J, Chen TT, Lorigan P, O'Day S, Investigators MDX. Efficacy and safety of ipilimumab in metastatic melanoma patients surviving more than 2 years following treatment in a phase III trial (MDX010-20). *Ann Oncol* (2013) 24(10):2694–8. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdt291
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. *N Engl* J Med (2012) 366(26):2455–65. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- Brahmer JR, Rizvi NA, Lutzky J, Khleif S, Blake-Haskins A, Li X, et al. Clinical activity and biomarkers of MEDI4736, an anti-PD-L1 antibody, in patients with NSCLC. ASCO Meeting Abstracts (2014) 32(15\_suppl):8021.
- Powles T, Eder JP, Fine GD, Braiteh FS, Loriot Y, Cruz C, et al. MPDL3280A (anti-PD-L1) treatment leads to clinical activity in metastatic bladder cancer. *Nature* (2014) 515(7528):558–62. doi:10.1038/nature13904
- Hamid O, Sosman JA, Lawrence DP, Sullivan RJ, Ibrahim N, Kluger HM, et al. Clinical activity, safety, and biomarkers of MPDL3280A, an engineered PD-L1 antibody in patients with locally advanced or metastatic melanoma (mM). ASCO Meeting Abstracts (2013) 31(15\_suppl):9010.
- Herbst RS, Soria JC, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. *Nature* (2014) 515(7528):563–7. doi:10.1038/nature14011
- Tabernero J, Powderly JD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, Fisher GA, Braiteh FS, et al. Clinical activity, safety, and biomarkers of MPDL3280A, an engineered PD-L1 antibody in patients with locally advanced or metastatic CRC, gastric cancer (GC), SCCHN, or other tumors. ASCO Meeting Abstracts (2013) 31(15\_suppl):3622.
- Staudt M, Lasithiotakis K, Leiter U, Meier F, Eigentler T, Bamberg M, et al. Determinants of survival in patients with brain metastases from cutaneous melanoma. *Br J Cancer* (2010) 102(8):1213–8. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6605622
- Mathieu D, Kondziolka D, Cooper PB, Flickinger JC, Niranjan A, Agarwala S, et al. Gamma knife radiosurgery for malignant melanoma brain metastases. *Clin Neurosurg* (2007) 54:241–7.
- Redmond AJ, Diluna ML, Hebert R, Moliterno JA, Desai R, Knisely JP, et al. Gamma knife surgery for the treatment of melanoma metastases: the effect of intratumoral hemorrhage on survival. *J Neurosurg* (2008) **109**(Suppl):99–105. doi:10.3171/JNS/2008/109/12/S16
- Brown PD, Asher AL, Ballman KV, Farace E, Cerhan JH, Anderson SK, et al. NCCTG N0574 (alliance): a phase III randomized trial of whole brain radiation therapy (WBRT) in addition to radiosurgery (SRS) in patients with 1 to 3 brain metastases. ASCO Meeting Abstracts (2015) 33(15\_suppl):LBA4.

designed specifically for this patient population addressing the effects of multi-modality therapy, particularly combinations of immune checkpoint inhibitors and radiation, are necessary for improving outcomes among individuals with brain metastases.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JC and HK wrote this article together.

- Di Giacomo AM, Margolin K. Immune checkpoint blockade in patients with melanoma metastatic to the brain. *Semin Oncol* (2015) 42(3):459–65. doi:10.1053/j.seminoncol.2015.02.006
- 17. Pestalozzi BC, Brignoli S. Trastuzumab in CSF. *J Clin Oncol* (2000) **18**(11):2349–51.
- Wilson EH, Weninger W, Hunter CA. Trafficking of immune cells in the central nervous system. J Clin Invest (2010) 120(5):1368–79. doi:10.1172/JCI41911
- Engelhardt B, Coisne C. Fluids and barriers of the CNS establish immune privilege by confining immune surveillance to a two-walled castle moat surrounding the CNS castle. *Fluids Barriers CNS* (2011) 8(1):4. doi:10.1186/2045-8118-8-4
- Flanigan JC, Jilaveanu LB, Faries M, Sznol M, Ariyan S, Yu JB, et al. Melanoma brain metastases: is it time to reassess the bias? *Curr Probl Cancer* (2011) 35(4):200–10. doi:10.1016/j.currproblcancer.2011.07.003
- Agarwala SS, Kirkwood JM, Gore M, Dreno B, Thatcher N, Czarnetski B, et al. Temozolomide for the treatment of brain metastases associated with metastatic melanoma: a phase II study. *J Clin Oncol* (2004) 22(11):2101–7. doi:10.1200/JCO.2004.11.044
- Avril MF, Aamdal S, Grob JJ, Hauschild A, Mohr P, Bonerandi JJ, et al. Fotemustine compared with dacarbazine in patients with disseminated malignant melanoma: a phase III study. J Clin Oncol (2004) 22(6):1118–25. doi:10.1200/JCO.2004.04.165
- Green RM, Stewart DJ, Hugenholtz H, Richard MT, Thibault M, Montpetit V. Human central nervous system and plasma pharmacology of mitoxantrone. *J Neurooncol* (1988) 6(1):75–83. doi:10.1007/BF00163544
- 24. Stewart DJ, Leavens M, Maor M, Feun L, Luna M, Bonura J, et al. Human central nervous system distribution of cis-diamminedichloroplatinum and use as a radiosensitizer in malignant brain tumors. *Cancer Res* (1982) **42**(6):2474–9.
- Stewart DJ, Lu K, Benjamin RS, Leavens ME, Luna M, Yap HY, et al. Concentration of vinblastine in human intracerebral tumor and other tissues. *J Neurooncol* (1983) 1(2):139–44.
- Stewart DJ, Richard MT, Hugenholtz H, Dennery JM, Belanger R, Gerin-Lajoie J, et al. Penetration of VP-16 (etoposide) into human intracerebral and extracerebral tumors. J Neurooncol (1984) 2(2):133–9.
- Bai H, Han B. The effectiveness of erlotinib against brain metastases in non-small cell lung cancer patients. *Am J Clin Oncol* (2013) 36(2):110–5. doi:10.1097/COC.0b013e3182438c91
- Hata A, Katakami N. Afatinib for erlotinib refractory brain metastases in a patient with EGFR-mutant non-small-cell lung cancer: can high-affinity TKI substitute for high-dose TKI? J Thorac Oncol (2015) 10(7):e65–6. doi:10.1097/ JTO.000000000000479
- Saleem A, Searle GE, Kenny LM, Huiban M, Kozlowski K, Waldman AD, et al. Lapatinib access into normal brain and brain metastases in patients with Her-2 overexpressing breast cancer. *EJNMMI Res* (2015) 5:30. doi:10.1186/ s13550-015-0103-5
- Fecci PE, Ochiai H, Mitchell DA, Grossi PM, Sweeney AE, Archer GE, et al. Systemic CTLA-4 blockade ameliorates glioma-induced changes to the CD4+ T cell compartment without affecting regulatory T-cell function. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(7):2158–67. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2070
- Zeng J, See AP, Phallen J, Jackson CM, Belcaid Z, Ruzevick J, et al. Anti-PD-1 blockade and stereotactic radiation produce long-term survival in mice with intracranial gliomas. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2013) 86(2):343–9. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2012.12.025
- Reardon DA, Gokhale PC, Klein SR, Ligon KL, Rodig SJ, Ramkissoon SH, et al. Glioblastoma eradication following immune checkpoint blockade in an orthotopic, immunocompetent model. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2016) 4(2):124–35. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0151

- Guirguis LM, Yang JC, White DE, Steinberg SM, Liewehr DJ, Rosenberg SA, et al. Safety and efficacy of high-dose interleukin-2 therapy in patients with brain metastases. *J Immunother* (2002) 25(1):82–7. doi:10.1097/00002371-200201000-00009
- 34. Weber JS, Amin A, Minor D, Siegel J, Berman D, O'Day SJ. Safety and clinical activity of ipilimumab in melanoma patients with brain metastases: retrospective analysis of data from a phase 2 trial. *Melanoma Res* (2011) 21(6):530–4. doi:10.1097/CMR.0b013e32834d3d88
- 35. Weber J, Thompson JA, Hamid O, Minor D, Amin A, Ron I, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase II study comparing the tolerability and efficacy of ipilimumab administered with or without prophylactic budesonide in patients with unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(17):5591–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1024
- Margolin K, Ernstoff MS, Hamid O, Lawrence D, McDermott D, Puzanov I, et al. Ipilimumab in patients with melanoma and brain metastases: an open-label, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2012) 13(5):459–65. doi:10.1016/ S1470-2045(12)70090-6
- Heller KN, Pavlick AC, Hodi FS, Thompson JA, Margolin KA, Lawrence DP, et al. Safety and survival analysis of ipilimumab therapy in patients with stable asymptomatic brain metastases. ASCO Meeting Abstracts (2011) 29(15\_suppl):8581.
- Di Giacomo AM, Ascierto PA, Pilla L, Santinami M, Ferrucci PF, Giannarelli D, et al. Ipilimumab and fotemustine in patients with advanced melanoma (NIBIT-M1): an open-label, single-arm phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2012) 13(9):879–86. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70324-8
- 39. Di Giacomo AM, Ascierto PA, Queirolo P, Pilla L, Ridolfi R, Santinami M, et al. Three-year follow-up of advanced melanoma patients who received ipilimumab plus fotemustine in the Italian network for tumor biotherapy (NIBIT)-M1 phase II study. Ann Oncol (2015) 26(4):798–803. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdu577
- Goldberg SB, Gettinger SN, Mahajan A, Herbst RS, Chiang AC, Tsiouris AJ, et al. Activity and safety of pembrolizumab in patients with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer with untreated brain metastases. ASCO Meeting Abstracts (2015) 33(15\_suppl):8035.
- Kluger HM, Goldberg SB, Sznol M, Tsiouris J, Vortmeyer A, Jilaveanu L, et al. Safety and activity of pembrolizumab in melanoma patients with untreated brain metastases. ASCO Meeting Abstracts (2015) 33(15\_suppl):9009.
- Yushak ML, Chiang VL, Kluger HM. Clinical trials in melanoma patients with brain metastases. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res* (2015) 28(6):741–3. doi:10.1111/pcmr.12401
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 363(8):711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- 44. Knisely JP, Yu JB, Flanigan J, Sznol M, Kluger HM, Chiang VL. Radiosurgery for melanoma brain metastases in the ipilimumab era and the possibility of longer survival. *J Neurosurg* (2012) **117**(2):227–33. doi:10.3171/2012.5.JNS111929
- Patel KR, Lawson DH, Kudchadkar RR, Carthon BC, Oliver DE, Okwan-Duodu D, et al. Two heads better than one? Ipilimumab immunotherapy and radiation therapy for melanoma brain metastases. *Neuro Oncol* (2015) 17(10):1312–21. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nov093
- Mathew M, Tam M, Ott PA, Pavlick AC, Rush SC, Donahue BR, et al. Ipilimumab in melanoma with limited brain metastases treated with stereotactic radiosurgery. *Melanoma Res* (2013) 23(3):191–5. doi:10.1097/ CMR.0b013e32835f3d90

- Silk AW, Bassetti MF, West BT, Tsien CI, Lao CD. Ipilimumab and radiation therapy for melanoma brain metastases. *Cancer Med* (2013) 2(6):899–906. doi:10.1002/cam4.140
- Frey B, Rubner Y, Kulzer L, Werthmoller N, Weiss EM, Fietkau R, et al. Antitumor immune responses induced by ionizing irradiation and further immune stimulation. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2014) 63(1):29–36. doi:10.1007/s00262-013-1474-y
- Lee Y, Auh SL, Wang Y, Burnette B, Wang Y, Meng Y, et al. Therapeutic effects of ablative radiation on local tumor require CD8+ T cells: changing strategies for cancer treatment. *Blood* (2009) 114(3):589–95. doi:10.1182/ blood-2009-02-206870
- Twyman-Saint Victor C, Rech AJ, Maity A, Rengan R, Pauken KE, Stelekati E, et al. Radiation and dual checkpoint blockade activate non-redundant immune mechanisms in cancer. *Nature* (2015) 520(7547):373–7. doi:10.1038/nature14292
- Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, Yamada Y, Yuan J, Kitano S, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(10):925–31. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1112824
- 52. Kiess AP, Wolchok JD, Barker CA, Postow MA, Tabar V, Huse JT, et al. Stereotactic radiosurgery for melanoma brain metastases in patients receiving ipilimumab: safety profile and efficacy of combined treatment. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2015) **92**(2):368–75. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2015.01.004
- Colaco RJ, Martin P, Kluger HM, Yu JB, Chiang VL. Does immunotherapy increase the rate of radiation necrosis after radiosurgical treatment of brain metastases? *J Neurosurg* (2015):1–7. doi:10.3171/2015.6.JNS142763
- Torres-Reveron J, Tomasiewicz HC, Shetty A, Amankulor NM, Chiang VL. Stereotactic laser induced thermotherapy (LITT): a novel treatment for brain lesions regrowing after radiosurgery. *J Neurooncol* (2013) 113(3):495–503. doi:10.1007/s11060-013-1142-2
- Socinski MA, Langer CJ, Huang JE, Kolb MM, Compton P, Wang L, et al. Safety of bevacizumab in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer and brain metastases. J Clin Oncol (2009) 27(31):5255–61. doi:10.1200/JCO.2009.22.0616
- De Braganca KC, Janjigian YY, Azzoli CG, Kris MG, Pietanza MC, Nolan CP, et al. Efficacy and safety of bevacizumab in active brain metastases from non-small cell lung cancer. *J Neurooncol* (2010) **100**(3):443–7. doi:10.1007/ s11060-010-0200-2
- 57. Zustovich F, Ferro A, Farina P. Bevacizumab as first-line therapy for patients with brain metastases from renal carcinoma: a case series. *Clin Genitourin Cancer* (2014) **12**(3):e107–10. doi:10.1016/j.clgc.2013.12.005
- Zustovich F, Ferro A, Lombardi G, Farina P, Zagonel V. Bevacizumab-based therapy for patients with brain metastases from non-small-cell lung cancer: preliminary results. *Chemotherapy* (2014) 60(5-6):294–9. doi:10.1159/000376605
- Zustovich F, Ferro A, Lombardi G, Zagonel V, Fiduccia P, Farina P. Bevacizumab as front-line treatment of brain metastases from solid tumors: a case series. *Anticancer Res* (2013) 33(9):4061–5.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The trial of Pembrolizumab in patients with brain metastases from melanoma or non-small cell lung cancer was sponsored by the Yale Cancer Center; partial financial support was provided by Merck, Sharp and Dohme.

Copyright © 2016 Cohen and Kluger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Is the concept of central nervous system immune privilege irrelevant in the setting of acute infection?

Amanda K. Huber and David N. Irani\*

Department of Neurology, University of Michigan Medical School, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

Keywords: central nervous system, infection, host immunity, viruses, bacteria

While historically viewed as an immune-privileged area fully isolated from the immune system, the central nervous system (CNS) is now appreciated to maintain dynamic bi-directional communication with the immune system across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) (1, 2). In no setting can this communication be more urgent that acute CNS infection – a dampened or delayed host response could allow an invading virus or bacterium to gain a foothold within the brain, while over-exuberant or protracted inflammation might cause substantial collateral damage to sensitive and non-renewable cells such as neurons. In this opinion piece, we compare host immunity against one prototype virus and one prototype bacterium known to cause disease either outside or within the CNS. Allowing for some variability in disease pathogenesis, and leaving aside complex issues related to chronic intrauterine or neonatal infections, we argue that antimicrobial host responses in both CNS and non-CNS tissue compartments of adult hosts who acquire these infections exhibit many more similarities than differences. In this setting, the concept of CNS immune privilege seems antiquated.

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Lois A. Lampson, Harvard Medical School, USA

> **Reviewed by:** Thomas E. Lane, University of Utah, USA

\*Correspondence: David N. Irani davidira@med.umich.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuro-Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> **Received:** 20 March 2015 **Accepted:** 13 April 2015 **Published:** 28 April 2015

#### Citation:

Huber AK and Irani DN (2015) Is the concept of central nervous system immune privilege irrelevant in the setting of acute infection? Front. Oncol. 5:99. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00099

# Immune Surveillance of the Normal CNS and Mobilization of Host Responses During Acute CNS Infection

It is now accepted that there is a need for constant immune surveillance of the adult CNS as part of normal host defense, acknowledging that simultaneous mechanisms must keep local CNS inflammation strongly in check (1). Indeed, blockade of normal lymphocyte homing through the CNS can occasionally trigger local virus recrudescence (3), and low numbers of lymphocytes and antigen-presenting dendritic cells (DC) are found in perivascular spaces of the normal brain (4). For infectious particles that unexpectedly gain access to the CNS, some pathogen clearance occurs via bulk flow along paravenous routes by means of a process that depends on astrocytic water channels (4). This so-called "glymphatic system" of the brain ultimately carries antigenic material toward a specific group of large-caliber veins that drain to deep cervical lymph nodes (CLN) (5, 6). The CLN are increasingly appreciated as an important site where antigen-specific immune responses bound for the CNS are generated (7). Blood-borne pathogens, on the other hand, are mostly carried to the spleen where adaptive immunity occurs. Immune cells then migrate back to the CNS under the influence of chemokine gradients induced by infection, and bind and traverse the BBB via the actions of specific adhesion receptors and degradative enzymes.

# Infections in the Periphery or the CNS Caused by the Same Pathogen – How Much do Host Responses Differ?

*Streptococcus pneumoniae* is an important pathogen because it is the main cause of both community-acquired pneumonia and meningitis induced by a bacterial pathogen in otherwise healthy older

TABLE 1 | Pathogenesis and host responses elicited during a prototype bacterial (*Streptococcus pneumoniae*) or viral (lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus) infection of adult hosts when localized in either the periphery or the CNS [data adapted from Ref. (10–15)]<sup>a</sup>.

	Streptococcus pneumoniae		Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus	
	Pneumonia	Meningitis	Visceral infection (liver, spleen)	Meningitis
Natural routes of infection (humans)	Inhalation Local spread from nasopharyngeal colonization	Inhalation Local spread from an infected sinus or inner ear	Inhalation Direct contact with infected rodents Direct inoculation via infected solid organ transplant	Inhalation Direct contact with infected rodents Direct inoculation via infected solid organ transplant
Experimental routes of infection (mice)	Intranasal	Intranasal Intracisternal	Intravenous Intraperitoneal	Intracranial
Innate immune receptors activated	TLR2, TLR4, TLR9, NOD2, NRLP3	Unknown	TLR2, PKR, RLR, TLR7, MDA5	TLR2, CXCR3
Early innate immune mediators induced	IL-1β, TNF-α, IL-6	IL-1β, TNF-α, IL-6	IFN-α/β, TNF-α, IL-6, IL-10, CCL2, CCL5, CXCL10	IFN-α/β, CCL2, CCL3, CCL5, CXCL10
Site of main adaptive immune priming	Hilar/mediastinal lymph nodes Spleen	Cervical lymph nodes Spleen	Spleen Mesenteric lymph nodes	Spleen Cervical lymph nodes
Principal effector cells activated and mobilized	Neutrophils Monocytes Dendritic cells Lymphocytes	Neutrophils Monocytes Dendritic cells Lymphocytes	CD8+ CTL NK cells Dendritic cells	CD8+ CTL Monocytes
Time to mobilize immune cells to target tissue	Hours	Hours	Hours-days	Hours-days
Soluble immune mediators involved in pathogen containment and/or clearance	IL-1β, TNF-α, NO, complement C1, IL-10	TNF-α, ROS, NO	IFN-α/β	IFN-α/β, CXCL10, IFN-γ
Mechanisms of pathogen clearance	Phagocytosis Neutrophil oxidative burst Complement activation	Phagocytosis Neutrophil oxidative burst Complement activation	Virus-specific CTL	Virus-specific CTL
Other relevant immune features	Disease severity and complications higher in asplenic individuals (humans) IĸB and IL-10 polymorphisms raise susceptibility (humans)	Intracranial complications more common in asplenic individuals (humans)	Vicerotropic viral strains may cause chronic infection and immunosuppression via CTL exhaustion (mice)	No evidence of chronic CNS infection (humans)
Potential for target tissue immunopathology (humans)	Moderate (10% overall mortality)	High (75% develop intracranial complications, 25% mortality)	Low (healthy adults) High (immunocompromised organ transplant recipients)	Low (healthy adults) High (immunocompromised organ transplant recipients)
Potential for target tissue immunopathology (Mice)	High (most models cause lethal disease with extensive lung damage)	High	Moderate (adult mice)	High (adult mice infected with naturally occurring Armstrong strain)
Effectors of target tissue immunopathology	Lipocalin-2, NO, malondialdehyde, IL-1β, TNF-α	IFN-γ, TNF-α, glutamate, NO, ROS, caspase-9/3, myeloperoxidase	Virus-specific CTL, perforin	Virus-specific CTL, perforin
Role of immunotherapy in improved disease outcome	No proven role to date (humans) IVIG, MALP-2, and pneumococcal P4 peptide all improve survival (mice)	Corticosteroids of limited benefit to prevent hearing loss (humans) Inhibitors of caspases, ROS, IDO, kynurenine pathway improve cognitive outcomes (mice)	No proven role to date (humans)	No proven role to date (humans) Virus-specific CTL plus virus-specific CD4+ T cells can clear persistent infection following adoptive transfer (mice)

<sup>a</sup> Includes studies where peripheral and CNS responses were not directly compared, and therefore differences may reflect how the individual studies were conducted and what parameters were examined.

CCL, C–C motif ligand; CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocyte; CXCL, C–X–C motif ligand; CXCR, C–X–C motif receptor; IDO, indolearnine 2,3-dioxygenase; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; IVIG, intravenous immune globulin; MALP, macrophage-activating lipopeptide; MDA, melanoma differentiation-associated protein; NO, nitric oxide; NOD, nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein; NRLP, NOD-like receptor family, pyrin domain-containing; PKR, protein kinase R; RLR, RIG-I-like receptor; ROS, reactive oxygen species; TLR, ToII-like receptor; TNF, tumor necrosis factor.

Revising concepts in CNS immune privilege

children and adults. Much has also been learned about host immune responses elicited by pneumococcal pneumonia or meningitis using mouse models (8, 9). These infections develop in both mice and humans following pathogen inhalation and subsequent local tissue invasion (**Table 1**). Tissue-resident innate immune pathways are activated and host immunity is mobilized within hours. Outcome is determined over days to a few weeks. Morbidity and mortality, even in previously healthy hosts, is substantial, as many of the same mediators that have antibacterial activities also cause direct cellular damage (proteins, membrane lipids, DNA). Current polyvalent vaccines are effective in preventing both forms of invasive disease.

Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) is an arenavirus to which both mice and humans are susceptible and that causes varying combinations of visceral (hepatitis, pancreatitis, myocarditis) and/or CNS (meningitis, encephalitis) involvement in adult hosts. Murine LCMV infection has served as a prototype experimental system to study immunity to viruses for many years (10). This pathogen gets inhaled or directly inoculated into susceptible murine and human recipients (Table 1). Both innate and adaptive immune pathways are mobilized and disease can last several weeks. Healthy adults generally recover reasonably well, although the disease is more fulminant in immunocompromised hosts. In mice, the same virus-specific cytotoxic T cell (CTL) response that clears virus from infected tissues also causes tissue immunopathology. For acute CNS infection (choriomeningitis) in the setting of impaired CTL activity, survival is the trade-off for poor viral clearance.

# References

- Huber AK, Duncker PC, Irani DN. Immune responses to non-tumor antigens in the central nervous system. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:328. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014. 00328
- Banks WA. The blood-brain barrier in neuroimmunology: tales of separation and assimilation. *Brain Behav Immun* (2014) 44:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbi. 2014.08.007
- Jelcic I, Jelcic I, Faigle W, Sospedra W, Martin R. Immunology of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. J Neurovirol (2015). doi:10.1007/ s13365-014-0294-y
- Ransohoff RA, Engelhardt B. The anatomical and cellular basis of immune surveillance in the central nervous system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12(9):623–35. doi:10.1038/nri3265
- 5. Illiff JJ, Nedergaard M. Is there a cerebral lymphatic system? *Stroke* (2013) 44(Suppl 1):S93–5. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.678698
- Cserr HF, Harling-Berg CJ, Knopf PM. Drainage of brain extracellular fluid into blood and deep cervical lymph and its immunological significance. *Brain Pathol* (1992) 2:269–76. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.1992.tb00703.x
- Mohammad MG, Tsai VW, Ruitenberg MJ, Hassanpour M, Li H, Hart PH, et al. Immune cell trafficking from the brain maintains CNS immune tolerance. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124(3):1228–41. doi:10.1172/JCI71544
- Warszawska JM, Gawish R, Sharif O, Sigel S, Doninger B, Lakovits K, et al. Lipocalin 2 deactivates macrophages and worsens pneumococcal pneumonia outcomes. J Clin Invest (2013) 123(3):3363–72. doi:10.1172/JCI67911
- Too LK, Ball HJ, McGregor IS, Hunt NH. The pro-inflammatory cytokine interferon-gamma is an important driver of neuropathology and behavioral sequelae in experimental pneumococcal meningitis. *Brain Behav Immun* (2014) 40:252–68. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2014.02.020

The host responses provoked by these two naturally occurring pathogens are used here to compare how the immune system recognizes and responds to the same challenge in the periphery and the CNS (**Table 1**). The availability of mouse models for both pathogens that can be manipulated to cause infection either outside or within the CNS allows for the identification of immune determinants that directly influence disease outcome. It seems notable that many more similarities than differences in host immune recognition is delayed or immune responses dampened for those infections localized primarily to the CNS compartment. Outcome differences for infections occurring at the two sites are likely driven by mechanisms independent of the host response.

## Conclusion

Both the afferent and efferent arms of the immune system are efficiently activated in the context of either pneumococcal or LCMV infection, and the kinetics, magnitude, and composition of immune responses elicited in adult hosts appear remarkably similar when either a visceral organ or the CNS is the main target of disease (**Table 1**). Acute CNS infections generally result in less favorable outcomes than those localized to the periphery, but this is more likely explained by the exquisite sensitivity of the brain to cellular damage rather than any delayed immune recognition behind the BBB. This comparison leads us to suggest that the concept of CNS immune privilege in the adult host seems somewhat obsolete in the setting of acute CNS infection.

- Zhou X, Ramachandran S, Mann M, Popkin DL. Role of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) in understanding viral immunology: past, present and future. Viruses (2012) 4(11):2650–69. doi:10.3390/v4112650
- Kastenbauer S, Pfister HW. Pneumococcal meningitis in adults: spectrum of complications and prognostic factors in a series of 87 cases. *Brain* (2003) 126(Pt 5):1015–25. doi:10.1093/brain/awg113
- Calbo E, Garau J. Of mice and men: innate immunity in pneumococcal pneumonia. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* (2010) 35:107–13. doi:10.1016/j.ijantimicag. 2009.10.002
- Barichello T, Collodel A, Generoso JS, Simoes LR, Moreira AP, Ceretta RA, et al. Targets for adjunctive therapy in pneumococcal meningitis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2015) 278:262–70. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014.11.015
- Kang SS, McGavern DB. Lymphocytic choriomeningitis infection of the central nervous system. Front Biosci (2008) 13:4529–43. doi:10.2741/3021
- Thomsen AR. Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus-induced central nervous system disease: a model for studying the role of chemokines in regulating the acute antiviral CD8+ T cell response in an immune privileged organ. J Virol (2009) 83(1):20-8. doi:10.1128/JVI.00682-08

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Huber and Irani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Immune responses to non-tumor antigens in the central nervous system

## Amanda K. Huber, Patrick C. Duncker and David N. Irani\*

Department of Neurology, University of Michigan Medical School, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

#### Edited by:

Lois A. Lampson, Harvard Medical School, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Thomas E. Lane, University of Utah, USA Cornelia Bergmann, Cleveland Clinic, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

David N. Irani, Department of Neurology, University of Michigan Medical School, 109 Zina Pitcher Place, 4007 Biomedical Sciences Research Building, Ann Arbor, MI 48109-2200, USA e-mail: davidira@med.umich.edu The central nervous system (CNS), once viewed as an immune-privileged site protected by the blood–brain barrier (BBB), is now known to be a dynamic immunological environment through which immune cells migrate to prevent and respond to events such as localized infection. During these responses, endogenous glial cells, including astrocytes and microglia, become highly reactive and may secrete inflammatory mediators that regulate BBB permeability and recruit additional circulating immune cells. Here, we discuss the various roles played by astrocytes, microglia, and infiltrating immune cells during host immunity to non-tumor antigens in the CNS, focusing first on bacterial and viral infections, and then turning to responses directed against self-antigens in the setting of CNS autoimmunity.

Keywords: neuroimmunology, non-tumor antigens, glial cells, CNS autoimmunity, blood-brain barrier, CNS infections

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The central nervous system (CNS) was previously viewed as an immune-privileged area, fully isolated from the immune system by the blood-brain barrier (BBB). In early studies, Ehrlich reported that while various organs were strongly stained following intravenous, intra-arterial, or subcutaneous injection of intravital dyes, the brain was only weakly stained or not at all (1). Other studies found that tissue grafts were not rejected when implanted into the brains of test animals (2), leading to the idea that the CNS was fully "immune-privileged." This viewpoint had to be altered, however, after it was discovered that a graft within the CNS could be rejected if a second graft was placed subcutaneously into the same animal (3). This finding clearly demonstrated that foreign antigens are recognized in the CNS if peripheral priming occurs (3). It is now accepted that the BBB is a dynamic, interactive, and regulatory tissue interface that allows bi-directional communication between the CNS and the immune system (4, 5).

The BBB, formed by complex interactions between capillary endothelial cells (ECs), astrocyte end-feet, pericytes, and microglia (6, 7), is the largest and most stringent barrier that impedes the paracellular movement of ions, solutes, proteins, water, and leukocytes into the CNS (8). However, the BBB can also be influenced by peripheral immune events, creating what has now come to be known as the neuro-immune axis (4, 9, 10). The neuro-immune axis is not only responsible for establishing the blood-CNS barrier at baseline, but it also regulates communication between the CNS and the immune system during pathological conditions such as viral or bacterial infections, ischemia, or inflammatory autoimmune disorders such as multiple sclerosis (MS) (11). It achieves this state by responding to secreted factors from both immune and CNS cells, as well as by regulating the exchange of chemokines, cytokines, and immune cells between the blood and the CNS (4, 9, 10). Therefore, the original concept of the BBB being a purely

anatomical barrier has now shifted to one where the BBB is considered a highly reactive interface controlled by signals from ECs, glial cells, pericytes, and neurons in the CNS, as well as from immune responses in the periphery (12–21).

#### STRUCTURAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE BBB

The BBB is composed of capillary ECs ensheathed by astrocyte end-feet, pericytes, and microglia (6, 7). Astrocyte end-feet completely surround the abluminal surface of brain capillaries forming a layer known as the glial limitans, but direct contact with EC is inhibited by a dense basement membrane (22). While astrocytes are necessary to maintain BBB integrity by secreting factors that alter barrier permeability (6, 23), they are not actually required to form the BBB, which develops even before these astrocytic processes are present (24-26). Astrocytes control blood flow to the CNS by regulating vascular tone through fluctuating calcium currents (27). Pericytes are essential to barrier formation, as the BBB is compromised in pericyte-deficient mice (28, 29). These cells regulate gene expression in EC and induce the polarization of astrocyte end-feet (28). Microglia play a role at the BBB by regulating substrate transport across EC and by linking the brain to systemic immune activity (30).

Blood–brain barrier EC forms a highly sophisticated barrier via a network of tight junctions (TJ) and adherens junctions (AJ) (8, 31, 32). The EC of the CNS are unique in that the TJ restrict the paracellular passage of solutes, have no pinocytic activity, and have few if any fenestrations (33–39). This causes the BBB to have high endothelial electrical resistance (40, 41), some 50–100 times higher than peripheral microvessels (42–44). The TJ are composed of a parallel network of intramembranous protein strands, composed of claudins, occludin, and zonula occludin (ZO) proteins (37). Claudins, specifically claudin-3, -4, and -12, compose the TJ backbone (45–47). Occludin is not required for TJ formation (48);

instead, it plays a role in "sealing" the junction thereby increasing electrical resistance (49, 50). CNS microvessel TJ are also abundant in ZO-2, and to a lesser extent, ZO-1, that are cytoplasmic accessory proteins that serve to anchor the transmembrane proteins of the TJ to the actin cytoskeleton of the ECs (51, 52).

The choroid plexus (CP) is a villous structure located on the roof of the four cerebral ventricles where cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) is actively secreted. The CP is highly vascular and contains the blood–CSF barrier (BCSFB) (51). Unlike the BBB, however, the BCSFB arises from cuboidal choroid plexus epithelial cells (CPE) with a very different TJ structure. The CPE express ZO-1 and ZO-2 in different amounts (51), and have a different claudin signature, expressing claudin-1, -2, -3, and -11 (51, 53, 54). Furthermore, capillaries within the CP villi are fenestrated (51, 55, 56), reflected by a much lower endothelial electrical resistance than the BBB (57). For these reasons, the BBB is considered more of an absolute barrier, while the BCSFB may be where most normal immune surveillance of the CNS occurs (58).

#### **IMMUNE SURVEILLANCE AND INFILTRATION OF THE CNS**

It is now accepted there is a constant need for immune surveillance of the normal CNS as part of host defense (11, 59, 60), with mechanisms present that simultaneously keep excessive inflammation in check (61). To assist in maintaining this control, the healthy CNS is relatively devoid of antigen-presenting cells (APC), lacks constitutive human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class I and II protein expression on parenchymal cells, and does not maintain typical lymphatic vessels (11). CD4+ T cells, having first encountered antigens in deep cervical lymph nodes (62), carry out routine surveillance of the CNS by searching for their cognate antigens presented by macrophages in the CSF (11, 63). Resting lymphocytes fail to enter the CNS (64), while activated T cells of all specificities can traverse the BBB and/or BCSFB (65). Those cells that do not encounter their cognate antigen within a few hours then circulate out of the CNS (66, 67).

The first steps of pathogenic neuroinflammation involve changes at the BBB, including increased production of chemokines and up-regulation of adhesion molecules by the EC resulting in leukocytes traversing the BBB and accumulating in the perivascular space of post-capillary venules (11, 68). Even during these early events, however, cellular recruitment remains tightly controlled as parenchymal lymphocytes express a unique adhesion molecule profile, different from peripheral T cells (69–71). Once in the perivascular space, T cells encounter the glial limitans as well as astrocytes that express and release factors that induce apoptosis (72), inhibit proliferation (72), induce differentiation into a regulatory (Treg) phenotype (73). Microglia and neurons also assist in controlling neuroinflammation. Microglia do so by expressing a homolog of the co-stimulatory molecule B7, programed death protein (PD)-1, which negatively regulates T cell activation and cytokine production (74). Neurons secrete transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$ , exert cell contact-dependent effects that support the conversion of CD4 T cells to Tregs, and can be induced to express the PD-1 ligand, PD-L1 (75). Thus, while the BBB is not the impenetrable barrier it was once thought to be, CD4+ T cell surveillance of the CNS is still a tightly controlled process.

# HOST IMMUNE RESPONSES TO BACTERIAL INFECTIONS OF THE CNS

Bacterial infections of the CNS are rare, but often life threatening, events (76). Excluding direct inoculation following CNS trauma, bacteria typically gain CNS entry following hematogenous dissemination from distant sites (lungs and heart valves) or by direct extension from parameningeal foci of infection (inner ear and sinuses). Penetration of the BBB may occur via three potential mechanisms: (1) direct destruction of capillary ECs (77, 78), (2) disruption of intercellular TJ and migration in between ECs (79), and (3) transcytosis via intracellular vesicles directly through ECs (80). Once inside, numerous innate immune receptors and pathways are activated (**Figure 1**).

#### MICROGLIA

Analogous to peripheral tissues, resident CNS immune cells known as microglia bear a wide range of innate immune receptors. Common bacterial motifs, referred to as pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMP), are recognized by cognate pattern recognition receptors (PRR), including Toll-like receptors (TLR), on the surface and in the cytoplasm of microglia, and to a lesser extent, on astrocytes (81-83). Microglial activation, triggered either by intact bacteria or bacterial cell wall antigens (84, 85), results in rapid changes in cellular morphology in vivo (86). Similar to tissue resident macrophages found in the periphery, microglia can phagocytize bacteria and present bacterial antigens via HLA to infiltrating CD4 T cells in vivo (84, 87, 88). These cells also rapidly produce pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that recruit peripheral leukocytes to the area of infection and activate astrocytes. For example, during both experimental Streptococcus pneumoniae and Staphylococcus aureus infections of the CNS, microglia produce tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α, interleukin (IL)-6, IL-12, C-X-C motif ligand (CXCL)1, CXCL2, C-C motif ligand (CCL)2, CCL3, and CCL5 ex vivo, mediators that recruit neutrophils (CXCL1 and CXCL2), monocytes (CCL2 and CCL3), and T cells (CCL5) (84, 85, 89-91). These activated microglia also secrete matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) that enhance BBB breakdown and facilitate additional leukocyte extravasation into the CNS (92). Finally, microglia can have direct bactericidal activity, being capable of producing reactive oxygen species (ROS), reactive nitrogen intermediates, and other proteases that kill bacteria in vivo (93-96).

#### **ASTROCYTES**

Microglia partner with astrocytes to eliminate infection as quickly as possible in order to minimize neuronal damage (86, 97, 98). In the normal CNS, astrocytes contribute to gap junction stability of the BBB (99). Their release of pro-inflammatory mediators such as IL-1 $\beta$  (100, 101), nitric oxide (102), TGF- $\beta$  (103), and MMPs (92) *in vitro* suggest these cells may compromise BBB integrity in the setting of bacterial infection. Astrocytes are activated by bacterial PAMP or mediators produced by microglia; this changes their morphology and further triggers their release of innate inflammatory mediators both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. These mediators can include complement proteins, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and the chemokines, CCL2, CCL3, CXCL1, and CXCL10 (104–111), which further help recruit neutrophils, monocytes, and T cells. In response to interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and/or IL-1 $\beta$ , astrocytes



also up-regulate the cell surface adhesion molecules, intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1, and vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1 *in vitro* (112–116), which would enhance the infiltration of monocytes and T cells into the CNS *in vivo*.

#### NEUTROPHILS

As in the periphery (117, 118), neutrophils are one of the primary lines of host defense during CNS bacterial infections (112, 119, 120). Studies in knockout mice show that the main chemokines driving neutrophil recruitment to the CNS are the C-X-C motif receptor (CXCR)-2 ligands, CXCL1 and CXCL2 (121). Furthermore, CSF samples from patients with bacterial meningitis show elevated levels of neutrophil attracting chemokines compared to controls (122, 123). Neutrophils, like microglia, respond to PAMP through various TLR, and are activated by cytokines such as TNF-α and IFN- $\gamma$  in vitro (124). Neutrophils activated in the periphery up-regulate adhesion molecules that enhance their migration into tissues (125), while BBB EC express E-selectin and P-selectin during CNS bacterial infection (126), suggesting a mechanism that allows for the migration of neutrophils during these infections. Once neutrophils recognize a bacterial pathogen, they can directly phagocytize these organisms (127), as well as release MMP, defensins, lytic enzymes, and anti-microbial peptides that aid in clearing the infection (128). The inflammatory cytokine, TNF- $\alpha$ , induces neutrophils to produce IL-6, IL-8, CXCL9, and CXCL10 in vivo (129, 130), thereby shifting the chemotactic profile toward the recruitment of T cells and driving the adaptive immune response.

#### T CELLS

Adaptive immune responses are important in fighting CNS bacterial infections (131). During bacterial meningitis, T cell production of IFN- $\gamma$  leads to the generation of chemokines that preferentially recruit monocytes and more T cells (132), supporting the transition from an innate to an adaptive immune response. Furthermore, IFN- $\gamma$ , potentially made locally by T cells, increases the antigen-presenting capacity of microglial cells *in vitro* via upregulation of HLA class I and II molecules, the co-stimulatory molecules, B7-1 and B7-2, and CD40 (133, 134). Bacterial antigen presentation by microglia activates T cells (135), driving further T cell proliferation and greater production of IFN- $\gamma$ .

# HOST IMMUNE RESPONSES TO VIRAL INFECTIONS OF THE CNS

Viruses use a variety of mechanisms to gain entry into the CNS. In the case of alphaherpesviruses (i.e., herpes simplex virus and varicella-zoster virus) and rabies virus, infection of peripheral nerves allows viral particles to travel by anterograde axonal transport into the CNS. Human immunodeficiency virus and human T cell leukemia virus-I enter the CNS parenchyma by infecting host immune cells in the periphery, and using them as "Trojan horses" to carry viral particles across the BBB. Finally, Epstein–Barr virus and West Nile virus directly infect the ECs of the BBB, resulting in barrier disruption and enhanced migration of immune cells into the parenchyma (136).

Because viruses can infect microglia, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, as well as terminally differentiated and non-renewable cells such as neurons, the ensuing immune response within the CNS must avoid extensive cytolytic damage of virus-infected target cells (137). In general, innate anti-viral immunity such as the generation of type-I IFN occurs very rapidly, while the adaptive immune response is slower because it must first develop in the periphery (138). Important components of adaptive anti-viral immunity involve IFN- $\gamma$  production by T cells as well as the expansion and migration of virus-specific antibody secreting cells (ASC) (138, 139) (**Figure 2**).

#### **MICROGLIA, ASTROCYTES, AND OLIGODENDROCYTES**

During CNS viral infections, virus-specific PAMP activate individual TLR present on microglia, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes. The former two cell populations, in particular, respond by producing anti-viral and pro-inflammatory mediators. During experimental mouse hepatitis virus (MHV) infection, astrocytes and microglia produce both type-I IFN (IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$ ), as well as IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-12, IL-1 $\alpha$ , and IL-1 $\beta$  *in vivo* (140–142). Furthermore, MHV infection triggers MMP-3 and MMP-12 release from astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (142), which along with



#### FIGURE 2 | Orchestration of the immune response during viral infection of the CNS. With the BBB in a resting state (1), viruses can gain entry into the CNS by infecting peripheral nerves and traveling by anterograde axonal transport into the CNS, by infecting host immune cells in the periphery and using these cells as "Trojan horses" to carry them across the BBB, or by directly infecting BBB endothelial cells (2). Viral PAMPs then activate microglia, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes (3). Microglia and astrocytes produce a range of anti-viral/pro-inflammatory cytokines, including type-I IFNs, IL-6, TNF-a, IL-12, IL-1a, and IL-1β (3). Astrocytes also produce MMP-3 and MMP-12 resulting in the up-regulation of adhesion molecules on endothelial cells (3). Interactions between adhesion molecules and neutrophils contribute to BBB breakdown via the production of MMP-9 and the disassembly of the tight junctions (4). DCs are seen in the CNS within several days and migrate to draining lymph nodes where they activate and expand virus-specific T cells (5) Chemokines produced by astrocytes are responsible for recruiting virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+T cells as well as ASCs to the CNS (6) CD8+T cells produce IFN-y and lytic molecules, including granzyme B and perforin, to eliminate virus from astrocytes, while IFN-y controls viral replication in oligodendrocytes (7). Virus-specific antibodies control virus replication in cells such as neurons via complement-independent, non-cytolytic mechanisms. These antibodies inhibit virus budding and replication, viral RNA transcription, and cell-to-cell virus spread,

IL-6 and the up-regulation of adhesion molecules on cerebrovascular endothelium, enhance cellular migration across the BBB (143). Astrocytes produce CXCL10, CXCL11, and CCL5 *in vivo* that recruit virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (144–146), as well as ASC (147, 148), to the CNS to promote viral clearance. CXCL9 production from microglia is dependent on IFN- $\gamma$ , while CXCL10 and CXCL11 are up-regulated by type-I IFN and TNF- $\alpha$ (149–152).

#### **MYELOID LINEAGE CELLS**

Neutrophils and macrophages are recruited to the CNS following viral infection (153, 154). Thus far, macrophages appear to have more limited anti-viral activity in the CNS (155), but neutrophils contribute to the breakdown of the BBB by interacting with EC via adhesion molecules to promote the disassembly of tight junction complexes (156). Neutrophils also secrete MMP-9 that degrades the extracellular matrix and basal lamina of the BBB and further opens the BBB (157). This has been most clearly demonstrated in the MHV model, where depletion of MMP-9 inhibited lymphocyte infiltration into the CNS (157, 158). Dendritic cells (DC) are seen in the CNS within a few days after CNS viral infection. These cells rely on the chemokine CCL3 to migrate to cervical lymph nodes draining the CNS, where they prime virus-specific T cells (159).

#### T CELLS

In the MHV model, virus-specific CD8+ T cells are detected in local lymph nodes prior to CNS infiltration and then accumulate in the CNS (160). Both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells are in part recruited to the CNS by the chemokines, CXCL9 and CXCL10, acting through their cognate receptor, CXCR3 (161-163). T cell expression of CCR2 and CCR5 likely contribute to CNS recruitment as well (164, 165). The role of CD4+ T cells in this setting is to support CD8+ T cell function via the production of IFN- $\gamma$ (166). CD8+ T cells are the main anti-viral effector cells in the CNS during infection and are essential for clearing virus from glial cells (142, 167, 168). CD8+ T cells produce IFN-y and lytic molecules, including granzyme B and perforin (169). These lytic molecules eliminate virally infected astrocytes (170), while IFN- $\gamma$ serves to control viral replication in oligodendrocytes (171, 172). In both the MHV and Sindbis virus (SINV) encephalitis models, T cells promote B cell proliferation and differentiation (173, 174), in part by secreting the cytokines, IL-10 and IL-21 (175-177).

#### **B CELLS AND ANTI-VIRAL ANTIBODIES**

Virus-specific ASC help control viruses in the CNS through potent complement-independent, non-cytolytic mechanisms (141, 178– 183). These ASC arise either from ectopic lymphoid follicle-like structures within the CNS (152) or migrate from cervical lymph nodes where they have expanded and up-regulated CXCR3 and CXCR4 on their surface prior to entering the CNS (184). ASC recruitment to the CNS has been most extensively studied in the SINV encephalitis model. The initial ASC entering the CNS have an HLA class II positive, plasmablast-like phenotype, but these cells gradually lose HLA class II expression and acquire a more plasma cell-like phenotype (139, 141). Virus-specific antibodies function to neutralize both extracellular virus as well as virus particles budding from infected cell membranes. During SINV infection, antibodies that bind the E2 viral envelope glycoprotein inhibit virus replication (185) and prevent viral budding from infected neurons without actually killing target cells (182, 186). Similarly, during rabies virus infection, antibodies against the RV glycoprotein inhibit viral RNA transcription and prevent cell-to-cell viral spread (187). Antibodies can also trigger natural killer (NK) cells and macrophages to induce antibody dependent cell-mediated cytolysis of virally infected cells (152). Finally, in exchange for non-cytolytic viral clearance in the acute setting, virus-specific ASC must persist in the CNS long term to prevent viral reactivation at a later date since viral RNA is never fully eradicated from target tissues (139).

# HOST IMMUNE RESPONSES TO SELF (MYELIN) ANTIGENS IN THE CNS

#### MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

Multiple sclerosis, an autoimmune disease characterized by infiltrating immune cells targeting myelin antigens in the CNS, is the most common cause of neurologic disability in persons younger than 40 years of age (188). Pathologically, MS lesions are characterized by focal inflammation, demyelination, and axonal damage (189). MS is a complex disease whose occurrence and progression are influenced by both genetic (190-192) and environmental (193, 194) risk factors. Evidence derived from both human genetic studies and a related mouse model, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), suggest that encephalitogenic CD4+ T cells are primary initiators of disease. Genome-wide association studies show that MS risk alleles are confined to immune related genes governing antigen presentation as well as the proliferation and survival of T cells, including HLA class II (HLA-DRB1\*1501), IL-2R, and IL-7R (190-192). Moreover, EAE in mice is induced by immunizing animals with various myelin peptides (195), or via the adoptive transfer of myelin-specific CD4+ T cells, resulting in a disease having some clinical and pathological similarities to human MS (196, 197). In MS patients, CD4+ T cells localize within CNS lesions present in the brain (198) and spinal cord (199), and elevated frequencies of myelin-reactive CD4+ T cells can be found in circulating the blood (200, 201). Although not described in detail here due to space constraints, many MS lesions also contain abundant CD8+ T cells whose specificity and role in disease pathogenesis remain poorly understood. Likewise, therapies targeted specifically at B cells have proven highly effective in MS patients, highlighting an emerging role for this cell type in both relapsing and progressive forms of disease.

#### ROLE OF CD4+ T CELLS IN AUTOIMMUNE INFLAMMATION OF THE CNS

During both MS and EAE, self-reactive T cells are likely activated in the periphery (189), where they undergo initial differentiation and expansion (124). Upon entry into the CNS, these cells are reactivated by myelin epitopes presented by an as of yet unidentified local DC (202, 203). Production of cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$ and TNF- $\alpha$  from activated CD4+ T cells results in local activation of resting microglia, leading to the up-regulation of HLA class I and II as well as co-stimulatory molecules (B7-1, B7-2, and CD40) on the surface of these cells (133, 134, 204, 205). These activated microglia are capable of serving as APC for infiltrating myelin-specific CD4+ T cells *in vivo* thus sustaining this pathogenic local T cell response (97). Production of cytokines, chemokines, and MMPs by microglia (206) facilitate local inflammation by causing BBB breakdown and recruiting more immune cells into the CNS. These include circulating monocytes capable of differentiating into inflammatory DC and macrophages upon tissue entry (207), culminating in demyelination (124). Furthermore, microglial production of IL-23 and IL-1ß promotes granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) secretion by CD4+ T cells (208). GM-CSF has been shown in EAE to promote CNS inflammation by mobilizing Ly6C<sup>hi</sup> monocytes from the bone marrow into the periphery, thereby increasing the number of circulating monocytes available for recruitment to the CNS (207). GM-CSF can also increase HLA class II expression and proinflammatory cytokine production by microglia, macrophages, and DC in vitro (209, 210). IL-17 producing T cells have been detected within CNS lesions during both EAE and MS (211, 212). IL-17 promotes brain inflammation, inducing the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, TNF-α, IL-6, and IL-1β most probably from astrocytes, microglia, or macrophages. It also stimulates the release of chemokines responsible for recruiting neutrophils to the CNS, particularly CXCL1 and CXCL2 (213, 214). Finally, IL-17 can disrupt TJ in the BBB, allowing further migration of CD4+ T cells to the CNS (212, 215).

#### ROLE OF GLIAL CELLS IN AUTOIMMUNE INFLAMMATION OF THE CNS Microglia

Microglia play important roles in augmenting CNS inflammation, demyelination, and neuronal damage in both EAE and MS (67, 216–218). Activation of microglia occurs rapidly following the induction of EAE and results in the release of cytokines, chemokines, ROS, and tissue-degrading MMP (206). One mediator, TNF-like weak inducer of apoptosis (TWEAK), triggers proliferation, angiogenesis, inflammation, is associated with extensive myelin loss, and induces astrocyte cell death during MS (219). IL-17 produced by microglia (220) worsens brain inflammation by stimulating GM-CSF production, as well as increasing IL-6, inflammatory proteins, nitric oxide, and adhesion molecule expression by macrophages. Moreover, expression of myeloperoxidase (MPO) and ROS by microglia results in direct myelin degradation and neuronal damage (216, 218). Paradoxically, microglia also can play a neuroprotective role during CNS autoimmunity. These cells can promote remyelination, protect neurons, and suppress the adaptive immune response within the CNS (221, 222). Within MS lesions, microglia and macrophages express the neurotrophic factors, nerve growth factor (NGF), and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), supporting neuronal survival (220, 223, 224). Furthermore, microglia secrete the anti-inflammatory cytokines, IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ , and express the inhibitory receptor, PD-L1, responsible for inhibiting T cell proliferation and cytokine production (74, 225).

#### Astrocytes

Astrocytes are a major source of CCL2 and CXCL10 in the CNS, regulating the migration of monocytes into the brain (CCL2) and microglia into the lesion site (CXCL10) (111, 226–228). One study suggested these cells play a more prominent role in regulating the recruitment of peripheral monocytes into the CNS (229). CXCL12,

a chemokine that induces the expression of CXCL8 and CCL2, is also expressed by astrocytes in MS lesions (230). CXCL12 can be cleaved by MMP-2, also expressed by astrocytes in MS and EAE, into a neurotoxic peptide that causes further neuronal damage (231). Similar to microglia, astrocytes also play a protective role during MS and EAE. Homeostatic astrocyte functions include buffering potassium, removing extracellular glutamate that can accumulate to toxic levels, adjusting water balance, and controlling synaptic activity and blood flow in the CNS (8). These cells are also able to produce neurotrophins and the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10 (232).

#### **CONCLUSION**

The vast complexity of cellular interconnections within the CNS, and the non-renewable nature of many neural cells, mandate that some local immune responses be tightly controlled while others (i.e., cytolytic ones) be excluded to the fullest extent possible. The BBB is a dynamic and highly regulated tissue interface that helps make the CNS a unique immunological environment. It responds to signals from both neurons and glial cells on one side while simultaneously being able to sample immunological events passing through intravascular compartments. Immune cells perform normal surveillance of the CNS by searching for antigens previously encountered in extraneural sites such as the deep cervical lymph nodes. Pathological conditions such as infections caused by viruses or bacteria elicit changes at the BBB, including the up-regulation of a unique subset of adhesion molecules as well as heightened release of chemokines by ECs. Mediators produced by astrocytes and microglia further increase BBB permeability and recruit additional circulating leukocytes into the CNS. The ensuing immune response must then be tightly controlled in order to avoid collateral tissue damage. As such, astrocytes and microglia maintain mechanisms to dampen inflammatory responses. In some settings, immune cells such as ASC persist long term within the CNS to prevent viral reactivation. When normal control mechanisms fail, neuroinflammatory diseases such as MS can result. For this reason alone, it is imperative that the complexity of immune reactions within the CNS be better understood.

#### REFERENCES

- Ehrlich P, Bolduan C. Collected Studies on Immunity. 1st ed. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons (1906). 586 p.
- Murphy JB, Sturm E. Conditions determining the transplantability of tissues in the brain. J Exp Med (1923) 38(2):183–97. doi:10.1084/jem.38.2.183
- 3. Medawar PB. Immunity to homologous grafted skin; the fate of skin homografts transplanted to the brain, to subcutaneous tissue, and to the anterior chamber of the eye. *Br J Exp Pathol* (1948) **29**(1):58–69.
- Banks WA. The blood-brain barrier in neuroimmunology: tales of separation and assimilation. Brain Behav Immun (2014). doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2014.08.007
- Abbott NJ, Mendonca LL, Dolman DE. The blood-brain barrier in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* (2003) 12(12):908–15. doi:10.1191/ 0961203303lu5010a
- Abbott NJ, Ronnback L, Hansson E. Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier. Nat Rev Neurosci (2006) 7(1):41–53. doi:10.1038/ nrn1824
- Brown RC, Morris AP, O'Neil RG. Tight junction protein expression and barrier properties of immortalized mouse brain microvessel endothelial cells. *Brain Res* (2007) 1130(1):17–30. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2006.10.083

- De Bock M, Vandenbroucke RE, Decrock E, Culot M, Cecchelli R, Leybaert L. A new angle on blood-CNS interfaces: a role for connexins? *FEBS Lett* (2014) 588(8):1259–70. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2014.02.060
- Engelhardt B. The blood-central nervous system barriers actively control immune cell entry into the central nervous system. *Curr Pharm Des* (2008) 14(16):1555–65. doi:10.2174/138161208784705432
- Greenwood J, Heasman SJ, Alvarez JI, Prat A, Lyck R, Engelhardt B. Review: leucocyte-endothelial cell crosstalk at the blood-brain barrier: a prerequisite for successful immune cell entry to the brain. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (2011) 37(1):24–39. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2990.2010.01140.x
- Engelhardt B, Ransohoff RM. The ins and outs of T-lymphocyte trafficking to the CNS: anatomical sites and molecular mechanisms. *Trends Immunol* (2005) 26(9):485–95. doi:10.1016/j.it.2005.07.004
- Abbott NJ, Patabendige AA, Dolman DE, Yusof SR, Begley DJ. Structure and function of the blood-brain barrier. *Neurobiol Dis* (2010) 37(1):13–25. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2009.07.030
- Lok J, Gupta P, Guo S, Kim WJ, Whalen MJ, van Leyen K, et al. Cell-cell signaling in the neurovascular unit. *Neurochem Res* (2007) 32(12):2032–45. doi:10.1007/s11064-007-9342-9
- Amar J, Burcelin R, Ruidavets JB, Cani PD, Fauvel J, Alessi MC, et al. Energy intake is associated with endotoxemia in apparently healthy men. *Am J Clin Nutr* (2008) 87(5):1219–23.
- Ancuta P, Kamat A, Kunstman KJ, Kim EY, Autissier P, Wurcel A, et al. Microbial translocation is associated with increased monocyte activation and dementia in AIDS patients. *PLoS One* (2008) 3(6):e2516. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0002516
- Brenchley JM, Price DA, Schacker TW, Asher TE, Silvestri G, Rao S, et al. Microbial translocation is a cause of systemic immune activation in chronic HIV infection. *Nat Med* (2006) 12(12):1365–71. doi:10.1038/nm1511
- Ghoshal S, Witta J, Zhong J, de Villiers W, Eckhardt E. Chylomicrons promote intestinal absorption of lipopolysaccharides. J Lipid Res (2009) 50(1):90–7. doi:10.1194/jlr.M800156-JLR200
- Maes M, Kubera M, Leunis JC. The gut-brain barrier in major depression: intestinal mucosal dysfunction with an increased translocation of LPS from gram negative enterobacteria (leaky gut) plays a role in the inflammatory pathophysiology of depression. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* (2008) 29(1):117–24.
- Ng QY, Lee KW, Byrne C, Ho TF, Lim CL. Plasma endotoxin and immune responses during a 21-km road race under a warm and humid environment. *Ann Acad Med Singapore* (2008) 37(4):307–14.
- Sikkeland LJ, Skogstad M, Ovstebø R, Brusletto B, Haug KB, Kongerud J, et al. Circulating lipopolysaccharides in the blood from "bioprotein" production workers. *Occup Environ Med* (2008) 65(3):211–4. doi:10.1136/oem.2007. 032938
- Zhang R, Miller RG, Gascon R, Champion S, Katz J, Lancero M, et al. Circulating endotoxin and systemic immune activation in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (sALS). J Neuroimmunol (2009) 206(1-2):121-4. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2008.09.017
- Simard M, Arcuino G, Takano T, Liu QS, Nedergaard M. Signaling at the gliovascular interface. J Neurosci (2003) 23(27):9254–62.
- Gimsa U, Mitchison NA, Brunner-Weinzier MC. Immune privilege as an intrinsic CNS property: astrocytes protect the CNS against T-cell-mediated neuroinflammation. *Mediators Inflamm* (2013) 2013:320519. doi:10.1155/2013/ 320519
- 24. Bechmann I, Galea I, Perry VH. What is the blood-brain barrier (not)? *Trends Immunol* (2007) **28**(1):5–11. doi:10.1016/j.it.2006.11.007
- Saunders NR, Habgood MD, Dziegielewska KM. Barrier mechanisms in the brain, II. Immature brain. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (1999) 26(2):85–91. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1681.1999.02987.x
- Saunders NR, Ek CJ, Habgood MD, Dziegielewska KM. Barriers in the brain: a renaissance? *Trends Neurosci* (2008) **31**(6):279–86. doi:10.1016/j.tins. 2008.03.003
- Mulligan SJ, MacVicar BA. Calcium transients in astrocyte endfeet cause cerebrovascular constrictions. *Nature* (2004) 431(7005):195–9. doi:10.1038/ nature02827
- Armulik A, Genové G, Mäe M, Nisancioglu MH, Wallgard E, Niaudet C, et al. Pericytes regulate the blood-brain barrier. *Nature* (2010) 468(7323):557–61. doi:10.1038/nature09522

- Daneman R, Zhou L, Kebede AA, Barres BA. Pericytes are required for bloodbrain barrier integrity during embryogenesis. *Nature* (2010) 468(7323):562–6. doi:10.1038/nature09513
- Sa-Pereira I, Brites D, Brito MA. Neurovascular unit: a focus on pericytes. *Mol Neurobiol* (2012) 45(2):327–47. doi:10.1007/s12035-012-8244-2
- Engelhardt S, Patkar S, Ogunshola OO. Cell-specific blood-brain barrier regulation in health and disease: a focus on hypoxia. *Br J Pharmacol* (2014) 171(5):1210–30. doi:10.1111/bph.12489
- Muoio V, Persson PB, Sendeski MM. The neurovascular unit concept review. Acta Physiol (Oxf) (2014) 210(4):790–8. doi:10.1111/apha.12250
- 33. Antonelli-Orlidge A, Saunders KB, Smith SR, D'Amore PA. An activated form of transforming growth factor beta is produced by cocultures of endothelial cells and pericytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1989) 86(12):4544–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.86.12.4544
- 34. Frigerio S, Gelati M, Ciusani E, Corsini E, Dufour A, Massa G, et al. Immunocompetence of human microvascular brain endothelial cells: cytokine regulation of IL-1beta, MCP-1, IL-10, sICAM-1 and sVCAM-1. *J Neurol* (1998) 245(11):727–30. doi:10.1007/s004150050275
- Brightman MW, Reese TS. Junctions between intimately apposed cell membranes in the vertebrate brain. J Cell Biol (1969) 40(3):648–77. doi:10.1083/ jcb.40.3.648
- Reese TS, Karnovsky MJ. Fine structural localization of a blood-brain barrier to exogenous peroxidase. J Cell Biol (1967) 34(1):207–17. doi:10.1083/jcb. 34.1.207
- Ge S, Song L, Pachter JS. Where is the blood-brain barrier really? J Neurosci Res (2005) 79(4):421–7. doi:10.1002/jnr.20313
- Ek CJ, Dziegielewska KM, Stolp H, Saunders NR. Functional effectiveness of the blood-brain barrier to small water-soluble molecules in developing and adult opossum (*Monodelphis domestica*). J Comp Neurol (2006) 496(1):13–26. doi:10.1002/cne.20885
- Ribatti D, Nico B, Crivellato E, Artico M. Development of the blood-brain barrier: a historical point of view. *Anat Rec B New Anat* (2006) 289(1):3–8. doi:10.1002/ar.b.20087
- 40. Bradbury MW. The blood-brain barrier. Exp Physiol (1993) 78(4):453-72.
- Crone C, Olesen SP. Electrical resistance of brain microvascular endothelium. Brain Res (1982) 241(1):49–55. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(82)91227-6
- Dejana E. Endothelial cell-cell junctions: happy together. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2004) 5(4):261–70. doi:10.1038/nrm1357
- 43. Nagasawa K, Chiba H, Fujita H, Kojima T, Saito T, Endo T, et al. Possible involvement of gap junctions in the barrier function of tight junctions of brain and lung endothelial cells. *J Cell Physiol* (2006) 208(1):123–32. doi:10.1002/jcp.20647
- Prat A, Biernacki K, Wosik K, Antel JP. Glial cell influence on the human bloodbrain barrier. *Glia* (2001) 36(2):145–55. doi:10.1002/glia.1104
- Wolburg H, Lippoldt A. Tight junctions of the blood-brain barrier: development, composition and regulation. *Vascul Pharmacol* (2002) 38(6):323–37. doi:10.1016/S1537-1891(02)00200-8
- Nitta T, Hata M, Gotoh S, Seo Y, Sasaki H, Hashimoto N, et al. Size-selective loosening of the blood-brain barrier in claudin-5-deficient mice. *J Cell Biol* (2003) 161(3):653–60. doi:10.1083/jcb.200302070
- 47. Lippoldt A, Liebner S, Andbjer B, Kalbacher H, Wolburg H, Haller H, et al. Organization of choroid plexus epithelial and endothelial cell tight junctions and regulation of claudin-1, -2 and -5 expression by protein kinase C. *Neuroreport* (2000) **11**(7):1427–31. doi:10.1097/00001756-200005150-00015
- Saitou M, Furuse M, Sasaki H, Schulzke JD, Fromm M, Takano H, et al. Complex phenotype of mice lacking occludin, a component of tight junction strands. *Mol Biol Cell* (2000) 11(12):4131–42. doi:10.1091/mbc.11.12.4131
- McCarthy M, Wood C, Fedoseyeva L, Whittemore SR. Media components influence viral gene expression assays in human fetal astrocyte cultures. *J Neurovirol* (1995) 1(3–4):275–85. doi:10.3109/13550289509114024
- Davies DC. Blood-brain barrier breakdown in septic encephalopathy and brain tumours. J Anat (2002) 200(6):639–46. doi:10.1046/j.1469-7580.2002. 00065.x
- 51. Kratzer I, Vasiljevic A, Rey C, Fevre-Montange M, Saunders N, Strazielle N, et al. Complexity and developmental changes in the expression pattern of claudins at the blood-CSF barrier. *Histochem Cell Biol* (2012) **138**(6):861–79. doi:10.1007/s00418-012-1001-9
- 52. Hawkins BT, Davis TP. The blood-brain barrier/neurovascular unit in health and disease. *Pharmacol Rev* (2005) **57**(2):173–85. doi:10.1124/pr.57.2.4

- Johansson PA, Dziegielewska KM, Liddelow SA, Saunders NR. The blood-CSF barrier explained: when development is not immaturity. *Bioessays* (2008) 30(3):237–48. doi:10.1002/bies.20718
- 54. Redzic Z. Molecular biology of the blood-brain and the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barriers: similarities and differences. *Fluids Barriers CNS* (2011) **8**(1):3. doi:10.1186/2045-8118-8-3
- 55. Del MR. Bigio, ependymal cells: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol (2010) 119(1):55–73. doi:10.1007/s00401-009-0624-y
- 56. Dermietzel R. Junctions in the central nervous system of the cat. IV. Interendothelial junctions of cerebral blood vessels from selected areas of the brain. *Cell Tissue Res* (1975) 164(1):45–62.
- Saito Y, Wright EM. Regulation of bicarbonate transport across the brush border membrane of the bull-frog choroid plexus. *J Physiol* (1984) 350:327–42.
- Shechter R, London A, Schwartz M. Orchestrated leukocyte recruitment to immune-privileged sites: absolute barriers versus educational gates. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(3):206–18. doi:10.1038/nri3391
- Galea I, Bechmann I, Perry VH. What is immune privilege (not)? *Trends Immunol* (2007) 28(1):12–8. doi:10.1016/j.it.2006.11.004
- Ransohoff RM, Engelhardt B. The anatomical and cellular basis of immune surveillance in the central nervous system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12(9):623–35. doi:10.1038/nri3265
- Liblau RS, Gonzalez-Dunia D, Wiendl H, Zipp F. Neurons as targets for T cells in the nervous system. *Trends Neurosci* (2013) 36(6):315–24. doi:10.1016/j.tins. 2013.01.008
- Weller RO, Engelhardt B, Phillips MJ. Lymphocyte targeting of the central nervous system: a review of afferent and efferent CNS-immune pathways. *Brain Pathol* (1996) 6(3):275–88. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.1996.tb00855.x
- Hickey WF, Hsu BL, Kimura H. T-lymphocyte entry into the central nervous system. J Neurosci Res (1991) 28(2):254–60. doi:10.1002/jnr.490280213
- Wekerle H, Linington C, Lassmann H, Meyermann R. Cellular immune reactivity within the CNS. *Trends Neurosci* (1986) 9(6):271–7. doi:10.1016/0166-2236(86)90077-9
- Hickey WF. Migration of hematogenous cells through the blood-brain barrier and the initiation of CNS inflammation. *Brain Pathol* (1991) 1(2):97–105. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.1991.tb00646.x
- 66. McMenamin PG. Distribution and phenotype of dendritic cells and resident tissue macrophages in the dura mater, leptomeninges, and choroid plexus of the rat brain as demonstrated in wholemount preparations. *J Comp Neurol* (1999) 405(4):553–62. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19990322)405: 4<553::AID-CNE8>3.0.CO;2-6
- 67. Tran EH, Hoekstra K, van Rooijen N, Dijkstra CD, Owens T. Immune invasion of the central nervous system parenchyma and experimental allergic encephalomyelitis, but not leukocyte extravasation from blood, are prevented in macrophage-depleted mice. *J Immunol* (1998) 161(7):3767–75.
- 68. Raine CS, Cannella B, Duijvestijn AM, Cross AH. Homing to central nervous system vasculature by antigen-specific lymphocytes. II. Lymphocyte/endothelial cell adhesion during the initial stages of autoimmune demyelination. *Lab Invest* (1990) 63(4):476–89.
- Zeine R, Owens T. Direct demonstration of the infiltration of murine centralnervous-system by Pgp-1/Cd44high Cd45rblow Cd4+ T-cells that induce experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmunol* (1992) 40(1):57–70. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(92)90213-5
- Engelhardt B, Martin-Simonet MT, Rott LS, Butcher EC, Michie SA. Adhesion molecule phenotype of T lymphocytes in inflamed CNS. *J Neuroimmunol* (1998) 84(1):92–104. doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(97)00237-3
- Engelhardt B, Conley FK, Kilshaw PJ, Butcher EC. Lymphocytes infiltrating the CNS during inflammation display a distinctive phenotype and bind to VCAM-1 but not to MAdCAM-1. *Int Immunol* (1995) 7(3):481–91. doi:10. 1093/intimm/7.3.481
- 72. Bechmann I, Mor G, Nilsen J, Eliza M, Nitsch R, Naftolin F. FasL (CD95L, Apo1L) is expressed in the normal rat and human brain: evidence for the existence of an immunological brain barrier. *Glia* (1999) 27(1):62–74. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-1136(199907)27:1<62::AID-GLIA7>3.0.CO;2-S
- Meinl E, Aloisi F, Ertl B, Weber F, de Waal Malefyt R, Wekerle H, et al. Multiple sclerosis. Immunomodulatory effects of human astrocytes on T cells. *Brain* (1994) 117(Pt 6):1323–32. doi:10.1093/brain/117.6.1323
- 74. Magnus T, Schreiner B, Korn T, Jack C, Guo H, Antel J, et al. Microglial expression of the B7 family member B7 homolog 1 confers strong immune inhibition:

implications for immune responses and autoimmunity in the CNS. J Neurosci (2005) 25(10):2537–46. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4794-04.2005

- 75. Liu Y, Teige I, Birnir B, Issazadeh-Navikas S. Neuron-mediated generation of regulatory T cells from encephalitogenic T cells suppresses EAE. *Nat Med* (2006) 12(5):518–25. doi:10.1038/nm1402
- Sarrazin JL, Bonneville F, Martin-Blondel G. Brain infections. *Diagn Interv Imaging* (2012) 93(6):473–90. doi:10.1016/j.diii.2012.04.020
- 77. Coureuil M, Mikaty G, Miller F, Lécuyer H, Bernard C, Bourdoulous S, et al. Meningococcal type IV pili recruit the polarity complex to cross the brain endothelium. *Science* (2009) **325**(5936):83–7. doi:10.1126/science. 1173196
- Marriott HM, Mitchell TJ, Dockrell DH. Pneumolysin: a double-edged sword during the host-pathogen interaction. *Curr Mol Med* (2008) 8(6):497–509. doi:10.2174/156652408785747924
- Attali C, Durmort C, Vernet T, Di Guilmi AM. The interaction of Streptococcus pneumoniae with plasmin mediates transmigration across endothelial and epithelial monolayers by intercellular junction cleavage. *Infect Immun* (2008) 76(11):5350–6. doi:10.1128/IAI.00184-08
- Ring A, Weiser JN, Tuomanen EI. Pneumococcal trafficking across the bloodbrain barrier. Molecular analysis of a novel bidirectional pathway. *J Clin Invest* (1998) 102(2):347–60. doi:10.1172/JCI2406
- Koedel U. Toll-like receptors in bacterial meningitis. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol (2009) 336:15–40. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-00549-7\_2
- Bsibsi M, Ravid R, Gveric D, van Noort JM. Broad expression of Toll-like receptors in the human central nervous system. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* (2002) 61(11):1013–21.
- Deng GM, Liu ZQ, Tarkowski A. Intracisternally localized bacterial DNA containing CpG motifs induces meningitis. *J Immunol* (2001) 167(8):4616–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.167.8.4616
- 84. Hanisch UK, Prinz M, Angstwurm K, Häusler KG, Kann O, Kettenmann H, et al. The protein tyrosine kinase inhibitor AG126 prevents the massive microglial cytokine induction by pneumococcal cell walls. *Eur J Immunol* (2001) **31**(7):2104–15. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200107)31:7<2104: :AID-IMMU2104>3.0.CO;2-3
- Rock RB, Gekker G, Hu S, Sheng WS, Cheeran M, Lokensgard JR, et al. Role of microglia in central nervous system infections. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2004) 17(4):942–64. doi:10.1128/CMR.17.4.942-964.2004
- Kreutzberg GW. Microglia, the first line of defence in brain pathologies. Arzneimittelforschung (1995) 45(3A):357–60.
- Peterson PK, Gekker G, Hu S, Sheng WS, Anderson WR, Ulevitch RJ, et al. CD14 receptor-mediated uptake of nonopsonized Mycobacterium tuberculosis by human microglia. *Infect Immun* (1995) 63(4):1598–602.
- Rock RB, Hu S, Gekker G, Sheng WS, May B, Kapur V, et al. Mycobacterium tuberculosis-induced cytokine and chemokine expression by human microglia and astrocytes: effects of dexamethasone. J Infect Dis (2005) 192(12):2054–8. doi:10.1086/498165
- Kielian T, Mayes P, Kielian M. Characterization of microglial responses to Staphylococcus aureus: effects on cytokine, costimulatory molecule, and toll- like receptor expression. J Neuroimmunol (2002) 130(1–2):86–99. doi:10.1016/ S0165-5728(02)00216-3
- Kielian T, Esen N, Bearden ED. Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) is pivotal for recognition of *S. aureus* peptidoglycan but not intact bacteria by microglia. *Glia* (2005) 49(4):567–76. doi:10.1002/glia.20144
- Kielian T, Phulwani NK, Esen N, Syed MM, Haney AC, McCastlain K, et al. MyD88-dependent signals are essential for the host immune response in experimental brain abscess. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(7):4528–37. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.178.7.4528
- Leppert D, Lindberg RL, Kappos L, Leib SL. Matrix metalloproteinases: multifunctional effectors of inflammation in multiple sclerosis and bacterial meningitis. Brain Res Brain Res Rev (2001) 36(2–3):249–57. doi:10.1016/ S0165-0173(01)00101-1
- Banati RB, Gehrmann J, Schubert P, Kreutzberg GW. Cytotoxicity of microglia. Glia (1993) 7(1):111–8. doi:10.1002/glia.440070117
- 94. Banati RB, Rothe G, Valet G, Kreutzberg GW. Detection of lysosomal cysteine proteinases in microglia: flow cytometric measurement and histochemical localization of cathepsin B and L. *Glia* (1993) 7(2):183–91. doi:10.1002/ glia.440070208
- Colton CA, Gilbert DL. Microglia, an in vivo source of reactive oxygen species in the brain. Adv Neurol (1993) 59:321–6.

- Colton CA, Keri JE, Chen WT, Monsky WL. Protease production by cultured microglia: substrate gel analysis and immobilized matrix degradation. J Neurosci Res (1993) 35(3):297–304. doi:10.1002/jnr.490350309
- Aloisi F. Immune function of microglia. Glia (2001) 36(2):165–79. doi:10. 1002/glia.1106
- Sofroniew MV, Vinters HV. Astrocytes: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol (2010) 119(1):7–35. doi:10.1007/s00401-009-0619-8
- Alvarez JI, Katayama T, Prat A. Glial influence on the blood brain barrier. *Glia* (2013) 61(12):1939–58. doi:10.1002/glia.22575
- 100. John GR, Scemes E, Suadicani SO, Liu JS, Charles PC, Lee SC, et al. IL-1beta differentially regulates calcium wave propagation between primary human fetal astrocytes via pathways involving P2 receptors and gap junction channels. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) **96**(20):11613–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.20.11613
- 101. Duffy HS, John GR, Lee SC, Brosnan CF, Spray DC. Reciprocal regulation of the junctional proteins claudin-1 and connexin43 by interleukin-1beta in primary human fetal astrocytes. J Neurosci (2000) 20(23):RC114.
- 102. Bolanos JP, Medina JM. Induction of nitric oxide synthase inhibits gap junction permeability in cultured rat astrocytes. J Neurochem (1996) 66(5):2091–9. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.1996.66052091.x
- 103. Reuss B, Unsicker K. Regulation of gap junction communication by growth factors from non-neural cells to astroglia: a brief review. *Glia* (1998) 24(1):32–8. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-1136(199809)24:1<32::AID-GLIA4>3.0.CO;2-2
- Allaman I, Belanger M, Magistretti PJ. Astrocyte-neuron metabolic relationships: for better and for worse. *Trends Neurosci* (2011) 34(2):76–87. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2010.12.001
- 105. McKimmie CS, Graham GJ. Astrocytes modulate the chemokine network in a pathogen-specific manner. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2010) 394(4):1006–11. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.03.111
- 106. Lobsiger CS, Cleveland DW. Glial cells as intrinsic components of non-cellautonomous neurodegenerative disease. *Nat Neurosci* (2007) 10(11):1355–60. doi:10.1038/nn1988
- 107. Vesce S, Rossi D, Brambilla L, Volterra A. Glutamate release from astrocytes in physiological conditions and in neurodegenerative disorders characterized by neuroinflammation. *Int Rev Neurobiol* (2007) 82:57–71. doi:10.1016/S0074-7742(07)82003-4
- Bonifati DM, Kishore U. Role of complement in neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation. *Mol Immunol* (2007) 44(5):999–1010. doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2006.03.007
- 109. Panenka W, Jijon H, Herx LM, Armstrong JN, Feighan D, Wei T, et al. P2X7like receptor activation in astrocytes increases chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression via mitogen-activated protein kinase. *J Neurosci* (2001) **21**(18):7135–42.
- 110. Liu MT, Chen BP, Oertel P, Buchmeier MJ, Armstrong D, Hamilton TA, et al. The T cell chemoattractant IFN-inducible protein 10 is essential in host defense against viral-induced neurologic disease. *J Immunol* (2000) 165(5):2327–30. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.5.2327
- 111. Ransohoff RM, Hamilton TA, Tani M, Stoler MH, Shick HE, Major JA, et al. Astrocyte expression of mRNA encoding cytokines IP-10 and JE/MCP-1 in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *FASEB J* (1993) 7(6):592–600.
- 112. Carpentier PA, Begolka WS, Olson JK, Elhofy A, Karpus WJ, Miller SD. Differential activation of astrocytes by innate and adaptive immune stimuli. *Glia* (2005) **49**(3):360–74. doi:10.1002/glia.20117
- 113. Girvin AM, Gordon KB, Welsh CJ, Clipstone NA, Miller SD. Differential abilities of central nervous system resident endothelial cells and astrocytes to serve as inducible antigen-presenting cells. *Blood* (2002) **99**(10):3692–701. doi:10.1182/blood-2001-12-0229
- 114. Lee SJ, Park JY, Hou J, Benveniste EN. Transcriptional regulation of the intercellular adhesion molecule-1 gene by proinflammatory cytokines in human astrocytes. *Glia* (1999) 25(1):21–32. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-1136(19990101) 25:1<21::AID-GLIA3>3.0.CO;2-R
- 115. Rosenman SJ, Shrikant P, Dubb L, Benveniste EN, Ransohoff RM. Cytokineinduced expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) by astrocytes and astrocytoma cell lines. *J Immunol* (1995) **154**(4):1888–99.
- 116. Shrikant P, Chung IY, Ballestas ME, Benveniste EN. Regulation of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 gene expression by tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-1 beta, and interferon-gamma in astrocytes. J Neuroimmunol (1994) 51(2):209–20. doi:10.1016/0165-5728(94)90083-3
- 117. Borregaard N. Neutrophils, from marrow to microbes. *Immunity* (2010) 33(5):657–70. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.11.011

- Nathan C. Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6(3):173–82. doi:10.1038/nri1785
- 119. Lacroix S, Feinstein D, Rivest S. The bacterial endotoxin lipopolysaccharide has the ability to target the brain in upregulating its membrane CD14 receptor within specific cellular populations. *Brain Pathol* (1998) 8(4):625–40. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.1998.tb00189.x
- Ramesh G, MacLean AG, Philipp MT. Cytokines and chemokines at the crossroads of neuroinflammation, neurodegeneration, and neuropathic pain. *Mediators Inflamm* (2013) 2013:480739. doi:10.1155/2013/480739
- 121. Kielian T, Barry B, Hickey WF. CXC chemokine receptor-2 ligands are required for neutrophil-mediated host defense in experimental brain abscesses. *J Immunol* (2001) 166(7):4634–43. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.7.4634
- 122. Kastenbauer S, Angele B, Sporer B, Pfister HW, Koedel U. Patterns of protein expression in infectious meningitis: a cerebrospinal fluid protein array analysis. J Neuroimmunol (2005) 164(1–2):134–9. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim. 2005.03.009
- 123. Spanaus KS, Nadal D, Pfister HW, Seebach J, Widmer U, Frei K, et al. C-X-C and C-C chemokines are expressed in the cerebrospinal fluid in bacterial meningitis and mediate chemotactic activity on peripheral blood-derived polymorphonuclear and mononuclear cells in vitro. J Immunol (1997) 158(4):1956–64.
- 124. Ransohoff RM, Brown MA. Innate immunity in the central nervous system. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(4):1164–71. doi:10.1172/JCI58644
- 125. Mantovani A, Cassatella MA, Costantini C, Jaillon S. Neutrophils in the activation and regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) 11(8):519–31. doi:10.1038/nri3024
- 126. Bernardes-Silva M, Anthony DC, Issekutz AC, Perry VH. Recruitment of neutrophils across the blood-brain barrier: the role of E- and P-selectins. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2001) 21(9):1115–24. doi:10.1097/00004647-200109000-00009
- 127. Neal JW, Gasque P. How does the brain limit the severity of inflammation and tissue injury during bacterial meningitis? *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* (2013) 72(5):370–85. doi:10.1097/NEN.0b013e3182909f2f
- 128. Cederlund A, Gudmundsson GH, Agerberth B. Antimicrobial peptides important in innate immunity. *FEBS J* (2011) **278**(20):3942–51. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2011.08302.x
- 129. Cardona AE, Li M, Liu L, Savarin C, Ransohoff RM. Chemokines in and out of the central nervous system: much more than chemotaxis and inflammation. *J Leukoc Biol* (2008) 84(3):587–94. doi:10.1189/jlb.1107763
- 130. Müller M, Carter S, Hofer MJ, Campbell IL. Review: the chemokine receptor CXCR3 and its ligands CXCL9, CXCL10 and CXCL11 in neuroimmunity a tale of conflict and conundrum. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (2010) 36(5):368–87. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2990.2010.01089.x
- 131. Kwok LY, Miletic H, Lütjen S, Soltek S, Deckert M, Schlüter D. Protective immunosurveillance of the central nervous system by Listeria-specific CD4 and CD8 T cells in systemic listeriosis in the absence of intracerebral Listeria. J Immunol (2002) 169(4):2010–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.4.2010
- 132. Häusler KG, Prinz M, Nolte C, Weber JR, Schumann RR, Kettenmann H, et al. Interferon-gamma differentially modulates the release of cytokines and chemokines in lipopolysaccharide- and pneumococcal cell wall-stimulated mouse microglia and macrophages. *Eur J Neurosci* (2002) 16(11):2113–22. doi:10.1046/j.1460-9568.2002.02287.x
- Aloisi F, Ria F, Penna G, Adorini L. Microglia are more efficient than astrocytes in antigen processing and in Th1 but not Th2 cell activation. *J Immunol* (1998) 160(10):4671–80.
- 134. Frei K, Siepl C, Groscurth P, Bodmer S, Schwerdel C, Fontana A. Antigen presentation and tumor cytotoxicity by interferon-gamma-treated microglial cells. *Eur J Immunol* (1987) 17(9):1271–8. doi:10.1002/eji.1830170909
- 135. Ford AL, Foulcher E, Lemckert FA, Sedgwick JD. Microglia induce CD4 T lymphocyte final effector function and death. J Exp Med (1996) 184(5):1737–45. doi:10.1084/jem.184.5.1737
- 136. Koyuncu OO, Hogue IB, Enquist LW. Virus infections in the nervous system. Cell Host Microbe (2013) 13(4):379–93. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2013.03.010
- Wraith DC, Nicholson LB. The adaptive immune system in diseases of the central nervous system. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(4):1172–9. doi:10.1172/JCI58648
- 138. Griffin DE, Metcalf T. Clearance of virus infection from the CNS. Curr Opin Virol (2011) 1(3):216–21. doi:10.1016/j.coviro.2011.05.021
- Metcalf TU, Griffin DE. Alphavirus-induced encephalomyelitis: antibodysecreting cells and viral clearance from the nervous system. J Virol (2011) 85(21):11490–501. doi:10.1128/JVI.05379-11

- 140. Savarin C, Bergmann CC. Neuroimmunology of central nervous system viral infections: the cells, molecules and mechanisms involved. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2008) 8(4):472–9. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2008.05.002
- 141. Tschen SI, Stohlman SA, Ramakrishna C, Hinton DR, Atkinson RD, Bergmann CC. CNS viral infection diverts homing of antibody-secreting cells from lymphoid organs to the CNS. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) **36**(3):603–12. doi:10.1002/eji. 200535123
- 142. Bergmann CC, Lane TE, Stohlman SA. Coronavirus infection of the central nervous system: host-virus stand-off. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2006) 4(2):121–32. doi:10.1038/nrmicro1343
- 143. Ishihara K, Hirano T. IL-6 in autoimmune disease and chronic inflammatory proliferative disease. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2002) 13(4–5):357–68. doi:10.1016/S1359-6101(02)00027-8
- 144. Lane TE, Hardison JL, Walsh KB. Functional diversity of chemokines and chemokine receptors in response to viral infection of the central nervous system. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2006) **303**:1–27.
- 145. Klein RS, Lin E, Zhang B, Luster AD, Tollett J, Samuel MA, et al. Neuronal CXCL10 directs CD8+ T-cell recruitment and control of West Nile virus encephalitis. J Virol (2005) 79(17):11457–66. doi:10.1128/JVI.79.17.11457-11466.2005
- 146. Glass WG, Lim JK, Cholera R, Pletnev AG, Gao JL, Murphy PM. Chemokine receptor CCR5 promotes leukocyte trafficking to the brain and survival in West Nile virus infection. *J Exp Med* (2005) **202**(8):1087–98. doi:10.1084/jem. 20042530
- 147. Lane TE, Asensio VC, Yu N, Paoletti AD, Campbell IL, Buchmeier MJ. Dynamic regulation of alpha- and beta-chemokine expression in the central nervous system during mouse hepatitis virus-induced demyelinating disease. *J Immunol* (1998) 160(2):970–8.
- 148. Phares TW, Stohlman SA, Hinton DR, Bergmann CC. Astrocyte-derived CXCL10 drives accumulation of antibody-secreting cells in the central nervous system during viral encephalomyelitis. J Virol (2013) 87(6):3382–92. doi:10.1128/JVI.03307-12
- 149. Oh JW, Schwiebert LM, Benveniste EN. Cytokine regulation of CC and CXC chemokine expression by human astrocytes. J Neurovirol (1999) 5(1):82–94. doi:10.3109/13550289909029749
- 150. Cole KE, Strick CA, Paradis TJ, Ogborne KT, Loetscher M, Gladue RP, et al. Interferon-inducible T cell alpha chemoattractant (I-TAC): a novel non-ELR CXC chemokine with potent activity on activated T cells through selective high affinity binding to CXCR3. J Exp Med (1998) 187(12):2009–21. doi:10.1084/jem.187.12.2009
- Luster AD, Ravetch JV. Biochemical characterization of a gamma interferoninducible cytokine (IP-10). J Exp Med (1987) 166(4):1084–97. doi:10.1084/ jem.166.4.1084
- Phares TW, Stohlman SA, Bergmann CC. Intrathecal humoral immunity to encephalitic RNA viruses. *Viruses* (2013) 5(2):732–52. doi:10.3390/ v5020732
- 153. Templeton SP, Kim TS, O'Malley K, Perlman S. Maturation and localization of macrophages and microglia during infection with a neurotropic murine coronavirus. *Brain Pathol* (2008) 18(1):40–51. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2007. 00098.x
- 154. Zuo J, Stohlman SA, Hoskin JB, Hinton DR, Atkinson R, Bergmann CC. Mouse hepatitis virus pathogenesis in the central nervous system is independent of IL-15 and natural killer cells. *Virology* (2006) 350(1):206–15. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2006.01.027
- 155. Xue S, Sun N, Van Rooijen N, Perlman S. Depletion of blood-borne macrophages does not reduce demyelination in mice infected with a neurotropic coronavirus. *J Virol* (1999) 73(8):6327–34.
- 156. Kjeldsen L, Sengeløv H, Lollike K, Nielsen MH, Borregaard N. Isolation and characterization of gelatinase granules from human neutrophils. *Blood* (1994) 83(6):1640–9.
- Zhou J, Stohlman SA, Hinton DR, Marten NW. Neutrophils promote mononuclear cell infiltration during viral-induced encephalitis. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(6):3331–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.6.3331
- 158. Zhou J, Stohlman SA, Atkinson R, Hinton DR, Marten NW. Matrix metalloproteinase expression correlates with virulence following neurotropic mouse hepatitis virus infection. *J Virol* (2002) **76**(15):7374–84. doi:10.1128/JVI.76.15. 7374-7384.2002
- 159. Trifilo MJ, Lane TE. The CC chemokine ligand 3 regulates CD11c+ CD11b+CD8alpha- dendritic cell maturation and activation following viral

infection of the central nervous system: implications for a role in T cell activation. Virology (2004) **327**(1):8–15. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2004.06.027

- 160. Marten NW, Stohlman SA, Zhou J, Bergmann CC. Kinetics of virus-specific CD8+-T-cell expansion and trafficking following central nervous system infection. J Virol (2003) 77(4):2775–8. doi:10.1128/JVI.77.4.2775-2778.2003
- 161. Stiles LN, Hosking MP, Edwards RA, Strieter RM, Lane TE. Differential roles for CXCR3 in CD4+ and CD8+ T cell trafficking following viral infection of the CNS. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) 36(3):613–22. doi:10.1002/eji.200535509
- 162. Stiles LN, Liu MT, Kane JA, Lane TE. CXCL10 and trafficking of virusspecific T cells during coronavirus-induced demyelination. *Autoimmunity* (2009) 42(6):484–91. doi:10.1080/08916930902810708
- 163. Walsh KB, Edwards RA, Romero KM, Kotlajich MV, Stohlman SA, Lane TE. Expression of CXC chemokine ligand 10 from the mouse hepatitis virus genome results in protection from viral-induced neurological and liver disease. *J Immunol* (2007) **179**(2):1155–65. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.2.1155
- 164. Chen BP, Kuziel WA, Lane TE. Lack of CCR2 results in increased mortality and impaired leukocyte activation and trafficking following infection of the central nervous system with a neurotropic coronavirus. *J Immunol* (2001) 167(8):4585–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.167.8.4585
- 165. Glass WG, Lane TE. Functional expression of chemokine receptor CCR5 on CD4+ T cells during virus-induced central nervous system disease. J Virol (2003) 77(1):191–8. doi:10.1128/JVI.77.1.191-198.2003
- 166. Weinger JG, Marro BS, Hosking MP, Lane TE. The chemokine receptor CXCR2 and coronavirus-induced neurologic disease. *Virology* (2013) 435(1):110–7. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2012.08.049
- 167. Bergmann CC, Altman JD, Hinton D, Stohlman SA. Inverted immunodominance and impaired cytolytic function of CD8+ T cells during viral persistence in the central nervous system. *J Immunol* (1999) 163(6):3379–87.
- 168. Bergmann CC, Parra B, Hinton DR, Chandran R, Morrison M, Stohlman SA. Perforin-mediated effector function within the central nervous system requires IFN-gamma-mediated MHC up-regulation. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(6):3204–13. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.6.3204
- 169. Ramakrishna C, Stohlman SA, Atkinson RA, Hinton DR, Bergmann CC. Differential regulation of primary and secondary CD8+ T cells in the central nervous system. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(10):6265–73. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 173.10.6265
- 170. Lin MT, Stohlman SA, Hinton DR. Mouse hepatitis virus is cleared from the central nervous systems of mice lacking perforin-mediated cytolysis. *J Virol* (1997) 71(1):383–91.
- 171. González JM, Bergmann CC, Ramakrishna C, Hinton DR, Atkinson R, Hoskin J, et al. Inhibition of interferon-gamma signaling in oligodendroglia delays coronavirus clearance without altering demyelination. *Am J Pathol* (2006) 168(3):796–804. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2006.050496
- 172. Parra B, Hinton DR, Marten NW, Bergmann CC, Lin MT, Yang CS, et al. IFNgamma is required for viral clearance from central nervous system oligodendroglia. *J Immunol* (1999) **162**(3):1641–7.
- 173. Linterman MA, Beaton L, Yu D, Ramiscal RR, Srivastava M, Hogan JJ, et al. IL-21 acts directly on B cells to regulate Bcl-6 expression and germinal center responses. J Exp Med (2010) 207(2):353–63. doi:10.1084/jem.20091738
- 174. Sabat R, Grütz G, Warszawska K, Kirsch S, Witte E, Wolk K, et al. Biology of interleukin-10. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2010) 21(5):331–44. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2010.09.002
- 175. Phares TW, Marques CP, Stohlman SA, Hinton DR, Bergmann CC. Factors supporting intrathecal humoral responses following viral encephalomyelitis. *J Virol* (2011) 85(6):2589–98. doi:10.1128/JVI.02260-10
- 176. Metcalf TU, Baxter VK, Nilaratanakul V, Griffin DE. Recruitment and retention of B cells in the central nervous system in response to alphavirus encephalomyelitis. J Virol (2013) 87(5):2420–9. doi:10.1128/JVI.01769-12
- 177. Puntambekar SS, Bergmann CC, Savarin C, Karp CL, Phares TW, Parra GI, et al. Shifting hierarchies of interleukin-10-producing T cell populations in the central nervous system during acute and persistent viral encephalomyelitis. *J Virol* (2011) **85**(13):6702–13. doi:10.1128/JVI.00200-11
- 178. Griffin D, Levine B, Tyor W, Ubol S, Desprès P. The role of antibody in recovery from alphavirus encephalitis. *Immunol Rev* (1997) 159:155–61. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1997.tb01013.x
- 179. Ramakrishna C, Bergmann CC, Atkinson R, Stohlman SA. Control of central nervous system viral persistence by neutralizing antibody. J Virol (2003) 77(8):4670–8. doi:10.1128/JVI.77.8.4670-4678.2003

- 180. Hooper DC, Phares TW, Fabis MJ, Roy A. The production of antibody by invading B cells is required for the clearance of rabies virus from the central nervous system. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2009) **3**(10):e535. doi:10.1371/journal. pntd.0000535
- 181. Fragkoudis R, Ballany CM, Boyd A, Fazakerley JK. In Semliki Forest virus encephalitis, antibody rapidly clears infectious virus and is required to eliminate viral material from the brain, but is not required to generate lesions of demyelination. J Gen Virol (2008) 89(Pt 10):2565–8. doi:10.1099/vir.0.2008/ 002238-0
- Levine B, Hardwick JM, Trapp BD, Crawford TO, Bollinger RC, Griffin DE. Antibody-mediated clearance of alphavirus infection from neurons. *Science* (1991) 254(5033):856–60. doi:10.1126/science.1658936
- 183. Lee H, Sunden Y, Ochiai K, Umemura T. Experimental intracerebral vaccination protects mouse from a neurotropic virus by attracting antibody secreting cells to the CNS. *Immunol Lett* (2011) **139**(1–2):102–9. doi:10.1016/j.imlet. 2011.05.008
- 184. Marques CP, Kapil P, Hinton DR, Hindinger C, Nutt SL, Ransohoff RM, et al. CXCR3-dependent plasma blast migration to the central nervous system during viral encephalomyelitis. J Virol (2011) 85(13):6136–47. doi:10.1128/JVI. 00202-11
- 185. Griffin DE. Recovery from viral encephalomyelitis: immune-mediated noncytolytic virus clearance from neurons. *Immunol Res* (2010) 47(1–3):123–33. doi:10.1007/s12026-009-8143-4
- 186. Ubol S, Levine B, Lee SH, Greenspan NS, Griffin DE. Roles of immunoglobulin valency and the heavy-chain constant domain in antibody-mediated downregulation of Sindbis virus replication in persistently infected neurons. *J Virol* (1995) **69**(3):1990–3.
- 187. Dietzschold B, Kao M, Zheng YM, Chen ZY, Maul G, Fu ZF, et al. Delineation of putative mechanisms involved in antibody-mediated clearance of rabies virus from the central nervous system. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1992) 89(15):7252–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.89.15.7252
- 188. Niedziela N, damczyk-Sowa MA, Pierzchala K. Epidemiology and clinical record of multiple sclerosis in selected countries: a systematic review. *Int J Neurosci* (2014) **124**(5):322–30. doi:10.3109/00207454.2013.840618
- 189. Pierson E, Simmons SB, Castelli L, Goverman JM. Mechanisms regulating regional localization of inflammation during CNS autoimmunity. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 248(1):205–15. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01126.x
- 190. Islam T, Gauderman WJ, Cozen W, Hamilton AS, Burnett ME, Mack TM. Differential twin concordance for multiple sclerosis by latitude of birthplace. Ann Neurol (2006) 60(1):56–64. doi:10.1002/ana.20871
- 191. Patsopoulos NA, Barcellos LF, Hintzen RQ, Schaefer C, van Duijn CM, Noble JA, et al. Fine-mapping the genetic association of the major histocompatibility complex in multiple sclerosis: HLA and non-HLA effects. *PLoS Genet* (2013) **9**(11):e1003926. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003926
- 192. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (IMSGC), Beecham AH, Patsopoulos NA, Xifara DK, Davis MF, Kemppinen A, et al. Analysis of immune-related loci identifies 48 new susceptibility variants for multiple sclerosis. *Nat Genet* (2013) 45(11):1353–60. doi:10.1038/ng.2770
- 193. van der Mei IA, Ponsonby AL, Dwyer T, Blizzard L, Simmons R, Taylor BV, et al. Past exposure to sun, skin phenotype, and risk of multiple sclerosis: casecontrol study. *BMJ* (2003) **327**(7410):316. doi:10.1136/bmj.327.7410.316
- 194. Lassmann H, Niedobitek G, Aloisi F, Middeldorp JM, NeuroproMiSe EBV Working Group. Epstein-Barr virus in the multiple sclerosis brain: a controversial issue – report on a focused workshop held in the Centre for Brain Research of the Medical University of Vienna, Austria. *Brain* (2011) **134**(Pt 9):2772–86. doi:10.1093/brain/awr197
- 195. Stromnes IM, Goverman JM. Active induction of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Nat Protoc (2006) 1(4):1810–9. doi:10.1038/ nprot.2006.285
- 196. Stromnes IM, Goverman JM. Passive induction of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Nat Protoc (2006) 1(4):1952–60. doi:10.1038/nprot. 2006.284
- 197. Kroenke MA, Carlson TJ, Andjelkovic AV, Segal BM. IL-12- and IL-23modulated T cells induce distinct types of EAE based on histology, CNS chemokine profile, and response to cytokine inhibition. J Exp Med (2008) 205(7):1535–41. doi:10.1084/jem.20080159
- 198. Oksenberg JR, Panzara MA, Begovich AB, Mitchell D, Erlich HA, Murray RS, et al. Selection for T-cell receptor V beta-D beta-J beta gene rearrangements

with specificity for a myelin basic protein peptide in brain lesions of multiple sclerosis. *Nature* (1993) **362**(6415):68–70. doi:10.1038/362068a0

- 199. Vogt J, Paul F, Aktas O, Müller-Wielsch K, Dörr J, Dörr S, et al. Lower motor neuron loss in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 66(3):310–22. doi:10.1002/ana.21719
- 200. Ota K, Matsui M, Milford EL, Mackin GA, Weiner HL, Hafler DA. T-cell recognition of an immunodominant myelin basic protein epitope in multiple sclerosis. *Nature* (1990) **346**(6280):183–7. doi:10.1038/346183a0
- 201. Allegretta M, Nicklas JA, Sriram S, Albertini RJ. T cells responsive to myelin basic protein in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Science* (1990) 247(4943):718–21. doi:10.1126/science.1689076
- 202. Leech MD, Barr TA, Turner DG, Brown S, O'Connor RA, Gray D, et al. Cutting edge: IL-6-dependent autoimmune disease: dendritic cells as a sufficient, but transient, source. *J Immunol* (2013) **190**(3):881–5. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1202925
- 203. Greter M, Heppner FL, Lemos MP, Odermatt BM, Goebels N, Laufer T, et al. Dendritic cells permit immune invasion of the CNS in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med* (2005) 11(3):328–34. doi:10.1038/nm1197
- 204. Olson JK, Miller SD. Microglia initiate central nervous system innate and adaptive immune responses through multiple TLRs. J Immunol (2004) 173(6):3916–24. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.6.3916
- 205. Olson JK, Girvin AM, Miller SD. Direct activation of innate and antigenpresenting functions of microglia following infection with Theiler's virus. *J Virol* (2001) 75(20):9780–9. doi:10.1128/JVI.75.20.9780-9789.2001
- 206. Mayo L, Quintana FJ, Weiner HL. The innate immune system in demyelinating disease. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 248(1):170–87. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012. 01135.x
- 207. King IL, Dickendesher TL, Segal BM. Circulating Ly-6C+ myeloid precursors migrate to the CNS and play a pathogenic role during autoimmune demyelinating disease. *Blood* (2009) **113**(14):3190–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-07-168575
- 208. Li J, Gran B, Zhang GX, Ventura ES, Siglienti I, Rostami A, et al. Differential expression and regulation of IL-23 and IL-12 subunits and receptors in adult mouse microglia. J Neurol Sci (2003) 215(1–2):95–103. doi:10.1016/S0022-510X(03)00203-X
- 209. El-Behi M, Ciric B, Dai H, Yan Y, Cullimore M, Safavi F, et al. The encephalitogenicity of T(H)17 cells is dependent on IL-1- and IL-23-induced production of the cytokine GM-CSF. *Nat Immunol* (2011) **12**(6):568–75. doi:10.1038/ni.2031
- 210. Codarri L, Gyülvészi G, Tosevski V, Hesske L, Fontana A, Magnenat L, et al. RORgammat drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(6):560–7. doi:10.1038/ni.2027
- 211. Komiyama Y, Nakae S, Matsuki T, Nambu A, Ishigame H, Kakuta S, et al. IL-17 plays an important role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2006) **177**(1):566–73. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 177.1.566
- 212. Kebir H, Kreymborg K, Ifergan I, Dodelet-Devillers A, Cayrol R, Bernard M, et al. Human TH17 lymphocytes promote blood-brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(10):1173–5. doi:10.1038/nm1651
- 213. Ye P, Rodriguez FH, Kanaly S, Stocking KL, Schurr J, Schwarzenberger P, et al. Requirement of interleukin 17 receptor signaling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. *J Exp Med* (2001) **194**(4):519–27. doi:10.1084/jem.194.4.519
- 214. Kimizuka Y, Kimura S, Saga T, Ishii M, Hasegawa N, Betsuyaku T, et al. Roles of interleukin-17 in an experimental *Legionella pneumophila* pneumonia model. *Infect Immun* (2012) 80(3):1121–7. doi:10.1128/IAI.05544-11
- Huppert J, Closhen D, Croxford A, White R, Kulig P, Pietrowski E, et al. Cellular mechanisms of IL-17-induced blood-brain barrier disruption. *FASEB J* (2010) 24(4):1023–34. doi:10.1096/fj.09-141978
- 216. Bauer J, Sminia T, Wouterlood FG, Dijkstra CD. Phagocytic activity of macrophages and microglial cells during the course of acute and chronic relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neurosci Res* (1994) 38(4):365–75. doi:10.1002/jnr.490380402
- Benveniste EN. Cytokines: influence on glial cell gene expression and function. *Chem Immunol* (1997) 69:31–75. doi:10.1159/000058653

- 218. Huizinga R, van der Star BJ, Kipp M, Jong R, Gerritsen W, Clarner T, et al. Phagocytosis of neuronal debris by microglia is associated with neuronal damage in multiple sclerosis. *Glia* (2012) **60**(3):422–31. doi:10.1002/glia.22276
- 219. Serafini B, Magliozzi R, Rosicarelli B, Reynolds R, Zheng TS, Aloisi F. Expression of TWEAK and its receptor Fn14 in the multiple sclerosis brain: implications for inflammatory tissue injury. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* (2008) 67(12):1137–48. doi:10.1097/NEN.0b013e31818dab90
- 220. Kawanokuchi J, Shimizu K, Nitta A, Yamada K, Mizuno T, Takeuchi H, et al. Production and functions of IL-17 in microglia. J Neuroimmunol (2008) 194(1–2):54–61. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2007.11.006
- 221. Doring A, Yong VW. The good, the bad and the ugly. Macrophages/microglia with a focus on myelin repair. *Front Biosci (Schol Ed)* (2011) 3:846–56. doi:10.2741/191
- 222. Kettenmann H, Hanisch UK, Noda M, Verkhratsky A. Physiology of microglia. *Physiol Rev* (2011) **91**(2):461–553. doi:10.1152/physrev.00011.2010
- 223. Ransohoff RM, Perry VH. Microglial physiology: unique stimuli, specialized responses. Annu Rev Immunol (2009) 27:119–45. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.021908.132528
- 224. Stadelmann C, Kerschensteiner M, Misgeld T, Brück W, Hohlfeld R, Lassmann H. BDNF and gp145trkB in multiple sclerosis brain lesions: neuroprotective interactions between immune and neuronal cells? *Brain* (2002) 125(Pt 1):75–85. doi:10.1093/brain/awf015
- 225. Duncan DS, Miller SD. CNS expression of B7-H1 regulates pro-inflammatory cytokine production and alters severity of Theiler's virus-induced demyelinating disease. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(4):e18548. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0018548
- 226. Van Der Voorn P, Tekstra J, Beelen RH, Tensen CP, Van Der Valk P, De Groot CJ. Expression of MCP-1 by reactive astrocytes in demyelinating multiple sclerosis lesions. *Am J Pathol* (1999) **154**(1):45–51. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10) 65249-2
- 227. Majumder S, Zhou LZ, Ransohoff RM. Transcriptional regulation of chemokine gene expression in astrocytes. J Neurosci Res (1996) 45(6):758–69. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(19960915)45:6<758::AID-JNR12>3.0.CO;2-S
- 228. Glabinski AR, Balasingam V, Tani M, Kunkel SL, Strieter RM, Yong VW, et al. Chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 is expressed by astrocytes after mechanical injury to the brain. *J Immunol* (1996) **156**(11):4363–8.
- 229. Toft-Hansen H, Fuchtbauer L, Owens T. Inhibition of reactive astrocytosis in established experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis favors infiltration by myeloid cells over T cells and enhances severity of disease. *Glia* (2011) 59(1):166–76. doi:10.1002/glia.21088
- 230. Calderon TM, Eugenin EA, Lopez L, Kumar SS, Hesselgesser J, Raine CS, et al. A role for CXCL12 (SDF-1alpha) in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis: regulation of CXCL12 expression in astrocytes by soluble myelin basic protein. *J Neuroimmunol* (2006) 177(1–2):27–39. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.05.003
- 231. Zhang K, McQuibban GA, Silva C, Butler GS, Johnston JB, Holden J, et al. HIVinduced metalloproteinase processing of the chemokine stromal cell derived factor-1 causes neurodegeneration. *Nat Neurosci* (2003) 6(10):1064–71. doi: 10.1038/nn1127
- 232. Nash B, Ioannidou K, Barnett SC. Astrocyte phenotypes and their relationship to myelination. J Anat (2011) 219(1):44–52. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7580.2010. 01330.x

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 02 October 2014; accepted: 30 October 2014; published online: 13 November 2014.

Citation: Huber AK, Duncker PC and Irani DN (2014) Immune responses to non-tumor antigens in the central nervous system. Front. Oncol. **4**:328. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00328

This article was submitted to Neuro-Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Huber, Duncker and Irani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Leonel Ampie, Eric C. Woolf and Christopher Dardis\*

Department of Neurology, St. Joseph's Hospital and Medical Center, Barrow Neurological Institute, Phoenix, AZ, USA

#### Edited by:

Lois A. Lampson, Harvard Medical School, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Justin Lathia, Cleveland Clinic, USA Rajiv Khanna, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Australia Vinesh Puliyappadamba, University of Alabama, USA Stephen Gottschalk, Baylor College of Medicine, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Christopher Dardis, Department of Neurology, Barrow Neurological Institute, Suite 300, 500 W. Thomas Road, Phoenix, AZ 85013, USA e-mail: christopherdardis@gmail.com Immunotherapy seeks to improve the body's immune response to a tumor. Currently, the principal mechanisms employed are: (1) to improve an aspect of the immune response (e.g., T cell activation) and (2) to encourage the targeting of particular antigens. The latter is typically achieved by exposing the immune system to the antigen in question, *in vivo*, or *in vitro* followed by re-introduction of the primed cells to the body. The clinical relevance of these approaches has already been demonstrated for solid tumors such as melanoma and prostate cancer. The central nervous system was previously thought to be immune privileged. However, we know now that the immune system is highly active in the brain and interacts with brain tumors. Thus, harnessing and exploiting this interaction represents an important approach for treating malignant brain tumors. We present a summary of progress in this area, focusing particularly on immune-checkpoint inhibition, vaccines, and T cell engineering.

Keywords: immunotherapy, glioblastoma, vaccines, antibodies, monoclonal, checkpoint modulators, T cell engineering

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Patients with cancer are typically immunosuppressed. This appears to be a survival strategy of the more aggressive tumors and is in excess of that which would be expected by external factors such as chemotherapy, malnutrition and steroid use. When discussing immunotherapy for tumors affecting the nervous system, the prototype remains glioblastoma (GB, grade IV glioma). This is the most common malignant primary central nervous system (CNS) malignancy (1). Aside from developments in the treatment of systemic metastases to the brain, the use of immunotherapy of other CNS tumors is at a relatively less developed stage.

An early observation germane to this field was that tumors may (rarely) resolve following an infection. This phenomenon has been documented, for example, in locally advanced pancreatic cancer (2). Therapeutic applications of this observation began with William Coley in 1891, when he injected inactivated *Streptococcus Pyogenes* and *Serratia Marcescen* into patients with sarcoma (3). By inducing systemic immune activation, it was hoped that the immune system would also increase its activity against the tumor. Indeed, the vaccine *did* cause tumor regression in some patients (4). Another relatively non-specific approach, which has proven to be of clinical value, has been the use of the Bacillus Calmette–Guérin (BCG) vaccine in those affected by bladder cancer (5).

These early, non-specific approaches suffered from unpredictable clinical responses. The use of genetically modified live bacteria remains under active investigation, principally *Salmonella* (6). In the case of GB, the addition of live bacteria to surgical wounds in the hopes of triggering local inflammation has proved controversial (7).

More tumor-specific therapies have been developed, which do not rely on a generalized immune response. Such approaches have already proven advantageous in highly immunogenic malignancies such as melanoma (4). Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes are well recognized in GB. Studies to date have yielded conflicting data on the significance of these in relation to patient outcomes (8, 9). Nonetheless, their very presence makes enhancing their activity and specificity an attractive goal.

The gravity of GB has been a motivator for novel approaches. The median survival remains around 15 months and recurrence/progression is almost inevitable (10). Current treatment modalities include surgery, radiation, chemotherapy (temozolo-mide, bevacizumab, nitrosoureas), and electrical field treatment. This latter, known as NovoTTF-100A®, uses alternating electric fields to inhibit cell growth and has almost no side effects apart from local irritation of skin (11). The use of "targeted" chemotherapy, usually a single-agent specifically aimed at a particular cell-signaling pathway, has thus far been disappointing.

We focus on two emerging methods of harnessing the immune system in the treatment of GB:

- preventing the tumor from evading the immune system.
- exposing the immune system to antigens expressed by the tumor, thus stimulating it to attack the tumor.

To further illustrate these two points, we provide data from recently published clinical trials and from abstracts presented at the 2014 American Society of Clinical Oncology Annual Meeting (ASCO).

#### **CNS IMMUNOLOGY**

The CNS was previously considered as a relatively 'immuneprivileged' site. This was thought to reflect, in part, the protective nature of the blood-brain barrier (BBB). However, we now know that the CNS has an active and tightly regulated immune system (12). The circumventricular organs, which lack a BBB, have the ability to detect infection in the peripheral bloodstream. Areas with high vascularity, such as the leptomeninges and the choroid plexus, may also lead to microglial activation upon detection of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) in the bloodstream (13).

Microglia (phagocytic in function) are part of the evolutionarily older *innate* immune system. They are concentrated in the brain's gray matter and are less numerous in white matter (the tracts of which may be used by GB to move to new locations) (14). Aside from the production of pro-inflammatory factors in the presence of infection, microglia are believed to play a role in removing neurotoxic debris (e.g., preventing the amyloid- $\beta$ accumulation noted in Alzheimer's disease).

The *adaptive* arm of the immune system (responsible for immunologic memory) was thought to be limited in the CNS due to the lack of lymphatic channels. Instead, cellular waste from the interstitial fluid is transferred to the CSF for removal via the glymphatic system. Circulating lymphocytes may be found within the CNS in their activated form but naïve T cells are essentially absent (15–17).

However infiltration of lymphocytes, especially T cells, is increased in patients harboring GB as the BBB becomes disrupted, suggesting an important interaction between the immune system and the tumor (18, 19). The tumor responds with a number of strategies to counteract the immune system. These include down regulation of major histocompatibility complex (MHC, responsible for presenting antigens) (20), an increase in cytotoxic Tlymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) and programed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) (21, 22), IL-10 (23), TGF- $\beta$  (24), and by damping immune activity by recruiting regulatory T cells (T<sub>Regs</sub>) (25).

In addition to the BBB, the blood-tumor barrier must be overcome. The formation of new blood vessels by the tumor is often disorganized, with abnormal flow dynamics and immature pericytes, making recruitment of lymphocytes challenging. Experiments in mice and clinical observation support the view that immunotherapy is likely to be much less effective as the vasculature becomes more chaotic (26).

#### **IMMUNE-CHECKPOINTS**

Immune-checkpoints prevent excessive immune activation, which may lead to collateral damage in healthy tissue. GB makes use of this apparatus to impair nearby T cell functionality. GB induces a state of chronic antigen exposure, which gradually increases the expression of immune-checkpoint proteins and culminates in lymphocytic exhaustion or anergy (27). By overcoming this habituation, it is hoped that immune-mediated cytotoxicity may be recovered.

While many proteins involved in this process have been identified, we focus here on two for which clinical applications have been developed: CTLA-4 and PD-1. Both are responsible for the down regulation of T cell activity (28). CTLA-4 is located on cytotoxic (CD8+) and the two major subsets of helper (CD4+) T cells. This protein restricts the activity of the T cell (29, 30). The ligand for CTLA-4 is similar to that of the co-stimulatory receptor CD28, (a complex of CD80 and CD86). It is thought to be a competitive agonist at this site (31, 32). T cell activation is inhibited by reducing both the production of IL-2 and the expression of its receptor, as well as arresting lymphocytes in the G1 phase of the cell cycle (33). Additionally, this immune-checkpoint protein has been shown to enhance the suppressive function of  $T_{Reg}$  cells (34, 35).

Ipilimumab is an antibody, which inactivates CTLA-4. This was the first agent focusing on immune-checkpoint blockade to receive approval from the FDA (36). It is used for patients with melanoma and has proven to be effective for those with brain metastases (37). In GB, a similar approach has been hampered by safety concerns. One review of 10 patients demonstrated that treatment was devoid of significant toxicities in all but 1 patient (38). However, in a subsequent study with five patients, all experienced auto-immune-related adverse effects (39). This typically consisted of a rash with colitis and hypothyroidism; there was also one case each of encephalitis and partial status epilepticus.

PD-1 expression is induced upon activation of a T cell; it serves to limit the potentially deleterious activity of lymphocytes in peripheral tissues. PD-1 has been shown to be expressed by  $T_{regs}$  and activation of its receptor appears to aid in their proliferation (40). PD-1 is also expressed by B cells and NK cells (41).

Nivolumab is a therapeutic antibody against PD-1. Is has proven to be effective when used with ipilimumab in patients with melanoma (42). There is an ongoing phase III trial comparing its efficacy with bevacizumab in patients with recurrent glioblastoma (NCT02017717). Pembrolizumab is another such antibody. Its activity in patients with metastatic melanoma depends on the presence of pre-existing cytotoxic T cells, which are thought to be deactivated by the tumor (43).

PD-1 binds to a ligand, PD-L1. This latter is up-regulated in numerous types of cancer (44). However, the use of PD-L1 as a biomarker for response to therapeutic checkpoint blockade is complicated by its heterogeneous expression in tumors, complex signaling networks, and the normal expression found on lymphocytes and other cells within the tumor microenvironment. In GB, expression of PD-L1 has been linked to the loss of the tumor suppressor PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog) and consequently the PI3K–Akt signaling pathway (phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase – protein kinase B a.k.a. Akt) (45). An antibody blocking PD-L1, MPDL3280A, has shown efficacy in the setting of metastatic bladder cancer in a phase I trial (46). This approach appears most effective in those patients in whom pre-existing immunity is suppressed by PD-L1, as evidenced by high levels of PD-L1 and CTLA-4 expression (47).

A more radical approach to recovery of immune function is that of bone-marrow transplant. Autologous progenitor cells have been used in GB to facilitate higher doses of cytotoxic chemotherapy. However, given the mortality with a complete marrow transplant, this has not been the subject of a trial. Experience with other tumor types suggests that this process "resets" the immune system and thus allows for recovery of cytotoxicity (48).

#### VACCINES

Current approaches to immunotherapy may be classified as active or passive (49). "Passive" refers to antibodies to tumor antigens, or immune-conjugates aimed at targeted drug delivery (50). "Active" vaccines are intended to stimulate the patient's own immune response. They may be cell-based (e.g., pulsed dendritic cells) or non-cell based (i.e., heat-shock protein-based vaccines).

#### **PEPTIDE VACCINES**

Exposing short protein sequences to the immune system is usually done with peptides that are presented by HLA-A2 (human leukocyte antigen). This is the most common of the HLA subtypes but is found in only 50% of Caucasians and 30% of African-Americans. To overcome this limitation, antigens binding other class I HLAs have been developed, bringing population coverage to around 70%. Promising proteins from this line of investigation include: PTPRZ1 (receptor-type tyrosine-protein phosphatase zeta; function unclear but implicated in directional outgrowth of glioma cells), SEC61G (Protein transport protein Sec61 subunit gamma; involved in protein translocation across the endoplasmic reticulum for degradation), TNC (tenascin C; an extracellular glycoprotein typically expressed in development/differentiation and following injury), and EGFR (51).

EGFRvIII is a constitutively active mutant form of the epidermal growth factor receptor, which is present in approximately 33% of GB (52). Its presence is an independent negative prognostic indicator for survival in patients who manage to survive at least 1 year after initial diagnosis (53). A phase II trial was conducted in order to determine the immunogenicity, progression-free survival (PFS), and overall survival (OS) in patients who received a peptidebased vaccine (PEPvIII) targeted at EGFRvIII-expressing GB (54). Eligibility criteria included: gross total resection, Karnofsky performance status (KPS)  $\geq$  80%, and no evidence of progression after initial chemo-radiation. Immune reactivity after vaccination was monitored by observation of a delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) reaction to intradermal injections of PEPvIII and recall antigens. Eighteen patients were enrolled. Median PFS and OS were 14.2 and 26 months for those vaccinated vs. 6.3 and 15 months for controls. The skin test was performed in 17 patients; all showed no response prior to vaccination and all but 3 after vaccination. Of 14 patients tested, 6 demonstrated a positive humoral response against PEPvIII. The toxicity profile was deemed safe with most adverse reactions consisting of cutaneous reactions at the injection sites. (One patient had a severe allergic reaction). A phase III trial to confirm these results is ongoing.

#### **HEAT-SHOCK PROTEIN VACCINES**

Heat-shock proteins (HSP) are molecular chaperones; they provide protein stability by facilitating folding and aid in intra-cellular localization (55). Their activation is induced by adverse environments such as hypoxia, inflammation, and oxidative stress (56). Neoplastic cells are constantly exposed to such stressors; they rely on the HSP for survival.

A vaccine that includes HSP has proved safe and tolerable in a Phase I study of 12 patients with recurrent GB (57). After vaccination, peripheral leukocytes generally showed a response to HSP-96-bound peptides, as demonstrated by IFN- $\gamma$  production (via real-time PCR). Lymphocytic infiltrates expressing IFN- $\gamma$ were identified in those undergoing biopsy. Those showing an immune response to the vaccine showed an increase in median OS to 47 weeks vs. 16 in those with no response. In the subsequent phase II trial, 41 patients with gross total resection of recurrent GB were vaccinated with HSPPC-96 (58). The median PFS of this cohort was 19.1 weeks with a median OS of 42.6 weeks. In both studies, the treatment appeared safe and tolerable.

#### **AUTOLOGOUS VACCINES**

These techniques rely on *ex vivo* modification of the patient's immune system or of the tumor itself, followed by re-introduction of the altered cells. The immune system, particularly cytotoxic T lymphocytes, may be stimulated with tumor antigens. Neoplastic cells may be irradiated, or altered with viruses, in the hopes of increasing their immunogenicity and lowering their propensity for evasion of the immune system (49, 59).

Newcastle disease virus (NDV) combined with autologous tumor has been used as a vaccine. This virus has been shown to replicate selectively in neoplastic cells and to possess immunogenic properties (60). Twenty-three patients had their tumor surgically resected and incubated with hemagglutinating units of avirulent NDV. Concurrently, a control group was established, which comprised patients receiving standard care with a KPS of  $\geq$ 60. An improvement in median PFS and OS was seen by comparison with controls: 40 weeks vs. 26 and 100 weeks vs. 49, respectively. Significant DTH skin reactions were noted when vaccinated patients were tested against irradiated tumor cells, both virus-modified and unmodified (61).

Autologous formalin-fixed tumor vaccines (AFTV) use fixed tissue to sensitize T cells to tumor antigens. In a Phase I/IIa trial, 22 newly diagnosed patients with resected GB received AFTV with concomitant fractionated radiotherapy (62–65). Median PFS and OS were promising at 7.6 and 19.8 months. Again, the treatment combination was well tolerated and adverse events were mostly limited to cutaneous reactions induced by the injection (66).

#### DENDRITIC-CELL-BASED VACCINES

This process involves obtaining dendritic cells from a patient and pulsing them with glioma antigens derived from a resection. A major advantage is that multiple antigens may thus be presented (49, 67). This is of particular relevance to GB, which is known to display high intra-tumoral heterogeneity. Evidence of efficacy has already been established for metastatic prostate cancer with sipuleucel-T, although those with nervous system metastases were excluded from the pivotal trials (68).

DCVax-L<sup>®</sup> is another such dendritic-cell-based vaccine. In a phase I clinical trial, 23 patients with resected GB had an immunogenic lysate prepared from their tumor plus dendritic-cells derived from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC). The dendritic cells were supplemented with granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and IL-4 before exposure to the lysate. The treatment was safe, tolerable, and without evidence of dose-limiting toxicity (69). The median PFS and OS were 15.9 and 31.4 months, respectively. A randomized phase III trial is ongoing (NCT00045968).

This approach is also being explored as a way to target glioma stem cells, which represent a radioresistant and chemoresistant subpopulation of cells within a patient's tumor. In a phase I trial,
#### Table 1 | Immunotherapy-based clinical trials for glioblastoma, which are currently recruiting.

Trial name	Phase	Target accrual	Therapy	Primary outcome	Identifier
PEPTIDE-BASED					
Phase I/II trial of IMA950 multi-peptide vaccine plus poly-ICLC in glioblastoma	I/II	16	IMA950 multipeptide based vaccine/poly-ICLC/temozolomide/ radiotherapy	Safety, tolerability	NCT01920191
Safety and efficacy study of SL-701, glioma-associated antigen vaccine to treat recurrent glioblastoma multiforme	1/11	100	SL-701/imiquimod cream 5%/sargramostim 150 mg	Safety, tolerability, OS, ORR	NCT02078648
GAPVAC Phase I trial in newly diagnosed lioblastoma patients	I	20	APVAC1 vaccine/poly-ICLC/ GM-CSF APVAC2 vaccine/poly-ICLC/ GM-CSF	Safety, feasibility, biological activity	NCT02149225
hase I study of safety and immunogenicity of DU-623	Ι	38	ADU-623	Safety, tolerability, immunogenicity	NCT01967758
MMUNE CHECKPOINT BASED					
a randomized study of nivolumab vs. bevacizumab nd a safety study of nivolumab in adult subjects with ecurrent glioblastoma (GBM) (CheckMate 143)	111	260	Nivolumab, bevacizumab, ipilimumab	Safety, tolerability, efficacy	NCT02017717
IEAT-SHOCK PROTEIN BASED					
esearch for immunotherapy of glioblastoma with utologous heat-shock protein gp96	Ι	20	gp96	Safety, efficacy	NCT02122822
UTOLOGOUS-BASED					
Randomized phase II multicentre study to investigate fficacy of autologous lymphoid effector cells specific gainst tumor-cells (ALECSAT) in patients with lioblastoma multiform measured compared to vastin/irinotecan	II	175	ALECSAT/bevacizumab/irinotecan	PFS	NCT02060955
ilot study of autologous t cells redirected to GFRVIII-With a chimeric antigen receptor in patients /ith EGFRVIII + glioblastoma	Ι	12	CART-EGFRvIII T cells	Safety, feasibility	NCT02209376
ENDRITIC-CELL BASED					
tudy of a drug [DCVax <sup>®</sup> -L] to treat newly diagnosed BM brain cancer	111	300	DCVax <sup>®</sup> -L	Efficacy, PFS	NCT00045968
study of ICT-121 dendritic cell vaccine in recurrent lioblastoma	Ι	20	ICT-121 DC vaccine	Safety, tolerability	NCT02049489
Phase I study of a dendritic cell vaccine for patients vith either newly or recurrent glioblastoma	I	40	<sup>a</sup> Dendritic cell vaccination/ temozolomide/radiotherapy <sup>a</sup> Dendritic cell vaccination ± bevacizumab (for patients previously treated with bevacizumab)	Safety, tolerability	NCT02010606
Dendritic cell vaccine for patients with brain tumors	II	60	Autologous tumor lysate-pulsed DC vaccination $\pm$ (0.2% resiquimod or adjuvant poly-ICLC)	Efficacy	NCT01204684
asiliximab in treating patients with newly diagnosed lioblastoma multiforme undergoing targeted nmunotherapy and temozolomide-caused rmphopenia (REGULATe)	I	18	RNA-loaded dendritic cell vaccine (basiliximab)	Safety, efficacy	NCT00626483

(Continued)

#### Table 1 | Continued

Trial name	Phase	Target accrual	Therapy	Primary outcome	ldentifier
Vaccine therapy with or without sirolimus in treating patients with NY-ESO-1 expressing solid tumors	Ι	30	DEC-205-NY-ESO-1 $\pm$ sirolimus	Safety, tolerability	NCT01522820 (not glioma-specific)
Ph I personalized neoantigen cancer vaccine with radiotherapy for patients with MGMT unmethylated, newly diagnosed glioblastoma	Ι	20	Radiotherapy, personalized NeoAntigen Vaccine (NeoVax)	Safety, efficacy	NCT02287428
Dendritic cell vaccine for malignant glioma and glioblastoma multiforme in adult and pediatric subjects	Ι	20	DC vaccination/tumor lysate/ imiquimod	Safety, efficacy	NCT01808820
Vaccine therapy and temozolomide in treating patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma	Ι	10	DC vaccination/temozolomide	Safety	NCT01957956
Dendritic cell vaccine therapy with <i>in situ</i> maturation in pediatric brain tumors	Ι	20	DC vaccination/tumor lysate, imiquimod	Safety	NCT01902771
T-CELL BASED THERAPY					
CART cell receptor immunotherapy targeting EGFRvIII for patients with malignant gliomas expressing EGFRvIII	1/11	160	Anti-EGFRvIII CAR transduced PBL/aldesleukin/fludarabine/ cyclophosphamide	Safety, PFS	NCT01454596
Cellular immunotherapy study for brain cancer (alloCTL)	I	15	Alloreactive CTL	Safety, efficacy	NCT01144247
CMV-specific cytotoxicT lymphocytes expressing CAR targeting HER2 in patients with GBM (HERT–GBM)	Ι	18	HER2.CAR CMV-specific CTLs	Safety	NCT01109095

Therapy: Poly ICLC, an immunostimulant and ligand for the toll-like receptor; composed of carboxymethylcellulose, polylnosinic-polyCytidylic acid, and polyllysine double-stranded RNA; Sargramostim, recombinant granulocyte–monocyte colony-stimulating factor; GM-CSF, granulocyte–monocyte colony-stimulating factor; APVAC, activated personalized vaccination; DC, dendritic cell; PBL, peripheral blood lymphocytes; CAR, chimeric antigen receptor; Aldesleukin, recombinant IL-2; CMV, cytomegalovirus; CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocyte.

Outcomes: OS, overall survival; PFS, progression free survival; ORR, objective response rate.

Retrieved from https://clinicaltrials.gov/ on 12/18/2014.

17 patients with newly diagnosed GB were given a dendritic-cellbased vaccine with a combination of glioma stem cell antigens. This approach (the ICT-107 vaccine) reported a promising median PFS and OS of 16.9 and 38.4 months, respectively. Interestingly, five patients who underwent a subsequent resection had a decrease or absence of cells positive for CD133, a glioma stem cell marker (70). A phase II trial was initiated with the same vaccine but despite currently unpublished data demonstrating a significant increase in PFS, there was no increase in OS (49). A phase III trial is planned nonetheless. A similar concept has been applied in the production of a vaccine (ICT-121) that targets CD133positive glioma cells (CD 133 is an enrichment marker for cancer stem cells). A phase I trial involving this vaccine is underway (NCT02049489).

#### **VIRAL PROTEIN-BASED VACCINES**

A variety of studies have identified human cytomegalovirus (CMV) proteins and nucleic acids in approximately 90–100% of primary GBs (71–73). Although the role of CMV in the pathogenesis and progression of GB is not fully understood, the prevalence of these antigens in tumor cells and relative absence in normal surrounding tissue provides an important opportunity to develop targeted immunotherapeutics (74). Interestingly,

one patient receiving DCVax-L developed a specific anti-CMV (anti-pp65) cytotoxic T cell response (75).

To date, immunotherapeutic targeting of CMV has been tried in a limited number of patients with high-grade gliomas. One case study describes a patient with recurrent GB who received adoptive transfer of CMV-specific T cells concurrently with temozolomide, which resulted in 17 months without disease progression (76). Recently, a trial involving patients with GB demonstrated that the transfer of expanded CMV-specific T cells lead to a median OS of 403 days (vs. historical median OS of 180 days) and 4/10 patients who completed the treatment remained progression-free during the study period (77). Ongoing trials are assessing the use of CMV-specific T cells following drug-induced lymphopenia in GB (NCT00693095). Direct targeting of CMV with valganciclovir has been the subject of some controversy and is not currently recommended outside the context of a clinical trial (78).

#### **T CELL ENGINEERING**

Adoptive cell transfer using genetically engineered T cells represents another attractive immunotherapeutic approach to treating GB. T cells that recognize specific tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) can be generated by fusing an extracellular binding domain (usually derived from a TAA-specific monoclonal antibody) to the intra-cellular signaling domain of the T cell receptor (TCR) to form a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) (79). CAR T cell activation is MHC-independent and therefore circumvents issues involving down regulation of HLA class I molecules and defects in antigen processing that tumors use to evade T cell recognition (80). These engineered cells are also potentially more useful than antibody-based immunotherapies because they have the ability to migrate through blood vessel walls, penetrate solid tumor, and recruit addition components of the immune response (81). CARs have been developed for glioma-specific antigens, including HER2, IL-13R $\alpha$ 2, and EGFRvIII, and have demonstrated potent antitumor activity with *in vivo* models (81, 82).

Interestingly, the CARs generated against HER2 in GB patients, also recognized the CD133+ stem cell populations, that are thought to contribute to tumor recurrence (80). Mounting evidence that this has led to a number of clinical trials exploring the safety and effectiveness of CARs against HER2 (NCT01109095), IL-13R $\alpha$ 2 (NCT00730613; NCT01082926), and EGFRvIII (NCT01454596).

#### WHAT HAVE WE LEARNED?

Although immunotherapy has been with us for over a century, we are still in the preliminary stages of refining this therapeutic approach. Thus far, immune-based treatments have proven to be relatively safe with minimal toxicities, especially by comparison with traditional cytotoxic chemotherapy. Currently, it is estimated that <20% of patients with GB enroll in clinical trials, so increasing participation would appear to be a clear priority. Given the variety of methods receiving attention, much of the field is anticipated to be in phase I and II trials for some years (**Table 1**). Hence, the usual caveats apply regarding lack of power, lack of randomization, and the use of historical controls. In spite of this, the preliminary survival data have, on the whole, been encouraging.

Using peripheral immune reactivity as a surrogate marker for disease activity (and thus outcomes) is attractive, in that it may allow for more rapid development of active agents. In practice, it has thus far led to mixed results. While some trials link immune reactivity with a better prognosis, others show no such association (83). It is hoped that greater standardization and more refined methods will overcome these difficulties.

Trials to date have studied the effects of immune-checkpoint inhibitors and vaccines separately. As our knowledge of these treatments increases, we can begin to consider combining both. Such an approach has already been shown to be efficacious in a murine model of glioma (84).

Approaches targeting specifically just one antigen have the drawback that evolution of resistance appears almost inevitable in those with GB. Such difficulties are well recognized in solid tumors to which "targeted" approaches have been applied: at least two such agents are thought to be necessary (to inhibit tumor growth) and preferably three (85). Those which aim to simulate the immune system or expose it to a broad range of antigens thus hold greater promise. As data on the safety of single-agent approaches accrues and as patents expire, rational multi-agent combinations are likely to become the norm for most patients.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest. One author received grant support from the Howard Hughes Medical Institute (Leonel Ampie).

#### **REFERENCES**

- Field KM, Jordan JT, Wen PY, Rosenthal MA, Reardon DA. Bevacizumab and glioblastoma: scientific review, newly reported updates, and ongoing controversies. *Cancer* (2014). doi:10.1002/cncr.28935
- Hoption Cann SF, Gunn HD, van Netten JP. Spontaneous regression of pancreatic cancer. Case Rep Clin Pract Rev (2004) 5:293–6.
- 3. McCarthy EF. The toxins of William B. Coley and the treatment of bone and soft-tissue sarcomas. *Iowa Orthop J* (2006) **26**:154–8.
- Lebbe C, Weber JS, Maio M, Neyns B, Harmankaya K, Hamid O, et al. Survival follow-up and ipilimumab retreatment for patients with advanced melanoma who received ipilimumab in prior phase II studies. *Ann Oncol* (2014) 25(11):2277–84. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdu441
- Chakrabarty AM. Microorganisms and cancer: quest for a therapy. J Bacteriol (2003) 185:2683–6. doi:10.1128/JB.185.9.2683-2686.2003
- Chorobik P, Czaplicki D, Ossysek K, Bereta J. Salmonella and cancer: from pathogens to therapeutics. *Acta Biochim Pol* (2013) 60:285–97.
- 7. Lundstrom M. 2 UC Davis Neurosurgeons Accused of Experimental Surgery are Banned from Human Research. California, CA: Sacramento Bee (2012).
- Kmiecik J, Poli A, Brons NH, Waha A, Eide GE, Enger PO, et al. Elevated CD3+ and CD8+ tumor-infiltrating immune cells correlate with prolonged survival in glioblastoma patients despite integrated immunosuppressive mechanisms in the tumor microenvironment and at the systemic level. *J Neuroimmunol* (2013) 264:71–83. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013.08.013
- Yue Q, Zhang X, Ye HX, Wang Y, Du ZG, Yao Y, et al. The prognostic value of Foxp3+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in patients with glioblastoma. J Neurooncol (2014) 116:251–9. doi:10.1007/s11060-013-1314-0
- Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJ, et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. *N Engl J Med* (2005) 352:987–96. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa043330
- Fonkem E, Wong ET. NovoTTF-100A: a new treatment modality for recurrent glioblastoma. *Expert Rev Neurother* (2012) 12:895–9. doi:10.1586/ern.12.80
- Ransohoff RM, Engelhardt B. The anatomical and cellular basis of immune surveillance in the central nervous system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12:623–35. doi:10.1038/nri3265
- Rivest S. Regulation of innate immune responses in the brain. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:429–39. doi:10.1038/nri2565
- Torres-Platas SG, Comeau S, Rachalski A, Bo GD, Cruceanu C, Turecki G, et al. Morphometric characterization of microglial phenotypes in human cerebral cortex. J Neuroinflammation (2014) 11:12. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-11-12
- Hickey WF, Hsu BL, Kimura H. T-lymphocyte entry into the central nervous system. J Neurosci Res (1991) 28:254–60. doi:10.1002/jnr.490280213
- Heimberger AB, Sampson JH. Immunotherapy coming of age: what will it take to make it standard of care for glioblastoma? *Neuro Oncol* (2011) 13:3–13. doi:10.1093/neuonc/noq169
- Thomas AA, Ernstoff MS, Fadul CE. Immunotherapy for the treatment of glioblastoma. *Cancer J* (2012) 18:59–68. doi:10.1097/PPO.0b013e3182431a73
- Vauleon E, Avril T, Collet B, Mosser J, Quillien V. Overview of cellular immunotherapy for patients with glioblastoma. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2010) 2010:689171. doi:10.1155/2010/689171
- Wilson EH, Weninger W, Hunter CA. Trafficking of immune cells in the central nervous system. J Clin Invest (2010) 120:1368–79. doi:10.1172/JCI41911
- Mehling M, Simon P, Mittelbronn M, Meyermann R, Ferrone S, Weller M, et al. WHO grade associated downregulation of MHC class I antigen-processing machinery components in human astrocytomas: does it reflect a potential immune escape mechanism? *Acta Neuropathol* (2007) **114**:111–9. doi:10.1007/ s00401-007-0231-8
- El Andaloussi A, Lesniak MS. An increase in CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes of human glioblastoma multiforme. *Neuro Oncol* (2006) 8:234–43. doi:10.1215/15228517-2006-006
- 22. Jacobs JF, Idema AJ, Bol KF, Nierkens S, Grauer OM, Wesseling P, et al. Regulatory T cells and the PD-L1/PD-1 pathway mediate immune suppression in

malignant human brain tumors. *Neuro Oncol* (2009) **11**:394–402. doi:10.1215/ 15228517-2008-104

- Zisakis A, Piperi C, Themistocleous MS, Korkolopoulou P, Boviatsis EI, Sakas DE, et al. Comparative analysis of peripheral and localised cytokine secretion in glioblastoma patients. *Cytokine* (2007) **39**:99–105. doi:10.1016/j.cyto. 2007.05.012
- Joseph JV, Balasubramaniyan V, Walenkamp A, Kruyt FA. TGF-beta as a therapeutic target in high grade gliomas – promises and challenges. *Biochem Phar*macol (2013) 85:478–85. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2012.11.005
- 25. Learn CA, Fecci PE, Schmittling RJ, Xie W, Karikari I, Mitchell DA, et al. Profiling of CD4+, CD8+, and CD4+CD25+CD45RO+FoxP3+ T cells in patients with malignant glioma reveals differential expression of the immunologic transcriptome compared with T cells from healthy volunteers. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12:7306–15. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-1727
- Manzur M, Hamzah J, Ganss R. Modulation of the "blood-tumor" barrier improves immunotherapy. *Cell Cycle* (2008) 7:2452–5. doi:10.4161/cc.7.16.6451
- Ngiow SF, Teng MW, Smyth MJ. Prospects for TIM3-targeted antitumor immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:6567–71. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1487
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12:252–64. doi:10.1038/nrc3239
- 29. Schwartz RH. Costimulation of T lymphocytes: the role of CD28, CTLA-4, and B7/BB1 in interleukin-2 production and immunotherapy. *Cell* (1992) 71:1065–8. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(05)80055-8
- Rudd CE, Taylor A, Schneider H. CD28 and CTLA-4 coreceptor expression and signal transduction. *Immunol Rev* (2009) 229:12–26. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X. 2009.00770.x
- Linsley PS, Brady W, Urnes M, Grosmaire LS, Damle NK, Ledbetter JA. CTLA-4 is a second receptor for the B cell activation antigen B7. J Exp Med (1991) 174:561–9. doi:10.1084/jem.174.3.561
- 32. Freeman GJ, Gribben JG, Boussiotis VA, Ng JW, Restivo VA Jr, Lombard LA, et al. Cloning of B7-2: a CTLA-4 counter-receptor that costimulates human T cell proliferation. *Science* (1993) 262:909–11. doi:10.1126/science.7694363
- Alegre ML, Frauwirth KA, Thompson CB. T-cell regulation by CD28 and CTLA-4. Nat Rev Immunol (2001) 1:220–8. doi:10.1038/35105024
- 34. Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P, Yamaguchi T, Miyara M, Fehervari Z, et al. CTLA-4 control over Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function. *Science* (2008) 322:271–5. doi:10.1126/science.1160062
- Peggs KS, Quezada SA, Chambers CA, Korman AJ, Allison JP. Blockade of CTLA-4 on both effector and regulatory T cell compartments contributes to the antitumor activity of anti-CTLA-4 antibodies. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206:1717–25. doi:10.1084/jem.20082492
- Callahan MK, Wolchok JD. At the bedside: CTLA-4- and PD-1-blocking antibodies in cancer immunotherapy. J Leukoc Biol (2013) 94:41–53. doi:10.1189/ jlb.1212631
- 37. Knisely JP, Yu JB, Flanigan J, Sznol M, Kluger HM, Chiang VL. Radiosurgery for melanoma brain metastases in the ipilimumab era and the possibility of longer survival. *J Neurosurg* (2012) 117:227–33. doi:10.3171/2012.5. JNS111929
- Schaff LR, Lassman AB, Goldlust SA, Cloughesy TF, Singer S, Schwartz GK, et al. Ipilimumab for recurrent glioblastoma (GB). J Clin Oncol (2014) 32:e13026.
- Hu JL, Sharma P, Yu J, Black KL, Rudnick JD. Ipilimumab for recurrent glioblastoma: a single-institution case series. J Clin Oncol (2014) 32:e13010.
- Francisco LM, Salinas VH, Brown KE, Vanguri VK, Freeman GJ, Kuchroo VK, et al. PD-L1 regulates the development, maintenance, and function of induced regulatory T cells. J Exp Med (2009) 206:3015–29. doi:10.1084/jem.20090847
- 41. Velu V, Titanji K, Zhu B, Husain S, Pladevega A, Lai L, et al. Enhancing SIV-specific immunity in vivo by PD-1 blockade. *Nature* (2009) 458:206–10. doi:10.1038/nature07662
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369:122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369
- Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. *Nature* (2014) 515:568–71. doi:10.1038/nature13954
- Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumorassociated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. *Nat Med* (2002) 8:793–800. doi:10.1038/nm730

- Parsa AT, Waldron JS, Panner A, Crane CA, Parney IF, Barry JJ, et al. Loss of tumor suppressor PTEN function increases B7-H1 expression and immunoresistance in glioma. Nat Med (2007) 13:84–8. doi:10.1038/nm1517
- 46. Powles T, Eder JP, Fine GD, Braiteh FS, Loriot Y, Cruz C, et al. MPDL3280A (anti-PD-L1) treatment leads to clinical activity in metastatic bladder cancer. *Nature* (2014) 515:558–62. doi:10.1038/nature13904
- Herbst RS, Soria JC, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. *Nature* (2014) 515:563–7. doi:10.1038/nature14011
- Petrosiute A, Auletta JJ, Lazarus HM. Achieving graft-versus-tumor effect in brain tumor patients: from autologous progenitor cell transplant to active immunotherapy. *Immunotherapy* (2012) 4:1139–51. doi:10.2217/imt.12.96
- Sayegh ET, Oh T, Fakurnejad S, Bloch O, Parsa AT. Vaccine therapies for patients with glioblastoma. J Neurooncol (2014) 119:531–46. doi:10.1007/s11060-014-1502-6
- Smaglo BG, Aldeghaither D, Weiner LM. The development of immunoconjugates for targeted cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2014) 11(11):637–48. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.159
- Neidert MC, Schoor O, Trautwein C, Trautwein N, Christ L, Melms A, et al. Natural HLA class I ligands from glioblastoma: extending the options for immunotherapy. J Neurooncol (2013) 111:285–94. doi:10.1007/s11060-012-1028-8
- Wong AJ, Ruppert JM, Bigner SH, Grzeschik CH, Humphrey PA, Bigner DS, et al. Structural alterations of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene in human gliomas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1992) 89:2965–9. doi:10.1073/pnas. 89.7.2965
- Heimberger AB, Hlatky R, Suki D, Yang D, Weinberg J, Gilbert M, et al. Prognostic effect of epidermal growth factor receptor and EGFRvIII in glioblastoma multiforme patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11:1462–6. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-04-1737
- 54. Sampson JH, Heimberger AB, Archer GE, Aldape KD, Friedman AH, Friedman HS, et al. Immunologic escape after prolonged progression-free survival with epidermal growth factor receptor variant III peptide vaccination in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol (2010) 28:4722–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.28.6963
- Powers MV, Jones K, Barillari C, Westwood I, van Montfort RL, Workman P. Targeting HSP70: the second potentially druggable heat shock protein and molecular chaperone? *Cell Cycle* (2010) 9:1542–50. doi:10.4161/cc.9.8.11204
- Young JC, Agashe VR, Siegers K, Hartl FU. Pathways of chaperone-mediated protein folding in the cytosol. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2004) 5:781–91. doi:10. 1038/nrm1492
- Crane CA, Han SJ, Ahn B, Oehlke J, Kivett V, Fedoroff A, et al. Individual patientspecific immunity against high-grade glioma after vaccination with autologous tumor derived peptides bound to the 96 KD chaperone protein. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19:205–14. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-3358
- Bloch O, Crane CA, Fuks Y, Kaur R, Aghi MK, Berger MS, et al. Heatshock protein peptide complex-96 vaccination for recurrent glioblastoma: a phase II, single-arm trial. *Neuro Oncol* (2014) 16:274–9. doi:10.1093/neuonc/ not203
- Jackson C, Ruzevick J, Brem H, Lim M. Vaccine strategies for glioblastoma: progress and future directions. *Immunotherapy* (2013) 5:155–67. doi:10.2217/ imt.12.155
- 60. Schirrmacher V, Haas C, Bonifer R, Ahlert T, Gerhards R, Ertel C. Human tumor cell modification by virus infection: an efficient and safe way to produce cancer vaccine with pleiotropic immune stimulatory properties when using Newcastle disease virus. *Gene Ther* (1999) 6:63–73. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3300787
- 61. Steiner HH, Bonsanto MM, Beckhove P, Brysch M, Geletneky K, Ahmadi R, et al. Antitumor vaccination of patients with glioblastoma multiforme: a pilot study to assess feasibility, safety, and clinical benefit. *J Clin Oncol* (2004) 22:4272–81. doi:10.1200/JCO.2004.09.038
- Liu SQ, Saijo K, Todoroki T, Ohno T. Induction of human autologous cytotoxic T lymphocytes on formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded tumour sections. *Nat Med* (1995) 1:267–71. doi:10.1038/nm0395-267
- Liu SQ, Shiraiwa H, Kawai K, Hayashi H, Akaza H, Kim BS, et al. Tumorspecific autologous cytotoxic T lymphocytes from tissue sections. *Nat Med* (1996) 2:1283. doi:10.1038/nm1296-1283
- 64. Ohno T. Autologous formalin-fixed tumor vaccine. *Curr Pharm Des* (2005) 11:1181–8. doi:10.2174/1381612053507620

- Ohno T. Autologous cancer vaccine: a novel formulation. *Microbiol Immunol* (2003) 47:255–63. doi:10.1111/j.1348-0421.2003.tb03393.x
- 66. Muragaki Y, Maruyama T, Iseki H, Tanaka M, Shinohara C, Takakura K, et al. Phase I/IIa trial of autologous formalin-fixed tumor vaccine concomitant with fractionated radiotherapy for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *J Neurosurg* (2011) 115:248–55. doi:10.3171/2011.4.JNS10377
- Tanaka S, Louis DN, Curry WT, Batchelor TT, Dietrich J. Diagnostic and therapeutic avenues for glioblastoma: no longer a dead end? *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2013) 10:14–26. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2012.204
- Tse BW, Jovanovic L, Nelson CC, De Souza P, Power CA, Russell PJ. From bench to bedside: immunotherapy for prostate cancer. *Biomed Res Int* (2014) 2014:981434. doi:10.1155/2014/981434
- Prins RM, Soto H, Konkankit V, Odesa SK, Eskin A, Yong WH, et al. Gene expression profile correlates with T-cell infiltration and relative survival in glioblastoma patients vaccinated with dendritic cell immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:1603–15. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2563
- Phuphanich S, Wheeler CJ, Rudnick JD, Mazer M, Wang H, Nuno MA, et al. Phase I trial of a multi-epitope-pulsed dendritic cell vaccine for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) 62:125–35. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1319-0
- Cobbs CS, Harkins L, Samanta M, Gillespie GY, Bharara S, King PH, et al. Human cytomegalovirus infection and expression in human malignant glioma. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62:3347–50.
- Scheurer ME, Bondy ML, Aldape KD, Albrecht T, El-Zein R. Detection of human cytomegalovirus in different histological types of gliomas. *Acta Neuropathol* (2008) 116:79–86. doi:10.1007/s00401-008-0359-1
- 73. Dziurzynski K, Chang SM, Heimberger AB, Kalejta RF, McGregor Dallas SR, Smit M, et al. Consensus on the role of human cytomegalovirus in glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol* (2012) 14:246–55. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nor227
- 74. Landi D, Hegde M, Ahmed N. Human cytomegalovirus antigens in malignant gliomas as targets for adoptive cellular therapy. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:338. doi:10.3389/fonc.2014.00338
- Prins RM, Cloughesy TF, Liau LM. Cytomegalovirus immunity after vaccination with autologous glioblastoma lysate. N Engl J Med (2008) 359:539–41. doi:10.1056/NEJMc0804818
- Crough T, Beagley L, Smith C, Jones L, Walker DG, Khanna R. Ex vivo functional analysis, expansion and adoptive transfer of cytomegalovirus-specific T-cells in patients with glioblastoma multiforme. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2012) **90**:872–80. doi:10.1038/icb.2012.19
- 77. Schuessler A, Smith C, Beagley L, Boyle GM, Rehan S, Matthews K, et al. Autologous T-cell therapy for cytomegalovirus as a consolidative treatment for recurrent glioblastoma. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74:3466–76. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-14-0296
- Weller M, Soffietti R, Brada M. The legend of cytomegalovirus and glioblastoma lives on. *Neuro Oncol* (2014) 16:166. doi:10.1093/neuonc/not204

- 79. Eshhar Z, Waks T, Gross G, Schindler DG. Specific activation and targeting of cytotoxic lymphocytes through chimeric single chains consisting of antibody-binding domains and the gamma or zeta subunits of the immunoglobulin and T-cell receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1993) **90**:720–4. doi:10.1073/ pnas.90.2.720
- Ahmed N, Salsman VS, Kew Y, Shaffer D, Powell S, Zhang YJ, et al. HER2specific T cells target primary glioblastoma stem cells and induce regression of autologous experimental tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2010) 16:474–85. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1322
- 81. Miao H, Choi BD, Suryadevara CM, Sanchez-Perez L, Yang S, De Leon G, et al. EGFRvIII-specific chimeric antigen receptor T cells migrate to and kill tumor deposits infiltrating the brain parenchyma in an invasive xenograft model of glioblastoma. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(4):e94281. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0094281
- Bullain SS, Sahin A, Szentirmai O, Sanchez C, Lin N, Baratta E, et al. Genetically engineered T cells to target EGFRvIII expressing glioblastoma. *J Neurooncol* (2009) 94:373–82. doi:10.1007/s11060-009-9889-1
- 83. Maki RG, Livingston PO, Lewis JJ, Janetzki S, Klimstra D, Desantis D, et al. A phase I pilot study of autologous heat shock protein vaccine HSPPC-96 in patients with resected pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Dig Dis Sci* (2007) 52:1964–72. doi:10.1007/s10620-006-9205-2
- 84. Agarwalla P, Barnard Z, Fecci P, Dranoff G, Curry WT Jr. Sequential immunotherapy by vaccination with GM-CSF-expressing glioma cells and CTLA-4 blockade effectively treats established murine intracranial tumors. *J Immunother* (2012) 35:385–9. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3182562d59
- Bozic I, Reiter JG, Allen B, Antal T, Chatterjee K, Shah P, et al. Evolutionary dynamics of cancer in response to targeted combination therapy. *Elife* (2013) 25(2):e00747. doi:10.7554/eLife.00747

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 12 November 2014; accepted: 12 January 2015; published online: 29 January 2015.

Citation: Ampie L, Woolf EC and Dardis C (2015) Immunotherapeutic advancements for glioblastoma. Front. Oncol. 5:12. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00012

This article was submitted to Neuro-Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2015 Ampie, Woolf and Dardis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Brain tumor immunotherapy: what have we learned so far?

Stefaan Willy Van Gool \*

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

High grade glioma is a rare brain cancer, incurable in spite of modern neurosurgery, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy. Novel approaches are in research, and immunotherapy emerges as a promising strategy. Clinical experiences with active specific immunotherapy demonstrate feasibility, safety and most importantly, but incompletely understood, prolonged long-term survival in a fraction of the patients. In relapsed patients, we developed an immunotherapy schedule and we categorized patients into clinically defined risk profiles. We learned how to combine immunotherapy with standard multimodal treatment strategies for newly diagnosed glioblastoma multiforme patients. The developmental program allows further improvements related to newest scientific insights. Finally, we developed a mode of care within academic centers to organize cell-based therapies for experimental clinical trials in a large number of patients.

#### OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lois A. Lampson, Harvard Medical School, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Matthias Eyrich, University Children's Hospital Würzburg, Germany Serena Pellegatta, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Neurologico C. Besta, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Stefaan Willy Van Gool, Laboratory of Pediatric Immunology, Herestraat 49, Leuven 3000, Belgium vangoolstefaan@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuro-Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 20 October 2014 Accepted: 13 April 2015 Published: 17 June 2015

#### Citation:

Van Gool SW (2015) Brain tumor immunotherapy: what have we learned so far?. Front. Oncol. 5:98. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00098 Keywords: immunotherapy, malignant glioma, dendritic cell vaccines, immunomodulation, galectin-1, oncolytic viruses

## Introduction

High grade gliomas (HGG) are brain tumors occurring in adults and children. The WHO grade IV HGG, called glioblastoma multiforme (GBM), is the most frequent brain cancer in adults with an incidence of 3-4 per 100,000 adults per year (1) and 2 per million children (2). The treatment for these patients consists primarily of maximal safe surgery in order to debulk the tumoral mass for symptomatic relief and to obtain tissue for histological diagnosis, followed by radiochemotherapy and maintenance chemotherapy to induce optimal local tumor control. In spite of improved surgery and radiotherapy, and the addition of temozolomide (TMZ) to the multimodal treatment strategy, the prognosis of patients with GBM remains poor: the median overall survival (OS) is about 15 months, with 88% of patients dying within 3 years (3, 4). Relapse is universal and is believed to be due to the extensive spread of tumor cells into surrounding regions of the brain (5, 6). At the time of relapse, the prognosis is particularly poor, with reports of 100% mortality within 18 months (7). A recent review pointed to the progression-free survival (PFS) at 6 month and median OS as most useful and accessible end points, the latter ranging between 5 and 13 months for relapsed GBM patients (8). The prognosis upon recurrence might be improving with the initiation of new multimodal treatment strategies (9-11). Most reports are not yet focusing on long-term survival. In spite of being an orphan disease, the tumor still causes the highest number of years of life lost due to cancer (12). One of the particular challenges with classical chemotherapeutic strategies is overcoming the blood-brain barrier. Therefore, preclinical research is focused on alternate approaches, such as targeted therapy (13) including anti-angiogenesis strategies (14), and especially immunotherapy. Treating cancer by means of immunotherapy (e.g., cancer vaccines, adoptive cell transfer, and checkpoint blockade) has slowly evolved over decades in a nowadays

clinically applicable treatment in a number of cancer types (e.g., metastatic melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, non-small cell lung cancer, prostate cancer. . .).

Active specific immunotherapy with autologous mature dendritic cells (DCm) loaded with autologous tumor cell lysate (DCm-HGG-L) is an emerging and innovative treatment approach for patients with HGG. The development of DC therapy in HGG has started in 1999 in our center. Since then, we established a complete translational research program from bench to bed (Figure 1) including in vitro experiments (15, 16), in vivo experiments in the GL261 model (17-19), early clinical phase I/II clinical trials as part of the HGG-IMMUNO-2003 cohort comparison trial for relapsed HGG patients (20-26), a phase I/II clinical trial HGG-2006 for patients with newly diagnosed GBM (EudraCT 2006-002881-20) (27, 28), and the recently finished phase IIb prospective placebo-controlled double-blind randomized clinical trial (RCT) HGG-2010 (EudraCT 2009-018228-14). In parallel to this clinical program, advanced MRI studies have been performed on HGG, in particular to characterize immunotherapy-related changes (29-32). In this program, insights from preclinical research were translated into the HGG-IMMUNO-2003 cohort (A-D) comparison trial. Data from these cohorts were then used for integration into the multimodal treatment of patients with primary diagnosis of GBM. As such, the vaccination technology from cohort C was used for the HGG-2006 trial, while the technology from cohort D is now used for the RCT HGG-2010. In parallel, according to the evolving legislation, the preparation for the clinical applications was embedded into a Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) facility within the University Hospitals Leuven. The translation back from bed to bench has been realized by samplings of tumor tissue and blood samples taken at defined vaccination time points. The new preclinical research perspectives in 2014 include galectin-1 targeting as a strategy for immunomodulation and oncolytic virus therapy.

The preclinical and clinical results, together with clinical results obtained independently by other research teams provide a strong rationale to continue exploration of immunotherapy in patients with HGG. We summarized our insights in several reviews and commentary papers (33–39). The emerging field of immunotherapy for HGG has been extensively reviewed by other researchers as well (40–43). A first meta-analysis on the available results in the literature show clear benefit of immunotherapy for OS (44). In this review, it is our intention to focus on our own experience.

# Rationale for Active Specific Immunotherapy Against HGG

### **Theoretical Concept of Dendritic Cell Vaccination**

Dendritic cells (DCs) are a subset of white blood cells, critical to most aspects of adaptive immunity due to their central role as specialized antigen-presenting cells (APCs) in the initiation phase of T cell responses (45). Typically DCs reside as immature cells in almost every organ and tissue at the interface of potential pathogen entry sites. Danger-triggered DCs start to mature: they up-regulate chemokine receptors, which guide them to draining lymph nodes. There, the mature DCs are capable of inducing primary T cell responses due to their high levels of major histocompatibility complex (MHC), adhesion and costimulatory molecule expression. As opposed to the other APC, DCs are able to present and cross-present the antigenic peptides in the context of both MHC Class II and Class I molecules, respectively (46, 47).



In this way, they can prime not only CD4+T helper cells, but also CD8+ cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) (48). Both effector cell types are believed to be necessary to induce an effective cell-mediated immune response (49).

Dendritic cells are not only sentinels in the adaptive immune response, but have also been shown to be strong activators of NK cells and NKT cells (50), thus linking the innate and adaptive immune responses. In this way, both tumor cells with and without expression of MHC class I molecules can theoretically be killed (51). All these particular characteristics make DCs a perfect adjuvant in active specific immunotherapeutic strategies, in which one aims to induce a specific immune response *in vivo* (52–55).

# Justification of the Use of Dendritic Cell Technology in Glioma Therapy

Gliomas have been shown to express an impressive collection of glioma-associated antigens (GAAs) (56). Till today, antigen search is a field of interest (57) including even tumor-driving mechanisms (58). Up till now, however, identification of a universally expressed GAA with a critical downstream cell survivalrelated function has not been identified. Therefore, just targeting the known GAA using individual peptides would inherently lead to immune escape because of the positive clonal selection of antigen-loss variants (59, 60): those tumor cell clones that do not express the particular, targeted GAA (anymore), will escape from the immune rejection and thus have an important proliferation advantage as compared to the cell clones that do express the targeted GAA. That heterogeneity in GAA expression in gliomas represents the main reason to use whole tumor cell lysates as a source of GAAs to load the DC. In case, the GAAs are expressed not only exclusively on the tumor cells but also on normal healthy cells, tolerance and induction of auto-immunity are possible, both being theoretical hurdles to a beneficial immune response: in the former case, an antitumoral immune response cannot be induced because the GAA is considered a self-antigen and in the latter case, a pathological immune response against normal tissues is mounted.

In general, tumor vaccination strategies are not entirely new anymore (52). Especially for the spontaneously more immunogenic tumors like malignant melanoma (61), renal cell carcinoma (62), mesothelioma (63), leukemia (64), gynecological tumors (65–67) and prostate carcinoma (68), several vaccination strategies have been used in the past. Large-scale production of clinical grade DCs became possible (69), including the development of several closed culture systems to obtain large amounts of DCs for clinical use (70–72). DC vaccination for prostate cancer reached full marketing authorization (Provenge<sup>®</sup>).

The brain, once considered as immune privileged site (73), is a dynamic immunological environment. Astrocytes, microglia and infiltrating immune cells play a major role in the brain during host immunity to antigens (74). The question of immune privilege in the context of malignant glioma is fading (56, 75). Proof of the principle of immunotherapy has been demonstrated in *in vitro* experiments (15, 16) and in several rodent models (37). In these models, induction of protective immunity and immunological memory against syngeneic orthotopic gliomas have been shown

after vaccination with DCs loaded with GAAs of different antigen sources.

# Immunotherapy for Patients with Relapsed HGG

## **Overview of Different Cohorts**

We started in 2001 to implement preclinical insights into clinical practice after obtaining approval of the local Ethics Committee. Since 2003, we initiated the HGG-IMMUNO-2003 study protocols consisting of sequential therapy-optimalization protocols in consecutive cohorts for patients with relapsed HGG. It is aimed to prove the feasibility and explore the efficacy of immune therapy for HGG, and to "dissect" different aspects of the immune therapy in order to find a putative ideal vaccination strategy. Cohorts have been built up on the most recent insights in vaccination strategy available at time of preparation of the cohort protocol (**Figure 2**).

- *Cohort A.* The DC vaccination schedule existed of five intradermal injections of autologous mature DC loaded with autologous tumor antigens. DC maturation was induced with the classical cytokine cocktail (IL-1b, TNF-a, PGE2). The latter cytokine cocktail was based primarily on the socalled Jonuleit cocktail (76). Already from the beginning, we omitted IL-6 out of the cocktail. IL-6 was known to play a major role in the induction of a Th17 phenotype of T cell response (77). Injections were administered at week 1, 3, 7, 11, 15.
- *Cohort B.* Based on the observations made in the patient group treated according to the vaccination schedule in cohort A, injections with autologous mature DC loaded with tumor-derived antigens were administered at week 1, 3, 5, 7, (9) and further each 4 weeks.
- *Cohort C.* Based on further observations made in the patient groups treated according to both prior vaccination schedules and based on recent insights in *in vivo* models upon priming with DC and boosting with lysate instead of DC (78), patients were treated with 4 weekly DC-HGG-L injections followed by monthly boosting with HGG-L.
- Cohort D. In this cohort, we omitted PGE2 out of the maturation cocktail. PGE2 was already long time ago linked to the induction of a DC2-type (79). Because of its importance for the induction mainly of the mobility of DC (80), it was kept in the classical maturation cocktail. However, PGE2 was later-on also shown to induce IDO activity in human DC, thereby creating a tolerizing DC phenotype (81). Moreover, PGE2 upregulated CD25 on DC, as such believed as a marker of strong DC maturation, but a marker, of which was shown that it was shed in the surrounding thereby consuming the IL-2 needed for autocrine T cell activation. Because not-fully maturated DC themselves play a role in tolerance induction (82), we wanted to apply a method to induce with imiquimod in vivo DC maturation after injection (83-86). Imiquimod binds to Toll-like receptor 7 and induces strong DC maturation and activation. Moreover, its role in generating immune responses in a preclinical in vivo model of HGG has been described (85). Based on this rationale, PGE2 ex vivo maturation was replaced by local application

of imiquimod to increase in vivo maturation and activation of loaded DC. Within this cohort, we switched at a certain time point from the open cell culture methodology toward a closed cell culture methodology. This group of patients was defined as cohort D(e). The monocytes were isolated with Elutra instead of plastic adherence. Elutriation allows for fast and easy enrichment of monocytes within a closed system, and is superior to other GMP-approved methods (87-89). DCs were cultured in VueLife tissue culture bags instead of Falcon culture flasks. The cytokines used for differentiation and maturation were GMP-certified. Finally, four batches of GMP-DCm-HGG-L were produced at the same time, of which the first was injected immediately as vaccine, while the three other batches were frozen until use. For each of the three remaining induction vaccinations, a batch was thawed and washed once before injection. Of note, the open cell culture methodology continued to include children with relapsed HGG, because the closed culture systems could not be applied to the leukapheresis product of children.

### **Updated Clinical Results**

Patients suspected of a relapse of HGG, who could be taken into consideration for immunotherapy, were re-operated upon to maximally remove the tumor and in order to obtain tissue as a source of tumor proteins. Part of the tumor was provided for pathology diagnosis, part was placed immediately in a sterile vial, to be stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C. Because of the large amount of tumor tissue needed for vaccine production, in rare cases it was impossible for the pathologist to unequivocally prove the recurrent pathology: in these cases, radiological evolution and sometimes amino acid PET scan results were consulted to conclude a relapsing, progressive HGG.

Patients with relapsed HGG were entered into the trial. About 40% of the included patients combined or consecutively applied neurosurgery and immunotherapy with other types of treatment like re-irradiation or chemotherapy upon decision of the referring physician. We obtained clinical results from 366 patients (48 children younger than 18 years and 318 adults above the age of 18 years). These patients belong to the "as treated" group from

	induction vaccines	boost vaccines	DC maturation	adjuvans
Cohort A	DC week 1 and 3	DC monthly	TNFa, IL-1b, PGE2	none
Cohort B	DC week 1,3,5 and 7	DC monthly	TNFa, IL-1b, PGE2	none
Cohort C	DC week 1,2,3,4	Lysate monthly	TNFa, IL-1b, PGE2	none
Cohort D	DC week 1,2,3,4	Lysate monthly	TNFa, IL-1b	imiquimo
Cohort D(Elutra)	ElutraDC week 1,2,3,4	Lysate monthly	TNFa, IL-1b	Imiquimo

whom also the RPA was estimated and who received new resection and only immunotherapy till the next event. Median PFS of these children and adults were 3.8 and 2.6 months, respectively; median OS was both 10.6 months. Most importantly, the 2-year OS for these patients with relapsed HGG was 20% (SEM = 6) for children and 22% (SEM = 2) for adults. When the subgroup of 33 children and 247 adults with relapsed GBM was taken separately, median PFS was 2.5 months for children and 2.6 months for adults, median OS was 8 and 9.9 months with a 2-year OS of 10% (SEM = 6) and 17% (SEM = 3), respectively. Thirteen percent (SEM = 8) of adults with relapsed GBM remained free of recurrence for more than 18 months, and 10% (SEM = 2) lived longer than 3 years. Although hard to compare with literature data, the tail of the OS curve seems beneficial to data published on repeated re-operations combined with drug-based adjuvant therapies (11). Our data are difficult to compare to published data on PFS and OS upon new chemotherapy (8) or radiochemotherapy (9, 10). To compare future clinical trials, data should be presented according to prognostic models as has been published after radio(chemo)therapy (90) or immunotherapy (25). Moreover, besides PFS at 6 months and median OS, we believe that long-term OS (2 years or more) should also be considered as further outcome of patients with relapsed HGG in the context of immunotherapy.

Having included a large series of patients with relapsed HGG and treated with neurosurgery and immunotherapy, it became indeed obvious that clinical risk factors were influencing the prognosis of the patients. This was considered as very important for counseling of the patients and for stratification while designing future RCTs for such patients. Therefore, a novel recursive partitioning analysis (RPA IMMUNO) classification was developed for adults above the age of 18 years with relapsed HGG, and survival data were analyzed on the 117 first included adult patients (25). The RPA classification was based on the age of the patient, the grading of the relapsed tumor (grade III or grade IV), the Karnofsky Self Performance Scale and the estimated mental status. We internally validated the RPA IMMUNO in an extended group of 251 adults with relapsed HGG treated in patient cohorts of the HGG-IMMUNO-2003 protocol and from whom we could retrieve the data for RPA classification. These patients were equally distributed into the four cohorts of patients. Patient characteristics are described in Table 1. As shown in Figure 3, the PFS and the OS of patients belonging to the different RPA risk classes were significantly different.

The immunotherapy was feasible without major treatmentrelated toxicities. Almost all patients were treated in an ambulatory setting.

#### TABLE 1 | Patient characteristics

	HGG-IMMUNO-2003	HGG-2006
Age (median, range)	49 (18–77)	57 (27–70)
Sex (M/F)	161/90	49/28
Grade III/IV/no grading tumors	43/205/3	0/77/0
Number of events (median, range)	2 (2–7)	1
Number of vaccines	6 (4–24)	8 (0–30)
Cohort A/B/C/D/D(e)	11/15/26/72/127	-



# Immunotherapy for Patients with Newly Diagnosed GBM

## HGG-2006 Phase I/II Trial Rationale

As next step in our program, we wanted to integrate immunotherapy within the multimodal standard treatment for adults with newly diagnosed and histologically proven GBM (3, 4). A complex rationale was elaborated for the design. (1) Leukapheresis was scheduled after the surgical resection and before radiochemotherapy. After resection of GBM, a functional immune system is normally recovered within 1 week (91). Pro-inflammatory activity after irradiation might influence the activation state of monocytes and hence their differentiation capacity toward DC (92). Moreover, although grade III and IV hematologic toxic effects after radiochemotherapy were minimal (3), mild reduction of the monocyte count cannot be excluded. (2) The four induction vaccines were administered immediately after the radiochemotherapy. The immune suppression after 6 weeks concomitant TMZ was shown to be minimal but still might exist (3). The concept of tumor-specific immunization at time of immune reconstitution after chemotherapy has been demonstrated in several animal models (93, 94) and in clinical practice (95). Moreover, besides the induction of pro-inflammation (92), local radiotherapy might remove suppressor T cells, thus permitting a more effective T cell stimulation in loco (96). Another important reason to immunize prior to maintenance TMZ was the finding that the sensitivity of GBM to chemotherapeutics, among which TMZ, after prior vaccination was significantly increased (97, 98). (3) We further continued the boost vaccines during the TMZ maintenance therapy. Injection of lysate-loaded DCs for the priming, followed by boosts with tumor cell lysate alone generated the most effective antitumor effects in a preclinical model. The protocol allowed better CTL responses and also triggered an antitumor humoral response (78). The experiences in cohort C with induction vaccines with DCm-HGG-L and boost vaccines with HGG-L as immunotherapeutic strategy supported the concept for the HGG-2006 trial.

#### **Updated Clinical Results**

The first aim of this study was to assess the feasibility/toxicity to integrate tumor vaccination within the global treatment plan for an adult patient with newly diagnosed and GBM WHO grade IV, which could at least subtotally be removed. The major primary

aim was the PFS at 6 months after diagnosis. To fulfill both the aims of (1) monitoring toxicity (phase I) of this treatment in the newly diagnosed patients and (2) detecting a potential benefit as a treatment strategy (phase II), we included a "STOP and GO" design.

The results of the pilot phase and the full trial phase have been published recently (27, 28). The trial was feasible without major immunotherapy-related toxicities. The integrated immunotherapy did not affect quality of life. We here present the last updated results (31 July 2014) of the PFS and OS of patients from the HGG-2006 study, divided into the EORTC RPA risk profiles three to five (**Figure 4**). Patient characteristics are described in **Table 1**. The data represent the intent-to-treat analysis. The 5-year OS for the EORTC RPA class III and class IV patients was 35.9% (asymmetrical CI95%: +25.4, -24.2) and 11.5% (asymmetrical CI95%: +10.2, -6.9), respectively. As compared to the historical control data of patients belonging to the same EORTC RPA risk profiles (4), patients from EORTC RPA class III had a better OS when immunotherapy was added to the standard treatment. These data were used to power the HGG-2010 trial.

## HGG-2010 Prospective Placebo-Controlled Double Blind Randomized Clinical Trial

A prospective placebo-controlled double-blind phase IIb RCT was designed to explore the benefit of immunotherapy as fourth treatment modality to be included within the standard primary treatment strategy for patients with GBM (Figure 5). Supported by our experiences with patients included in HGG-2006, the design of the experimental arm (immunotherapy) is almost similar to HGG-2006. DCm-HGG-L is prepared and maturation is induced similar to Cohort D of the HGG-IMMUNO-2003 trial, using TNF-a, IL-1b, and Imiquimod skin preparation (aimed for TLR7mediated DC activation). The design of the control arm is the current standard primary treatment: surgery, radiochemotherapy with TMZ, and maintenance chemotherapy with TMZ (3, 4). Randomization is performed with age as stratification variable (99). MGMT (O(6)-methylguanine DNA methyltransferase) methylation is not used for stratification. There is emerging evidence that other cytogenetic abnormalities outside MGMT methylation are of strong prognostic value as well (100–102). Primary endpoint of the trial is the PFS after six cycles of maintenance chemotherapy with TMZ. Secondary endpoints are quality of life assessments, OS, and induction of immune responses in both arms.





Patients are unblinded after the assessment of disease status at time of MRI after the sixth cycle of TMZ or at time of progression if earlier progression occurred before the end of the sixth cycle of TMZ. Patients treated in the placebo arm and not yet relapsed (or with a compatible salvage treatment and no steroids after relapse) are treated with the immunotherapy regimen at this later stage, allowing to compare with immunomonitoring early vaccination efficacy during multimodal therapy with late vaccination after multimodal therapy.

The data of this RCT will be subject to the consortium Computational Horizons in Cancer (www.chic-vph.eu) to develop a hypermodel based on granular hypomodels in order to predict for which patient immunotherapy might be of added value. Clinical, radiological, immunological, and molecular data at diagnosis and at early evolution upon the radiochemotherapy will serve as incoming data into the different hypomodels.

# New Preclinical Research Perspectives in 2014

### Targeting Galectin-1 as Strategy for Immunomodulation GL261 Orthotopic Mouse Model

Galectin-1 is a glycan-binding protein which is involved in the aggressive nature of GBM by stimulating angiogenesis, cell migration, and proliferation. In different cancer models, galectin-1 has been demonstrated to play a pivotal role in tumormediated immune evasion especially by modulating cells of the adaptive immune system. It was unknown, however, whether the absence or presence of galectin-1 within the glioma microenvironment also causes qualitative or quantitative differences in innate and/or adaptive antitumor immune responses. We explored the role of galectin-1 in the orthotopic GL261 mouse glioma model (19). Stable galectin-1 knockdown was achieved via transduction of parental GL261 tumor cells with a lentiviral vector encoding a galectin-1-targeting miRNA. We demonstrated that the absence of tumor-derived but not of host-derived galectin-1 significantly prolonged the survival of glioma-bearing mice as such and in combination with DC-based immunotherapy. Both flow cytometric and pathological analysis revealed that the silencing of glioma-derived galectin-1 significantly decreased the amount of brain-infiltrating macrophages and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) in tumor-bearing mice. Additionally, we demonstrated a pro-angiogenic role for galectin-1 within the glioma microenvironment. The data provided in this study point to a pivotal role for glioma-derived galectin-1 in the regulation of myeloid cell accumulation within the glioma microenvironment, the most abundant immune cell population in HGG. Furthermore, the prolonged survival observed in untreated and DC-vaccinated glioma-bearing mice upon the silencing of tumorderived galectin-1 strongly suggests that the in vivo targeting of tumor-derived galectin-1 might offer a promising and realistic adjuvant treatment modality in patients diagnosed with GBM.

#### Galectin-1 in the Serum of Patients

In parallel to this preclinical work, we questioned whether increased galectin-1 expression levels were exclusively found at the tumor site or whether galectin-1 could also be detected in the serum of HGG patients. Galectin-1 serum levels were analyzed in a prospective dataset of 43 healthy controls and 125 patients with newly diagnosed or recurrent HGG (103). Samples were taken at the moment of surgical resection and/or 2-3 weeks after surgery. Galectin-1 serum levels were determined using an ELISA for galectin-1. Galectin-1 serum levels depended significantly on age and sex in the control group. Age- and sex-adjusted galectin-1 serum levels were significantly higher in all patient subgroups compared to healthy controls with a high discriminative ability that increased with age. We did not observe a significant decrease in the galectin-1 serum levels upon surgical resection of the tumor. Collectively, the data may represent a first step to establish galectin-1 as a serum biomarker in HGG disease monitoring.

Further longitudinal evaluation is required and ongoing to investigate the value of galectin-1 serum levels in HGG patients as an additional diagnostic marker, but more importantly as a predictor of treatment response and prognosis. Furthermore, galectin-1 serum levels can also provide an important tool for the identification of HGG patients that can benefit from galectin-1directed therapies that are currently under development.

#### **Oncolytic Virus Therapy**

The oncolytic features of several naturally occurring oncolytic viruses have been shown on GBM cell lines and in (subcutaneous) xenotransplant models (104). However, orthotopic glioma studies in immunocompetent animals were lacking. We investigated Newcastle disease virus (NDV) in the orthotopic, syngeneic murine GL261 glioma model (105). Seven days after tumor induction, mice were treated intratumorally with NDV. Treatment significantly prolonged median survival of treated animals and 50% showed long-term survival versus none in the control group. We demonstrated immunogenic cell death (ICD) induction in GL261 cells after NDV infection, comprising of calreticulin surface exposure, release of HMGB1 and increased expression of PMEL17 cancer antigen. Uniquely, we found absence of secreted ATP. NDV-induced ICD in GL261 cells was shown to occur through programmed necrosis or necroptosis. In vivo, elevated infiltration of IFN- $\gamma^+$  T cells was observed in NDV-treated tumors, along with reduced accumulation of myeloid derived suppressor cells. The importance of a functional adaptive immune system in this paradigm was demonstrated in immunodeficient  $Rag2^{-/-}$  mice, in which NDV induced a slight prolongation of survival, but failed to induce long-term survival. After secondary tumor induction in mice surviving long-term after NDV treatment, protection against glioma outgrowth was seen in 80% of animals, demonstrating induction of long-term antitumor immune memory after NDV therapy. We thus demonstrated for the first time that NDV has therapeutic activity against GL261 tumors, evidenced in an orthotopic mouse model. The therapeutic effect relies on the induction of a unique ICD route in the tumor cells, which primes adaptive antitumor immunity. The data change the paradigm that the use of oncolytic viruses for anti-cancer therapies should be performed in combination with suppression of potential antiviral immune

responses. These insights are of high importance when using oncolytic viruses in combination with tumor vaccines within a multimodal treatment strategy.

# Clinical Experiences on Immunotherapy Obtained in Other Centers

Active specific immunotherapy has been widely studied in many centers in phase I and/or phase II trials. Reviewing 37 reports on DC vaccines between 2000 and 2014, the patient number in each report was in median 15 ranging from 1 to 146. All these trials have been designed in different ways making read-outs hardly comparable. Moreover technologies for the vaccine production and administration routes were different as well. Characteristics of these trials are described in Table 2. Besides, the methodology to perform immune monitoring was variable: DTH tests, relative immune phenotypes of circulating lymphocytes, T cell proliferation and CTL assays, NK cell assays, IFN-y production (serum, ELISPOT, mRNA expression, FACS), and recent thymic emigrant assay. In spite of all these differences, some general conclusions can be made. Immunotherapy for patients with (relapsed) HGG is feasible, and is safe. Only two immunotherapy-related serious adverse reactions have been reported: an overwhelming inflammatory reaction in a patient with large residual disease (21) and a cutaneous GBM growth after DTH testing of tumor

#### TABLE 2 | Overview of DC-based clinical trials.

Study phase	Case report Phase I Phase I/II	(20, 148) (21, 27, 149–161) (22–26, 28, 162–171)
HGG grade	Phase II Grade III Grade III and IV Grade IV	(106, 172) (24, 148) (23, 25, 106, 149–151, 153, 154, 158, 160, 162, 164–169) (20–22, 26–28, 97, 152, 155–157, 159, 161, 163, 170, 172)
Disease status	Relapse (R) New diagnosis (ND) R and ND	(20–26, 148, 150, 151, 160–162, 165–167, 171) (27, 28, 97, 149, 152, 155, 156, 159, 169, 170, 172) (106, 153, 154, 157, 158, 163, 164, 168)
Tumor antigen	Lysate Peptides Tumor cell mRNA Cancer stem cell mRNA Tumor cell suspension IFN-g-treated tumor cells Apoptotic tumor cells Fusions	(20–28, 97, 106, 153, 155, 158, 161–164, 166, 169) (97, 148, 149, 152, 156, 160, 167, 171, 173) (151) (159) (154) (168) (170, 172) (150, 165)
Route	ID SC ID + intratumoral ID + IV Intranodal	(20–28, 148, 150, 152–154, 156–161, 165) (97, 106, 149, 164, 168, 170, 172) (162, 166) (151) (167)

cells which were presumably radio-resistant (106). Induction of autoimmune reactions has not been observed at all, in spite of the fact that crude lysate of tumor tissue used in several trials contained also normal tissue antigens. In most of the trials, an effect is observed being long-term surviving patients and/or immune responses. Immune monitoring data were hardly correlated with clinical data. Most importantly for the further development, a first meta-analysis on the available data shows clear clinical benefit of DC-based immunotherapy for patients with HGG (44).

# Modulation to Escape Immune Evasion Mechanisms

There are numerous factors that are responsible for HGG immune evasion (107). Intrinsic mechanisms include low expression of MHC class I and MHC class II molecules on the HGG tumor cells, microglia cells that produce IL-10 and IL-6, and an unbalance of the Th1/Th2 ratio in favor of Th2. Moreover Tenascin-C in the extracellular matrix in glioma prevents efficient immune cell to tumor cell contact. HGG cells produce a lot of immunosuppressive factors like TGF-b and PGE-2. Tumor cells lack costimulatory signals and might induce T cell anergy upon recognition. Moreover, stat-3 expression in the tumor cells promotes tumor immune evasion by inhibiting pro-inflammatory cytokine signaling and by amplifying Tregs. The PD-1L-1 expression on HGG is identified as a strong inhibitor of CD4+ and CD8+ T cell activation. The expression of HLA-E, HLA-G, and the presence of TGF-b and lectin-like transcript 1 are responsible for the absence of an NK attack to HGG. HGG cells express fas and fasL as well as CD70, and produce gangliosides and galectin-1. All these mechanisms are responsible for apoptosis of immune cells. Immune checkpoint blockade in combination with immunotherapy for glioma is therefore an emerging area of research (108). The most important immune evasion mechanisms are, however, the presence of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and especially Tregs.

The presence of Tregs in HGG tumors was found for the first time in 2006 (109). The number of Tregs infiltrating the brain was correlated with the WHO grade of the glioma (110). The suppressive activity of HGG-derived Tregs was demonstrated (109, 111-113). In preclinical research, we clearly showed the role of Tregs not only to block the antitumoral immune response (18) but also to change the inflammatory tumor microenvironment (114). Tregs have been shown to play a role on M2 macrophage differentiation (115) and MDSC functioning (116) in rodents. Tregs are particularly recruited into HGG by the production of CCL2 and CCL22 (117). Moreover, Tregs in HGG patients have a higher expression of the CCL2 receptor CCR4 as compared to controls. In the peripheral blood, a relative increase of the Treg fraction in the CD4 compartment as compared to controls was also described (118). Functional studies on Tregs from HGG patients became possible through isolation and characterization of this population as CD4 + CD127dim cells (119). These clinical data clearly show the presence and function of Tregs within the tumor microenvironment and even systemically.

Treg depletion and Treg inhibition are a widely discussed strategy in cancer (120). TLR ligands have been shown in preclinical models to inhibit Treg function and enhance in vivo tumor immunity (121, 122). Also TMZ (117, 123, 124) and gemcitabine (125) have been found to affect Treg infiltration in rodent models. Treatment with Sunitinib (126-128) or low dose paclitaxel (129) decreased the number of Tregs in cancer patients. Specific Treg depletion strategies have been performed in humans with anti-CD25 mAb daclizumab or with IL-2 diphtheria toxin conjugate denileukin diftitox (Ontak) (130-132). Treg depletion and immunological benefits could be obtained, especially with daclizumab. However, a trial had to be stopped because of availability of the product (130). The most important depleting strategy is the metronomic use of CPM (133-140). CPM suppresses in vitro induction of Tregs (141). The Treg depleting activity of CPM has been demonstrated in murine models in the context of vaccines (142). Some studies in humans have shown improvement of T cell effector function associated with a reduction in Treg numbers after low dose CPM (135). The timing and dose are critical for a robust CPM-based protocol able to induce significant ablation of Treg inhibitory functions in patients. Because the Treg depletion is aimed to be performed shortly after neurosurgery, potential interaction with used corticosteroids as described in mice should be taken into account (143).

# Toward a New Health Care Model for Advanced Therapy Treatments

Autologous mature DCs loaded with autologous tumor lysate belong to the category of advanced therapy medicinal products (ATMP). According to EU Regulation 2007/1394/EC, ATMP for human use means (1) a gene therapy medicinal product as defined in Part IV of Annex I to Directive 2001/83/EC; (2) a somatic cell therapy medicinal product as defined in Part IV of Annex I to Directive 2001/83/EC; or (3) a tissue engineered product. In that context, DCs differentiated out of monocytes are defined as ATMPs. The boost vaccines consisting of HGG-L are regulated by the Directive 2004/23/EC. ATMPs in academic hospitals can be produced under the hospital exemption clausule. Hospital exemption means preparation of ATMPs on a non-routine basis according to specific quality standards, and used within the same Member State in a hospital under the exclusive professional responsibility of a medical practitioner in order to comply with an individual medical prescription for a custom-made product for an individual patient.

The production and administration of personalized ATMPs together with other anti-cancer therapies in a multimodal treatment approach for very diseased patients should be considered as Advanced Therapy Treatment for these patients, preferentially performed in centers of excellence by fully equipped specialty teams with particular multidisciplinary knowledge on basic, translational, and clinical science around the ATMP within the given clinical context. From the beginning of the translational research program, the working model was organized as a multicentre collaboration. The goal was to make this experimental

treatment strategy in clinical trials easily accessible for all potential patients in and outside the country. By doing this, a multiple "win" situation was created: the accessibility to immunotherapy program was easy for each patient, the referring specialist remained involved in the patient care (vaccination in ambulant setting) and in the scientific evolutions of the program, and the vaccination center obtained large series of patients so that experience could be maximized and scientific data generated within short periods. It might take time before patient-specific ATMPs that are used within a very complex clinical context, will reach industrialization for their production. In their report to the European Parliament and the Council in March 2014, the reporters from the European Commission pointed to creating a more favorable environment for ATMP developers working in an academic or non-for-profit setting, including by promoting early contacts with the authorities through the application of the fee reduction for scientific advice and by extending the existing certification scheme to these developers (144). Nevertheless, the DCVax<sup>®</sup>-L vaccine is developed by Northwest Biotherapeutics as an adjunct to the treatment of GBM, and is currently under evaluation in a phase III trial (145).

Obviously, the use of autologous *ex vivo* cultured mature loaded DCs is labor-intensive and expensive. This means a small-scale production for each individual patient as well as an adapted health care model to develop and provide such technologies. Meanwhile, strategies are searched for targeting DCs in the patient themselves. Appropriate pattern recognition receptors ligands are bound to tumor antigens to provide necessary adjuvant immune signals. Antigens are bound to antibodies which target particular receptors on DCs for internalization of the antigen and subsequent presentation (146). Besides antibody-based DC targeting, nanoparticles are rapidly emerging as new vehicles for delivering vaccines. Nanoparticles are a platform for co-encapsulating TLR ligands with the tumor antigen, and for targeting DCs through monoclonal antibodies or carbohydrate ligands (147).

# References

- Fleury A, Menegoz F, Grosclaude P, Daures JP, Henry Amar M, Raverdy N, et al. Descriptive epidemiology of cerebral gliomas in France. *Cancer* (1997) **79**:1195–202. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19970315)79:6<1195:: AID-CNCR19>3.0.CO;2-V
- Tamber MS, Rutka JT. Pediatric supratentorial high-grade gliomas. *Neuro-surg Focus* (2003) 14. Available from: http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/ 449870
- 3. Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoom MJ, et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. *N Eng J Med* (2005) **352**:987–96. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa043330
- Stupp R, Hegi ME, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Taphoorn MJ, Janzer RC, et al. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2009) 10:459–66. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70025-7
- Kleihues P, Soylemezoglu F, Schauble B, Scheithauer BW, Burger PC. Histopathology, classification, and grading of gliomas. *Glia* (1995) 15:211–21. doi:10.1002/glia.440150303
- Claes A, Idema AJ, Wesseling P. Diffuse glioma growth: a guerilla war. Acta Neuropathol (2007) 114:443–58. doi:10.1007/s00401-007-0293-7
- 7. Brada M, Hoang-Xuan K, Rampling R, Dietrich PY, Dirix LY, Macdonald D, et al. Multicenter phase II trial of temozolomide in patients with glioblastoma

# Conclusion

Immunotherapy for HGG is feasible and has shown promising clinical results in a subgroup of patients without major adverse events. Decisive scientific results from large randomized trials are needed and awaited before the true position of DC vaccination in the therapy of HGG can be established. In parallel, patients who can benefit from this technology are characterized and defined. With current available basic science knowledge, further improvements of techniques and treatment strategies are reachable. However, administrative burdens to produce individualized vaccines remain a major threat, so that research focusses on as much as possible standardized off-the-shelf consumables for their production.

# Acknowledgments

This work has been supported by the Olivia Hendrickx Research Fund (www.olivia.be). Support was also obtained from the Herman Memorial Research Fund (www.hmrf.be), the James E. Kearney Foundation (www.jekfoundation.org), Leuven's ARCH fund, CAF Belgium, Baxter, and gifts from private families, service clubs and organizations. Additionally, grants were obtained from "Stichting tegen Kanker," IWT (TBM projects), the Stem Cell Institute Leuven, the Emmanuel van der Schueren Fund, the International Union against Cancer, the klinisch Onderzoeksfonds UZ Leuven and the Fund for Scientific Research - Flanders (FWO-V). The HGG-2010 project has received funding from the European Union's Seventh Framework Program for research, technological development and demonstration under grant agreement No 600841. I am very grateful for the technical assistance from the technicians from the Immunotherapy Platform Leuven (www.itpl.be). I thank the neuro-oncology team in the University Hospital Leuven for fruitful patient discussion, and the staff of the Laboratory of Experimental Immunology for basic scientific discussions.

multiforme at first relapse. Ann Oncol (2001) 12:259-66. doi:10.1023/A: 1008382516636

- Weller M, Cloughesy T, Perry JR, Wick W. Standards of care for treatment of recurrent glioblastoma – are we there yet? *Neuro Oncol* (2013) 15:4–27. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nos273
- 9. Greenspoon JN, Sharieff W, Hirte H, Overholt A, Devillers R, Gunnarsson T, et al. Fractionated stereotactic radiosurgery with concurrent temozolomide chemotherapy for locally recurrent glioblastoma multiforme: a prospective cohort study. *Onco Targets Ther* (2014) 7:485–90. doi:10.2147/OTT.S60358
- Scholtyssek F, Zwiener I, Schlamann A, Seidel C, Meixensberger J, Bauer M, et al. Reirradiation in progressive high-grade gliomas: outcome, role of concurrent chemotherapy, prognostic factors and validation of a new prognostic score with an independent patient cohort. *Radiat Oncol* (2013) 8:161. doi:10.1186/1748-717X-8-161
- Chaichana KL, Zadnik P, Weingart JD, Olivi A, Gallia GL, Blakeley J, et al. Multiple resections for patients with glioblastoma: prolonging survival. *J Neurosurg* (2013) 118:812–20. doi:10.3171/2012.9.JNS1277
- Burnet NG, Jefferies SJ, Benson RJ, Hunt DP, Treasure FP. Years of life lost (YLL) from cancer is an important measure of population burden – and should be considered when allocating research funds. *Br J Cancer* (2005) **92**:241–5. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6602321
- Weller M, Stupp R, Hegi M, Wick W. Individualized targeted therapy for glioblastoma: fact or fiction? *Cancer J* (2012) 18:40–4. doi:10.1097/PPO. 0b013e318243f6c9

- De Fazio S, Russo E, Ammendola M, Donato Di PE, De Sarro G. Efficacy and safety of bevacizumab in glioblastomas. *Curr Med Chem* (2012) 19:972–81. doi:10.2174/092986712799320646
- De Vleeschouwer S, Arredouani M, Ade M, Cadot P, Vermassen E, Ceuppens JL, et al. Uptake and presentation of malignant glioma tumor cell lysates by monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2005) 54:372–82. doi:10.1007/s00262-004-0615-8
- De Vleeschouwer S, Spencer L I, Ceuppens JL, Van Gool SW. Persistent IL-10 production is required for glioma growth suppressive activity by Th1directed effector cells after stimulation with tumor lysate-loaded dendritic cells. J Neurooncol (2007) 84:131–40. doi:10.1007/s11060-007-9362-y
- Maes W, Deroose C, Reumers V, Krylyshkina O, Gijsbers R, Ceuppens J, et al. In vivo bioluminescence imaging in an experimental mouse model for dendritic cell based immunotherapy against malignant glioma. *J Neurooncol* (2009) **91**:127–39. doi:10.1007/s11060-008-9691-5
- Maes W, Galicia Rosas G, Verbinnen B, Boon L, De Vleeschouwer S, Ceuppens JL, et al. DC vaccination with anti-CD25 treatment leads to long-term immunity against experimental glioma. *Neuro Oncol* (2009) 11:529–42. doi:10.1215/ 15228517-2009-004
- Verschuere T, Toelen J, Maes W, Poirier F, Boon L, Tousseyn T, et al. Gliomaderived galectin-1 regulates innate and adaptive antitumor immunity. *Int* J Cancer (2014) 134:873–84. doi:10.1002/ijc.28426
- 20. De Vleeschouwer S, Van Calenbergh F, Demaerel P, Flamen P, Rutkowski S, Kaempgen E, et al. Transient local response and persistent tumor control of recurrent malignant glioma treated with combination therapy including dendritic cell therapy. *J Neurosurg* (2004) **100**:492–7.
- Rutkowski S, De Vleeschouwer S, Kaempgen E, Wolff JE, Kuhl J, Demaerel P, et al. Surgery and adjuvant dendritic cell-based tumour vaccination for patients with relapsed malignant glioma, a feasibility study. *Br J Cancer* (2004) **91**:1656–62. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6602195
- 22. De Vleeschouwer S, Fieuws S, Rutkowski S, Van Calenbergh F, Van Loon J, Goffin J, et al. Postoperative adjuvant dendritic cell-based immunotherapy in patients with relapsed glioblastoma multiforme. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:3098–104. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4875
- Ardon H, De Vleeschouwer S, Van Calenbergh F, Claes L, Kramm CM, Rutkowski S, et al. Adjuvant dendritic cell-based tumour vaccination for children with malignant brain tumours. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* (2010) 54:519–25. doi:10.1002/pbc.22319
- Elens I, De Vleeschouwer S, Pauwels F, Van Gool SW. Resection and immunotherapy for recurrent grade III glioma. *ISRN Immunol* (2012) 2012:1–9. doi:10.5402/2012/530179
- 25. De Vleeschouwer S, Ardon H, Van Calenbergh F, Sciot R, Wilms G, Van Loon J, et al. Stratification according to HGG-IMMUNO RPA model predicts outcome in a large group of patients with relapsed malignant glioma treated by adjuvant postoperative dendritic cell vaccination. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61:2105–12. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1271-z
- Eyrich M, Schreiber SC, Rachor J, Krauss J, Pauwels F, Hain J, et al. Development and validation of a fully GMP-compliant production process of autologous, tumor-lysate-pulsed dendritic cells. *Cytotherapy* (2014) 16:946–64. doi:10.1016/j.jcyt.2014.02.017
- 27. Ardon H, Van Gool S, Lopes IS, Maes W, Sciot R, Wilms G, et al. Integration of autologous dendritic cell-based immunotherapy in the primary treatment for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma multiforme: a pilot study. *J Neurooncol* (2010) **99**:261–72. doi:10.1007/s11060-010-0131-y
- 28. Ardon H, Van Gool SW, Verschuere T, Maes W, Fieuws S, Sciot R, et al. Integration of autologous dendritic cell-based immunotherapy in the standard of care treatment for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma: results of the HGG-2006 phase I/II trial. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61:2033–44. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1261-1
- 29. Vrabec M, Van Cauter S, Himmelreich U, Van Gool SW, Sunaert S, De Vleeschouwer S, et al. MR perfusion and diffusion imaging in the follow-up of recurrent glioblastoma treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy: a pilot study. *Neuroradiology* (2011) 53:721–31. doi:10.1007/s00234-010-0802-6
- Van Cauter S, Veraart J, Sijbers J, Peeters RR, Himmelreich U, De Keyzer F, et al. Gliomas: diffusion kurtosis MR imaging in grading. *Radiology* (2012) 263:492–501. doi:10.1148/radiol.12110927
- Van Cauter S, Sima DM, Luts J, Ter BL, Ribbens A, Peeters RR, et al. Reproducibility of rapid short echo time CSI at 3 Tesla for clinical applications. J Magn Reson Imaging (2013) 37:445–56. doi:10.1002/jmri.23820

- 32. Van Cauter S, De Keyzer F, Sima DM, Croitor Sava A, D'Arco F, Veraart J, et al. Integrating diffusion kurtosis imaging, dynamic susceptibility-weighted contrast-enhanced MRI, and short echo time chemical shift imaging for grading gliomas. *Neuro Oncol* (2014) 16(7):1010–21. doi:10.1093/neuonc/not304
- De Vleeschouwer S, Van Gool SW, Van Calenbergh F. Immunotherapy for malignant gliomas: emphasis on strategies of active specific immunotherapy using autologous dendritic cells. *Childs Nerv Syst* (2005) 21:7–18. doi:10.1007/ s00381-004-0994-3
- 34. De Vleeschouwer S, Rapp M, Sorg RV, Steiger HJ, Stummer W, Van Gool S, et al. Dendritic cell vaccination in patients with malignant gliomas: current status and future directions. *Neurosurgery* (2006) 59:988–99. doi:10.1227/01. NEU.0000245595.38957.3E
- 35. Van Gool SW, Maes W, Ardon H, Verschuere T, Van Cauter S, De Vleeschouwer S. Dendritic cell therapy of high grade gliomas. *Brain Pathol* (2009) 19:694–712. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2009.00316.x
- Verschuere T, De VS, Lefranc F, Kiss R, Van Gool SW. Galectin-1 and immunotherapy for brain cancer. *Expert Rev Neurother* (2011) 11:533–43. doi:10.1586/ern.11.40
- Maes W, Van Gool SW. Experimental immunotherapy for malignant glioma: lessons from two decades of research in the GL261 model. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2011) 60:153–60. doi:10.1007/s00262-010-0946-6
- Van Gool S, De Vleeschouwer S. Should dendritic cell-based tumor vaccination be incorporated into standard therapy for newly diagnosed glioblastoma patients? *Expert Rev Neurother* (2012) 12:1173–6. doi:10.1586/ern.12.107
- Vandenberk L, Van Gool SW. Treg infiltration in glioma: a hurdle for antiglioma immunotherapy. *Immunotherapy* (2012) 4:675–8. doi:10.2217/imt. 12.64
- Jadavji NM, Deng L, Leclerc D, Malysheva O, Bedell BJ, Caudill MA, et al. Severe methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase deficiency in mice results in behavioral anomalies with morphological and biochemical changes in hippocampus. *Mol Genet Metab* (2012) **106**:149–59. doi:10.1016/j.ymgme.2012. 03.020
- Marsh JC, Goldfarb J, Shafman TD, Diaz AZ. Current status of immunotherapy and gene therapy for high-grade gliomas. *Cancer Control* (2013) 20:43–8.
- Jackson C, Ruzevick J, Brem H, Lim M. Vaccine strategies for glioblastoma: progress and future directions. *Immunotherapy* (2013) 5:155–67. doi:10.2217/ imt.12.155
- Bregy A, Wong TM, Shah AH, Goldberg JM, Komotar RJ. Active immunotherapy using dendritic cells in the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2013) 39:891–907. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv.2013.05.007
- 44. Cao JX, Zhang XY, Liu JL, Li D, Li JL, Liu YS, et al. Clinical efficacy of tumor antigen-pulsed DC treatment for high-grade glioma patients: evidence from a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e107173. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0107173
- Heath WR, Carbone FR. Cross-presentation, dendritic cells, tolerance and immunity. Annu Rev Immunol (2001) 19:47–64. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.19.1.47
- Rock KL, Gamble S, Rothstein L. Presentation of exogenous antigen with class I major histocompatibility complex molecules. *Science* (1990) 249:918–21. doi:10.1126/science.2392683
- Rock KL, Clark K. Analysis of the role of MHC class II presentation in the stimulation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes by antigens targeted into the exogenous antigen-MHC class I presentation pathway. *J Immunol* (1996) 156:3721–6.
- Clarke SR. The critical role of CD40/CD40L in the CD4-dependent generation of CD8+ T cell immunity. *J Leukoc Biol* (2000) 67:607–14.
- Levitsky HI, Lazenby A, Hayashi RJ, Pardoll DM. In vivo priming of two distinct antitumor effector populations: the role of MHC class I expression. *J Exp Med* (1994) 179:1215–24. doi:10.1084/jem.179.4.1215
- 50. Dhodapkar KM, Cirignano B, Chamian F, Zagzag D, Miller DC, Finlay JL, et al. Invariant natural killer T cells are preserved in patients with glioma and exhibit antitumor lytic activity following dendritic cell-mediated expansion. *Int J Cancer* (2004) **109**:893–9. doi:10.1002/ijc.20050
- Basse PH, Whiteside TL, Chambers W, Herberman RB. Therapeutic activity of NK cells against tumors. *Int Rev Immunol* (2001) 20:439–501. doi:10.3109/ 08830180109054416
- Anguille S, Smits EL, Lion E, Van Tendeloo VF, Berneman ZN. Clinical use of dendritic cells for cancer therapy. *Lancet Oncol* (2014) 15:e257–67. doi:10. 1016/S1470-2045(13)70585-0
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Dendritic-cell-based therapeutic cancer vaccines. Immunity (2013) 39:38–48. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.004

- Yi H, Appel S. Current status and future perspectives of dendritic cell-based cancer immunotherapy. *Scand J Immunol* (2013) 78:167–71. doi:10.1111/sji. 12060
- Kalinski P, Muthuswamy R, Urban J. Dendritic cells in cancer immunotherapy: vaccines and combination immunotherapies. *Expert Rev Vaccines* (2013) 12:285–95. doi:10.1586/erv.13.22
- Fecci PE, Heimberger AB, Sampson JH. Immunotherapy for primary brain tumors: no longer a matter of privilege. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20:5620–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0832
- Wu ZB, Qiu C, Zhang AL, Cai L, Lin SJ, Yao Y, et al. Gliomaassociated antigen HEATR1 induces functional cytotoxic T lymphocytes in patients with glioma. *J Immunol Res* (2014) 2014:131494. doi:10.1155/2014/ 131494
- Schuessler A, Walker DG, Khanna R. Cellular immunotherapy directed against human cytomegalovirus as a novel approach for glioblastoma treatment. Oncoimmunology (2014) 3:e29381. doi:10.4161/onci.29381
- Gilboa E, Nair SK, Lyerly HK. Immunotherapy of cancer with dendritic-cellbased vaccines. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (1998) 46:82–7. doi:10.1007/ s002620050465
- 60. Sampson JH, Heimberger AB, Archer GE, Aldape KD, Friedman AH, Friedman HS, et al. Immunologic escape after prolonged progression-free survival with epidermal growth factor receptor variant III peptide vaccination in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2010) 28:4722–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.28.6963
- Aarntzen EH, Schreibelt G, Bol K, Lesterhuis WJ, Croockewit AJ, de Wilt JH, et al. Vaccination with mRNA-electroporated dendritic cells induces robust tumor antigen-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells responses in stage III and IV melanoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18:5460–70. doi:10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-11-3368
- Wang J, Liao L, Tan J. Dendritic cell-based vaccination for renal cell carcinoma: challenges in clinical trials. *Immunotherapy* (2012) 4:1031–42. doi:10.2217/ imt.12.107
- Hegmans JP, Veltman JD, Lambers ME, de Vries IJ, Figdor CG, Hendriks RW, et al. Consolidative dendritic cell-based immunotherapy elicits cytotoxicity against malignant mesothelioma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2010) 181:1383–90. doi:10.1164/rccm.200909-1465OC
- 64. Van Tendeloo VF, Van De Velde AL, Van Driessche A, Cools N, Anguille S, Ladell K, et al. Induction of complete and molecular remissions in acute myeloid leukemia by Wilms' tumor 1 antigen-targeted dendritic cell vaccination. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**:13824–9. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1008051107
- 65. Coosemans A, Wolfl M, Berneman ZN, Van Tendeloo V, Vergote I, Amant F, et al. Immunological response after therapeutic vaccination with WT1 mRNA-loaded dendritic cells in end-stage endometrial carcinoma. *Anticancer Res* (2010) **30**:3709–14.
- 66. Coosemans A, Vanderstraeten A, Tuyaerts S, Verschuere T, Moerman P, Berneman ZN, et al. Wilms' tumor gene 1 (WT1) – loaded dendritic cell immunotherapy in patients with uterine tumors: a phase I/II clinical trial. *Anticancer Res* (2013) 33:5495–500.
- 67. Coosemans A, Vanderstraeten A, Tuyaerts S, Verschuere T, Moerman P, Berneman Z, et al. Immunological response after WT1 mRNA-loaded dendritic cell immunotherapy in ovarian carcinoma and carcinosarcoma. *Anticancer Res* (2013) **33**:3855–9.
- Shore ND, Mantz CA, Dosoretz DE, Fernandez E, Myslicki FA, McCoy C, et al. Building on sipuleucel-T for immunologic treatment of castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Cancer Control* (2013) 20:7–16.
- Thurner B, Roder C, Dieckmann D, Heuer H, Kruse M, Glaser A, et al. Generation of large numbers of fully mature and stable dendritic cells from leukapheresis products for clinical application. *J Immunol Methods* (1999) 223:1–15. doi:10.1016/S0022-1759(98)00208-7
- Mu LJ, Gaudernack G, Saeboe-Larssen S, Hammerstad H, Tierens A, Kvalheim G. A protocol for generation of clinical grade mRNA-transfected monocytederived dendritic cells for cancer vaccines. *Scand J Immunol* (2003) 58:578–86. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3083.2003.01333.x
- Sorg RV, Ozcan Z, Brefort T, Fischer J, Ackermann R, Muller M, et al. Clinicalscale generation of dendritic cells in a closed system. *J Immunother* (2003) 26:374–83. doi:10.1097/00002371-200307000-00010
- 72. Tuyaerts S, Noppe SM, Corthals J, Breckpot K, Heirman C, De Greef C, et al. Generation of large numbers of dendritic cells in a closed system using cell

factories. J Immunol Methods (2002) **264**:135–51. doi:10.1016/S0022-1759(02) 00099-6

- Weller RO, Engelhardt B, Phillips MJ. Lymphocyte targeting of the central nervous system: a review of afferent and efferent CNS-immune pathways. *Brain Pathol* (1996) 6:275–88. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.1996.tb00855.x
- Huber AK, Duncker PC, Irani DN. Immune responses to non-tumor antigens in the central nervous system. *Front Oncol* (2014) 4:328. doi:10.3389/fonc. 2014.00328
- Dunn GP, Fecci PE, Curry WT. Cancer immunoediting in malignant glioma. Neurosurgery (2012) 71:201–22. doi:10.1227/NEU.0b013e31824f840d
- 76. Jonuleit H, Kuhn U, Muller G, Steinbrink K, Paragnik L, Schmitt E, et al. Proinflammatory cytokines and prostaglandins induce maturation of potent immunostimulatory dendritic cells under fetal-calf serum-free conditions. *Eur J Immunol* (1997) 27:3135–42. doi:10.1002/eji.1830271209
- 77. Weaver CT, Harrington LE, Mangan PR, Gavrieli M, Murphy KM. Th17: an effector CD4 T cell lineage with regulatory T cell ties. *Immunity* (2006) 24:677–88. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.06.002
- Jouanneau E, Poujol D, Gulia S, Le Mercier I, Blay JY, Belin MF, et al. Dendritic cells are essential for priming but inefficient for boosting antitumour immune response in an orthotopic murine glioma model. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2006) 55(3):254–67 doi:10.1007/s00262-005-0040-7
- Kalinski P, Hilkens CM, Wierenga EA, Kapsenberg ML. T-cell priming by type-1 and type-2 polarized dendritic cells: the concept of a third signal. *Immunol Today* (1999) 20:561–7. doi:10.1016/S0167-5699(99)01547-9
- Scandella E, Men Y, Gillessen S, Forster R, Groettrup M. Prostaglandin E2 is a key factor for CCR7 surface expression and migration of monocytederived dendritic cells. *Blood* (2002) **100**:1354–61. doi:10.1182/ blood-2001-11-0017
- Bergwelt-Baildon MS, Popov A, Saric T, Chemnitz J, Classen S, Stoffel MS, et al. CD25 and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase are up-regulated by prostaglandin E2 and expressed by tumor-associated dendritic cells in vivo: additional mechanisms of T-cell inhibition. *Blood* (2006) 108:228–37. doi:10. 1182/blood-2005-08-3507
- Moser M. Dendritic cells in immunity and tolerance do they display opposite functions? *Immunity* (2003) 19:5–8. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00182-1
- Nair S, McLaughlin C, Weizer A, Su Z, Boczkowski D, Dannull J, et al. Injection of immature dendritic cells into adjuvant-treated skin obviates the need for ex vivo maturation. *J Immunol* (2003) 171:6275–82. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171. 11.6275
- Rechtsteiner G, Warger T, Osterloh P, Schild H, Radsak MP. Cutting edge: priming of CTL by transcutaneous peptide immunization with imiquimod. *J Immunol* (2005) 174:2476–80. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.5.2476
- Prins RM, Craft N, Bruhn KW, Khan-Farooqi H, Koya RC, Stripecke R, et al. The TLR-7 agonist, imiquimod, enhances dendritic cell survival and promotes tumor antigen-specific T cell priming: relation to central nervous system antitumor immunity. *J Immunol* (2006) 176:157–64. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 176.1.157
- Stary G, Bangert C, Tauber M, Strohal R, Kopp T, Stingl G. Tumoricidal activity of TLR7/8-activated inflammatory dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2007) 204:1441–51. doi:10.1084/jem.20070021
- Berger TG, Strasser E, Smith R, Carste C, Schuler-Thurner B, Kaempgen E, et al. Efficient elutriation of monocytes within a closed system (Elutra) for clinical-scale generation of dendritic cells. *J Immunol Methods* (2005) 298:61–72. doi:10.1016/j.jim.2005.01.005
- Elkord E, Williams PE, Kynaston H, Rowbottom AW. Human monocyte isolation methods influence cytokine production from in vitro generated dendritic cells. *Immunology* (2005) 114:204–12. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2004.02076.x
- Dohnal AM, Graffi S, Witt V, Eichstill C, Wagner D, Ul-Haq S, et al. Comparative evaluation of techniques for the manufacturing of dendritic cell-based cancer vaccines. *J Cell Mol Med* (2009) 13:125–35. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934. 2008.00304.x
- Combs SE, Edler L, Rausch R, Welzel T, Wick W, Debus J. Generation and validation of a prognostic score to predict outcome after re-irradiation of recurrent glioma. *Acta Oncol* (2013) 52:147–52. doi:10.3109/0284186X.2012. 692882
- Rapp M, Ozcan Z, Steiger HJ, Wernet P, Sabel MC, Sorg RV. Cellular immunity of patients with malignant glioma: prerequisites for dendritic cell vaccination immunotherapy. *J Neurosurg* (2006) 105:41–50. doi:10.3171/jns. 2006.105.1.41

- Petrini B, Andersson B, Strannegard O, Wasserman J, Blomgren H, Glas U. Monocyte release and plasma levels of interleukin-6 in patients irradiated for cancer. *In vivo* (1992) 6:531–4.
- Asavaroengchai W, Kotera Y, Mule JJ. Tumor lysate-pulsed dendritic cells can elicit an effective antitumor immune response during early lymphoid recovery. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99:931–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.022634999
- Pritchard-Jones K, Spendlove I, Wilton C, Whelan J, Weeden S, Lewis I, et al. Immune responses to the 105AD7 human anti-idiotypic vaccine after intensive chemotherapy, for osteosarcoma. *Br J Cancer* (2005) **92**:1358–65. doi:10.1038/ sj.bjc.6602500
- 95. Sampson JH, Aldape KD, Archer GE, Coan A, Desjardins A, Friedman AH, et al. Greater chemotherapy-induced lymphopenia enhances tumor-specific immune responses that eliminate EGFRvIII-expressing tumor cells in patients with glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol* (2011) 13:324–33. doi:10.1093/ neuonc/noq157
- North RJ. Gamma-irradiation facilitates the expression of adoptive immunity against established tumors by eliminating suppressor T cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (1984) 16:175–81. doi:10.1007/BF00205425
- Wheeler CJ, Das A, Liu G, Yu JS, Black KL. Clinical responsiveness of glioblastoma multiforme to chemotherapy after vaccination. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10:5316–26. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0497
- Liu G, Akasaki Y, Khong HT, Wheeler CJ, Das A, Black KL, et al. Cytotoxic T cell targeting of TRP-2 sensitizes human malignant glioma to chemotherapy. *Oncogene* (2005) 24:5226–34. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208519
- 99. Mirimanoff RO, Gorlia T, Mason W, van den Bent MJ, Kortmann RD, Fisher B, et al. Radiotherapy and temozolomide for newly diagnosed glioblastoma: recursive partitioning analysis of the EORTC 26981/22981-NCIC CE3 phase III randomized trial. J Clin Oncol (2006) 24:2563–9. doi:10.1200/JCO. 2005.04.5963
- Hassler M, Seidl S, Fazeny-Doerner B, Preusser M, Hainfellner J, Rossler K, et al. Diversity of cytogenetic and pathohistologic profiles in glioblastoma. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet* (2006) 166:46–55. doi:10.1016/j.cancergencyto.2005. 08.021
- 101. Ohgaki H, Kleihues P. Genetic alterations and signaling pathways in the evolution of gliomas. *Cancer Sci* (2009) 100:2235–41. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006. 2009.01308.x
- 102. Yan H, Parsons DW, Jin G, McLendon R, Rasheed BA, Yuan W, et al. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations in gliomas. N Engl J Med (2009) 360:765–73. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa0808710
- 103. Verschuere T, van WM, Fieuws S, Lefranc F, Mathieu V, Kiss R, et al. Altered galectin-1 serum levels in patients diagnosed with high-grade glioma. *J Neurooncol* (2013) 115:9–17. doi:10.1007/s11060-013-1201-8
- 104. Alkassar M, Gartner B, Roemer K, Graesser F, Rommelaere J, Kaestner L, et al. The combined effects of oncolytic reovirus plus Newcastle disease virus and reovirus plus parvovirus on U87 and U373 cells in vitro and in vivo. *J Neurooncol* (2011) 104:715–27. doi:10.1007/s11060-011-0606-5
- 105. Koks CA, Garg AD, Ehrhardt M, Riva M, De Vleeschouwer S, Agostinis P, et al. Newcastle disease virotherapy induces long-term survival and tumor-specific immune memory in orthotopic glioma through the induction of immunogenic cell death. Int J Cancer (2014) 136:e313–25. doi:10.1002/ijc.29202
- 106. Wheeler CJ, Black KL, Liu G, Mazer M, Zhang XX, Pepkowitz S, et al. Vaccination elicits correlated immune and clinical responses in glioblastoma multiforme patients. *Cancer Res* (2008) 68:5955–64. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-07-5973
- 107. Rolle CE, Sengupta S, Lesniak MS. Mechanisms of immune evasion by gliomas. Adv Exp Med Biol (2012) 746:53–76. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-3146-6\_5
- Ahn BJ, Pollack IF, Okada H. Immune-checkpoint blockade and active immunotherapy for glioma. *Cancers (Basel)* (2013) 5:1379–412. doi:10.3390/ cancers5041379
- 109. El Andaloussi A, Lesniak MS. An increase in CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes of human glioblastoma multiforme. *Neuro Oncol* (2006) 8:234–43. doi:10.1215/15228517-2006-006
- 110. Jacobs JF, Idema AJ, Bol KF, Grotenhuis JA, de Vries IJ, Wesseling P, et al. Prognostic significance and mechanism of Treg infiltration in human brain tumors. *J Neuroimmunol* (2010) **225**:195–9. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.05.020
- 111. Hussain SF, Yang D, Suki D, Aldape K, Grimm E, Heimberger AB. The role of human glioma-infiltrating microglia/macrophages in mediating antitumor immune responses. *Neuro Oncol* (2006) 8:261–79. doi:10.1215/ 15228517-2006-008

- Morford LA, Elliott LH, Carlson SL, Brooks WH, Roszman TL. T cell receptormediated signaling is defective in T cells obtained from patients with primary intracranial tumors. *J Immunol* (1997) 159:4415–25.
- Roszman TL, Brooks WH. Immunobiology of primary intracranial tumours. III. Demonstration of a qualitative lymphocyte abnormality in patients with primary brain tumours. *Clin Exp Immunol* (1980) **39**:395–402.
- 114. Maes W, Verschuere T, Van HA, Boon L, van GS. Depletion of regulatory T cells in a mouse experimental glioma model through anti-CD25 treatment results in the infiltration of non-immunosuppressive myeloid cells in the brain. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2013) **2013**:952469. doi:10.1155/ 2013/952469
- 115. Liu G, Ma H, Qiu L, Li L, Cao Y, Ma J, et al. Phenotypic and functional switch of macrophages induced by regulatory CD4+CD25+ T cells in mice. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2011) 89:130–42. doi:10.1038/icb.2010.70
- 116. Medina-Echeverz J, Fioravanti J, Zabala M, Ardaiz N, Prieto J, Berraondo P. Successful colon cancer eradication after chemoimmunotherapy is associated with profound phenotypic change of intratumoral myeloid cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:807–15. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001483
- 117. Jordan JT, Sun W, Hussain SF, DeAngulo G, Prabhu SS, Heimberger AB. Preferential migration of regulatory T cells mediated by glioma-secreted chemokines can be blocked with chemotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2008) 57:123–31. doi:10.1007/s00262-007-0336-x
- 118. Fecci PE, Mitchell DA, Whitesides JF, Xie W, Friedman AH, Archer GE, et al. Increased regulatory T-cell fraction amidst a diminished CD4 compartment explains cellular immune defects in patients with malignant glioma. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66:3294–302. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3773
- 119. Ardon H, Verbinnen B, Maes W, Beez T, Van Gool S, De Vleeschouwer S. Technical advancement in regulatory T cell isolation and characterization using CD127 expression in patients with malignant glioma treated with autologous dendritic cell vaccination. *J Immunol Methods* (2009) **352**(1–2):169–73. doi:10.1016/j.jim.2009.10.007
- Pere H, Tanchot C, Bayry J, Terme M, Taieb J, Badoual C, et al. Comprehensive analysis of current approaches to inhibit regulatory T cells in cancer. Oncoimmunology (2012) 1:326–33. doi:10.4161/onci.18852
- Sutmuller RP, Morgan ME, Netea MG, Grauer O, Adema GJ. Toll-like receptors on regulatory T cells: expanding immune regulation. *Trends Immunol* (2006) 27:387–93. doi:10.1016/j.it.2006.06.005
- 122. Peng G, Guo Z, Kiniwa Y, Voo KS, Peng W, Fu T, et al. Toll-like receptor 8-mediated reversal of CD4+ regulatory T cell function. *Science* (2005) 309:1380-4. doi:10.1126/science.1113401
- 123. Banissi C, Ghiringhelli F, Chen L, Carpentier AF. Treg depletion with a low-dose metronomic temozolomide regimen in a rat glioma model. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2009) 58:1627–34. doi:10.1007/s00262-009-0671-1
- 124. Kim TG, Kim CH, Park JS, Park SD, Kim CK, Chung DS, et al. Immunological factors relating to the antitumor effect of temozolomide chemoimmunotherapy in a murine glioma model. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* (2010) 17:143–53. doi:10. 1128/CVI.00292-09
- 125. Shevchenko I, Karakhanova S, Soltek S, Link J, Bayry J, Werner J, et al. Low-dose gemcitabine depletes regulatory T cells and improves survival in the orthotopic Panc02 model of pancreatic cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2013) 133(1):98–107. doi:10.1002/ijc.27990
- 126. Finke JH, Rini B, Ireland J, Rayman P, Richmond A, Golshayan A, et al. Sunitinib reverses type-1 immune suppression and decreases T-regulatory cells in renal cell carcinoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:6674–82. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-5212
- 127. Adotevi O, Pere H, Ravel P, Haicheur N, Badoual C, Merillon N, et al. A decrease of regulatory T cells correlates with overall survival after sunitinib-based antiangiogenic therapy in metastatic renal cancer patients. *J Immunother* (2010) **33**:991–8. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181f4c208
- Hipp MM, Hilf N, Walter S, Werth D, Brauer KM, Radsak MP, et al. Sorafenib, but not sunitinib, affects function of dendritic cells and induction of primary immune responses. *Blood* (2008) 111:5610–20. doi:10.1182/ blood-2007-02-075945
- 129. Chen CA, Ho CM, Chang MC, Sun WZ, Chen YL, Chiang YC, et al. Metronomic chemotherapy enhances antitumor effects of cancer vaccine by depleting regulatory T lymphocytes and inhibiting tumor angiogenesis. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18:1233–43. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.34
- 130. Akasaki Y, Kikuchi T, Irie M, Yamamoto Y, Arai T, Tanaka T, et al. Cotransfection of poly(I: C) and siRNA of IL-10 into fusions of dendritic and glioma

cells enhances antitumor T helper type 1 induction in patients with glioma. *J Immunother* (2011) **34**:121–8. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181e5c278

- 131. Rech AJ, Vonderheide RH. Clinical use of anti-CD25 antibody daclizumab to enhance immune responses to tumor antigen vaccination by targeting regulatory T cells. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2009) **1174**:99–106. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632. 2009.04939.x
- 132. Morse MA, Hobeika AC, Osada T, Serra D, Niedzwiecki D, Lyerly HK, et al. Depletion of human regulatory T cells specifically enhances antigen-specific immune responses to cancer vaccines. *Blood* (2008) **112**:610–8. doi:10.1182/ blood-2008-01-135319
- 133. de Vries IJ, Castelli C, Huygens C, Jacobs JF, Stockis J, Schuler-Thurner B, et al. Frequency of circulating Tregs with demethylated FOXP3 intron 1 in melanoma patients receiving tumor vaccines and potentially Tregdepleting agents. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:841–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-10-2227
- 134. Chu CS, Boyer J, Schullery DS, Gimotty PA, Gamerman V, Bender J, et al. Phase I/II randomized trial of dendritic cell vaccination with or without cyclophosphamide for consolidation therapy of advanced ovarian cancer in first or second remission. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2012) 61:629–41. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1081-8
- 135. Ghiringhelli F, Menard C, Puig PE, Ladoire S, Roux S, Martin F, et al. Metronomic cyclophosphamide regimen selectively depletes CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells and restores T and NK effector functions in end stage cancer patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2007) 56:641–8. doi:10.1007/ s00262-006-0225-8
- 136. Sistigu A, Viaud S, Chaput N, Bracci L, Proietti E, Zitvogel L. Immunomodulatory effects of cyclophosphamide and implementations for vaccine design. *Semin Immunopathol* (2011) 33:369–83. doi:10.1007/s00281-011-0245-0
- 137. Vermeij R, Leffers N, Hoogeboom BN, Hamming IL, Wolf R, Reyners AK, et al. Potentiation of a p53-SLP vaccine by cyclophosphamide in ovarian cancer: a single-arm phase II study. *Int J Cancer* (2012) **131**(5):E670–80. doi:10.1002/ ijc.27388
- 138. Huijts CM, Santegoets SJ, van den Eertwegh AJ, Pijpers LS, Haanen JB, de Gruijl TD, et al. Phase I-II study of everolimus and low-dose oral cyclophosphamide in patients with metastatic renal cell cancer. *BMC Cancer* (2011) 11:505. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-11-505
- 139. Ge Y, Domschke C, Stoiber N, Schott S, Heil J, Rom J, et al. Metronomic cyclophosphamide treatment in metastasized breast cancer patients: immunological effects and clinical outcome. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2011) 61(3):353–62. doi:10.1007/s00262-011-1106-3
- 140. Viaud S, Flament C, Zoubir M, Pautier P, LeCesne A, Ribrag V, et al. Cyclophosphamide induces differentiation of Th17 cells in cancer patients. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:661–5. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1259
- 141. Kan S, Hazama S, Maeda K, Inoue Y, Homma S, Koido S, et al. Suppressive effects of cyclophosphamide and gemcitabine on regulatory T-cell induction in vitro. *Anticancer Res* (2012) **32**:5363–9.
- 142. Peng S, Lyford-Pike S, Akpeng B, Wu A, Hung CF, Hannaman D, et al. Lowdose cyclophosphamide administered as daily or single dose enhances the antitumor effects of a therapeutic HPV vaccine. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) **62**(1):171–82. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1322-5
- 143. Moraes-Fontes MF, Rebelo M, Caramalho I, Zelenay S, Bergman ML, Coutinho A, et al. Steroid treatments in mice do not alter the number and function of regulatory T cells, but amplify cyclophosphamide-induced autoimmune disease. *J Autoimmun* (2009) 33:109–20. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2009. 03.008
- 144. Available from: http://ec.europa.eu/health/files/advtherapies/2014\_atmp/ atmp\_en.pdf
- Polyzoidis S, Keyoumars A. DCVax(R)-L-developed by northwest biotherapeutics. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* (2014) 10(11):3139–45. doi:10.4161/hv. 29276
- 146. Kastenmuller W, Kastenmuller K, Kurts C, Seder RA. Dendritic cell-targeted vaccines – hope or hype? Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14:705–11. doi:10.1038/ nri3727
- 147. Sehgal K, Dhodapkar KM, Dhodapkar MV. Targeting human dendritic cells in situ to improve vaccines. *Immunol Lett* (2014) **162**(1 Pt A):59–67. doi:10. 1016/j.imlet.2014.07.004
- 148. Liau LM, Black KL, Martin NA, Sykes SN, Bronstein JM, Jouben-Steele L, et al. Treatment of a glioblastoma patient by vaccination with autologous dendritic

cells pulsed with allogeneic major histocompatibility complex class I-matched tumor peptides: case report. *Neurosurg Focus* (2000) **9**(6):e8. doi:10.3171/foc. 2000.9.6.9

- 149. Yu JS, Wheeler CJ, Zeltzer PM, Ying H, Finger DN, Lee PK, et al. Vaccination of malignant glioma patients with peptide-pulsed dendritic cells elicits systemic cytotoxicity and intracranial T-cell infiltration. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61:842–7.
- 150. Kikuchi T, Akasaki Y, Irie M, Homma S, Abe T, Ohno T. Results of a phase I clinical trial of vaccination of glioma patients with fusions of dendritic and glioma cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2001) 50:337–44. doi:10.1007/s002620100205
- 151. Caruso DA, Orme LM, Neale AM, Radcliff FJ, Amor GM, Maixner W, et al. Results of a phase 1 study utilizing monocyte-derived dendritic cells pulsed with tumor RNA in children and young adults with brain cancer. *Neuro Oncol* (2004) **6**:236–46. doi:10.1215/S1152851703000668
- 152. Liau LM, Prins RM, Kiertscher SM, Odesa SK, Kremen TJ, Giovannone AJ, et al. Dendritic cell vaccination in glioblastoma patients induces systemic and intracranial T-cell responses modulated by the local central nervous system tumor microenvironment. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11:5515–25. doi:10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-05-0464
- 153. Okada H, Lieberman FS, Walter KA, Lunsford LD, Kondziolka DS, Bejjani GK, et al. Autologous glioma cell vaccine admixed with interleukin-4 gene transfected fibroblasts in the treatment of patients with malignant gliomas. *J Transl Med* (2007) 5:67. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-5-67
- 154. Walker DG, Laherty R, Tomlinson FH, Chuah T, Schmidt C. Results of a phase I dendritic cell vaccine trial for malignant astrocytoma: potential interaction with adjuvant chemotherapy. *J Clin Neurosci* (2008) 15:114–21. doi:10.1016/j. jocn.2007.08.007
- Prins RM, Cloughesy TF, Liau LM. Cytomegalovirus immunity after vaccination with autologous glioblastoma lysate. N Engl J Med (2008) 359:539–41. doi:10.1056/NEJMc0804818
- 156. Sampson JH, Archer GE, Mitchell DA, Heimberger AB, Herndon JE, Lally-Goss D, et al. An epidermal growth factor receptor variant IIItargeted vaccine is safe and immunogenic in patients with glioblastoma multiforme. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2009) 8:2773–9. doi:10.1158/1535-7163. MCT-09-0124
- 157. Fong B, Jin R, Wang X, Safaee M, Lisiero DN, Yang I, et al. Monitoring of regulatory T cell frequencies and expression of CTLA-4 on T cells, before and after DC vaccination, can predict survival in GBM patients. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e32614. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0032614
- Lasky JL III, Panosyan EH, Plant A, Davidson T, Yong WH, Prins RM, et al. Autologous tumor lysate-pulsed dendritic cell immunotherapy for pediatric patients with newly diagnosed or recurrent high-grade gliomas. *Anticancer Res* (2013) 33:2047–56.
- 159. Vik-Mo EO, Nyakas M, Mikkelsen BV, Moe MC, Due-Tonnesen P, Suso EM, et al. Therapeutic vaccination against autologous cancer stem cells with mRNA-transfected dendritic cells in patients with glioblastoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) **62**(9):1499–509. doi:10.1007/ s00262-013-1453-3
- 160. Akiyama Y, Oshita C, Kume A, Iizuka A, Miyata H, Komiyama M, et al. Alpha-type-1 polarized dendritic cell-based vaccination in recurrent highgrade glioma: a phase I clinical trial. *BMC Cancer* (2012) 12:623. doi:10.1186/ 1471-2407-12-623
- 161. Pellegatta S, Eoli M, Frigerio S, Antozzi C, Bruzzone MG, Cantini G, et al. The natural killer cell response and tumor debulking are associated with prolonged survival in recurrent glioblastoma patients receiving dendritic cells loaded with autologous tumor lysates. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2:e23401. doi:10.4161/onci.23401
- 162. Yamanaka R, Abe T, Yajima N, Tsuchiya N, Homma J, Kobayashi T, et al. Vaccination of recurrent glioma patients with tumour lysate-pulsed dendritic cells elicits immune responses: results of a clinical phase I/II trial. *Br J Cancer* (2003) 89:1172–9. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6601268
- 163. Wheeler CJ, Black KL, Liu G, Ying H, Yu JS, Zhang W, et al. Thymic CD8(+) T cell production strongly influences tumor antigen recognition and agedependent glioma mortality. *J Immunol* (2003) 171:4927–33. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.171.9.4927
- 164. Yu JS, Liu G, Ying H, Yong WH, Black KL, Wheeler CJ. Vaccination with tumor lysate-pulsed dendritic cells elicits antigen-specific, cytotoxic T-cells in

patients with malignant glioma. Cancer Res (2004) 64:4973-9. doi:10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-03-3505

- 165. Kikuchi T, Akasaki Y, Abe T, Fukuda T, Saotome H, Ryan JL, et al. Vaccination of glioma patients with fusions of dendritic and glioma cells and recombinant human interleukin 12. *J Immunother* (2004) 27:452–9. doi:10. 1097/00002371-200411000-00005
- 166. Yamanaka R, Homma J, Yajima N, Tsuchiya N, Sano M, Kobayashi T, et al. Clinical evaluation of dendritic cell vaccination for patients with recurrent glioma: results of a clinical phase I/II trial. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11:4160–7. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0120
- 167. Okada H, Kalinski P, Ueda R, Hoji A, Kohanbash G, Donegan TE, et al. Induction of CD8+ T-cell responses against novel glioma-associated antigen peptides and clinical activity by vaccinations with {alpha}-type 1 polarized dendritic cells and polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid stabilized by lysine and carboxymethylcellulose in patients with recurrent malignant glioma. J Clin Oncol (2011) 29:330–6. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.30.7744
- 168. Chang CN, Huang YC, Yang DM, Kikuta K, Wei KJ, Kubota T, et al. A phase I/II clinical trial investigating the adverse and therapeutic effects of a postoperative autologous dendritic cell tumor vaccine in patients with malignant glioma. J Clin Neurosci (2011) 18:1048–54. doi:10.1016/j.jocn.2010.11. 034
- 169. Fadul CE, Fisher JL, Hampton TH, Lallana EC, Li Z, Gui J, et al. Immune response in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma multiforme treated with intranodal autologous tumor lysate-dendritic cell vaccination after radiation chemotherapy. J Immunother (2011) 34:382–9. doi:10.1097/CJI. 0b013e318215e300

- Jie X, Hua L, Jiang W, Feng F, Feng G, Hua Z. Clinical application of a dendritic cell vaccine raised against heat-shocked glioblastoma. *Cell Biochem Biophys* (2012) 62:91–9. doi:10.1007/s12013-011-9265-6
- 171. Iwami K, Shimato S, Ohno M, Okada H, Nakahara N, Sato Y, et al. Peptidepulsed dendritic cell vaccination targeting interleukin-13 receptor alpha2 chain in recurrent malignant glioma patients with HLA-A\*24/A\*02 allele. *Cytotherapy* (2012) 14(6):733–42. doi:10.3109/14653249.2012.666633
- 172. Cho DY, Yang WK, Lee HC, Hsu DM, Lin HL, Lin SZ, et al. Adjuvant immunotherapy with whole-cell lysate dendritic cells vaccine for glioblastoma multiforme: a phase II clinical trial. *World Neurosurg* (2011) **77**(5–6):736–44. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2011.08.020
- 173. Phuphanich S, Wheeler CJ, Rudnick JD, Mazer M, Wang H, Nuno MA, et al. Phase I trial of a multi-epitope-pulsed dendritic cell vaccine for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) 62:125–35. doi:10.1007/s00262-012-1319-0

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Van Gool. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Experiences and expectations for glioma immunotherapeutic approaches

### Ryuya Yamanaka \* and Azusa Hayano

Graduate School for Health Care Science, Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine, Kyoto, Japan \*Correspondence: ryaman@koto.kpu-m.ac.jp

#### Edited by:

Lois A. Lampson, Harvard Medical School, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Hiroshi Shiku, Mie University, Japan

Keywords: central nervous system, CTLA4, dendritic cell, genetically engineering T cells, glioma, immunotherapy, PD-1, peptide

Malignant gliomas are the most prevalent type of primary central nervous system (CNS) tumor in adults. Despite progress in brain tumor therapy, the prognosis for malignant glioma patients remains dismal. Standard treatment with temozolomide and radiotherapy for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma has increased the median overall survival (OS) by 15-20 months (1), but tumor recurrence is inevitable. Salvage treatments upon recurrence are palliative at best and rarely provide significant survival benefit. Among the new treatments currently being investigated for malignant glioma, immunotherapy is theoretically attractive, because it offers the potential for high tumor-specific cytotoxicity (2). Although recent clinical trials of immunotherapy protocols for malignant gliomas focused on initiating and amplifying a host response with some clinical success, most of them failed to induce objective tumor shrinkage in patients (2). Antitumor activities of tumor cytotoxic T cells (CTL) and antibodies induced by these therapies are insufficient to overcome tumor growth because tumors have immune evasion mechanisms instigated by myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) and regulatory T cells  $(T_{reg})$  (3). In this paper, we will review past experiences and discuss the promising future of immunotherapeutic approach for glioma treatment.

# WHAT HAVE WE LEARNED FROM PREVIOUS CLINICAL TRIALS?

Preliminary results from recent immunotherapeutic clinical trials (2, 4– 6) with dendritic cells or peptide vaccines for malignant glioma patients are encouraging. However, these trials have some limitations, and we will have to await the results of several phase III trials to make definitive conclusions. There are several concerns from past experiences.

- 1. The immune responses such as CTL and antibody production were not sufficient to overcome glioma progression, and were not correlated to clinical outcomes.
- 2. New issues have emerged regarding the evaluation of disease response, and with the identification of patterns such as pseudoprogression (7) that is frequently indistinguishable from disease progression. Additionally, there are delayed radiation responses after radiotherapy. In short, there are pitfalls in distinguishing the response of radiotherapy to that of immunotherapy.
- 3. There are prognostic variations and long term survivors among glioblastoma patients (8). We therefore have to develop molecular markers to predict the prognosis of the patient more precisely to conduct clinical trials with less bias.
- 4. We have to develop biomarkers that predict patients' responses to individualized immunotherapy. To do so, we have to conduct clinical trials that exclude patients with pseudoprogression, a delayed radiation response and a biologically good prognostic group.
- 5. Most immunotherapy clinical trials state that the therapy is safe. This is a concern because the adverse events of immunotherapy are usually interpreted as those of the clinical course of glioma. We have to continue to carefully monitor patients, because acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and neuropathic syndrome following vaccination against

human papillomavirus for cervical cancer are now serious problems (9).

- 6. In recent years, there has been a significant increase in OS and progression free survival (PFS) owing to improvements in standard of care (10). In phase II clinical trials, survival data are usually compared to that of a decade ago, so emerging therapeutics are easily misconstrued as effective therapies.
- 7. In Japan, bevacizumab was approved for glioblastoma in June 2013. Therefore, we should reconsider whether an immunotherapeutic approach for glioma could be a new standard of care.
- 8. In Japan, medical oncologists are expected to participate in the development of global immunotherapeutic protocols for glioblastoma.

### PROGNOSTIC MARKERS FOR GLIOBLASTOMA

The World Health Organization (WHO) currently has the most widely used system for prognostic markers; a high WHO grade correlates with clinical progression and decreased survival rate (11). However, individual fates vary within diagnostic categories. There are several prognostic factors that are associated with longer survival of glioblastoma patients, including age, performance status (PS), MGMT status, and IDH1 mutation. The inadequacy of histopathological grading is shown, in part, by the inability to recognize patients prospectively. We and other researchers have developed a predictive method for patient outcome that enables clinicians to make optimal clinical decisions using microarray technology (8, 12-14). Our work described an expression profiling study of glioblastoma patients



for the identification of genes that predict OS using random survival forests models (8). The gene expression predictor, which we named the Prognosis Prediction Score (PPS), was computed from a linear combination of 25 selected genes and was calculated for each tumor as follows:

$$\begin{split} Z_1 &= 0.27 \times GPNMB + 0.09 \times EFNB2 \\ &- 0.22 \times ASF1A + 0.02 \\ &\times LOC283027 + 0.15 \times AMIGO2 \\ &+ 0.22 \times IL13RA2 + 0.25 \times ITGA7 \\ &+ 0.15 \times LDHA - 0.01 \times C11orf71 \\ &+ 0.15 \times AFTPH + 0.15 \\ &\times TBC1D19 - 0.21 \times MED29 \\ &+ 0.02 \times ACN9 + 0.29 \\ &\times SLC25A19 + 0.16 \times RPL12 \\ &- 0.09 \times ALS2CR4 - 0.14 \\ &\times C10orf88 - 0.11 \times ARHGAP39 \\ &+ 0.18 \times LMAN2L + 0.29 \times CASP8 \\ &- 0.28 \times ST6GAL2 + 0.33 \times LOXL3 \\ &+ 0.08 \times ANGPTL1 + 0.22 \times MRRF \\ &- 0.33 \times ARHGAP32. \end{split}$$

As expected, the predictor performed well in terms of patient prognosis: the improved prognosis group  $(Z_1 \le -1.17)$  had a median survival time of 721 days, while the poor prognosis group  $(Z_1 > -1.17)$  had a significantly lower median survival time of 335 days (P < 0.0001; **Figure 1A**). For more practical purposes, the PPS could also be computed from a linear combination of three genes and was calculated for each tumor as follows:

$$Z_2 = -0.63 \times ASF1A + 0.62 \times ITGA7 + 0.47 \times AFTPH.$$

As expected, the predictor performed well in terms of patient prognosis: the improved prognosis group  $(Z_2 \le -0.76)$  and the poor prognosis group  $(Z_2 > -0.76)$  had identical median survival times and significance scores as  $Z_1$ . The Z PPS results were compared with traditional individual indicators. Z1, Z2, age, PS, and subtype were significantly associated with OS in univariate analyses. Z1 was significantly associated with OS by multivariate analyses. The PPS was the most significant feature of these clinical parameters. The PPS formula was validated in the validation set (n = 488), which was derived from glioblastoma patients in four external data sets (12–15). As expected, the OS was significantly higher in the improved prognosis group  $(Z_1 \leq -1.17)$  than in the poor prognosis group  $(Z_1 > -1.17)$ (P = 0.0016; Figure 1B). Two-year survival rates were 36.3 and 30.8% in the improved prognosis group, and 4.7 and 11.8% in the poor prognosis group, using the test and validation data sets, respectively. Even

among glioblastomas in both test (n = 32)and validation sets (n = 488), the OS ranged between 0 and 3,880 days. Fiftytwo patients (10%) survived for longer than 1,000 days. Class prediction models based on defined molecular profiles allow the classification of malignant gliomas in a manner that will better correlate with clinical outcomes than with standard pathology. Glioblastomas have a wideranging survival time, which requires a more precise prognostic scoring system to study novel therapeutic approaches. Therefore, the identification of molecular subclasses could greatly facilitate our ability to develop effective treatment protocols.

#### **FUTURE PERSPECTIVES**

The genetic landscape of gliomas has been revealed by the advancements of genome sequencing technology (15, 16). Researchers are now trying to develop novel therapeutic strategies based on these exciting discoveries. New therapeutic strategies, such as targeted therapies and anti-angiogenic treatments that appear promising with regard to improving the results have been reported (17). Immunotherapies have also shown promise for treating advanced solid tumors. In particular, monoclonal antibodies that block inhibitory immune checkpoint molecules and enhance the immune response to tumors such as

cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA4) and programed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) (18, 19). Another forefront of immunotherapy research is genetically engineering T cells to target tumor cells (20). Future efforts will need to focus on development of novel therapies that appear active as monotherapies or in combinatorial regimens that modulate the host immune system. Although it is still unknown whether these novel discoveries will be suited for use in the CNS microenvironment, we are awaiting the next generation of progress for glioma immunotherapy based on the fundamental pathophysiology of this challenging disease.

#### REFERENCES

- Stupp R, Hegi ME, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Taphoorn MJ, Janzer RC, et al. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2009) 10(5):459–66. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(09) 70025-7
- Yamanaka R. Cellular and peptide based immunotherapeutic approaches for glioma. *Trends Mol Med* (2008) 14(5):228–35. doi:10.1016/j.molmed. 2008.03.003
- Parney IF. Basic Concepts in Glioma Immunology. In: Yamanaka R, editor. *Glioma: Immunotherapeutic Approaches*. Austin, TX: Landes Bioscience/Springer (2012). p. 42–52.
- Yamanaka R, Abe T, Yajima N, Tsuchiya N, Homma J, Kobayashi T, et al. Vaccination of recurrent glioma patients with tumour lysate-pulsed dendritic cells elicits immune responses: results of a clinical phase I/II trial. *Br J Cancer* (2003) 89(7):1172–9. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6601268
- Yamanaka R, Homma J, Yajima N, Tsuchiya N, Sano M, Kobayashi T, et al. Clinical evaluation of dendritic cell vaccination for patients with recurrent glioma: results of a clinical phase I/II trial. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11(11):4160–7. doi:10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-05-0120

- Yajima N, Yamanaka R, Mine T, Tsuchiya N, Homma J, Sano M, et al. Immunological evaluation of personalized peptide vaccination for patients with advanced malignant glioma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11(16):5900–11. doi:10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-05-0559
- Chamberlain MC. Pseudoprogression in glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol (2008) 26(26):4359. doi:10. 1200/JCO.2008.18.4440
- Kawaguchi A, Yajima N, Tsuchiya N, Homma J, Sano M, Natsumeda M, et al. Gene expression signature-based prognostic risk score in patients with glioblastoma. *Cancer Sci* (2013) 104(9):1205–10. doi:10.1111/cas.12214
- Wildemann B, Jarius S, Hartmann M, Regula JU, Hametner C. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis following vaccination against human papilloma virus. *Neurology* (2009) 72(24):2132–3. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181aa53bb
- Nava F, Tramacere I, Fittipaldo A, Bruzzone MG, Dimeco F, Fariselli L, et al. Survival effect of first- and second-line treatments for patients with primary glioblastoma: a cohort study from a prospective registry, 1997-2010. *Neuro Oncol* (2014) 16(5):719–27. doi:10.1093/neuonc/not316
- Kleihues P, Louis DN, Wiestler OD, Burger PC, Scheithaur BW. WHO grading of tumours of the central nervous system. In: Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK, editors. World Health Organization Classification of Tumours of the Nervous System. Lyon: IARC Press (2007). p. 10–1.
- Freije WA, Castro-Vargas FE, Fang Z, Horvath S, Cloughesy T, Liau LM, et al. Gene expression profiling of gliomas strongly predicts survival. *Cancer Res* (2004) **64**:6503–10. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-04-0452
- Phillips HS, Kharbanda S, Chen R, Forrest WF, Soriano RH, Wu TD, et al. Molecular subclasses of high-grade glioma predict prognosis, delineate a pattern of disease progression, and resemble stages in neurogenesis. *Cancer Cell* (2006) 9:157–73. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2006.02.019
- Petalidis LP, Oulas A, Backlund M, Wayland MT, Liu L, Plant K, et al. Improved grading and survival prediction of human astrocytic brain tumors by artificial neural network analysis of gene expression microarray data. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2008) 7:1013–24. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-07-0177

- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. *Nature* (2008) 455:1061–8. doi:10.1038/nature07385
- Frattini V, Trifonov V, Chan JM, Castano A, Lia M, Abate F, et al. The integrated landscape of driver genomic alterations in glioblastoma. *Nat Genet* (2013) 45(10):1141–9. doi:10.1038/ng.2734
- Yamanaka R, Saya H. Molecular targeted therapies for glioma. Ann Neurol (2009) 66:717–29. doi:10.1002/ana.21793
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363(8):711–23. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1003466
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(26):2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- 20. Ikeda H, Shiku H. Antigen-receptor gene-modified T cells for treatment of glioma. In: Yamanaka R, editor. *Glioma: Immunotherapeutic Approaches.* Austin, TX: Landes Bioscience/Springer (2012). p. 202–15.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 September 2014; accepted: 26 November 2014; published online: 10 December 2014.

Citation: Yamanaka R and Hayano A (2014) Experiences and expectations for glioma immunotherapeutic approaches. Front. Oncol. **4**:355. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00355

This article was submitted to Neuro-Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology.

Copyright © 2014 Yamanaka and Hayano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

